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CHAPTER |
IN THE DAYS OF LONG AGO

AGER WITH ANTICIPATION, a thirteen-year-old lad bade farewell to his
E parents in the fall of 1545 and boarded a fast-sailing caravel in the
bustling, sweltering port of Cartagena, the glittering mushroom city

of the Spanish Main.

The son of an influential Spanish official in Cartagena, the boy had
been born in the New World and now he was bound for Spain, to be
educated in Madrid, the home of his grandparents. Never before had he
made an ocean voyage and thoughts of coming adventures filled him
with excitement.

The boy's name was Fontaneda—Hernando de Escalante Fontaneda.
His journey of long ago and his experiences are noteworthy simply be-
cause the Tampa of today owes him thanks. T'o Fontaneda, Tampa 1s
indebted for its name.

The ship in which Fontaneda sailed carried a rich cargo. Her hold
was filled with silver from the mines of Potosi and gold and jewels from
looted temples of the Incas, all consigned to the treasury of the King of
Spain. Fontaneda was not the only passenger on board. There also were
more than fifty men, women and children, all looking forward to re-
unions with old friends in their native land.

Four days out from port the caravel was becalmed. Not a breath
of air moved. The sun blazed down pitilessly. Then, late in the after-
noon, the sky became overcast with an ominous haze. A little later, the
wind came, a terrific blast out of the southwest. With the wind came
rain, a veritable deluge. A hurricane was in the making.

Throughout the night the wind blew with savage, relentless fury,
its dreadful moaning increasing with each passing hour. The nggmg
of the caravel was blown away and the rudder smashed beyond repair.
Like a hunted thing, the ship ran before the wind, uncontrolled and
uncontrollable. Closer and closer she was blown toward the southwest
coast of Florida.

Just before dawn the next morning the roar of surf was heard. An
instant later the ship hit bottom with a sickening crash. Her keel broke
and water poured into’'the hold from every side. Another wave, and
the ship was flung upon the shore. Following waves pounded her apart.
Passengers and members of the crew were hurled into the foaming,
surging maelstrom. To most of thgm, death came quickly. Only a few
survived. They floundered ashore, threw themselves upon the rain-
soaked sand, and lay there, gasping for breath.

One of the survivors of the wreck was young Fontaneda. Half-
naked Indians who came out of nearby mangrove swamps when the
storm was over found him lying on the beach and took him to their
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village. He was a friendly youngster and the chief of the tribe took a
liking to him. Given almost complete freedom, he was permitted to do
nearly anything he wanted. He learned to fish, and hunt, and to live
as the Indians did, wearing no clothing except a breechclout. The chief
often took him on trips over the Florida peninsula and, as a result, he
gained a comprehensive knowledge of the customs of the various tribes
and the lands they occupied. He learned the language of the tribe with
which he lived and also those of the natives of three nearby provinces.

Fontaneda remained in Florida seventeen years. Then, in some
manner which never has been explained, he gained his freedom, about
1562, and returned to Spain. A few years later he served as interpreter
for Menendez when the latter first visited the Florida West Coast. Back
in Spain again in 1575, Fontaneda recorded his recollections in a Memoir
which is still considered by historians the best existing sixteenth century
description of Florida.

To Fontaneda goes the credit for the preservation of the word
“Tampa.” He gave a list of twenty-two towns occupied or controlled
by the Caloosa Indians, masters of south Florida, and the name “Tanpa”
led all the rest. He spelled the word with an “n"” instead of an “m."”
Contemporary writers and map makers who saw Fontaneda's Memoir
apparently liked ""Tampa” better than “Tanpa" and when they picked
up the word and used it they gave it the more euphonic spelling.

Fontaneda gave no hint as to the meaning of the word. He simply
said that Tanpa was "'a large town” and let it go at that. In recent years
someone declared that Tampa is a Seminole word meaning “'split wood
for quick fires,” descriptive of driftwood used for building fires. Inas-
much as the Seminoles did not enter Florida until more than two hundred
years after Fontaneda used the word, such an explanation of its meaning
can hardly be considered valid.

Dr. John R. Swanton, outstanding authority on the Indians of the
southeastern United States, says there 1s a possibility that the Caloosa
tongue was related to Choctaw and that there is a Choctaw word “itampa”
which means “a pail” or "a bowl." However, he adds that no authentic
interpretation of the name can now be given and “there is little hope
there ever will be unless a Caloosa vocabulary is discovered.”

Besides failing to tell the meaning of Tanpa, Fontaneda also failed
o give any clue as to its location. The Caloosa Indians probably had
their principal villages in the Caloosahatchee-Charlotte Harbor area;
consequently, most authorities believe that Fontaneda’s Tanpa was
located somewhere in that region. But that is only guesswork. It is
equally possible that the Tanpa of the sixteenth century was located
somewhere on Tampa Bay. On a map of Florida drafted in 1601 by
Herrera, Tampa Bay is definitely labeled "'B. de Tampa.” Herrera had
access to other records besides Fontaneda’s and he may have had informa-
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ton which amply justified him 1n giving the bay its present name. But
that is more guesswork.

The only thing that can be surely said 1s that the word “Tanpa”
was first used by Fontaneda and that other writers and map makers
who read his Memoir picked up the word, changed its spelling to Tampa,
and perpetuated it, thereby giving Tampa Bay and the City of Tampa
the name by which they are known throughout the world.

Incidentally, the word Tampa 1s the only town name recorded by
Fontaneda which has survived. Other names on his list were: Tuchie,
Soco, No, Sinapa, Smnaesta, Metamapo, Sacaspada, Calaobe, Estame,
Yagua, Guevu, Muspa, Comachia, Quisiyove, Cutespa, Tavaguemue,
Tomsobe, Enempa, Guarungune, and Cuchiyaga. Perhaps it is just as
well that these names have long since passed out of use.

Fontaneda undoubtedly spent some time in the Tampa Bay region.
Perhaps he once tramped over the ground on which Tampa 15 now
located. In all events we owe him thanks for much of our knowledge
regarding the first known “residents” of this region. From other sources
more information is gleaned; from the writings of Dominican and
Franciscan monks, from the Frenchmen Ribault and Laudonniere,
from the sketches of Le Moyne, and from the research work of modern
anthropologists, ethnologists and paleontologists.

- These Were the First Inhabitanis

On May 4, 1929, the mineralized skeleton of a human being was
unearthed by an dmateur
paleontologist from the bank
of a newly-dug drainage ditch
near the head of Phillipg
Creek, a few miles from the
heart of Sarasota. Newspa-
pers hailed it as a discovery of
the [irst magnitude, report-
ing that the skeleton was at
least 20,000 vears old, per-
haps much older.

The skeleton was indeed
old. But as for its being 20,-

000 years old—well, the scien-
tists had their doubts. They
insisted there was nothing to support the contention that human beings
lived in Florida fourteen millenia before the construction of the first
pyramid in Egypt.

The fact that the skeleton was mineralized carried little weight
with most anthropoelogists. They declared that bones mineralize quickly
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in Florida because of the amount of minerals in the soil and that it is
more difficult to find a skeleton several hundred years old which shows
no signs of mineralization than to find one where mineralization has
proceeded to a marked degree.

No one knows and probably no one ever will know when the first
human beings came to the Florida peninsula. The most common guess
is that they arrived about a thousand years ago, about the time Leif
Ericson lett Iceland with his Norsemen and sailed across the bleak
Atlantic to discover the land he called Vinland. The course followed
in the journeys of the first Floridians is purely a matter of conjecture.
Some scholars say they came into the peninsula from the North; others
assert they came from Central America or Mexico by way of the Gulf
Coast, and still others insist they came from Central or South America
by way of the Antilles.

Regardless of the way of coming, they came—and mute evidence
of their existence long before the arrival of the first white man was
furnished by the shell and earth mounds which once dotted the penin-
sula. Many such mounds were located on the shores of Tampa Bay. A
large one, at least forty feet high and two hundred feet in diameter,
was located near the water close to the present foot of Morgan Street.
This mound, as well as many others, was leveled to get shell for side-
walks and streets and no trace of it remains. '

Onec of the finest mounds still existing in the Tampa Bay area is
the magnificent one in Phillippi Park, on the west shore of Old Tampa
Bay. Another fine mound is located on Weedon's Island, south of the
western approach to Gandy Bridge. Scientists who have made excava-
tions in these mounds assert they are at least five hundred years old.

Most common of the mounds left by the first inhabitants of the
Florida peninsula are the refuse heaps or kitchen middens which still
dot the shore of bay and rivers. The aborigines ate huge quantities of
uritcra, clams and conchs. At places where the shellfish were unusually
plentiful, and where the Indians lived for long periods, the refuse heaps
sometimes became of enormous size, covering acres and rising fifty feet
or more in height. Smaller mounds can still be seen on almost any key
along the coast. Most of them have been badly torn up, however, by
“pot hunters” seeking Indian relics or by persons seeking pirate’s gold.

Ashes of camp fires dead for centuries are found in almost every
mound, along with broken pieces of pottery in which the Indians cooked
their meals. Excavations indicate that when the Indians sat down
around the fire to eat, they tossed the shells aside. And when the
growing, surrounding refuse heap became inconveniently high, and
threatened to slide down upon them, they went up the mound and
built another fire. Through the passing years this process was repeated
again and again, and the mound grew and grew.
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In the lower levels of very old kitchen middens human bones often
have been found, indicating that bodies were buried very near the
camps. But when the Indians began to sense that more attention should
be given to their dead, they built mounds for use solely as burial places,
using whatever material was close at hand—shell, sand or loam.

Of all the mounds left by the Indians, the burial mounds are of
the most interest to present-day ethnologists. In addition to skeletons,
many objects of great value have been found in them—pieces of molded
pottery, sometimes colored and decorated artistically; delicately designed
ornaments which once adorned the necks of Indian maidens; finely
carved and polished hairpins made from bone; shining shell pendants
which hung from the belts of Indian warriors; tools and weapons made
from shell, and stone, and sometimes copper, and many other artifacts
which furnish proof of the culture of the vanished race.

A splendid collection of such objects can be seen at the Bradenton
Museuin. The artifacts were gathered over a long period of years by
M. E. Tallant, of Manatee, one of the nation’s leading amateur ethnolo-
gists, who made excavations in mounds in all parts of the state. Many
of the objects are extremely rare and almost priceless.

Kitchen middens and burial mounds were not the only mounds
made by the Indians. The most elaborate of all were those built for
holding religious ceremonies. These mounds were usually constructed
of sand or earth and towered above the surrounding land or water.
Ramps led up to the summits. A giant mound of this type located on
Marco Island boasted of terraces and plazas. Canals which ended in
courts were dug out to bays and bayous. To prevent dirt from washing
into these canals the Indians bordered them with walls made of palmetto
logs and shells.

A fine mound on Terra Ceia Island, in Manatee County, probably
was used for holding ceremonies and also as an observation post. From
the top of the mound an excellent view can be had of Tampa Bay. It
is more than likely that on this mound was lighted one of the signal
fires seen by De Soto when he came to loot and conquer. He reported
that the smoke from the fires could be seen for miles, and that the Indians
were signalling messages telling of his arrival.

To make sure that the Terra Ceia Mound would be preserved for
future generations, Mr. and Mrs. Karl Bickel, of Sarasota, purchased
it a few years ago and in 1949 deeded it to the State of Florida. It has
been named the Madira Bickel State Park Memorial. This was the first
mound of any kind which has been presented to the state.

A truly superb mound which also will be preserved is the cere-
monial mound at Phillippi Point, a mile north of Safety Harbor on
Old Tampa Bay. An 18-acre tract at this spot was purchased early in
1948 by Pinellas County for $27,600 and has been converted into a
park, named in honor of Odet Phillippi, pioneer settler who lived there
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many years and planted the first citrus grove on the Florida West Coast.

At this mound in Phillippi Park an Indian village was located in
the sixteenth century when the Spanish conquistadors were making
their forays into Florida. The Indians who lived there were Timucuans,
members of the Timucua family of tribes which dominated the north-
ern half of the Florida peninsula. The Timucuans of Old Tampa Bay
had enemies close at hand. On the east side of Tampa Bay, and to the
south, lived the Caloosa Indians, masters of the southern half of the
peninsula. Hillsborough River probably served as part of the boundary
between the two Indian provinces. Inasmuch as Tampa Bay was then
recognized, the same as now, as one of the most favored sections of
Florida, it is quite likely that the Timucuans and the Caloosas often
fought to possess it, and that some of the battles were fought where the
City of Tampa is today.

The exact meaning of the word “Timucua” has never been deter-
mined. But it is believed to be a corrupted form of their word for
“chief.” Twenty-eight different spellings of the word have been listed.

The name “Caloosa” is said to be a variation of the Choctaw words
“kala lu-sa,” meaning strong and black. The Indians in the tribe proba-
bly called themselves “ka-los.” To Fontaneda's Spanish ears, the word
sounded like “Carlos,” and that is what he called them, the Carlos
Indians. He said the word meant “brave and skillful, as indeed the
Carlos Indians are.” He also gave the name “Carlos” to the chief of the
tribe with which he lived. The name has been perpetuated in the place
named San Carlos Bay, where the water of the Caloosahatchee meets the
Gulf; also, in the names Big Carlos Pass and Little Carlos Pass. The
word Caloosa survives in Caloosahatchee which means, of course, the
river of the Caloosa, “hatchee” signifying river.

Physically, the Timucuans and Caloosas were practically identical,
the members of both groups being muscular and well proportioned and
of a light shade of brown, termed by the French olivatre. They were
just about the same size as Americans of today, the men averaging about
five feet nine or ten inches in height and the women several inches
shorter. They were heavy-boned, their heads were well-shaped and
most of them had remarkably good teeth.

The Caloosa Indians were a brave, proud people and never sub-
mitted to white man’s domination, not even after two of their leading
chiefs and many of their best warriors were executed by the Spaniards.
Instead of submitting, the Caloosa adopted a scorched earth policy,
burned their villages, fled into the interior, and left the Spaniards to
shift for themselves. This the Spaniards could not do, so they were
forced to leave. Missionaries had no better success with them than did
the conquistadors. The Caloosas were too tough to conquer and too
stubborn to convert.
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The Timucuans were a more docile people, particularly farther
north in the peninsula where the conquistadors had not raped and
looted, tortured and killed. When the Spaniards went into north Florida
the Timucuans otfered no prolonged resistance. In many places they
even welcomed missionaries as friends. Letters from Franciscan monks
written in 1602 reveal that twelve hundred Timucuans had by then
been converted. The Franciscans succeeded in persuading the Indians
to build chapels and to settle around the missions. Mainly because of
the efforts of the missionaries, who established a chain of missions across
the northern part of Florida, Spanish officials encountered little diffi-
culty in extending their military rule.

Sixteenth century Spanish invaders greatly exaggerated the num-
ber of Indians on the peninsula. One chronicler said that De Soto was
opposed by ten thousand warriors. Another declared that Menendez
conferred with a Caloosa chief in a town of four thousand people. But
most historians now agree that the peak population never exceeded
fifteen thousand, including all tribes, and that no Indian village or
town had a population of more than several hundred.

Nearly all the villages were small, having less than a hundred in-
habitants. Some of the places listed as towns by Fontaneda had only
thirty or forty inhabitants, including women and children. The average
town consisted of a few palm-thatched huts, often circular in shape; a

Timucuan Indians killing alligators, as pictured by LeMoyne,
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larger, rectangular building where the chief lived, and another structure
which served as a combination temple and community meeting place.
Certainly no village was spectacularly beautiful. Most of them probably
were quite squalid.

None of the Indians spent much time in making clothes. Fon-
taneda reported that the Caloosas went almost naked. The men wore
only loin-cloths made of plaited palmetto strips, fastened to a belt of
deer skin. The women wore short skirts made of strands of moss they
found hanging on the trees—later called Spanish moss. Above the
waist the Caloosa women wore nothing.

The Timucua Indian went in for more elaborate costumes. The
men wore breechclouts and sometimes cloaklike garments of colored
deerskin decorated with painted pictures of wild animals. The women
wore moss or painted deerskin skirts which they often varied with a

rment carried up over the shoulder and left hanging down to the
thigh. Early writers described this outfit as most attractive. Timucuans
of both sex added to their charm by loading themselves with ornaments
made of brightly polished stones, shells, bones and animal tails, worn
about their necks, waists, knees and ankles.

The Timucuan women wore their hair long, allowing it to dangle
freely down their backs. But the men were satisfied only when they
had a breath-taking hairdo. They trussed their raven strands high on
their heads and bound them on top with plant fibers, giving themselves
the appearance of wearing bellshaped caps. To attain an even more
alluring effect, the men usually stuck brightly colored feathers into the
coiffures, arranging them in striking patterns. The general effect often
was heightened by inflated fish bladders inserted in pierced ears. Le
Moyne said these fish bladders glistened like pearls.

The fascinating appearance of the Indian warriors was greatly in-
creased by the zeal and stoicism with which they tattooed their skin.
Thorns were used to prick the colors into the skin and often the fighting
men covered practically their entire bodies with lurid designs, intended,
no doubt, to catch the eye of Indian maidens. But to Europeans the
tattooing made the warriors appear formidable and ferocious.

The principal weapon of both Timucuans and Caloosas was the
bow and arrow, and they could shoot with deadly accuracy, as the
Spaniards learned to their sorrow. The arrow heads were often made
from snakes' teeth, bone and shell, but in the Tampa Bay area flint
heads were used extensively. The flint was obtained from a large quarry
just west of Six Mile Creek Swamp, about twelve miles from the heart
of present-day Tampa. This was the finest flint quarry on the peninsula
and the countless chips found there indicate that it was used for many
years, perhaps for centuries. The stone is said to be of better quality
than any other south of the Ohio River. The quarry was located inside
Caloosa territory but numerous arrow heads made from the stone have
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been found in places where the Timucuans lived. Perhaps the quarry
was worked by both groups through some kind of gentleman'’s
agreement.

If that was the case, the agreement must have been made through
an interpreter, because the Timucuans and Caloosas spoke different
languages. The language of the Timucuans has been described as
“mellow, sonorous, and rich in vowels and with a very complicated
grammar.” Thanks to Catholic missionaries, excellent Timucuan
vocabularies have been preserved.

Practically nothing is known about the Caloosa language. Almost
the only words of theirs which have been handed down are place names
given by Fontaneda for which he failed to give the meaning. He gave
only one other word: Se-le-te-ga. He said it meant: “Run to the lookout;
see if there are any people coming.” And he added, needlessly enough:
“The people of Florida abbreviate their words more than we do.”

Besides speaking different languages, the Caloosas and Timucuans
were dissimilar in other ways. The Timucuans made excellent pottery,
well molded and beautifully decorated, while the Caloosa pottery was
of the crudest kind. On the other hand, the Caloosas greatly excelled
the Timucuans in wood carving and painting. Some of their pieces,
unearthed on Marco Island, are said to be finer than any done by any
other Indians of southeastern United States.

The two groups also differed agriculturally. In Caloosa territory,
the Indians paid little or no attention to farming. But they did not
suffer from lack of food. The Gulf and ocean, and inland lakes and
streams, were alive with fish. And Fontaneda speaks of toothsome young
alligators, savory snakes, and juicy eels “as long as a man and as thick
as a thigh.” Moreover, the Caloosas had learned that the low koontie
bush had starchy roots which, when dried and ground into flour, made
excellent bread; that the mud potato, which tasted sweet, was quite
sustaining; that the heart of the cabbage palm was tender and nourish-
ing, and that even the black berries of the palmettoes could be eaten.
In addition to all this, the Caloosa had endless forests filled with game
—deer, wild cats, little brown bears, squirrels, and turkeys. Nature was
most generous to the Caloosa and quite naturally they considered farm-
ing a waste of time.

The Timucuans, on the other hand, were basically agriculturists,
even though they spent part of each year fishing and hunting, The
men condescended to clear the fields but the women sowed the seed and
did all the rest of the work through harvesting. The principal crop was
corn, however, pumpkins, squash and other vegetables were grown.
Food was stored in well-built granaries and warehouses made of earth
and stone. To insure a bounteous food supply, the shamans, or medicine
men, prayed over the fields just before tilling and when the grain was
reaped. And about the first of March, a large stag was sacrificed. The
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skin with head attached was stuffed with fruit and grain, decorated with
garlands of flowers, and placed on top of a pole facing the rising sun.
The shaman then offered prayers while the people responded with
weird songs and dances. Rites also were celebrated at new and full
Moons.

Tall tales have been told about how the Indians captured scores
of Christians from wrecked ships and sacrificed them to heathen gods.
Almost all these stories can be traced to Spanish exploiters who were
endeavoring to break down the opposition of the Catholic Church to
their profitable pursuit of capturing the Indians and selling them as
slaves. Under such circumstances, it was quite natural that the tale-
tellers should picture the Indians as being unspeakably vicious. It is
interesting to note, however, that Fontaneda does not mention having
seen any Christian tortured or sacrificed during the seventeen years he
lived with the Indians,

However, there is no doubt but that the Indians of south Florida
mistrusted and hated the Spaniards, even before the first conquistador
landed on Florida soil. They had ample cause for hatred.

White Men Brought Only Tragedy

The Spanish conquerors and exploiters of the New World have
been called, and probably rightly, the worst murderers in mankind’s
history.

When Columbus made his great discovery in 1492, the islands of
the West Indies were thickly populated by natives called the Arawaks
and Caribs. Ruthlessly and viciously, the Spaniards killed them. Some
they killed in battle; others by torture, and many, many more by working
them endless hours as slaves under the pitiless, blazing sun.

As an inevitable result of the extermination of the native popu-
lation, a labor shortage soon developed. To get replacements, the
Spaniards made raids on islands which had not yet been exploited. The
natives were hunted down, captured, and taken in chains to mines and
fields. There they died like tlies, from overwork, disease, mistreatment
and homesickness.

Slave ships probably reached the mainland of Florida about 1500.
The fact that there is no record of slaving expeditions means nothing.
For various reasons the slavers did not care to publicize their activities.
To escape paying a license fee to the crown and high custom duties on
slaves taken into Hispaniola, they operated as smugglers, sneaking
through the islands with their human cargo.

In all probability, the first slave ships which sailed into Florida
harbors were welcomed by the natives. The Indians were naturally a
happy people, friendly and hospitable to visitors, and it is more than
likely that they greeted the first white man with gifts of fruit and game
and trinkets. If that was the case, the Indians soon learned they had
made a tragic error. The white men had not come to make friends—
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they had come to capture human beings they could sell at high prices
in the slave markets. And that was what they did, again and again.
[nevitably, the friendship of the Indians turned to bitter, violent hatred.

As stated before, there is no existing record of such raids. But it
is a known fact that both coasts of Florida were charted before 1502,
because in that year the famous Cantino map was published, a map
which shows the Florida coastlines with remarkable accuracy. It is
more than likely that data for the map was furnished by pilots of the
slaving ships.

Slave raids also would explain the fact that when Florida was
“discovered” in 1513 by Juan Ponce de Leon, he was met by an aroused
and fighting people, ready to battle him to the death.

Juan Ponce was quite a fellow. Born in 5pain in 1460, he took
part in the Moorish wars and then sailed with Columbus on his second
vovage to the New World in 1493. During the vears which followed
he made an impressive record. His feats were so outstanding that by
1506 he was made administrator of Haiti. Three years later he was
appointed as the first governor of Puerto Rico. There he became rich.
His great plantations returned huge profits. He worked his slaves
pitilessly and when they died, he buried them where they fell.

While in Puerto Rico Juan Ponce heard a story from the natives
which fascinated him. He was told that to the north of Cuba there
was a marvelous island—an island called Bimini. On this island, the
natives said, there was gold, and silver, and precious gems, and spices
and rare woods. That was not all. In Bimini there was a miraculous
river—a river whose waters would restore youth to those who bathed
in it. A veritable Fountain of Youth!

Intrigued no end by this alluring tale, Juan Ponce lost little time
in persuading Ferdinand, king of Spain, to grant him a patent to con-
quer and exploit the island of Bimini. The document was signed
February 25, 1512,

As every school child knows, Ponce de Leon sailed from Puerto
Rico with a fleet of three ships on March 8, 1513. He did not discover
Florida on Easter Sunday, as the history books used to say. Easter came
on March 27 in 1513 and on that day his fleet was some four hundred
miles from the Florida coast. Not until April 2 did he sight land and
go ashore, probably about eighteen miles north of St. Augustine. But
April 2 was still during the Easter season. Herrera wrote: ““They named
it ‘La Florida’ because they discovered it in the time of the flowery
festival.” Thus Florida got its name. :

Needless to say, Juan Ponce did not find gold or silver in Florida;
nor a Fountain of Youth either. He searched down the East Coast,
through the Florida keys, and up the West Coast at least as far as the
Ten Thousand Islands. And all he found on that long, hard journey
were hostile natives who fought him fiercely.
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An extraordinary thing happened down around Marco. One of
the natives came forward to talk to the Spaniards. And he spoke in
Spanish! Juan Ponce was amazed, and well he might be. For a man
to discover a new country and then have a native speak to him in his
own language would be disconcerting indeed. The Spaniards surmised
that the Indian must have come from the West Indies. If so, he un-
doubtedly had brought word of the Spanish cruelties in the islands.
Little wonder then the Indians failed to extend a warm and hearty
welcome to the Spaniards.

After spending all summer on a fruitless search for loot, Juan
Ponce returned to Puerto Rico, discouraged but not yet ready to give
up. Eight years were to pass, however, before he returned to Florida.
During that period he added yearly to his wealth. His immense plan-
tation and great herds of cattle returned him Iush profits. He also had
a tidy income from his position as governor of the islands. Even so,
he was not satisfied. He was convinced that gold could be found in
Florida, perhaps far in the interior where he had not explored; mines
as rich as any Cortez had just discovered in Mexico. And, being now
SIXty KEars old, he may have been more in need of a Fountain of Youth
than he had been before. Anyhow, he was determined to go to Florida
and try again.

Early in 1521 Juan Ponce began making preparations for the return
trip. This time he intended to do a thorough job of exploration. His
plans provided for the establishment of a permanent settlement which
he could use as a base of operations. He left Puerto Rico February 20,
1521, with two ships, two hundred men, settlers and priests. He also
had a herd of swine, fifty horses and agricultural equipment.

Somewhere on the West Coast, no one knows just where, he found
an anchorage. Perhaps it was on the Caloosahatchee, or at Charlotte
Harbor. It could easily have been in Tampa Bay, Any one of the places
would have served his purpose. He wanted to explore the interior of
the peninsula and certainly it was easier to explore the interior by sailing
up a river or a bay than by marching through swamps and forests.

The landing place selected, no time was lost in bringing goods and
mctc'.: ashore, small boats shuttling back and forth between the ships and
land.

But suddenly there came a rain of arrows from the shadows of the
forests, And spears were thrown with deadly accuracy. Many of the
spears and arrows found their mark and Spaniards fell. Their blood
spilled upon the sand. The Spaniards rallied and brought their cross-
bows and arquebuses into use. But the brown figures of the Indians,
darting in and out among the trees, made elusive targets. The battle
raged for hours.

One of ‘those who fell was the great conquistador, the daring ad-
venturer, Juan Ponce de Leon. An Indian arrow penetrated his armor
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and buried itself deeply in his body. He writhed in pain. Clutching
his side, he staggered into a boat and was taken to his ship. And when
the last of the survivors came on board, and the anchors were lifted, and
the ships sailed away, Juan Ponce realized that his dream of conquest
had become a nightmare.

Taken ashore at Havana, where his fleet went iinmediately after
the battle, Ponce de Leon breathed his last, Instead of getting riches
in Florida, he received a mortal wound. Instead of finding the Fountain
of Youth and everlasting life, he met death. He died, but the name he
gave the land he found, lived on.

By mortally wounding Ponce de Leon and thwarting his plans to
establish a colony in their land, the Indians won an important round
in the battle with the treasure-seeking Spaniards. But they had not
delivered a knockout blow. Juan Ponce was dead but other Spaniards
were to follow to renew the battle in the quest for riches.

One-eyed, red-headed Panfilo de Narvaez, a grandee like Juan
Ponce who had become wealthy after years of conquest in the New
World, came up the West Coast in the spring of 1528 with a fleet of
five vessels, four hundred well-armed and armored men, and eighty
horses. He knew of the existence of Tampa Bay and intended to land
there. Old records state defimitely that he hunted two days for the
entrance to the bay, but without success. Giving up the search, Narvaez
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A fortified Timucuan village of the 16th century, as pictured by LeMoyne.
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sailed into the entrance of a smaller bay on Holy Thursday, April
9, 1528.

At the head of the bay a small Indian village was seen. The
inspector, Alonzo Enriquez, landed and found some of the Indians.
Making signs of amity, he called to them; they came forward and in
barter gave him fish and several pieces of venison.

Encouraged by the indications of friendliness, Narvaez landed the
next day, Good Friday, taking with him as many of his soldiers as his
boats would hold. The landing party found the village deserted, the
inhabitants evidently having fled at night. The dwellings of the village
were small and round, like pigeon houses, with trees for uprights and
thatched with palmetto leaves. In the center of the village was a barn-
like house with whole trees for rafters, large enough to hold more than
a hundred persons. .

The Spaniards tramped through the entire village, turning over
everything in the hope of finding gold. Suddenly a great shout arose.
One of the soldiers, poking around some fish nets, had discovered a
gold trinket. Everyone was thrilled. Lingering doubts about the ulti-
mate success of the expedition were dissipated. Surely the trinket was
positive proof that there was gold in Florida.

Narvaez ordered the remainder of his troops to land. The horses
also were brought ashore. Of the eighty brought from Cuba, only forty-
two remained alive and most of these were too weak to be of service.

“On the following day, Easter Sunday, Indians of the town came
and spoke to us,” stated Cabeza de Vaca, treasurer of the expedition, in
his report to the king made years later. “As we had no interpreter, we
could not understand what they meant. They made signs and menaces
and appeared to say we must go away from the country. With this they
left us and made off.”

It would have been far better for Narvaez and his men if they had
heeded the Indians’ warning. But they did not. They spent several
days exploring the surrounding country, finding several villages and

a large field of maize—but no gold, and then proceeded northward.
Nan'atz gave orders for his ships to follow along the coast and meet
him later—but they were never seen again. Indians followed Narvaez
and his men, shooting at them with their deadly arrows. Food was
difficult to find and many in the party became ill and died. When
north Florida was reached, weeks later, the plight of the adventurers
became desperate and they finally built boats to flee the country. One
boat was wrecked near Pensacola, two were lost at Santa Rosa, and a
fourth, carrying Narvaez, was blown out into the Gulf and swamped.
Of the four hundred men in the expedition, only three besides Cabeza
de Vaca managed to reach Mexico, and then only after several years of
harrowing experiences.
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Historians argued for years about the exact location of Narvaez’
landing place. They now generally agree, however, that he turned in
from the Gulf at Johns Pass and landed on the west side of Pinellas
Peninsula at or near the Jungle. This conclusion is based upon a
statement by Cabeza de Vaca describing an exploring trip made by
Narvaez. “We took our way toward the north until the hour of vespers,
when we arrived at a very large bay that appeared to stretch far inland,”
De Vaca stated. Old Tampa Bay is approximately a day’s march due
north of Boca Ciega Bay. Nowhere else in the state is there a large bay
that distance north of another bay, scholars say, and hence the landing
place has been fixed. :

Narvaez' expedition ended in failure but his chronicler, Cabeza
de Vaca, handed down the first known description of Tampa Bay. He
wrote: “The port of which we speak is the best in the world. At the
entrance are six fathoms of water and five near the shore. It runs up
into the land seven or eight leagues. The bottom is fine white sand.
No sea breaks upon it nor boisterous storm, and it can contain many
vessels. Fishes in great plenty. There are a hundred leagues to Havana,
a town of Christians in Cuba, with which it bears north and south.”
Beyond all doubt, that was Tampa Bay.

Although Cabeza de Vaca conveniently forgot to mention it,
Narvaez undoubtedly treated the Indians cruelly before he departed
from Pinellas Peninsula. Later explorers were told that when the Indians
failed to tell Narvaez where gold mines could be found, he ordered the
mother of Chief Hirrihigua thrown to his dogs. She was torn to pieces.
And in the same playful spirit, Narvaez ordered his swordsmen to slash
off Hirrihigua's nose, which was done. After that the Indian chief re-
portedly became a bitter enemy of the white men—naturally enough.

With the departure of Narvaez toward the north, Tampa Bay
Indians had an eleven year respite from the Spanish maraudings. Then
came that noted conquistador Hernando de Soto, that dashing adven-
turer whose name has become almost as much a part of Florida as mock-
ingbirds and cabbage palms. A county has been named for him, scores
of hotels, and countless stores, and restaurants, and even hot-dog stands.
Truly, Florida has taken De Soto unto itself.

It would be nice indeed if De Soto could be described as a gallant,
benevolent, kindly nobleman inspired by a desire to carry the story of
the cross to the brown-skinned men of Florida. But to do so would be
in direct contradiction to the facts. He certainly was brave and he may
have been gallant according to a sixteenth-century definition of the
word. But he certainly was neither benevolent nor kind. Not if old
Spanish writers can be believed. Said one of them: “De Soto was fond
of the sport of killing Indians.”

If killing Indians was sport, then De Soto had sport galore during
his lifetime. His record literally drips with Indian blood.
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Born in Estremadura, Spain, about 1499, of an impoverished aristo-
cratic family, De Soto went to Central America when twenty years old.
There, during the next nine years, De Soto won his reputation as a
“splendid” Indian killer. Spanish writers say he was devoid of mercy.

In 1528 he explored the coast of Guatemala and Yucatan and in
1532 went to Peru, where he played a prominent part in the conquest
of the Incas’ kingdom, and in stealing the Incas’ wealth. His cruelties,
as reported by the Spaniards, were almost unbelievable. But he gained
renown as being a great conquistador—and also a princely fortune.

In 1536 he returned to Spain with 180,000 ducats. Now he was
able to settle down and live the life of a Spanish grandee; also, to marry
the beautiful and charming Isabella de Bobadilla. He should have
been satisfied, but he wasn't. He wanted a province in the New World
he could call his own. His thoughts turned toward Florida, and he was
convinced that he could succeed where Juan Ponce and Narvaez had
failed, and win Florida's riches for himself.

Pulling the right strings in the Spanish court, De Soto on April 20,
1587, obtained a commission as adelantado of the Lands of Flnnda and
of Cuba. During the following year he gathered together an army of
over seven hundred men, described as the flower of Spain and Portugal,
and outfitted a fleet of nine ships. He sailed from San Lucar November
6, 1538, taking with him his bride Isabella.

The band spent the winter having a gay time in Havana and left
there in high spirits May 18, 1539, Isabella stayed behind—to wait and
wait, for a husband who would never return.

The ships in De Soto’s expedition were heavily loaded when they
sailed out of Havana's harbor. In addition to weapons of all kinds and
hundreds of ferocious fighting dogs, they carried more than two hundred
horses, fifty hogs and large quantities of nails, tools and even lumber,
De Soto had no doubts about finding gold—and he intended to be ready
to establish a colony as soon as he found the place where the mines
were richest.

One week out of Havana, De Soto sighted an island near the entrance
of Tampa Bay. And as his slups sailed closer, the conquistador saw a
wavering wisp of smoke rise lazily into the turquoise sky. It rapidly
became more dense and blacker. Silhouetted sharply against the snowy,
woolpack clouds hanging over the mainland beyond, it was visible for
miles. Minutes later, another column of smoke rose from another island
farther north. Then, in quick succession, other columns began rising,
up and down the coast as far as eye could see. The Indians had sighted
De Soto’s fleet and now were signalling that the dreaded white man
had come again.

On the afternoon of May 25, De Soto went ashore on an island to
reconnoiter. “Having fallen four or five leagues below the port and
without any of the pilots knowing where the port lay, it was thereupon
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determined that I should go and look for it,” De Soto wrote in a report
to the governor of Santiago.

The report made history because in it De Soto gave Tampa Bay
its first name, Espiritu Santo. He gave it that name because the Spanish
festival of Espiritu Santo, or Spirit of the Saint, fell on May 25, the day
he had first sighted land. As stated before, Herrera labelled the bay
“B. de Tampa" on the map he drew in 1601. Thereafter, some map
makers used Tampa and others Espiritu Santo, depending on which one
they liked the better. Many gave it both names.

De Soto’s report to the governor is interesting for another reason.
It was the first one ever written with a Florida date line, Espiritu Santo,
Florida, July 9, 1539,

During the night of May 26 De Soto stayed on shore, making camp
on the mainland near the mouth of a river on a point where he had
scen some Indian huts. The Indians had fled, undoubtedly after they
had seen the warning signals.

The following morning, the channel to the port was located and
De Soto rejoined his fleet. Shoals extended across the channel at many
places and five davs passed before all the ships were anchored at the
port, close to a small Indian village called Ucita. From Ucita too the
Indians had fled.

A good description of Ucita and the camp the Spaniards established
there 1s furnished by the scribe, the Gentleman of Elvas, who was a
member of De Soto's force:

“The town consisted of seven or eight houses, built of timber and
covered with palm leaves. The chief’s house stood near the beach on
a very high mound made by hand for defense. At the other end of the
town was a temple and on the top of it perched a wooden bird with its
eyes gilded. Some pearls, spoiled by fire and of litde value, were
found there.”

The scribe went on to say that De Soto and his officers lodged in
the chief’s house while several smaller buildings were used to store pro-
visions from the ships. The other buildings were destroyed, along with
the temple and the small native huts. Dense thickets and towering
trees around the village were cut down “for the space of a crossbow
shot in order that the horses might run and the Christians have the
advantage of the Indians if the latter should by chance try to attack
by night. . . . Every mess of three or four soldiers made a cabin wherein
they lodged.”

All the horses and swine brought in the ships were taken ashore
at Ucita, along with great quantities of supplies. The swine were penned
up but many of them rooted through the fence and wandered into the
woods, Perhaps they became the progenitors of the countless razorbacks
still seen in Florida woaods.
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By the middle of June, 1539, the white man’s first semi-permanent
camp in Florida was established somewhere on the shore of Espiritu
Santo Bay. But just where that “somewhere” was, no one knows for
sure. T'o settle the matter once and for all, Congress in 1954 authorzed
the creation of the De Soto Expedition Comimission. Headed by Dr.
John R. Swanton, of the Smithsonian Institution, the commission spent
three years digging through musty Spanish records. It finally issued a
report stating that De Soto’s camp at Ucita probably was located on
Terra Ceia Island and that the conquistador probably had first landed
at Shaw's Point, near the mouth of the Manatee.

The report immensely pleased the people of Sarasota and Manatee
counties but it was anything but satisfactory to people elsewhere on
Tampa Bay. St. Petersburg insisted that Dr. Swanton got his data all
twisted and should have fixed the landing place somewhere on the other
side of Tampa Bay, preferably right at the Sunshine City. And Tampa
proudly pointed to its famous “De Soto Charter Oak” and argued that
the ancient tree was living proof that the conquistador selected a Hills-
borough River spot for his landing place. To add to the confusion,
Historian John Blocker, of St. Petersburg, definitely “proved” in a
treatise published in 1949 that Ucita undoubtedly was located at Phil-
lippi Park, on Old Tampa Bay.

There are many good reasons for a diversity of opinion among
historians. Four different accounts of De Soto’s expedition exist. Three
were written by men who accompanied the expedition, the fourth by
a man who got his information from one of De Soto’s companions. All
the accounts are different and all are unbelievably vague in their
descriptions of localities. They can be given almost any interpretation.

Mother Nature has added to the difficulty of arriving at a general
agreement. During the past four hundred years she has made countless
major changes along the coast. Winds and tides have taken sand from
one place and dumped it in another. Old passes and old channels have
been closed and new ones opened. Keys which existed as recently as
a hundred years ago have all but disappeared; others have become much
larger. Asaresultofall this change, the vague descriptions of the Spanish
writers become vaguer still; in fact, almost meaningless.

50, to be on the safe side, let us say that De Soto’s camp at Ucita
was located somewhere on the shore of Tampa Bay and let it go at that.

De Soto spent almost all the summer of 1539 hunting for the gold
mines of his dreams. Up and down the coast and far inland he sent his
men. He captured natives and tortured them, hoping to force them to
tell where gold could be found. But he learned nothing, simply because
the natives had nothing to tell. Indian guides who failed to lead the
Spaniards to the fabled mines were thrown to the fighting dogs.

No doubt De Soto’s men went to the Indian village known to have
existed at the mouth of the Hillsborough River, where Fort Brooke
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later was established. Perhaps he conferred with the Indians under the
famous De Soto Oak. But if he did there is nothing in the records to
document the statement. Instead of making a treaty with the Indians
under the oak tree, as legend has it, the chances are De Soto destroyed
the Indians’ village on the river, just as he did all other villages his
forces overran.

By autumn, De Soto had become convinced there were no gold mines
in the Tampa Bay region. Hoping to get rid of him, some of his captives
told him gold could be found at Ocale, near the present city of Ocala.
So in November he sent the last of his ships back to Havana and aban-
doned the camp at Ucita. Before he departed, he burned all the build-
ings there, including those his men had built.

Then he started northward, pillaging and destroying as he went
along. Many of his men were killed or wounded by revengeful Indians
who lay in ambush along the trails. But the Indians were no match for
the Spaniards with their armor, their guns and crossbows, and ferocious
fighting dogs, and De Soto pressed on. Into north Florida he went, and
then westward, ever secking gold mines which always were just a few
leagues ahead. Behind him he left a wide path of destruction discernible
half a century later.

Finally he reached the Mississippi. There he died, perhaps of
frustrated ambition, on May 21, 1543. His body was buried at night
in the muddy waters of the
river. Sixteen months later
the remnants of his once
resplendent army, by then
despondent, ill and weary,
finally reached Tampico
and safery.

Thus ended the last
great expedition to Flor-
ida in search of gold, and
silver, and sparkling gems. §
There were riches in Flor-
ida, true enough, but not
the kind of riches sought
by the conquistadors.

The Tale of Juan Ortiz

There is a romantic sequel to the story of the Narvaez and De Soto
expeditions.

When Narvaez failed to return, his wife sent a relief ship after him.
On the ship was a young fellow named Juan Ortiz, a native of Seville.
Somewhere in the Tampa Bay area Juan saw a split cane sticking in the
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beach, holding a letter. Believing it might be a communication from
Narvaez, Ortiz and another youth went ashore. They were seized by
Indians. The other youth resisted and was killed. Juan was captured
and taken to the village of Hirrihigua, the Indian leader whose mother
had been thrown to the dogs by Narvaez and whose own nose had been
cut off by Narvaez' men.

Hating all white men with venomous hatred, Hirrihigua ordered
Ortiz burned alive. A scaffold of green wood was made and the young
Spaniard was tied down upon it with deerskin thongs. Rich pine knots
were thrown under the scaffold and set afire. Flames sprang up and
seared his body. He screamed in pain. His suffering touched the heart
of a daughter of the chief and she pleaded with her father for his life.
Though one Christian might do no good, she said, certainly he could
do no harm and it would be an honor to have him for a captive.

Reluctantly the chief yielded to his daughter’s pleas and gave orders
for Ortiz to be freed. The blazing wood was kicked aside, the youth
was released from the scaffold, and the young Indian maiden tenderly
dressed his burns. When he got well, Ortiz was told to stand guard at
the Indian burial ground and keep wild animals away. During the
first night he saw a wild cat attempting to carry off the body of a child.,
The stench of decaying corpses had made the Spaniard ill but he man-
aged to throw a spear and kill the animal. His act was praised by the
Indians and he was allowed almost complete freedom.

Three years later the village of Hirrihigua was burned by an
enemy tribe, headed by Chief Mococo, and Hirrihigua moved his people
to another port. Medicine men said the disaster had come because the
Indian gods were angered at them for permitting Ortiz to live and
demanded that he be sacrificed to appease their wrath.

Again the chief's daughter came to the Spaniard’s aid. She told
him he must flee to the land of Chiet Mococo, two days’ journey distant.
She said she had learned that Mococo had asked about the youth and
would like to see him. Ortiz traveled all night and in the morning
came to a river bordering the territory of Mococo. There he was seen
by fishermen. He could not speak their language and was saved from
being killed only because an interpreter arrived and talked to him, and
then explained to the others who he was. Taken to Mococo, he was
welcomed.

Ortiz remained with Mococo until the arrival of De Soto, eight
years later. Mococo sent Ortiz and nine Indians to contact the Spaniards.
They met a party of Spanish horsemen who started to attack furiously.
Ortiz attempted to cry out in Spanish but to his horror discovered he
had almost forgotten the language. Finally, in desperation, he managed
to gasp ‘‘Seville-Seville-Christian-Christian.” Saved, he joined De Soto’s
expedition.

That's the story related at great length by Ortiz himself and reported
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in full by two of De Soto’s chroniclers. It is particularly interesting
because it parallels almost exactly the story told in 1616 by Captain John
Smith regarding his romantic rescue by Pocahontas. Many historians
say that the Ortiz story, published in 1557, provided the theme for the
Pocahontas tale—that Captain John Smith picked it up and used it to
get publicity for himself. He got it. The Pocahontas tale has become
a part of American lore while the Ortiz story unfortunately has never
received the attention it deserved.

The hair-raising adventures of Ortiz undoubtedly occurred in the
Tampa Bay area. 'lEhe village of Hirrihigua was certainly located on
Pinellas Peninsula, perhaps at Weedon's Island. The river crossed by
Ortiz in his ﬂlght probably was the Hillsborough. Mococo probably
lived somewhere in the region of the Alafia or Little Manatee river. He
was a Caloosa chief while Hirrihigua was a Timucuan. That accounts
for their enmity and also for the fact that they spoke different languages.

True Christians Followed De Soto

After the failure of De Soto’s expedition, no more Spaniards fired
with a lust for treasure came to Tampa Bay, or anywhere else along the
West Coast.

But Florida was not forgotten by Spanish authorities. They could
not forget it. The South Florida Indians were causing them too much
trouble.

At that time, the principal Spanish storage points for treasure
looted from the Aztecs and the Incas were Veracruz in Mexico and
Cartagena in what is now Colombia. Ships sailing from those ports had
to pass through the Florida Straits. They were often blown far off their
course in tropical storms and wrecked upon the Florida coasts. Indians
captured the survivors and took everything worth taking from the
wreckage. They even took the treasure which the Spaniards had looted
from the Incas and the Aztecs. From a Spanish viewpoint, this was
downright reprehensible. The Spaniards were deeply pained.

Obwviously the Spanish trade route had to be protected. Some-
thing had to be done. But what that something should be was a debata-
ble question. The Spaniards had learned to their sorrow that the
Indians could not be easily conquered. And to send in a force large
enough to exterminate them would be extremely costly and dangerous.

The Florida problem was a thorny one for the Spanish authorities.
It was so thorny that they finally consented to listen to the pleas of the
Catholic clergy for permission to try to convert the savages. For years
the Catholic Church had protested against Spanish outrages in the New
World but the protests had fallen on deaf ears. But now the situation
was different. Perhaps it might pay after all to treat the Indians decently.
If the heathens could be converted and taught to refrain from making
off with the loot the Spaniards stole—fine.
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So it was that the first missionaries came to Florida. These men
were true Christians. They differed from the conquistadors in every
way. They were humble and considerate, not arrogant and cruel. They
sought to teach Christianity by kindly deeds, not by brutality. They
were good men, sincere in their beliefs, and also brave.

Such a man was the Dominican friar, Father Luis de Cancer Bar-
bastro, more commonly known as Father Cancer. Accompanied by four
other priests, he sailed from Veracruz early in 1549 intent upon found-
ing a mission in Florida, somewhere far up the East Coast in a region
where the natives had not learned to hate the Spaniards. But the captain
of the ship was obstinate. He did not want to make so long a journey,
so he headed straight for the Florida West Coast.

The exact landing place of the party is unknown. Most historians
agree, however, that it was somewhere in the neighborhood of Tampa
Bay, in a locality which had felt the full force of the conquistadors’
invasions. While searching for a spot to build a chapel, three Spaniards
were captured by Indians who crept upon them—Father Diego de
Toloso, Brother Fuentes and a sailor. With them was taken a woman
interpreter Father Cancer had brought with him—an Indian whom the
Spaniards had captured as a child on this coast, taken to Havana and
baptized as Magdalena.

Nine days passed before Father Cancer received any word of the
fate of his companions. Then Magdalena appeared on shore. She said
the whole country was aroused, fearing another invasion. But she added
that the three captured Spaniards were still alive, prisoners at a village
several miles away.

Hopes aroused by Magdalena's good news were quickly shattered.
A man dressed like an Indian, but obviously a Spaniard, came running
from the forest, plunged into the water, and swam to Father Cancer’s
ship. He was P]In::-hn Munoz, a soldier of De Soto’s force who had been
captured by the Indians ten years before. He brought the dreadful
news that Father Diego and Brother Fuentas had been killed—he had
seen their scalps.

Father Cancer was grief stricken. But he did not think of giving
up his mission. He insisted on being taken ashore; perhaps he could
convince these savages, despite everything which had happened, that
he had nothing but good will in his heart. The others tried to make him
change his mind, but he was adamant Regardless of consequences, he
must go ashore.

A boat was launched and Father Cancer was rowed toward the
land. As the boat neared the shore, the priest stepped overboard and
walked through the water to the beach. Indians came forward. They
seized him, and with a club, beat him to death. He died, on June 26,
1549—a courageous martyr. The Indians did not kill him because he
was a priest. They killed him because they could not understand that
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this godly man was totally unlike the marauders, slave hunters and
conquistadors who had come before him. He paid the penalty for
sins that others had committed.

After the slaying of Father Cancer, the Spaniards might have left
Florida in indisputed possession of the Indians indefinitely had it not
been for pirates and the French.

~ Pirates of all nationalties began taking a heavy toll of Spanish
shipping about the middle of the sixteenth century. Moreover, they
had the temerity even to attack, ravish and plunder a number of towns
on the Spanish Main. They not only took Spanish lives but Spanish
treasure as well, and that was inexcusable.

To make matters worse, French Huguenots boldly sailed across the
Atlantic in 1562 and established a fort and colony at Fort Royal, in
what 1s now South Carolina. Spanish officialdom was incensed and
alarmed. With the French at Fort Royal, the Spanish shipping route
would be endangered.

To remove the menace, a Spanish ship was sent from Havana. But
before it reached Fort Royal, the French departed for France, having
run out of supplies. The danger was over, but not for long. Within
less than two years, the Huguenots were back again. And this time they
located even farther south, at Fort Caroline, close to the mouth of the
St. Johns River, not far from present-day Jacksonville. Pirates soon
began using the port as a rendezvous.

Spanish officials were now truly alarmed. The Spanish shipping
lanes were more seriously endangered than before. And there was also
an even greater danger. If the French consolidated their position at
Fort Caroline, and then extended their control down the Florida
peninsula to the Straits, Spain’s position in the Western Hemisphere
would be jeopardized and her priceless possessions imperiled.

"~ In this extremity the king of Spain turned to a man long famous
for his bravery and brilliance as a strategist; a ruthless man and perhaps
a religious fanatic, but a great fighter and a great leader—Pedro
Menendez de Aviles.

Born in Spain in 1519, Menendez ran away from home when four-
teen years old and for the next sixteen years engaged in piracy. His
feats were so daring and his prizes were so rich that in 1549 Charles V
commissioned him to attack corsairs even in times of peace, granting
him all the booty he could take. Records show he took plenty. Five
years later he was appointed captain-general of the convoy which carried
the trade between Spain and the Americas. In 1565 he was arrested on
charges of grafting and imprisoned twenty months,

While in jail, Menendez' only son, Juan, was lost in a shipwreck
off Bermuda while commanding a treasure fleet sailing from Mexico
to Spain., Menendez was convinced that his son had not drowned and,
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upon being released from prison, sought permission from the king to
go and search for him.

The request came at exactly the same time that Spanish officials
had become most alarmed about the French colony and fort in Florida.
So a deal was made. Menendez was permitted to go and seek his son and,
at the same time, establish a colony in Florida—and drive out the French.

The agreement with the crown provided that Menendez was to
shoulder all the expense of the expedition. It cost him a million ducats.
But he expected to get all the money back with compound interest.
The king had promised him a grant of approximately 165 square miles
of land in Florida of his own choosing. Moreover, he was awarded
exclusive trading rights with a number of West Indies islands. And,
in addition, he was given the right to prey upon pirates who swarmed
the seas. He was to have the title of adelantado, or governor, of Florida.

Sailing from Cadiz on July 8, 1565, Menendez reached Puerto Rico
a month later and on August 28 entered and named the Bay of St.
Augustine. He established a fort there. Just twenty-three days later,
on September 20, he surprised the garrison at Fort Caroline and
massacred almost everyone—men, women and children. After slaying
them, Menendez hung their bodies on trees with the inscription: “Not
as Frenchmen but as Lutherans.”

Less than two weeks after the massacre, Menendez overtook two
hundred French survivors of a shipwreck at Mantanzas Inlet and, after
they surrendered to him and laid down their arms, massacred all except
eight who said they were Catholics.

It is possible that these two massacres in a row satisfied Menendez’
thirst for Lutheran blood. Soon afterward he swooped down upon a
hundred and fifty Frenchmen at Cape Canaveral who were trying to
build a boat in which to flee and, when they surrendered, he refrained
from killing them. He merely captured them.

Now that Florida was cleared of Frenchmen, by massacre and by
capture, Menendez was master of north Florida. He looked about him
and decided he had won a rich domain. In jubilation he wrote to the
king of Spain: “The province of Florida will bring enormous profits
from vineyards, sugar, cattle, ship stores, pearls, timber, silk, wheat
and endless supplies of fruit. And I assure your Majesty that in the
future Florida will be of little expense and will pay your Majesty much
money and will be of more value to Spain than New Spain or even
Peru.” :

Had Menendez been content to settle down and develop his St.
Augustine domain, his name might not have appeared in West Coast
history. But he had other plans. He decided to establish a fort in
Caloosa territory, on the southwest coast, to make his hold on Florida
secure. Perhaps he also wanted to make it a base of operations against
the pirates, whose ships and cargoes he had been given the right to seize.
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Menendez had other reasons for wanting to go into Caloosa ter-
ritory. He had heard that the Caloosas held a number of Spanish captives
and he wanted to find out if his son was among them. Moreover, he
had been told that Indians crossed the peninsula by boat and he wanted
to find their waterway. In addition to all this, Menendez wanted to
recover some of the treasure he had been told the Caloosas had salvaged
from wrecked ships. Waterfront gossipers in Havana estimated Caloosa
wealth at millions of dollars, in gold and silver and precious gems.
Certainly the Caloosas had wealth worth looking for, and Menendez
was not the man to pass wealth by.

So to the land of the Caloosas Menendez sailed, in February, 1566,
with a fleet of seven ships and hundreds of fighting men.

On the seventeenth of the month the hawk-eyed, beetle-browed
Spaniard had his first meeting with Carlos, the Caloosa chief, a man
who looked exactly like the man he was, a real leader. Nearly six feet
tall, the Indian was heavy-boned and broad-shouldered, and walked
with the easy grace of a panther. His dark eyes, almost jet black, were
keen and piercing. They were the eyes of an alert and intelligent man,
one not easily deceived or intimidated.

Carlos showed no hesitancy in giving up eleven Spaniards he had
been holding as captives. But Menendez' son was not among them.
And the Spanish captives did not appear overjoyed at being freed. Three
Spanish women who had married Indians and borne children insisted
on staying where they were.

Menendez remained several weeks in Caloosa territory. During
that time he and his men spent much of their time trading with the
Indians, swapping almost worthless gadgets for gold, and silver, and
jeweled ornaments the Caloosas had salvaged from wrecked ships. Just
how much the Spaniards obtained has never been revealed.

From the Caloosas, Menendez got one thing he never expected, or
wanted—another “wife.” She was the sister of Carlos; a woman at least
thirty-five years old, almost an old squaw, and "not at all beautiful.”
Carlos insisted upon the union, saying it would cement his friendship
for the Spanish leader.

All this occurred at a great banquet which Carlos held to honor
Menendez; a banquet attended by several thousand Indians who had
come from all parts of the land of the Caloosas for the occasion.

Menendez could not marry the woman—he already had a wife. He
did not even want to sleep with her, as Carlos wanted him to do,
particularly when all his men would know about it and spread the
story throughout the Spanish realm. He would be laughed at for years.
Besides, the woman was homely. He finally thought of an excuse.
“Christian men,” he said to Carlos, “do not sleep with women who are
not Christians.”
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Carlos replied tartly that since he had taken the white lord as his
brother, he and all his people were Christians also. “One blood, one
heart. There is no difficulty.”

While Menendez pondered over his predicament, feasting at the
banquet continued. Many wine casks were brought from the Spanish
ships. Everyone drank and became merry. Menendez began to feel
quite good. His moral scruples, if he had any, began to melt away.

At this opportune moment, the chiel’s sister returned to the banquet
hall. Christian women had taken her away, and bathed and clothed
her. Now she “appeared much better than she had before when she
was naked.” Menendez looked at her again and now he was not dis-
pleased. The bathing, and clothes, had done wonders. She was really
not half bad, after all. He seated her next to him “and said many things
to her through the interpreter which pleased her.” They danced.

A sprightly account of all that happened has been handed down
in a narrative written by Gonzalo Solis de Meras, brother-in-law of
Menendez, who was with him at the time.

“And when the dance was ended,” Solis wrote, “they conducted
her to rest on a bed which Menendez ordered to be made for her and
he followed. And in the morning she arose very joyful and the Christian
women who spoke to her said she was much pleased.”

Thus it was that the first “marriage of diplomacy” occurred on
American soil—-Menendez, the adelantado, “married” to the sister of
Carlos, the Caloosa chief. His “wife"” was given the name of Dona
Antonia and the harbor where the “marriage” occurred, San Anton.
Historians say this harbor was located somewhere in the Caloosahatchee-
Charlotte Harbor area, probably at Pine Island.

Soon afterward, Menendez departed. Dona Antonia went with
him because Carlos insisted. Back in Havana, Menendez placed her in
the care of his friends. Then he became absorbed in other affairs—
mutiny at his colonies on the East Coast and trouble with the Indians
in north Florida.

Menendez did not forget the harbor of San Anton. He had not
yet established a fort in Caloosa territory and neither had he been able
to find the cross-peninsula waterway the Indians were said to use. So
he ordered one of his captains, Francisco de Reinoso, to return to San
Anton, establish a fort and hunt for the waterway.

Almost a year passed before Menendez returned to Carlos’ village.
He arrived March 3, 1567, bringing Dona Antonia with him. When
Carlos saw that she did not have a child, he was deeply offended. And
he became even more offended when his sister told him that Menendez
had not lived with her at any time while she was away, even though
she humiliated herself by begging him to be tender and loving, Carlos
never forgave Menendez.
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Two priests were with Menendez when he returned. They were
Father Rogel and Father Villareal, both of the Society of Jesus. They
were sincere, humble Christians and if they had accompanied Menendez
on his first trip and proceeded in their own way to convert the Caloosas,
the course of West Coast history might have been greatly changed. But.
they came too late.

Not knowing that, Father Rogel built the first Christian mission
on the West Coast, probably at Pine Island, at the mouth of the Caloosa-
hatchee. During the following year he learned the Caloosa language
and started to compile a Caloosa dictionary. His work has disappeared
Some day it may come to light among the millions of Spanish documents,
still untranslated, which are stored in the archives at Seville. If so,
Tampa may discover the meaning of the Caloosa word “Tanpa” from
which the city got its name.

Fort Established on Tampa Bay

To his regret, Menendez was informed by Captain Reinoso that
the sought-for waterway across the peninsula had not been found. But
Reinoso told his chief he had learned that it lay in the country of Toco-
baga, an Indian chief living at the head of a large bay fifty leagues
distant up the coast.

Tocobaga, a Timucuan, was a bitter enemy of Carlos and even
then held captive eleven of Carlos’ people, including one of his sisters.
The desire of Menendez to go to Tocobaga and find the waterway
pleased Carlos greatly. Now he might find a chance to get revenge.
But when he divulged his thoughts to the Spanish leader, he was quickly
silenced. Menendez told him flatly that he had no intentions of fighting
Carlos’ battles. All he wanted to do at Tocobaga, he said, was find the
waterway.

On the morning of March 7, 1567, Menendez set sail for Toocobaga,
taking with him a fleet of six brigantines. Carlos went with him. The
fleet arrived at the entrance to Tampa Bay that evening. There was
no moon but the wind was favorable. With an Indian guide to serve
as pilot, the fleet proceeded up the bay and arrived at the village of
Tocobaga an hour before daybreak, without being discovered. The
village undoubtedly was located at what is now Phillippi Park, north
of Safety Harbor. '

Anchoring, Menendez ordered a Spaniard who knew the Timucuan
tongue to go ashore and proclaim in a loud voice that he came in peace.
This the Spaniard did. The Tocobagans, awakened at such an early
hour in such a manner, fled in terror with their wives and children.
Tocobaga alone remained with six companions and his wife.

When daylight came, the Indian chief sent a Christian slave out to
Menendez” ship to thank him for not having burned his village. The
slave was a Portuguese trader who had been held captive by the Toco-
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bagans for six years. His bark, laden with maize and chickens, honey
and woolen blankets, had been wrecked on the coast while headed for
New Spain. Members of his crew had been killed but he hid in the
woods for a month, living on shell fish, palmetto hearts and acorns.
Finally captured, he had been required to serve Tocobaga as a cook.

With the Portuguese to serve as an interpreter, Menendez went
ashore and talked to the Indian chief. Tocobaga told the Spanish leader
that other white men had come to that region some time before and had
killed other chiefs, his friends, because they could not give them maize.
And these white men, Tocobaga said, were followed by other white men
who slew the first. Tocobaga asked what kind of a man Menendez was
—like the first white men who had killed his friends or like the second
group. Menendez assured him, of course, that he was a true Christian
and would not dream of harming others.

Menendez remained several days in Tampa Bay, talking peace
terms and searching for the waterway. But on the third day he was
alarmed. A great crowd of warriors assembled, estimated at fifteen hun-
dred. Tocobaga had sent out messengers to tell of the Spaniards’ arrival
and the Timucuans streamed in from all directions, fully armed and
ready for action. After that, Menendez did not tarry long. At a final
peace conference, arrangements were made for an exchange of prisoners
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between Carlos and Tocobaga, and the Timucuan leader said he would
not object if Menendez left a force of men to establish a fort.

Menendez then departed with his fleet, leaving thirty soldiers
under the command of Captain Garcia Martinez de Cos, who is reported
to have remained sorely against his will.

Once more Menendez had failed to find the cross-peninsula water-
way. And, needless to say, he never did find it.

On his return trip down the coast, Menendez stopped only a day
at San Anton. Sensing a growing enmity of Carlos toward him, he in-
creased the garrison at the fort by fifty men and departed for the East
Coast. He left Dona Antonia behind.

After the departure of Menendez, Carlos was bitter. He was
humiliated by the way the Spaniard had treated his sister. He was
angry because Menendez had established a fort in his land. And he
had become convinced that the adelantado’s only aim was to conquer
and enslave his people. He refused to listen to Father Rogel when the
priest spoke of Christianity. Having seen how the Spanish conquistadors
practiced Christianity, he wanted none of it.

Less than two months later, Carlos was executed by the Spaniards,
along with twenty of his leaders. Old records say that the Indians had
made several attempts to destroy the Spaniards and were finally caught
in a flagrant plot. It's just as likely they were executed because they
refused to bring out any more Spanish treasure they had hidden. In
all events, they were killed and Pedro Menendez Marquez, nephew of
the adelantado, stated six years later that he beheaded Carlos himself
“along with twenty others of the most guilty and had a judicial record
of it drawn up.”

Don Felipe, son of Carlos, succeeded his father as chief late in May,
1567. For a time he did nothing to antagonize the Spaniards.

Father Rogel continued to hold services in his crude chapel and
also made a number of trips to Tocobaga where he tried to convert the
Timucuans. He had some success with the children at both places,
patticularl}' when he had gifts to distribute, but little or none with the
older Indians. They were polite to him but seldom could be persuaded
to enter the chapels. The priest spent most of his time consoling the
Spanish soldiers at the two garrisons. They had no liking for these forts
in the wilderness and longed to return home.

. In one of his reports, Father Rogel told of his troubles with the
Timucuans at Tocobaga. ““When an Indian falls sick,” he wrote, “they
say that one of his souls has escaped, and the medicine man goes to the
forest in search of it and herds it back like one drives goats to an in-
closure. Seizing the sick man by the throat, they force the truant soul
back into him again and light fires all around to keep it there. When
a man dies, his principal soul enters an animal or a fish, and when this
dies, enters a smaller one, and so descends until it reaches nothingness.
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Hence it is difficult to convince them of the immortality of the soul and
of the resurrection.”

Serious trouble for the Spaniards began to develop late in 1567,
both at San Anton and at Tocobaga. At both places the Indians refused
to bring in food as they had before. The situation finally became so
desperate that Father Rogel was persuaded to go to Havana to obtain
supplies. He left on December 10 and returned a month later on a ship
commanded by Menendez Marquez, the nephew of the adelantado.
After putting some of the food ashore at San Anton, they proceeded up
the coast to Tampa Bay.

At Tocobaga a shocking surprise awaited them. The fort had been
burned and twenty-six of the soldiers and their leader, Captain de Cos,
had been massacred while foraging for food. Three others had been
captured and they too were killed when the Spanish ship came in sight,
Menendez Marquez landed with his men, buried the three Spaniards,
and then burned the village.

Back at 5an Anton again, Father Rogel persevered in his efforts
to convert the Indians. But their enmity toward the Spaniards was too
great for him to overcome. He finally departed in sorrow and was
succeeded by Father Alamo. He too found the assignment hopeless.

The Indians continued to refuse to bring in food. And the
Spaniards, knowing what had happened to their comrades at Tocoba
when they went foraging, did not dare leave the fort. They became
hungrier and hungrier.

Perhaps in an effort to break the Caloosas’ spirit, Menendez Mar-
q}I;IEZ adopted drastic measures. Don Felipe and eleven of his petty
chiets were captured and charged with treacherously plotting the de-
struction of the Spaniards. They were, of course, found guilty and
were executed on December 17, 1568,

The Spaniards gained nothing through the execution, or murder,
of the Caloosa chiefs. Protected as they were by their fortress walls,
and heavy armor, and arquebuses, and fighting dogs, they were safe
from Caloosa assault. But they were not safe from hunger. And when
the Indians adopted a scorched earth policy, burned their nearby villages,
and disappeared into the forests, the position of the Spaniards became
untenable. Unable to get enough food to satisfy their needs, they were
forced to abandon the fort and mission, late in December, 1568,

As they sailed out into the Gulf they saw rising from Pine Island
a great pillar of smoke. The Caloosas had returned and set fire to the
fort and mission buildings. The act was a final gesture of defiance. The
Spaniards had killed Carlos, and Don Felipe, and many of the bravest
warriors, but the Indians’ fighting spirit remained unbroken.

Then, for many years, the Indians of the West Coast were un-
molested by the white man. They were truly too tough to conquer and
too stubborn to convert. So they were left alone.
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During the Era of Peace

For more than two centuries following the massacre of Captain de
Cos and his men at Tocobaga, the Tampa Bay area slipped into oblivion
so far as recorded history is concerned.

Soldiers and priests had left. With them went the scribes who told
of passing events. No one remained to tell through the written word
of the activities of the Tampa Bay Indians. Missionaries may have come
to the bay from Spanish settlements farther north, but if so they left no
record of their journeys. There is nothing to show they ever established
missions anywhere in the bay region.

Life went on much as it had before the white man came. Indian
mounds built after the departure of Menendez show that the natives
lived just as they had lived before—fished and hunted, planted their
fields of maize, worshiped their gods, and fought each other now and
then. But now they had new ornaments—bright, shiny disks hammered
out of coins the Spaniards had left behind, and gold chains and beads
salvaged from the wrecks of Spanish ships. They also had new weapons
made of copper, iron and steel. These the Indians highly prized.

Years passed. And then there came the day when the first Spanish
trader from Cuba sailed into Tampa Bay. His ship was small and he
had no fighting dogs, or deadly muskets, or force of fighting men. He
was just a lone trader with perhaps his wife and a child or two.

The Indians recognized him for what he was and had no fear of
him., They had no difficulty in learning what he came for—traders
everywhere use almost the same sign language. He wanted to get alli-
gator hides, and deer skins, and furs, and anything else the Indians had
to offer. To pay for them he had many articles which struck the Indians’
fancy—knives and axes, kitchen utensils, pottery, bolts of gaily colored
cloth, and trinkets of all kinds.

The natives were well satisfied with the deals they made, and so
was the trader. Before long he was followed by other traders. Soon
there was a lively traffic in goods between Cuba and the West Coast.

Proof of the improved relationships was furnished in 1612 when
a peace mission from St. Augustine under Lieut. Juan Rodriquez de
Cartayo sailed into Tampa Bay, exchanged gifts with Indian chiefs, and
then went on down the coast to the Caloosahatchee to the principal town
of the Caloosa Indians. Everywhere he found the Indians friendly.

Cartayo was much impressed with the Caloosa chief and in a letter
to Governor Juan Fernandez de Olivera expressed the hope “that within
a short time monks will be able to go there in safety and reap great
harvest because this cacique has more than sixty towns of his own besides
many others which pay him tribute.”

But Cartayo's hope apparently was never realized. Spanish records
indicate that the Caloosas had had enough of missionaries. One old
document reveals that in 1680 a reconnaissance of the Caloosa territory
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was made preparatory to the resumption of missionary work but that
the emissary was turned back. Another old document states that a
similar missionary effort made in 1697 had the same fate.

Even though the West Coast Indians turned the missionaries back
they continued to welcome Spanish traders. The historian Barcia re-
ported that in the one month of March, 1697, the trade with the Calﬂ-::-aas
totalled $17,000.

But the Spanish traders brought something to the West Gnasr.
besides gayly colored cloths, and trinkets, and other things the natives
wanted. They brought something for which the Indians paid a dreadful
price, They brought diseases—white man’s diseases.

T he Indian Tribes Are Decimated

Back in the booming 1920s a gruesome dlscﬂver}r was made on
C}'prcss Street in Tampa. Digging foundations for a home on land he
had just purchased, George Henriquez came across a human skeleton
just below the surface. Soon afterward he found many more, nearly
two hundred altogether.

The burials had been made in a most unusual manner. One man,
apparently the chief, had been buried in an upright manner and the
bodies of all the others extending outward horizontally from the chief
like the spokes of a wheel. Only a little earth covered the skeletons.

Dr. Mathew W. Stirling, of the Smithsonian Institution, who ex-
amined the skeletons, said he believed all the Indians had been buried
at the same time late in the seventeenth century and probably were
victims of an epidemic of smallpox.

That explanation may or may not be correct. But it is a known
fact that the native Indian tribes of Florida were ravaged by white
man’s diseases when they were at the peak of their strength. They died
like flies from smallpox, measles and yellow fever, diseases they did not
have before the white man came. Whole villages were wiped out. Some-
times the bodies of the victims were heaped up by the score and hastily
covered with a thin layer of earth; sometimes they were left untouched,
unprotected from the elements and scavenger birds and beasts,

Records of Spanish missionaries indicate that nearly half of the
Timucuan Indians in the northern part of the peninsula were victims
of a dreadful plague which lasted from 1613 to 1617, and that the tribes
were further decimated by a fearful epidemic in 1672. Unquestionably
the epidemics extended into the Tampa Bay area and farther south,
as proved by the mass burials so often found. No one knows how many
natives died but certainly the tribes were weakened tragically.

The decline of the West Coast tribes was hastened by the English
slave raiders, as rapacious and as ruthless as the Spanish slave raiders
had been before them.

The English had settled Carolina and moved on into Georgia. Ever
hungry for more land, they clashed repeatedly with the Spanish and
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the Spaniards’ Indian allies in north Florida. With their own Indian
allies, the Yemassees, they drove deep into the peninsula. Many of their
raids were made on the pretext that they were seeking runaway Negro
slaves. But almost invariably they seized Indians they could sell at high
prices in the slave markets farther north.

The Spanish governor at St. Augustine reported in 1708 that
thousands of Christian Indians had been captured by the English in
north Florida and that only three hundred men, women and children
remained and that “even these are being carried off daily.”

The Yemassee allies of the English later established slave hunting
routes deep into Florida and made raids as far south as the Caloosa-
hatchee. Undoubtedly forays were made in the Tampa Bay region. But
no one will ever know how many Indians were captured. The English
slavers, like their Spanish predecessors, kept no records.

As a result of the epidemics and slave raids, the once thriving
villages around Tampa Bay disappeared. The only Timucuans and
Caloosas heard of thereafter were in straggling bands employed by
Spanish fishermen.

Spaniards began coming to the West Coast to get fish for the Cuban
markets early in the eighteenth century. They established fish “ranchos”
on the keys where they dried and salted their catch.

A number of such ranchos were seen in 1769 by Bernard Romans
while preparing a map of the West Coast for the British government.
Apparently one was located at the tip of Pinellas Peninsula because
Romans labeled it “Fishermen’s Point.” He said the Spaniards fished
from September to March, using about thirty vessels of from fifteen to
forty tons and employing from twelve to forty men. He said they salted
a thousand tons of fish each year and also netted huge quantities of
mullet from which they took nothing but the roe.

Bernard Romans did much more than report about the fisheries.

For instance, he was the man who named Hillsborough River and Hills-
borough Bay.

Lord Hillsborough Gets on the Maps

When England acquired Florida from Spain in 1763 in exchange
for Havana, no good map of Florida existed. The West Coast par-
ticularly had been neglected by the Spaniards. Six years before, in
1757, the Spaniards had prepared a chart of Tampa Bay but it is noted
more for the spectacular pictures of Indians and wild animals which
adorn it than for accuracy.

Desiring good maps of their newly acquired possession, the British
government turned the task of preparing them over to William Gerard
de Brahm, surveyor general of the southern district of North America.
In 1769 Brahm appointed Romans as his chief deputy surveyor and put
him in charge of the map preparation project,
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Born in Holland, Romans had spent some time in England and
had come to America about 1760. He was a good engineer, an excellent
navigator, and a mathematician. He also was a first-rate botanist and
an accomplished writer. Placed in charge of the Florida map making

job, Romans went to work immediately and by the summer of 1772
had the Gulf coast charted.

During this period the British secretary of state for the colonies was
Lord Hillsborough, an irascible fellow who had little love for American
colonists and opposed granting them any concessions. Some historians
say that Hillsborough's stubbornness did more than a little to aggravate
the Americans to the point where they finally shouldered muskets and
started the unpleasantness called the American Revolution.

Romans' first map of Florida was sent to Lord Hillsborough on
August 14, 1772, by Peter Chester, then governor of West Florida. With
the map went a request that Romans should be given an annual pension
of fifty pounds a year, in addition to his regular pay, because of his
excellent work.

Perhaps Romans had no idea of apple polishing when he prepared
his map. Perhaps he gave no thought to the annual pension which was
being reque*su:d of Lord Hillsborough. Perhaps it is mere coincidence.
But it is a fact that on the charts of the Florida coasts sent by Romans
to the secretary of the colonies, his lordship was well remembered. On
the East Coast, the river now known as the Indian River was labeled

Fhoto by Burpers Nros.

Brown-skinned Indian warriors stalked through these Florida wilds before the Spanun{n came (o
loot, and kill and conquer,
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Hillsborough River. And on the West Coast, Hillsborough's name was
perpetuated again in another Hillsborough River and also in Hills-
borough Bay, the eastern arm of upper Tampa Bay,

There is no way of knowing, of course, whether Lord Hillsborough
was pleased by having been so well taken care of on the map. But
certainly he could not have been too badly irked because it is a matter
of record that on December 9, 1772, word came from London that
Romans' fifty pound pension had been granted.

The Hillsborough names were carefully preserved on the first
known official British map of Florida, published February 20, 1775, by
Jetfery, "' Geographer to His Majesty.” And the names of Hillsborough
Bay and Hillsborough River have endured ever since, a binding link
between historic Tampa Bay and a man who never set foot on Florida
soil, disliked American colonists, and did much to precipitate the Ameri-
can Revolution. The association was made even more binding in 1834
when the Florida territorial assembly created a new county and, in its
infinite wisdom, tacked onto it the name of Hillsborough. _

While holding the job of secretary of state for the colonies, Hills-
borough secured a grant of Florida land but he never took possession
of it. In fact, the American Revolution got under way before his lord-
ship could even determine what land he wanted. As a result, his grant
was nullified when Spain regained possession of Florida in 17883,

But the names of Hillsborough Bay, Hillsborough River and Hills-
borough County still remain, potent reminders of the fact that his lord-
ship once wielded a mighty stick in the land of the Roaring Lion.

Delayed Recognition Comes to Tampa Bay

The Hillsborough names were all that Tampa Bay got from the
British during the two decades they possessed Florida, from 1763 through
1783, Englishmen swarmed into St. Augustine and caused that ancient
city to boom as it never boomed before. They also gave Pensacola a
mighty boost. But they disregarded the Tampa Bay region completely;
so far as is known, not one Englishman ever set foot there during the
period of British rule with the idea of settling.

Tampa Bay also was forgotten by the Spaniards when they regained
Florida in 1784. Not until many years later, after the War of 1812 was
ended, did the bay receive the attention it long had merited.

- Seminole Indians finally forced the United States to realize that
possession and fortification of Tampa Bay was a military necessity.

The Seminoles were relative newcomers to Florida. Most of them
were Creek Indians of Georgia who had come to Florida with the British
during the eighteenth century to kill and capture and enslave the
Spanish-speaking Indians. They took over raided Indian villages and
settled down. They farmed and raised cattle and hogs. As the years
passed they severed all ties with the Creeks in Georgia and became



In THE DAys oF Lonc Aco 45

known as the ‘“‘runaways,” or Seminoles. Numerically strong, they
dominated other Indian tribes in Florida and ultimately the whites
referred to all Florida Indians as Seminoles.

For military reasons, the British assiduously cultivated the friend-
ship of the Seminoles and induced them by various means to wield
their scalping knives with zeal on the heads of luckless Americans at
every opportunity. During both the Revolutionary War and the War
of 1812, the Seminoles were allies of the British.

British-inspired hatred of the Seminoles toward Americans was
intensified by countless border clashes. The Indians protected Negro
slaves who escaped from Georgia plantation owners; the Indians held
lands Americans coveted; the Indians owned herds of cattle the white
man wanted. So, at more and more frequent intervals, Americans raided
Indian territory, recapturing runaway slaves and stealing cattle. The
Indians retaliated with raids into Georgia and South Carolina, murder-
ing families and burning homes.

War between Americans and the Seminoles was inevitable and
war came, on December 26, 1817, when the War Department ordered
General Andrew Jackson to take whatever steps were necessary to put
the Indians in their place. The offending Seminoles were in Florida,
and Florida was owned by Spain, but that made no difference to hard-
boiled Jackson.

The resulting conflict, known as the First Seminole War, was
amazingly brief. On March 8, 1818, Jackson marched into Florida with
a force of three thousand men. The Seminoles and their Negro allies
were ill-prepared to engage such an army and instead of fighting a
major battle, they retreated. In pursuing them, Jackson destroyed
twenty Indian villages, took thousands of bushels of corn, and made
off with two thousand head of cattle. Great areas of the Indian territory
were devastated. The “fighting” was ended bv April 20.

When Jackson invaded Spanish-owned Florida he undoubtedly had
more in mind than the subduing of the Seminoles. He held a grudge
against Spain for lending aid and comfort to the British during the
War of 1812 and there is little question but that he intended to use this
opportunity to seize Florida and hold it, regardless of consequences.
Proceeding on that line, he captured St. Marks on April 7 and Pensacola
on May 25.

Immediately thereafter, General Jackson sent his aide-de-camp,
Captain James Gadsden, on a reconnaissance down the West Coast to
find the best locations for a chain of seacoast defenses which would
prevent a foreign power from again getting a foothold in Florida, as
Great Britain had done four years before.

In a report made to Jackson August 1, 1818, the establishment of
a fort at Tampa Bay was recommended for the first time. Said Gadsden:
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“The Bay of Tampa, in latitude 27 degrees 36 minutes, is esteemed
one of the finest harbors in the Gulf. Its entrance is bold, admitting
of four fathoms at low water and from its peculiar situation must at
no distant period become valuable as a maritime depot for Florida. As
such it must be embraced within any chain of seacoast defenses which
may be constructed and its occupancy is all important at this period.
It is the last rallying point of the disaffected Negroes and Indians and
the only favorable point from whence communication can be had with
Spanish and European emmissaries. Nicholas, it is reported, has an
establishment in that neighborhood and the Negroes and Indians driven
from Micosukey and Suwaney towns have directed their march to that
quarter.”

In stressing the need for a fort at Tampa Bay, Captain Gadsden
emphasized the fact that the invasion of Florida by the British in the
War of 1812 would have had most serious consequences if the war had
not ended when it did. He pointed out that the British, with their
Seminole allies, could easily have cut through to the Mississippi and
thereby “united the four southern tribes of the Indians in hostilities
against us.”

And Gadsden added: “The western states would have been cut off
from all communication from the Gulf of Mexico and Louisiana would
necessarily have fallen an easy conquest. That the strength and
patriotism of the west might ultimately have triumphed over such suc-
cess is not doubted, but oceans of the best blood of our country would
have flowed before a powerful enemy thus favorably posted could have
been expelled.”

Establishment of the Tampa Bay fort recommended by Gadsden
was delayed several years because the United States finally decided it
would be more politic to “purchase” Florida from Spain than seize it
through military conquest. Against his will, Ferdinand VII, king of
Spain, reluctantly signed the so-called purchase treaty October 24, 1820,
and President James Monroe signed it February 22, 1821. Spain re-
ceived no money from the “sale.” The §5,000,000 so often mentioned
as the “purchase price” went to Americans who had claims against the
Spanish government. Strictly speaking, the United States did not pur-
chase Florida—they acquired it.

King Ferdinand had a wee bit of revenge for being pushed around
so brusquely by the United States. Immediately after Jackson assembled
troops to invade Florida in 1818, the king proceeded to make huge
grants of land to three of his favorites: the Duke of Alagon, the Count
of Punon Rostro, and Don Pedro de Vargas. Rostro got a big slice of
north Florida, Vargas a hunk of the lower peninsula, and Alagon a
tremendous portion of the central peninsula, including all the Tampa

Bay region.
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These grants were specifically nullified in the purchase treaty but
despite that fact, the Alagon grant resulted in no end of litigation and
put a damper on Tampa Bay land sales for many years.

But all that is immaterial. The all-important fact was that the
ratification of the purchase treaty meant that Spain had to give up
forever the land it had held for nearly three hundred years—the land
which Menendez said “will bring enormous profits from vineyards,
sugar, cattle, ship stores, timber, silk, wheat and endless supplies of
fruit.” Menendez was right. Florida has brought enormous profits from
almost all the things he mentioned. But the profits did not go to the
country which had sent conquistadors to Tampa Bay to find gold, and
silver, and precious gems. Riches were in Florida, true enough, but
not for Spain.



CHAPTER I

- ANGLO-SAXONS COME TO TAMPA BAY

HE NAME OF THE FIRST Anglo-Saxon who lived on the shores of Tampa

Bay probably will never be known definitely. But he may have been

an adventurous British army officer, Captain George Woodbine, a
man who dreamed great dreams of conquest.

Captain Woodbine was one of the officers of the British force which
took Pensacola from the Spanish on August 29, 1814, during the War
of 1812, and then proceeded to arm the Indians and train them in the
most effective methods of exterminating Americans.

The British were interrupted in this pleasant occupation early in
November, 1814, when General Andrew Jackson suddenly appeared
on the scene and sent the red-coats flying. Woodbine departed on one
of the British ships and nothing more was heard of him until the summer
of 1815, months after the war had ended. The British captain then
was reported to have settled at Tampa Bay and as having dealings with
the Indians, encouraging them to defy the Spaniards and Americans
and establish a kingdom of their own. It is possible that Woodbine was
acting on his own responsibility, hoping perhaps to become the white
overlord of the Indians’ domain. However, it is far more likely that he
was acting as a British agent.

Be that as it may, Woodbine lived at Tampa Bay a year or more.
From the meager records available it is believed he persuaded many
Negro runaway slaves to work for him, clearing land and planting
crops, paying them perhaps with money or supplies sent from Great
Britain. The exact location of Woodbine’s homestead or plantation has
never been learned but that he lived at Tampa Bay is undisputed.

During his sojourn at the bay Woodbine became most friendly
with the Indians, not only the scattered few then living in the bay
region but those living farther up the peninsula as well. The friend-
ship became so close, it is related, that the Indians gave him a large
tract of land on the bay and assured him that if the Spaniards or Ameri-
cans tried to drive him off, a force of fifteen hundred warriors would
come to his aid. |

In the summer of 1317 Woodbine went to Fernandina, which had
been captured from the Spaniards shortly before by “General” Gregor
McGregor, one of the most picturesque soldiers of fortune who ever
enlivened the pages of American history. McGregor had been associated
with Bolivar in the South American revolutions; now he was scheming
to seize Florida from the Spaniards and establish his own empire. But
McGregor lacked the necessary followers to carry out his ambitious
program and when Woodbine told him how the needed force might be
obtained, the Scotchman hearkened to his words.
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Woodbine's plan was simple. All that would be necessary, he said,

was that McGregor should go with him to New Providence, capitol of
the Bahamas. At New Providence, he declared, hundreds of British
soldiers from a disbanded regiment could be enlisted in the scheme of
conquest. Ships also could be obtained, he said, for taking the expedition
to Tampa Bay where the Britishers could join forces with his fifteen
hundred Indian warriors. From Tampa Bay, the army could proceed
across the peninsula and capture 5t. Augustine—and Florida would be
sately bagged.

Convinced, McGregor went with Woodbine to New Providence
where they began rounding up recruits. One of the volunteers, quite
possibly a friend of Woodbine, was an ex-British officer named Robert
Christie Armbrister, whose name has been spelled “Ambrister” in
American records.

Still under thirty-five years of age, Armbrister had fought in the
British army in many parts of the world. He had been in the battle of
Waterloo and later had been assigned to St. Helena as one of Napoleon's
guards. Alter a short stay there he was transferred to the West Indies;
soon afterward he wounded a fellow officer in a duel and was suspended
trom his rank for a year. Nothing daunted, he proceeded to woo the
daughter of a rich banker who promised to marry him when he was
reinstated in the army. While waiting for this happy day to come,
Armbrister went to New Providence to wvisit his uncle, Governor
Cameron, of the Bahamas. In New Providence he joined forces with
McGregor and was given a most important assignment—he was instructed
to proceed to Tampa Bay to mobilize the Indians who had promised
Woaoodbine their support.

History does not record who went to Tampa Bay with Armbrister.
Quite possibly he was accompanied by another colorful character, a
Scotch trader very much his senior, Alexander Arbuthnot. The Scotch-
man, who had first gone to Florida to trade with the Indians a year
before, was then in New Providence laying in a new stock of goods and
was just getting ready to make the return trip. He had purchased huge
q}ql.lantities of powder, lead, knives and other commodities needed by
the Indians in time of war as well as in time of peace. Since both Arm-
brister and Arbuthnot were headed in the same direction, they may
have gone together.

Arbuthnot was a man nearly eighty years old but still strong and
active. His flowing white hair gave him a dignified appearance and his
warm smile aided him in quickly making friends. Although he had
been trading with the Florida Indians only a year he had already cut
deeply into the business which had been long monopolized by Panton,
Leslie & Company, and that firm's successors, John Forbes & Company.
Arbuthnot’s enemies, and he had many, asserted that he got his business
by underselling his competitors and that his low prices were possible
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because he was subsidized by the British. In fact, he was accused of
being a British agent, assigned to Florida to incite the Indians to make
war against Americans. Arbuthnot insisted he was merely what he
said he was: an honest trader desirous only of making an honest living.

At Tampa Bay, Armbrister lived a few months at Woadbine's
place. If Arbuthnot came with him, he did not tarry long. He headed
north and soon resumed his trading with the Indians in the Apalachicola

On.

o Armbrister had no success rounding up Indian warriors in the
Tampa Bay area. Only a scattered few were living there and they were
definitely cool to the idea of joining an expedition to oust the Spaniards
from St. Augustine. Believing he might have better luck farther north,
he proceeded overland to the Suwannee River. Along the way he found
time to pay attention to the pretty daughter of an Indian chief and
become friendly with the chief himself. Then he went north again—
and on April 18, 1818, walked into the Indian town of Old Town which
had just been captured by General Jackson. He was taken prisoner.

Eleven days before, Arbuthnot also had been captured by General
Jackson. He had been a guest of Commandant Luengo of the Spanish
fort at St. Marks when Jackson came storming in. Jackson held him as
a prisoner of war.

When the American general ceased chastising the Indians he gave
orders for Arbuthnot and Armbrister, both British subjects, to be tried
on charges of inciting the Indians to war against the United States and
supplying them with arms and ammunition. A court martial of four-
teen American officers, presided over by General Edmund P. Gaines,
was held in the Spanish town of St. Marks on April 25. The court
found both men guilty and recommended that Arbuthnot be hanged
and Armbrister shot. Then it reconsidered the case of Armbrister and
made a new recommendation—that he be given fifty lashes and im-
prisoned a year. Most obviously the officers had decided that the evidence
against him was altogether too flimsy to warrant death. But Jackson
arbitrarily insisted that both men be executed—and they were, on April
29, 1818, in St. Marks, by soldiers of the American invading army on
Spanish soil.

Armbrister, the man who once tarried a while on Tampa Bay and
who might have led an expedition from that point to seize Florida from
Spain, did not flinch at the death sentence. And when he heard the
fife and drum parading the platoon for his execution, he remarked: “I
suppose that admonishes me to be ready—a sound I have heard in every
quarter of the globe, and now for the last time.”

Whether Armbrister and Arbuthnot were actually agents of the
British is unquestionably debatable. Certainly the evidence against
them was not strong. But impetuous Jackson was convinced they were
guilty so, innocent or not, their fate was sealed.
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The execution of the two men aroused a storm of indignhation in
Great Britain and might easily have caused another war with the United
States. But England had her hands full at that time on the Continent
and the matter was finally dropped. Jackson continued on his meteoric
career to become the president of the United States.

Hackley Established a Tampa Bay Plantation

Richard 8. Hackley, wealthy New York attorney, returned home
one afternoon in the late spring of 1819 almost breathless with excite-
ment. He had big news. He had just purchased more than half of the
entire peninsula of Florida!

To prove his statement, Hackley showed the members of his family
a most impressive document, many pages long, written in Spanish and
signed by Ferdinand VII, king of Spain. It was a grant of approximately
eleven million acres of Florida land made by the Spanish monarch on
February 6, 1818, to the Duke of Alagon. Hackley said the duke had
become hardpressed for cash and was forced to sell the grant. The New
Yorker never revealed how much he paid.

Sale of the Alagon grant to Hackley was completed on May 29,
1819. Three months before that, on February 22, 1819, the State Depart-
ment and Spanish representatives in Washington had agreed upon the
terms of the Florida purchase treaty. In the treaty, all Spanish grants
made after January 24, 1818, were specifically nullified. That auto-
matically cancelled the Alagon grant, made thirteen days after the
deadline had passed.
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Whether Hackley knew that the treaty threw out the grant he had
purchased is purely a matter of conjecture. Inall events, he later claimed
that he made the purchase at a time when the grant was still valid, inas-
much as the treaty had not yet been ratified by the king of Spain or
by Congress. He insisted he had made the purchase in good faith and
consequently had a sound claim to the property.

The Alagon grant took in all the Tampa Bay region. It is quite
likely, therefore, that Hackley was deeply interested in articles regard-
ing Tampa Bay which appeared in the influential NiLes’ WEEkLY
RecisTER. The first, printed March 24, 1821, shortly after the final
ratification of the Florida purchase treaty, read:

“Florida, in every respect, is a valuable acquisition to us. It may
cause a considerable revolution in things, domestic and foreign. It opens
to us a large tract of country, capable of furnishing immense supplies
of cotton, sugar, rice and perhaps coffee and cocoa, and the olive, all of
which, it may be expected, will be fully tried on an extensive scale, by
new adventurers in those, at present, rich commodities.

“The product of these will have a domestic effect, as well as that
which may be caused by considerable disbursements by the government
at Pensacola and probably at Hillsborough Bay, or Tampa Bay, or
Espiritu Santo Bay, as a place on the west coast of the peninsula is called,
which will, most likely, become the seat of government; for we presume
that what is now called West Florida will be added to the state of Ala-
bama, to which it seems rightfully to belong.”

Of even more interest to Hackley was a second NiLes' WEERLY
REGISTER article which appeared June 30, 1821. It read:

“From what we hear of Tampa Bay, though its shores are not now
inhabited, it will probably contest with Pensacola the honor of being
ultimately fixed upon as the site for the southern naval depot of the
United States. The bay is said to be easier of access and to have more
water than that of Pensacola; the neighboring country is fertile and
abounds in oak (valued for use in the construction of ships)—and a short
canal will unite the bay with the great river St. Johns.”

These newspaper articles and many others which followed later
indicated plainly that Tampa Bay was a place of coming importance,
even though it might never become the capital of Florida or the site of
a United States naval station. [t was quite natural, therefore, that when
Hackley decided to take steps to strengthen his claim to the Alagon
grant, he should select Tampa Bay as the place to establish a home.

Hackley was too busy with his law practice in New York to go
pioneering himself so he sent his son, Robert J. Hackley, on the long,
hazardous journey which was made on his new schooner. Lumber for
a large frame dwelling and barns was taken along and so were many
kinds of agricultural implements. At St. Augustine, young Hackley.
then just twenty-one years old, purchased two yoke of oxen, eight head
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of cattle and many chickens. He also employed sixteen white men to
go with him to clear the land, erect the buildings, and start a plantation.

The schooner sailed into Tampa Ba? early in November, 1823.
After cruising around a day or so and going ashore often to examine the
land, young Hackley decided that the east bank of the Hillsborough
River at its mouth was the finest spot on the bay, so there he landed.
The site was covered with a heavy growth of oak trees, cabbage palms,
and a tangled mass of undergrowth, indicating that the soil was fertile.
A great Indian mound close by showed that the spot once was inhabited
by savages but now no Indians were seen. Several appeared a few days
later but they were friendly. Given a few presents, they left and returned
soon afterward carrying a young fat doe they had just killed and four
wild turkeys. Smiling, they presented the game to Hackley.

With his crew of men, Hackley proceeded at once to build a wharf
and unload his supplies. Then the men went to work building a house
described later as being “of superior style and quality for a new locality.”
They also erected barns and cleared many acres of ground. And they

planted citrus trees and crops. By the end of the year the plantation
was well established, the first on the entire West Coast of Florida. It

was truly a plantation at the end of nowhere, a home in the wilderness.
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Food was no problem to the new settler and his men. The forests
to the north of the plantation were alive with game—deer, bears and
wild turkeys. And in the waters of the Hillsborough River and Tampa
Bay, fish literally swarmed. Heaping basketsful of fat, luscious oysters
could be gathered in a few minutes. Clams were abundant and delicious
stone crabs could be found everywhere. The pioneers always had plenty
of food.

Satisfied with the progress which had been made, Hackley decided
to have a short vacation. So he took the schooner and sailed away for
Pensacola, leaving his foreman Rhodes in charge. While he was away,
disaster came—disaster brought by the United States Army. His prop-
erty was seized and used as the site for a fort—Fort Brooke, the parent
of the Tampa of today.

Fort Brooke Is Established

Serious trouble with the Seminoles began to develop almost im-
mediately after the United States took over Florida from Spain in 1821.

Despite the devastation wrought by General Jackson in the First
Seminole War, north Florida was still dotted with Indian villages. Many
of the Indians had lived there a hundred years or more and had large
fields of crops and herds of cattle. Some had Negro slaves who were not
held in bondage but who paid a tribute in corn in exchange for pro-
tection from white slave hunters. The Indians considered themselves
the owners of the lands they occupied. Practically all of them were
peaceable and friendly.

The picture began changing with the return of General Jackson
to take formal possession of the Spanish province. Land speculators
came with him and looked greedily upon the lands the Indians occupied.
The speculators were Jackson'’s friends and, to satisfy them, he advocated
removal of the Indians to the West. The Seminole leaders heard of his
plans, and tension grew.

The situation was rapidly made worse by the influx of new settlers.
All wanted land and none believed the Indians had any right to hold
the land on which they lived. Strident demands were made that the
Indians should be forced to leave their villages and give up the lields
they had cleared and cultivated. Powerless to resist, the Indians reluct-
antly agreed on September 18, 1823, at a meeting held at Camp Moultrie,
to move southward into the peninsula.

The treaty, if it could be called that, provided that the Indians
should be paid $4,500 for the lands they were forced to vacate, $6,000
for farm implements and livestock, and a government annuity of §5,000
a year for twenty years. They also were to receive §1,000 a year for a
school and another $1,000 a year to maintain a blacksmith and gun
shop. At that time there were approximately five thousand Indians in
Florida. The treaty, therefore, meant that generous United States
promised to pay about $2 to each Indian to reimburse him for the loss
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of his land, defray the cost of moving southward and buy new equip-
ment and livestock, and about §1.50 a year for twenty years as an annuity
and to maintain a school and smithy.

Colonel James Gadsden was assigned the task of blazing a line across
the peninsula to mark the boundary of the Indian reservation. The
line was to run east and west a little south of the present city of Ocala.

In an attempt to make sure that the Indians would submit peace-
fully to the terms of the treaty, the War Department on November 5,
1823, issued orders for the establishment of a military post at Tampa
Bay. The order was sent to Colonel George Mercer Brooke, then
stationed at Fort Clinch, near Pensacola. Inasmuch as this order ulti-
mately led to the birth of Tampa, it merits being given in full, It read:

Adjutant General's Office,
Washington 5 November, 1825

Brevet Colonel Brooke with four companies of the 4th Infantry
will proceed with as little delay as practicable to Tampa Bay, East
Florida, where he will establish a military post.

He will select a position with a view to health and in reference to
the location of the Florida Indians, about to be removed to that vicinity
agreeably to the late treaty. Upon this point he will consult Colonel
Gadsden, the commissioner Etl'l.lplﬂ'}l'td in locating the Indians.

Colonel Brooke will complete as near as practicable the companies
which will go to Tampa from those left at Cantonment Clinch and
Barrancas, recruits will be sent to Pensacola shortly to supply all the
deficiences in the regiment, and he will designate the officers to accom-
pany him, as circumstances may rendet advisable,

The permanent headquarters of the 4th Infantry will remain at
Cantonment Clinch and should Colonel Clinch have reformed his
regiment on the receipt of this order he will be charged with the duty
of pr_t;!;;laring Colonel Brooke’s command [or the expedition to Tampa.

e quartermaster's and subsistence departments will furnish the
necessary transportation and supplies and will make such further
arrangements as may be required for the accommodation of the troops
at their new station.

By order of Major General Brown E. Kirby, aide-de-camp.
Colonel Brooke received the order late in November. But he did
not hurry to carry it out and move on to Tampa Bay. Perhaps he had
trouble getting necessary supplies. But what is more likely is that he
had no burning desire to forsake gay Pensacola, with its theatres and
hotels and taverns and social life, and depart to the wilderness and live
in company with rattlesnakes and alligators. Who can blame him?

While still at Pensacola, Colonel Brooke received a letter from
Colonel Gadsden, written in St. Augustine on December 1. In the
letter, Gadsden requested Brooke to meet him at Tampa Bay as soon
as possible. “Otherwise,” he wrote, 1 may be much embarrassed in
my operations if not much exposed to privations of a severe character. . ..
The Indians have of late exhibited something like an unfriendly feeling
and are unwilling that I should run the line immediately. Your presence
with troops will produce the most happy results.”
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Despite this urging, Golonel Brooke did not leave Pensacola until
January 15, 1824, With the members of his staff he traveled on a
schooner owned by Captain Henry Briggs Sampson, of Danbury, Mass.,
who received §10 each for his passengers. Non-commissioned officers
and privates went on two other vessels. An account of the trip and the
establishment of a cantonment is related in a report from Colonel Brooke
to Major General Jacob Brown written February 5, 1824, from "Camp
on Hillsborough River.” The report, now in the files of the National
Archives, in Washington, reads:

“1 have the honor to report that 1 left Pensacola with four full
companies on the 15th January last and arrived off the mouth of Santo
Spiritu Bay on the 18th. But unfortunately was blown to sea the same
evening by a severe gale. The vessel on board of which I was, regained
the Bay on the 20th, the other two did not come in until some days
afterward.

“On the 22nd met with Colonel Gadsden who had arrived some
days previous and who had made a parual reconnaissance of the country
but not selected any particular spot. On visiting scveral places,
and after a consultation, we determined upon this place as the (most)
eligible regarding the objects of the expedition, health and the con-
venience of getting supplies. We were also influenced by the quantity
of cleared land which was at once adapted to gardens for the officers
and men.

“We are situated on the northeast bank of the Hillsborough River
immediately on its entrance into the Bay of the same name. Colonel G.

did me the honor of insisting that the cantonment should be called

Brooke but it will be known as that of Hillsborough till the pleasure of

the War Department shall be ascertained.

“Immediately in the rear of this place, say two miles, the ridge of
piney lands commences in which I saw some very line springs and should
the slightest disease manifest itself we will retire on it with our tents,

I would beg leave to remark the necessity of having at least two surgeons

at all umes here and an abundance of good supplies. We are even at

this time badly off for tents in consequence an our not being able to

procure the necessary number from New Orleans and those we took

from Pensacola were all old with the exception of a few common tents

and when we in the summer will be compelled to move on the high land

they will be absolutely necessary.

“There is in the neighborhood of this place a most excellent site for
a grist and saw mill which could be tn‘.‘ttﬂ(l at a small expense provided
the materials were furnished as we have two fine millwrights in the
command. It would not only be a great convenience to the wtroops but
would have a good effect on the Indians in ﬁrinding their corn and
furnishing them with some plank and should the department ever wish
to dispose of it, it would add greatly to the value of the land.

“1 have no doubt that the country will be settled by immigrants
from the Southern states as spon as it is known they are protected from
the Indians by the command stationed at this place. There are man
large hammocks of very fine land near us no doubt adapted to the culti-
vation of sugar and every variety of vegetable production.

"1 have not as yet seen many Indians but expect to have a talk in a
few days as I have sent to the chiefs. Those whom I have seen do not
seem to be well pleased with the treatv and have expressed some dislike
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to Col, Gadsden's running a line. They will be treated with kindness
and respect but at the same time with determination and firmness, It
would have a good effect on the Indians if some of our vessels of war
were ordered to look into this Bay frequently from Key West from which
we are but a short distance. The Indians appear to have no idea of the
strength and power of the United States.

“Colonel Gadsden left us two days since, himself and party in good
health. Upon his request I furnished him with three additional men.
The number of tents I should wish forwarded will be fourteen wall,
two hospital and forty common. By every opportunity I shall furnish
such information as I may acquire of the country and its resources with
such other matter as may be interesting to the Department of War.

16 Miles 8

Mop Couriesy of Natioral Arcives

Boundaries of military reservation. at Ft. Brooke as shown by map made in February, 1830.

Reservation was 16 miles square with Ft. Brooke in exact center. This was the first map made by
Americans in South Florida, "
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“1 have the honor to be most respectfully your very obedient
servant, George M. Brooke.

“N.B.: I should wish two six pounders mounted with a supply of
cartridges. . . . We might be absolutely in want of them.”
Unintentionally, Colonel Brooke made one misstatement in his

report. While writing about the fine land near the cantonment, he said
that the country would be filled with settlers as soon as they learned
they would be protected from the Indians. The colonel probably did
not know that the Camp Moultrie treaty specifically prohibited white
settlers from going into the Indian territory, as marked off by Colonel
Gadsden. It was this provision which retarded Tampa Bay development
for at least a decade.

Colonel Brooke made another error in his report—this one, an
error of omission. He made no mention whatever of the fact that to
get the site he wanted for the cantonment, he forced Robert Hackley
to give up the buildings he had erected and the fields he had cleared
and planted. He merely said: “We were also influenced by the quantity
of cleared land which was at once adapted to gardens for the officers
and men.”

No one can say definitely why Colonel Brooke failed to mention
that Hackley had cleared the land and made many other improvements.
Perhaps he did not think the War Department would be interested.
Perhaps he was ashamed of the fact that he had adopted brass-hat
measures and high-handedly dispossessed the only bonafide settler on
the entire West Coast, particularly when he had countless other sites
on Tampa Bay where he could have located almost as well.

But the fact remains that Hackley truly had started a plantatmn
and was forced to leave. Proof of that i1s furnished by affidavits sworn
to later by Colonel Brooke himselt, Colonel Gadsden, one of Hackley's
hired men, a soldier in the 4th Regiment, and by Hackley himself. The
affidavits were used years later in a law suit brought by Hackley's heirs
to get possession of the fort site.

Said Brooke in a statement signed November 27, 1834, in Brown
County, Michigan: “The place selected was occupied by Hackley who
had erected upon it a comfortable dwelling house and had the ground
near it under cultivation.” Said Gadsden, August 27, 1834: “The im-
provements made (by Hackley) were on the identical spot selected by
Colonel Brooke as a site for Cantonment Brooke.” Said B. J. Benjamin,
a soldier, October 1, 1834: “Hackley built a frame house of superior
quality and style for a new locality. He had sundry implements of
husbandry together with hoes, spades, ploughs and also oxen, cows,
poultry, hogs, etc., which he had brought with him.”

Untortunately, none of the affidavits indicated what tactics were
employed to get Hackley off the land or what happened to his livestock
and farm equipment. All that constitutes a mystery of the bygone past
which probably will remain unsolved forever.
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It is undoubtedly true, however, that because of Hackley's labors,
Colonel Brooke established the cantonment where he did. The wharf,
the cleared fields and, above all, the fine dwelling where he and his
fellow officers could live were inducements he could not resist. They
more than made up for the lack of a deep channel which was sorely
needed in later years. But what difference did a deep channel make
when weighed against a good night's sleep in a staunch dwelling secure
against winds and rains?

Interesting supplementary information regarding the establish-
ment of the cantonment is furnished in letters written to his father in
the spring of 1824 by Lieut. George A. McCall, one of Colonel Brooke's
officers.

McCall revealed how Gadsden Point was named. He said that
when his ship came into Tampa Bay a signal was sighted far ahead. It
was a staff with a piece of muslin flying from its head, stuck into the
beach on a point of land separating Old Tampa and Hillsborough bays.
Investigation showed that the staff bore a letter from Colonel Gadsden
stating that he was camped at the mouth of the Hillsborough River and
that Colonel Brooke should meet him there. McCall added: “‘Colonel
Gadsden begged leave to name this embryo station Fort Brooke in
honor of my commanding officer and the latter returned the compli-
ment by naming the point of land which separates the two bays and
where the letter was found 'Gadsden Point'."”

The licutenant stated that, because of shallow water near the site
selected for the cantonment, the soldiers had to land near Gadsden
Point and walk to the mouth of the river which they crossed in row-
boats. The camp equipment and supplies had to be brought in on
lighters. The soldiers spent most of their time clearing out the under-
brush at the rear of the camp and cutting pine logs used for building
barracks for the men. He said that the walls of the barracks were made
twelve feet high to permit free circulation of air.

McCall was thrilled by the mammoth oak trees at the camp. He
wrote: “Our camp extends under a canopy of the most superb trees I
have ever beheld. These giant live-oaks throw out their huge limbs at a
distance of six to ten feet from the ground. These enormous limbs, as
large as the trunks of common trees, extend in an almost horizontal
direction for ten to fifteen feet, then spreading and rising to the height
of fifty or sixty feet, form a dense round head that is a perfect parasol.
Their great limbs and smaller branches are hung with long pendants
of the Spanish moss and with festoons of the yellow jessamine which has
been in bloom, with clusters of bright yellow flowers, ever since we have
been here.”

The lieutenant also was thrilled by the sight of oysters “growing
on trees.” He explained that they were really growing on the root-
branches of the mangroves covered at high tide by water but which at
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low tide were exposed. He said he walked into the shallow water,
gathered some of the “tree oysters” and ate about a dozen, finding them
very well flavored but not fat.

There is one thing about McCall's letters which is completely
mystifying. ‘The dates he gave for happenings from the time the ships
left Pensacola to the establishment of the camp were about six weeks
later than the dates given by Colonel Brooke. For instance, he said that
the departure from Pensacola was on February 27; Brooke said January
15. McCall gave March 5 as the date the camp was established; Brooke
indicated it was January 24. From the dates, one would think there
were two separate expeditions but that is definitely not the case because
each tells of the same happenings. It seems that the only possible ex-
planation of the date differences is that McCall, in writing the letters,
depended on his memory and was six weeks off in his reckonings. The
original copy of Brooke's letter 1s on file in Washington and must be
accepted as correct. Being the commanding officer, and having been
required to make official reports, he certainly should have known the
exact date he established the camp which bore his name.

Tranguil Days at Fort Brooke

Few army posts anywhere in the country were more isolated in
1824 than the post at the mouth of the Hillsborough, first called Canton-
ment Brooke and then, soon afterward, Fort Brooke.

The Tampa Bay region was almost uninhabited. Out on the keys,
near the entrance to the bay, a few Spanish fishermen had their “ranchos”
where they dried and cured fish for the Cuban market. They were
itinerants who came and went, living a year or so on one key and then
moving on to some place else. wherever their fancy might take them. In
the forests behind the army camp, a few Indians roamed but there were
no Indian villages in the vicinity. The nearest home of an Anglo-
American settler was more than a hundred miles away.

Nowhere along the cost was there a white settlement. Pensacola
was the nearest town of any consequence and that was three hundred
miles away, by water. Key West was still just a hangout for ruthless
“wreckers”” who lured ships to destruction with false flares and beacons.
The nearest army post was at St. Augustine, far-across the peninsula.

Fort Brooke was truly in the heart of a trackless wilderness. There
were a few Indian trails but they did not seem to lead anywhere; they
looked more like hunters’ trails than roads used by travelers. In 1824
Congress appropriated $12,000 to build a road from St. Mary's River,
on the northern boundary of the Florida territory, to Tampa Bay. Need-
less to say, the road was not constructed. In 1825, work of blazing a
trail up through the peninsula was started; this road became known as
the Military Road and later as the Fort King Road.

Fort Brooke's only connection with the outside world was by sailing
vessels. Once a week a sloop came in from Pensacola bringing mail and
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supplies, and gossip from the soldiers stationed at Fort Barrancas. Trad-
ing vessels occasionally came into the bay but more from curiosity than
to transact business. The “warships” requested by Colonel Brooke
rarely arrived; the War Department probably did not think their
presence was needed to impress the Indians with the might of Uncle Sam.

During the spring of 1824 the Tampa Bay region got its first
Anglo-American family—Mr. and Mrs. Levi Coller and five children.

A native of Massachusetts, Coller went to St. Augustine when a
young man and in 1815 was married to Nancy Dixon, whose father
owned a tract of land at Rosemary Bluff, on the St. Mary's River. The
newlyweds made their home with the bride's parents but early in 1814
were forced to flee to escape from Indians warring on the side of the
British against Americans.

Proceceding southward, the Collers found shelter in a deserted
trapper’'s hut on the Suwannee River and there, on January 22, 1814,
the day after their arrival, a daughter was born. They named. her
Nancy, after the mother. Learning that the Indians in that section were
friendly, the Collers lived there ten years, during which time four
more children were born: Cordelia, Eliza, Mercedes and John.

Desiring to live closer to salt water, Coller came to Tampa Bay in
the early fall of 1825 and selected as a home site a beautiful hammock
near the mouth of the Hillsborough River. He then returned home
to get the members of his family. In the spring, they started southward,
traveling on horseback because 1t was impossible to drive oxcarts through
the wilderness. Their possessions were strapped on the backs of mules.
Weeks were required for the journey. They had no legal right to enter
the Indian territory but they came anyhow and no one stopped them.

Arriving at Tampa Bay in April, Coller was astonished to learn
that the spot he had chosen for a home already had been occupied, first
by Hackley and then by the army, and that now it had become Canton-
ment Brooke. Coller was disappointed about losing the fine hammock
land he had wanted but there were countless other splendid sites availa-
ble, 50 he moved his family across the river and built a log cabin on
the west bank, almost opposite the fort. Clearing several acres, he raised
vegetables which he sold to the garrison, making a good living. He
also planted cotton which he ginned himself; his wife and daughters
spun and dyed it, and wove it into cloth for garments for the family.

Although the Collers were separated from the fort by the river,
they were not afraid of Indians, simply because very few Indians lived
anywhere near. Almost all of them still lived north of the line which
(adsden had just finished blazing across the peninsula, a little south of
the present city of Ocala. The Indians were supposed to go south of
the line at once, abandoning their homes farther north, but most of
them refused to leave the land where they had lived for years. They
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considered the central part of the peninsula definitely inferior to the
northern section,

This view also was held by the territorial governor, William P.
Duval, who inspected the land in the Indian territory below the Withla-
coochee during the winter of 1825-26. On February 22, 1826, he said
in a letter to Washington officials:

“I left the Military Road near Okihumky and visited the whole
country to the right of the road as far as Tampa Bay. I visited every
spot where lands were spoken of as being good and I can say, with
truth, I have not seen three hundred acres of good land in my whole
routes, after leaving the agency. The lands on the Big and Little Withla-
coucha are poor, and the lands on the Hillsborough River, within the
Indian boundary, are of so little value that there is not one Indian
settlement on any of them. . .. The best of the Indian lands are worth
but little; nineteen-twentieths of their whole country within the present
boundary is by far the poorest and most miserable region I have ever
beheld.”

Governor Duval recommended that other lands be assigned to the
Indians. But the government refused. And most of the Indians re-
mained where they were, north of the boundary line,

As a result, the soldiers stationed at Fort Brooke lived a most tran-

uil life. They had a few camp chores to do, and a little drilling, but
they almost always were able to find time to leave the garrison and go
out and fish and hunt. In letters sent back home, the soldiers often
described Tampa Bay as a fisherman’s and hunter’s paradise.

In the beginning, the officers lived in the Hackley home. But
soon they tired of living bachelors’ lives and built separate homes for
themselves on the high land overlooking the bay. Then they brought
in their wives and Fort Brooke began to have a little social life.

Two historic events occurred at Fort Brooke during 1826.

The first was a Derby, a three-day Derby, the first ever held on
the Florida peninsula. It started March 15, 1826. The races were
described in the PEnsacoLa GazerTE of April 15, 1826:

“First day: Mr. Page's horse Bacchus, Mr. McCall's horse Packing-
ham, and Captain Dade’s horse Richard the Third, were entered for
the three mile heats—won by Bacchus in two heats, which were well
contested.

“Second day: Captain Yancy's horse Uncle Sam, Mr. Collin’s horse
Beppo, and Mr. Morris’ horse Bob Logic were entered for the two mile
heats. First heat beaten by Beppo. The superior bottom of Uncle Sam
gained him the second and third.

“Third day: Mr. Page’s colt Keep Coming, and Mr. Collin’s colt
Go It, were entered for the single mile. This race was handsomely run
on both sides and Keep Coming was beaten by Go It a half neck only.”
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One can well imagine that many a soldier lost his month’'s pay
wagering on his favorite horse in that Derby on the shore of Tampa
Bay so long ago. But it was all clean sport and what the soldiers lost in
betting on the horses they could not lose in playing cards, which they did
hour after hour.

The second historic event of 1826 was of far more importance than
a Derby. It was the barth of the first white child born to Anglo-American
parents anywhere in the Tampa Bay region. The newcomer was John
Mercer Brooke, son of Colonel George Mercer and Lucy (Thomas)
Brooke, born at the garrison December 18, 1826.

The youngster was destined to become a famous man. He received
his early education at Kenyon College, Gambier, O., and was graduated
from the United States Naval Academy in 1847. For a number of years
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thereafter he was stationed at the Naval Observatory. Becoming director
of the astronomical department, he was engaged in the Vincennes ex-
pedition in the exploration and survey of the North Atlantic,

Resigning from the United States Navy at the outbreak of the War
Between the States, he was appointed chief of the bureau of ordnance
and hyd phy of the Confederate Navy. Under his direction the
hull of the U. §. frigate Merrimac, which had been sunk by Federal forces
near the Norfolk Navy Yard, was raised and reconstructed as an ironclad.
Renamed the C.8.5. Virginia, it became the first ironclad warship in the
world. From 1866 to 1899 he was a professor at the Virginia Military
Institute. He died December 14, 1906.

Development of Bay Region Is Slow

During the mid-1820s the Tampa Bay region made progress slowly.
In fact, it might be said that no progress at all was made. There were
many reasons why development was retarded.

Tampa Bay was in the heart of the territory set aside for the Indians
and white men were not supposed to enter that territory except on
official business. Even when they came, they could not get title to any
land. The Preemption Act of April 22, 1826, gave pioneers the right
to buy 160 acres of the public domain in Florida after settling and
establishing a claim to the land but the act did not apply to land inside
the Indian reservation. Besides, a bitter dispute still raged regarding
ownership of the Tampa Bay region. v

Uncle Sam, of course, said the land was his—all his. But there
were other claimants., Richard Hackley, whose son had settled at the
river, insisted that the entire area belonged to him through his purchase
of the Alagon grant. His claim was considered so strong that when John
Lee Williams made a map of Florida in 1837, he labeled all the Tampa
Bay area as “"Hackley's.”

Another claimant to this much-desired land was Henry Eckford,
of New York, who had purchased a grant of 24 miles square, or 576
square miles, given by the Spanish government in 1810 to Don Pedro
Miranda, of St. Augustine.* As shown by Spanish maps, this grant em-
braced a large part of the Tampa Bay region, including Fort Brooke.
Attorneys for Eckford insisted he had a valid claim to the land inas-
much as the grant had been made years before the Florida purchase
treaty was first considered.

Federal courts did not pass on either the Alagon or Miranda claims
during the 1820s and, as a result, no one could say for sure who was the
real owner of the land.

To complicate matters still more, the War Department decided
in 1829 that the timber and naval stores around Fort Brooke should be
preserved so on April 23, orders were sent to Colonel D. L. Clinch,
then in command at the fort, to prepare a map showing the location of
the fort and sixteen miles square of surrounding territory. The map

*The Miranda claim was invalidated by the U. 8. Supreme Court in January, I1842. U. §, vs.
Miranda, 16 Petras, 153.
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was completed and sent to the War Department on February 9, 1830,
and on December 10 following, President Andrew Jackson set aside
the reservation. |

As shown by the map, Fort Brooke was made the center of the
reservation, being eight miles from the center of each side of the square.
This tract took in almost all the land now occupied by the City of
Tampa, embracing altogether 256 square miles.

The map shows that the Seminoles had begun settling in the Tampa
Bay area and by 1830 had established two villages, Thlonotasassa, on
the shore of the beautiful lake now called Lake Thonotosassa, and Hicka-
pusassa, at the present site of Plant City. The Seminole meaning for
Thlonotasassa is said to be “Field of Flints,” because of flint deposits
found nearby, and for Hickapusassa, *“Tobacco Fields.” The map also
gives a Seminole name for the Hillsborough River, “Lock-cha-pop-ca.”

Presence of the Indians nearby aided rather than retarded the
development of Fort Brooke as a place for civilians to live as well as
soldiers. The embryo community soon became widely known as an
Indian trading post as Seminoles started coming in from miles away to
barter alligator hides, bird plumes, deer skins and furs for bolts of
gaily colored calico, arms and ammunition, cooking utensils, tobacco,
and countless other things they wanted.

The first trader to develop this potentially profitable business was
William G. Saunders, of Mobhile, Ala., who came to Fort Brooke in the
fall of 1828 with a sloop heavily loaded with general merchandise.
Convincing Colonel Clinch that he would not sell liquor to the Indians,
he got permission to build a log store on the river near the present foot
of Whiting Street. There he opened his establishment, the first general
store on the entire West Coast.

It might be said that the opening of Saunders’ store represented
the birth of the town of Tampa. Prior to that time, Fort Brooke had
been a military post and not much else. Now it had something to attract
civilians. Spanish fishermen, living in palmetto huts up and down the
coast, began coming in to Saunders’ store to get their supplies. Trappers
also started making it their barter point. And the store soon became
the general meeting place of the few white settlers who had braved the
dangers of the wilderness and built their log homes in this frontierland.

A cobbler arrived to repair shoes and also turn his hand at harness
making. A blacksmith shop was opened. A laundress employed at the
garrison began taking in boarders at her home. A small boat shop was
established where the hulls of sailing vessels were repaired and sails
mended. Gamblers began drifting in, eager to help the soldiers and

frontiersmen get rid of their hard-earned money. A few women of easy
morals set up in business in huts along the waterfront.
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And so it was that a civilian community began to develop.

To serve the postal needs of the embryo town, and the entire
Tampa Bay region as well, the Post Office Department on November
24, 1831, established the first post office on the West Coast at Fort
Brooke. It was named the Tampa Bay Post Office. Saunders, owner
of the general store, was named as the first postmaster. Mail was brought
in and taken out on a schooner which plied up and down the coast
between Key West and Pensacola, stopping at the garrison once a week.

Saunders was succeeded as postmaster after serving eight months by
a man who may easily be termed the first outstanding citizen of the
Tampa Bay region—a Connecticut Yankee.

Augustus Stecle was his name. Well educated and talented, Steele
had come to Florida in 1825 with a group of Connecticut colonists who
settled south of Tallahassee on the St. Marks River at Magnolia, one
of the first boom towns of Florida. There Steele published a newspaper,
the MAGNOLIA ADVERTISER.

Largely because of Steele’s newspaper propagandizing, the Federal
government on January 21, 1829, established a customs collection dis-
trict of St. Marks and made Magnolia the port of entry for the district.
This district extended south as far as Charlotte Harbor and of course
included Fort Brooke and the infant community at its side.

After four years of struggling, the MAGnOLIA ADVERTISER ceased to
be, but Publisher Steele was not left without a job. While working on
his paper he had become well acquainted with politicians in the terri-
torial capital and also with Federal officials who then, even as now, were
not adverse to wandering down to Florida on official business during
the winter months. As a result of his knowing the right people, Steele
got an appointment on July 13, 1832, as deputy collector of customs at
Fort Brooke. Just ten days later, on July 23, he was appointed post-
master at Tampa Bay Post Office by President Andrew Jackson.

With these two positions to provide him with bread and butter
money, Steele came on to Tampa Bay and soon began taking a leading
part in community affairs.

Appraising the region's future prospects, Steele decided that it
could never hope to forge ahead so long as it remained a part of sprawling
Alachua County, the county seat of which was at Newnansville, near
the present city of Gainesville, What the Tampa Bay area really needed,
he concluded, was a county all its own, with Tampa, of course, the
county seat.

Losing no time day dreaming, Steele went to Tallahassee in the
fall of 1835 and began lobbying to have a new county created. He was
a friend of Governor Duval and knew all the members of the territorial
legislature. Moreover, he knew the right strings to pull to get thin
done. It is not surprising, therefore, that on January 25, 1834, the legis-
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lature passed an act which carved up Alachua County and created the
county Steele was seeking.

The new county was named Hillsborough to commemorate the
name of Lord Hillsborough, of England, who had previously been
better-than-well remembered by having Hillsborough Bay and Hills-
borough River named for him.

The legislative act stipulated that the new county should be
bounded on the north by a line running east and west from the Indian
village of Toachatka, forty miles from Tampa; on the east by Mosquito
County, on the south by Monroe County, and on the west by the Gulf.

The infant county was a giant in size. It extended more than half
way across the peninsula and from above the present Dade City on the
north to the Caloosahatchee River on the south. It contained 8,580
square miles—5,491,200 acres. From that original county, the present
counties of Manatee, Sarasota, De Soto, Charlotte, Pasco, Polk, High-
lands, Hardee and Pinellas have been created. Old “Mother Hills-
borough™ truly had many stalwart children.

though it was, Hillshorough was most sparsely populated.
The first Federal census, taken in 1840, showed only 96 civilians in the
county. Of that total, 81 were white and 15 colored. In 1834, the
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population was undoubtedly even smaller—75 probably would be a
liberal estimate.

As might have been expected, Augustus Steele was named as the
first county judge, being nominated by Governor Duval. He now was
Judge, Postmaster and Deputy Collector of Customs Steele. Other offi-
cials named to serve the new county were: William Bunce, William G.
Saunders, John Warren and Joshua Stafford, justices of the peace, and
J. B. Benjamin, auctioneer, notary public and inspector of lumber.

Saunders was the town’s first merchant and first postmaster. But
little is known about any of the other minor officials except William
Bunce. He was a man whose name has lived in history

Born in Baltimore, Bunce went to Key West in 1824 and for five
years was engaged in the mercantile business. In 1832 he was listed as
a customs inspector in the Key West district. Shortly thereafter he
entered the fishing business which previously had been monopolized
by Spaniards and Cubans and established a rancho at the mouth of the
Manatee River. He was well established there when Hillsborough
County was created.

In 1838, Bunce was elected county delegate to the St. Joseph Con-
stitutional Asscmbl}f and on January 11, 1839, he signed his name to
Florida’s first constitution.

Bunce undoubtedly enjoyed the confidence of his neighbors but,
despite that confidence, he was later accused of advising the Indians to
resistthe Americans and refuse to be banished to the West. The evidence
against him was most flimsy, and came from most unreliable sources,
but it was believed by the military. As a result, his rancho, then located
on Palm Island, just off the present city of Sarasota, was destroyed in
October, 1840, by order of high-handed General W. R. Armistead. That
he was unjustly accused is shown by the fact that Congress in 1847
appropriated $1,000 for payment to Bunce’s heirs as compensation for
the loss he had sustained.

Tampa was named by the Territorial Legislature as the site for the
county seat of the new county of Hillsborough. But no provision was
made for giving Hillsborough any land on which a courthouse could
be built. Tampa was in the center of the military reservation, owned
by the Federal government, and Uncle Sam would not consider partmg
with any portion of the reservation at that time.

Legend has it that a log court house costing $200 or so was erected
by county officials shortly after the county was created, and that the
building was burned down a little later in an Indian raid. This story
was related in 1848 when Hillsborough officials petitioned Congress
tor 160 acres which could be sold to bring in enough money to have a
courthouse erected. Perhaps, therefore, the story may be true. But
early records give no hint of such a disaster and certainly the need for
a courthouse, in 1834, was not great. Any official business which had
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to be transacted could easily have been handled at Judge Steele’s home
or in one of the garrison buildings.

The town name of Tampa came officially into existence on
September 23, 1834, when the Post Office Department changed the
name of the post office from Tampa Bay to just plain Tampa. But
official recognition of the town made no appreciable difference—it was
still just a minor appendage to 1ts parent, Fort Brooke. Not until years
later was Tampa shown on any state map. And the population of Tampa
was not reported separately by Federal census takers until 1870.

Hillsborough County’s inhabitants were few and far between dur-
ing the mid-1830s but it had at least one whose life story, as handed
down through the passing years, is most interesting. He was Odet
Phillippi—or, as many say, Count Odette Phillippi.

Count Phillippi, so the story goes, was a great nephew of Louis
XVII and a schoolmate and close friend of Napoleon Bonaparte who
appointed him chief surgeon of the French Navy. Captured by the
British in the Battle of Trafalgar, he was imprisoned in the Bahamas.
Released after two years because of his excellent work during a yellow
fever epidemic, he went to Charleston, S. C., where he married a French
girl, Charlotte Desheries, who bore him four children.

Financial difficulties over a note signed for a friend forced him to
leave Charleston. He purchased a large sailing vessel, loaded it with
his possessions, family, and a hundred slaves and white overseers, and

S g (ML A ey . - A " . LT Ty
_.‘_ Ilr."l'r F. .: ] ety / 7 .'1

r‘r {

.

-

3 '|
i .

i

Fhote Courtesy of Christopher Lealey

Few photographs exist of buildings in old Fr. Brooke. This view, showing a section of the officers’

quarters, is the best one oblainable. The beautiful cak trees then growing in the garrison can be
seen in the picture.
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went to the Indian River, near the present Fort Lauderdale. There he
embarked on a project of making salt out of sea water. This proved
impractical so he started a citrus plantation.

Warned by friendly Indians of an impending uprising in 1823,
Count Phillippi headed south again. His schooner, which he had named
the Ney, was overhauled by Pirate John Gomez whom he had en-
countered once before on a voyage to Havana. He had won the pirate’s
friendship then by curing several sick members of his crew and Gomez
still remembered him. Informed of the count’s plight, the pirate gave
him a chest heavily loaded with treasure and also advised him where
to go. He hauled out a map of Tampa Bay, which he extolled as “the
most beautiful body of water in the world,” and suggested that he go
there and start life anew.

Taking the pirate’s advice, the count sailed into Tampa Bay. He
cruised along until he saw the Indian mound and high ground beyond
on the west shore of Old Tampa Bay just north of the present town of
Safety Harbor. There he put his slaves ashore, built a home, and estab-
lished a large plantation he called St. Helena. There he raised a great
herd of cattle, had large fields of cotton, and planted the first citrus
grove on the West Coast.

The count’s home was destroyed in the hurricane of 1848, the
treasure chest was washed away, and the citrus trees were killed. But
when the storm ended, Count Phillippi rebuilt his home and replanted
his grove, and started over again, aided by his faithful slaves. During
the Civil War he moved his family, his slaves and his herds of cattle to
Hernando County but when the war ended, he returned to St. Helena
where he lived until his death in 1869, That's the story about Count
Phillippi as related by old timers,

Hillsborough County records show that in 1842 Odet Phillippi
owned two billiard parlors in Tampa, ten-pin alleys, and an oyster house;
his property at St. Helena; also, two Negro slaves, Anthony and John;
five horses and a colt; four mules, five cows and six calves; “a certain
number of hogs and my hunting dogs,” and a wagon and a barouche
with several sets of harness.

The first mention of Phillippi in county records was made February
5, 1839, when a deed was recorded showing he had purchased three lots
on Tampa Street from Augustus Stctle for $§100. Nothing appears in
the records to indicate he practiced as a physician or surgeon in the
Tampa area.

Another interesting early pioneer was John Montes de Oca, a
Spaniard who arrived about 1830, He could speak English and Seminole
as well as Spanish and the army employed him as an interpreter. One
day while in the Indian village of Thlonotasassa he met a pretty Seminole
girl, “lovely of soul as well as of person.” He fell in love and they were
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married. The girl wife died a few years later, leaving a daughter,
Victoria. The cﬁiid was reared and educated by other pioneers.

An intrepid Baptist missionary whose name must be recorded in
history settled about fifteen miles east of T'ampa on a tract of rich ham-
mock land in 1829. He was the Rev. Daniel Simmons, who came from
Savannah, Ga., to establish a mission in Indian territory. The Seminoles
liked and respected him and in 1835, when they prepared to go on the
warpath, they warned him of impending danger and advised him to
leave. Loading his possessions on an ox cart, he went to Fort Brooke
with his wife and daughter, Elizabeth. The family remained at the fort
a few months and then went to Mobile, Ala. The place where he had
settled was known thereafter as Simmons' Hammock.

The tranquil period which followed the establishment of Fort
Brooke in 1824 ended abruptly and tragically a little more than a decade
later, three days after Christmas in 1835. The Seminoles went to war.



CHAPTER IlI

THE SEMINOLES FIGHT—AND LOSE

MERICANS CALLED HIM Osceola. The Seminoles called him As-sin
A Yahole, or “Singer at the Black Drink.” He also could have been
called one of the most vicious, relentless foes that Americans

ever had.

Osceola learned to hate the Americans as a child when his mother,
a Creek Indian, was forced to flee from Georgia into north Florida, then
owned by Spain, to escape capture and deportation to 1he West. And
his hatred grew with the passing years.

Osceola’s feeling toward the white man was not softened by the
fact that he himself was partly white. Some historians say he was the
son of William Powell, an Englishman. Others say his white blood
came from a Scotch grandfather. Wherever it came from, he had it,
as shown by his light eyes and white man’s cheekbones. But except for
his eyes and cheekbones, he was all Indian—tall and erect, agile, and
fiercely proud.

The young Seminole was just approaching manhood when the
United States purchased Florida and began forcing his people south
into the peninsula so that white settlers could move in and begin develop-
ing the territory.

Quite naturally the Indians objected to being pushed around, and
driven from the villages where they had lived for years. They often
retaliated with raids against white settlements and killed whole families
with savage cruelty. After a particularly vicious raid in 1826, the
government punished them by stopping annuity payments and taking
away the Indians’ guns. Greart suffering followed.

The condition of the Seminoles in the late winter of 1826-27 was
described by Colonel Gad Humphreys, Indian agent. In a report to
the territorial governor in March he wrote:

“There is not at this moment, I will venture to say, a bushel of
corn in the whole nation, or any adequate substitute for it. The coutee
and briar-root, which have hitherto been to them a tolerable dernier
" dependence, are almost entirely consumed. For nearly a year they have
been compelled to rely mainly upon these and the cabbage-tree for
sustenance of the vegetable kind.

“What they are to do another year I dare not imagine, They have
not corn for this year's need nor can I procure it for them. . .. The
situation of some of these people 1s wretched, almost beyond description;
those particularly who during the late alarm were robbed of their guns,
have been absolutely famishing. . . . Towards a people like the Indians,
whose chief dependence for subsistence is upon the chase, a greater
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cruelty could not be practiced than to deprive them of the implements
so important and indispensable to their mode of life.”

During the year following Humphrey’s report, hundreds of Semi-
noles were starved into submission. With bitterness and hatred in their
hearts, they left their homes in north Florida and moved southward into
the reservation assigned to them. Many came at that time into the
Tampa Bay region and it was then that the villages of Thlonotasassa
and Hickapusassa were established.

The forced migration of some of the Seminoles did not end the
Indian problem. Many remained in the neighborhood of their former
homes, hiding in swamps and forests. They emerged occasionally to
raid the homes of settlers, stealing corn and cattle, burning buildings
and scalping men, women and children.

From the white man’s viewpoint, this state of affairs was intolerable
and insistent demands were made that every Indian should be deported
out of Florida. If this was not done, the white men warned, the entire
peninsula would remain uninhabited and undeveloped, rich though it
was in fertile lands and untapped resources.

Tired of constant strife, some of the older, wiser chiefs reluctantly
consented to leave early in 1835. But they did not speak for all the
Seminoles. A strong faction of younger warriors, led by fiery Osceola,
prepared to resist all attempts by the government to carry removal plans
into effect. These warriors had acquired guns and ammunition from
traders and through raids, and were supremely confident.

An ultimatum to the Indians was 1ssued in April, 1835, by General
Wiley Thompson, newly appointed Indian agent, at a meeting with
the chiefs. He told them bluntly that if they would not sign a new
treaty expressing their willingness to leave voluntarily, the Seminoles

would not be permitted to buy any more powder, regardless of how
much they needed it for hunting,

Osceola was defiant. His eyes flashed with anger. He cried: "Am
I a Negro, a slave? My skin is dark, but not black. 1 am an Indian, a
Seminole. The white man cannot make me black. I will make the white
man red with blood, and then blacken him in the sun and rain, where
the wolf shall smell of his bones and the buzzard live upon his flesh.”

General Thompson was adamant. Sternly he told the chiefs to sign
the treaty or suffer the consequences. Osceola sprang to his feet and
strode to the table where Thompson sat with the treaty before him.
Drawing his knife, he plunged it down, pinning the treaty to the table,
and cried: “The only treaty I will ever make is thist"”

The treaty Osceola scorned stipulated that all Indians should leave
Florida by January 1, 1836. And General Thompson sent word to the
Indians that the deadline would not be extended. Shortly afterward he
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captured Osceola and held him at Fort King for six days in chains.
Finally released, the Seminole leader left the fort cold with anger.

Several old chiefs, realizing that resistance was hopeless, prepared
to leave Florida before the deadline. One of these was Charley
E-Mathlar. He went to Fort King and received money for his cattle.
On November 26, 1835, while returning to his village, he was met on
the trail by a party of Indians led by Osceola and killed, as a warning
to other chiefs not to submit to white demands. Osceola took the money
Charley E-Mathlar had received and threw it away, saying he could not
keep it because it was made of red man’s blood.

The killing of Charley E-Mathlar plainly showed that the Seminoles
did not intend to heed the January Ist deadline. General Duncan L.
Clinch, then in charge of Federal troops in Florida, immediately began
taking steps to force the Indians to comply. He had seven hundred
regulars under him and could count on the help of several thousand
Florida volunteers. He did not contemplate having any trouble. General
Andrew Jackson had routed the Indians in 1818 with little effort; surely
he could do the same.

General Clinch’s plan was simple. He intended to assemble a
strong force at Fort Drane, about fifteen miles northwest of Fort Kin
drwe south to the Withlacoochee River and then swing eastward, e:att:l%
ing the Indians in a trap. The Indians would then be driven into Fort
King, near the present city of Ocala, and kept prisoners in a stockade
until the time came to deport them to the West.

To provide enuugh soldiers at Fort King to prevent his expe{:ted
pnsﬂners from escaping, the gcneral sent orders to Fort Brooke instruct-
ing Major J. S. Belton, then in command there, to send two companies
to Fort King at once.

Major Belton received the orders on December 19, less than two
weeks before the deadline. Two days later, while preparations for the
long overland march were being completed, Major Francis L. Dade
arrived from Key West with thirty-nine men.

Major Dade was no stranger to the Indian territory. He had come
to Tampa Bay as a captain with Colonel Brooke when the fort was
established in 1824 and had been stationed at the fort several years, He
knew the region well. And he had no fear of the Indians—all those he
had ever seen had been friendly. Without misgivings he accepted the
assignment of leading the force to Fort King.

On December 23, the day before the troops were scheduled to
leave, the families of two pioneer settlers, Levi Coller and the Rev.
Daniel Simmons, came to the fort. Coller had been living at Six Mile
Creek, where he had moved in 1829, and Reverend Simmons about
fifteen miles east of Tampa. They told Major Belton that Indians had
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warned them of impending trouble and had advised them to leave
their homes.

The major told them he believed their fears were unjustified but
invited them to “bunk down” in one of the garrison buildings. That
night Mrs. Coller, her daughter Nancy, and Mrs. Simmons kept busy
making powder bags for the departing soldiers.

Early the next morning, on the day before Christmas, Major Dade
left the fort with seven other officers and one hundred and two men. His
fife and drum corps played a merry tune as the troops marched away.
The air was cool and sharp but the sun, just coming up over the pine
trees, was bright and warm—ideal weather for the hundred and five
mile trip up the Military Road to Fort King.

A Negro guide, Louis, accompanied the troops to serve as an inter-
preter and tell them what route to follow through the Withlacoochee
River swamps where the Military Road was not even a blazed trail. The
Negro had been hired from his owner, Mrs. Antonio Pacheco, at $25 a
month. Later he was accused, perhaps unjustly, of keeping the Indians
informed of all of Dade’s plans.

The troops made slow progress. The bridge across the Hillsborough
was down and Major Dade’s men had to rebuild it before they could
proceed. On the 27th they crossed the Withlacoochee and camped. The
worst part of the trip now seemed to be over. North of the Withla-
coochee the road led through open pine country where fast time could
be made.

South of the river Major Dade had kept scouts on his flanks, just
as a precautionary measure, even though he had no fear of being at-
tacked. INow, with the dangerous country behind him, he proceeded

Fishermen who settled in the Tampa I-S-a]-' région in pionger days lived in palmetto-thatched huts
such as this old time dwelling which was photographed in 1806,
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with only a small advance guard as protection. It was the morning of
Monday, December 28, 1835, just three days before the deadline set
for the submission of the Indians.

A brisk north wind was blowing, bitterly cold for men accustomed
to the warmth of the semi-tropics. Most of them were huddled up in
their overcoats, with collars turned high and the fronts buttoned tighr
over their boxes of ammunition. No one expected any trouble. The
column was stretched out several hundred yards, with the baggage
wagons and a six-pound cannon lumbering along at the rear.

Suddenly, without warning, the hideous shriek of Seminole war
cries filled the air. And from palmetto clumps and thickets on both
sides of the road came a withering rain of bullets. Major Dade and half
his force fell dead or wounded at the first blast. Capt. U. S. Frazer was
instantly killed, Lieut. R. R. Mudge was mortally wounded, and both
arms of Lieut. J. L. Reais were shattered with bullets.

Despite the shock of the unexpected attack, the remainder of the
force resisted bravely, The men took positions behind trees and began
returning the fire. But the Indians and their Negro allies were well
concealed in the tall grass and palmetto clumps and few were hit.

Lieut. W. E. Basinger finally succeeded in bringing up the cannon
and putting it in position. He poured in six rounds of canister upon
the Indians and they retreated. The survivors then had a moment’s
respite and they used it to start building a breastwork of logs. But it
provided only slight protection and when the Indians returned they
soon finished their deadly work.

Only three Americans escaped. They were John Thomas, Joseph
Sprague and Ransome Clarke. Thomas and Sprague got away while
the fighting was going on by crawling through the woods and hiding.
A Negro saw Clarke lying on the ground after the fighting ended and
went over to him to beat him with a club, But when the Negro saw the
ghastly wounds on Clarke's head, he yelled, “Damn him, he's dead
enough,” and passed on to another victim. The three survivors, all
badly wounded, managed to return to Fort Brooke six days later and
tell the story of the massacre.

Osceola did not take part in the massacre, the worst that American
troops had ever suffered. He helped plan the ambush and expected to
take part in the fighting but he was delayed by another savage task—the
killing of General Wiley Thompson, the man he had once defied and
who had later held him in chains.

On the afternoon of December 28th, the day the Dade massacre
occurred, Osceola and a party of warriors succeeded in ambushing the

eral and a lieutenant about a mile from Fort King. The two officers
fell instantly, pierced by many bullets. The Indians finished their
horrible work with their scalping knives. Near by was a sutler's store.



THE SEMINOLES FicHT—aAND Lose 77

The Indians surrounded it and, firing through the windows, killed the
sutler, his two clerks and a small boy. Then, after plundering the store,
they burned it and scalped their victims.

Back at the Fort Drane, General Clinch received no word of the
Dade massacre or the killing of General Thompson. So far as he knew,
all the arrangements he had made for rounding up the Indians were
being carried out as he had planned them. General R. K. Call had
arrived with two regiments of Florida volunteers and his own force of
a brigade of regulars was readv for action. So, on the morning of Decem-
ber 20th, two days before the deadline, he headed south toward the
Withlacoochee.

General Clinch did not know it, of course, but Osceola’s scouts
were observing all his movements and keeping the Seminoles constantly
informed. And on the morning of December 31st, Osceola prepared
to attack.

He waited until half the volunteers had crossed the Withlacoochee
at a point about twenty miles from the Gulf and then closed in. The
Americans were caught completely by surprise and had it not been for
their superior numbers, might have suffered the same fate as Major
Dade's command. As it was, five Americans were killed and forty
wounded.

The battle was indecisive but it could be called a victory for Osceola
inasmuch as General Clinch was forced to retreat and give up his plan
to trap the Indians. Moreover, Osceola had convinced the volunteers
that Indian warfare was most hazardous and exhausting. The term of
enlistment of most of the volunteers had expired and they quickly
decided it would be necessary for them to return home and protect
their families.

The families truly needed protection. During the following month,
the Indians struck time and again in north Florida. Sixteen large plan-
tations were laid waste. Scores of isolated homes were burned. Sugar
mills and storehouses were destroyed. Many families were killed. With
savage fury and cruelty, the Indians were getting revenge for all the
real or fancied wrongs they had ever suffered.

The Second Seminole War had begun—a war which was to drag
on for seven long and bloody vears.

Fort Brooke Is Endangered

The first word of the dreadful fate of Major Dade and his men was
brought to Fort Brooke by the three survivors on January 3, 1836, six
days after the massacre.

The fort and the infant town of Tampa were stunned—and grief
stricken. Included among the victims of the massacre were many
brothers, relatives and close friends of the fort's officers and men and
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news of their death came as a tragic blow. But no one had much time
to sorrow. The fort was in imminent danger of attack. :

On the night of January 3rd a red glare was seen in the eastern sky.
Soon afterward sentries brought in the report that Indians had fired the
home of Levi Coller at Six Mile Creek. Other sentries brought word
that bands of Indians and Negroes had been seen crossing the Hills-
borough River near the Military Road.

Major Belton was deeply worried. Under him he had less than a
hundred and forty men and soon the fort might be attacked by hundreds.
To make the situation worse, the fort was protected only by a flimsy
stockade—no one had ever believed before that much protection was
needed. Now every man was put to work building a stronger barricade.

A schooner was anchored at the mouth of the river and the captain
offered to take the officers’ wives and children to a place of safety. But
all the wives chose to remain with their husbands, even Mrs. Belton
who was expecting a baby in another month.

Upon urging by the major, Judge Steele finally consented to go
with the captain to carry a report of the massacre to Governor John H.
Eaton and inform him of the urgent need of reinforcements. Near the
entrance to the Gulf, Judge Steele sighted a vessel sailing south. He
hailed it and told the captain to hasten to Key West and seek reinforce-
ments there.

The schooner on which Judge Steele sailed was buffeted by strong
winds and thirteen days were required to reach St. Marks, a journey
which ordinarily could be made in much less than a week. The judge
reached Tallahassee on January 17th and the governor immediately sent
an express to General Clinch to inform him of the disaster and of the
need for troops at beleagured Fort Brooke. But the general then was
desperate with troubles of his own in north Florida and had no men to
spare to send to Tampa Bay. '

Reinforcements did not arrive at Fort Brooke until January 29. On
that day a detachment of fifty-six marines under Lieut. Nathaniel S.
Waldron came in from Key West and a smaller detachment of eight
marines under Lieut. Andrew Ross came in from Pensacola. This was
thie first time that marines were called upon for service with the army
anywhere in the country and their appearance at Tampa Bay made
history. It also was most welcome.

“Our arrival was very gratifying and unexpected,” Lieutenant
Waldron said in a letter written January 30. “We were badly needed
as an attack was expected at the very time of our landing by a force of
four hundred Indians and Negroes.”

o All ‘danger to ‘Fort Brooke was averted eleven days later when
General Edmund P. Gaines sailed into Tampa Bay with a fleet of vessels
loaded with seven hundred men—six companies of the United States 4th
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Infantry and a regiment of Louisiana volunteers. The general had re-
ceived word of the Dade Massacre while stationed at New Orleans; he
came to Florida on his own imitiative without waiting for orders from
the War Department. For this action he later was severely censured.

General Gaines’ men did not have an opportunity to engage the
force of Indians and Negroes which had besieged Fort Brooke for nearly
a month. The brown and black skinned allies slipped into the forests
and disappeared when they sighted the armada in the bay.

After staying two days at Fort Brooke, General Gaines left with a
strong force and proceeded to Fort King. Fiftyseven miles north of
Tampa the troops came across the scene of the Dade massacre. The
bodies of the victims were buried in two trenches, the officers in one
and the men in the other. Six years later the bodies were removed to
a national cemetery at St. Augustine. As a memorial to Major Dade and

his men, an 8(-acre reservation at the place of the massacre was dedicated
in 1935 as a State Park. It is just south of the town of Bushnell.

The Seminole War Drags On

Determined efforts to encircle and trap the wary Indians were made
during 1836 by four top-flight American generals but crafty Osceola
was not caught and neither were any other Seminole leaders.
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For more than thirty years this building, erected in 1855, served as the court house of
Hillsborough County. The home of Capt. James McKay, Jr., is at the right.
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General Gaines made the first attempt. Leaving Fort King on
February 27, he swung southwest hoping to engage the Indians on the
Withlacoochee where General Clinch had been repulsed. The Seminoles
sniped at his men along the way but refused to fight Gaines' superior
force in open battle. Reaching the river, the general’s men ran out of
food and almost starved before General Clinch came to their rescue
from Fort Drane.

A much more ambitious attempt to trap the Seminoles was made
in March and April after General Winfield Scott came to Florida to
take command. With General Clinch and General Abraham Eustis
helping him, Scott tried to throw a net around the Indians and then
draw the net in. But the wily savages slipped through the mesh as easily
as a minnow slips through a turtle net, and Scott’s efforts were in vain.
Blockhouses built by Scott’s men were fired by the Indians and soldiers
left to man them suffered severe privations before they were rescued,

So ended Scott's attempts to prove to the Indians that Uncle Sam'’s
armies were not to be trifled with. He departed and Florida's governor,
General R. K. Call, took charge of operations. Always convinced that
volunteers could fight better than regulars, he assembled a strong force
and struck south into the much-fought-over Withlacoochee region.

Call’s men met a large body of Indians near the river and shots
were exchanged without much damage being done on either side. The
Indians then drew back to the Wahoo Swamp farther up the river and
tried to induce the volunteers to follow them into the morass where
ambushing tactics would be more effective. The strategic withdrawal
of the Indians was reported by Call as a “‘brilliant victory” for his men.
And, quite satisfied with such a victory, he left the Indians safe in the
Wahoo Swamp and went back home.

Thus ended the campaigns of 1836. All had resulted in failure and
the Seminoles had been encouraged to continue their resistance. But
by now the War Department had become convinced that the war was
a most serious affair and it took steps to conquer the savages by sheer
force of numbers. :

General Thomas H. Jesup, one of the army's most able generals,
was placed in command and troops were rushed into Florida from army
posts all over the country. Headquarters of the Army of the South were
moved to Fort Brooke to be close to the scene of operations. Thousands
of Florida civilians were employed by the army to serve as cooks, team-
sters, clerks, mechanics and common laborers. Slaves were hired from
Florida plantation owners to handle the heaviest jobs.

Working hurriedly, the army and civilian forces erected scores of
forts and blockhouses, sprinkling them all over the northern half of the
peninsula. Networks of military roads were constructed, radiating in
all directions from strategic points,
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The road leading north from Fort Brooke to Fort King was im-
proved and a new one was constructed eastward across the peninsula.
[t passed through the newly constructed outposts called Fort Sullivan,
Fort Cummings, Fort Davenport, Fort Gatlin, Fort Maitland and termi-
nated at Fort Mellon, on Lake Monroe, the present site of Sanford.

This road, known for many years thereafter as the Fort Mellon
Road, was used when peace came by pioneers in crossing the peninsula
and became dotted with settlers’ homes all along its length.

Another important road built out of Fort Brooke led more directly
east through Fort Fraser to Fort Gardner, near the present site of
Kissimmee.

Construction of the military roads and forts helped greatly in
crippling the Seminoles. The roads were nothing to brag about but
they were infinitely better than no roads at all. They provided routes
on which trees and undergrowth were cut away, which had bridges
over streams and rivers, and which were corduroyed through swamps.
Over them, army forces could be moved quite rapidly. ¥rom the forts,
detachments of troops could strike quickly into Indian territory, con-
stantly harrying the enemy.

The troops fought no major battles. But they overran scores of
Indian villages and captured old men, women and children. The Semi-
nole War changed from a war of fighting to a war of attrition and a war
of devastation. A number of chiefs realized the hopelessness of the
struggle. They surrendered with their warriors and were deported west.

And then, on March 6, 1837, the last remaining chiefs met General
Jesup at Fort Dade, built on the spot where the Dade massacre had
occurred some fourteen months before. On that bloodstained spot, the
Seminoles agreed to capitulate—to cease fighting and move south of the
Hillsborough River where they were to remain until transports could
be secured to take them west. Fort Brooke was named as the place
where the Indians were to assemble.

As a concession to the Seminoles, General Jesup promised that all
Negroes who had been living with the Indians and were considered
their property should be permitted to accompany the Indians.

With this understanding, the Indians and Negroes began coming
in to Fort Brooke, scores arriving weekly. By the end of May more than
seven hundred had gathered, all ready to make the long westward
journey. Everyone was convinced the war was over. Soldiers began
making preparations to leave the fort and go back home.

In the bay, a fleet of transports and five warships had assembled—
twenty-six vessels altogether.

Then, on the night of June 2, the Indians and Negroes fled from
their camp and disappeared in the forests. Not one remained behind.
The camp where they had been living, a tew miles northeast of Fort
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Brooke, was deserted and empty. Not even any tents or belongings had
been left behind.

Various reasons have been advanced for the breakdown of the
deportation agreement. Some historians say that the chiefs never in-
tended to leave—that they came to Fort Brooke merely to get much
needed supplies and to give them a breathing spell. Another explana-
tion is far more likely. It is known that a swarm of slave hunters
descended upon Fort Brooke late in May and began hunting for “run-
away slaves.” They grabbed Negroes right and left, paying no heed
to protestations of the black men or to the Indian chiefs. The slave
hunters had no intention of permitting all these assembled Negroes to
get away—they were worth almost §1,000 each.

Whatever the cause of the departure.of the Indians—they left. And
Osceola was blamed. Accompanied by his chief lieutenant, Coacoochee,
the Wildcat, he had arrived at the camp a few days before. And 1t is
claimed that through oratory and through threats, he had induced or
forced the assembled seven hundred to slip away at night. Perhaps that
is true, but then again, perhaps it isn't,

Guilty or innocent of deception and promise-breaking, Osceola
paid a heavy penalty. On October 20, 1837, he was captured at St.
Augustine while under a flag of truce and imprisoned in a dismal cell
in the old Spanish fort of San Marco, then named Fort Marion. A few
weeks later he was taken to Camp Moultrie, on Sullivan’s Island, near
Charleston, 5. G. There he died on January 30, 1838, his hopes de-
stroyed, his spirit broken.

A half hour before Osceola died he requested the officers of the
fort to grant him one last wish—permission to die dressed as an Indian
chief. The costume he had worn during the days of fighting was brought
to him and he put it on. Exhausted by the effort, he lay down a few
minutes. Then, rising, he gave his hand to each one present, drew his
war knife from his belt, and folded his arms across his breast. A moment
later he died. The greatest warrior of the Seminoles passed on to happier
hunting grounds.

Osceola’s chief lieutenant, Coacoochee, also was captured in the
fall of 1837 along with his friend Talmus Hadjo. They were imprisoned
in a dungeon at Fort Marion. High above them was a narrow window.
Knives were smuggled to them and they cut toeholds in the wall. Then
after making ropes of their bedding, they climbed to the window,
squeezed through, and escaped.

After the exodus of the seven hundred Indians and Negroes from
Fort Brooke, the war dragged on and on. It was not a true war. Rather,
1t was an endless pursuit of the Indians through the almost impenetrable
swamps and forests where they had fled and from which they Emergad
occasionally to raid and pillage, or snipe at army forces.
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Only one battle of any consequence was fought after the Fort
Brooke fiasco. This occurred on Christmas day, 1837. In the valley of
the Kissimmee, a few miles north of Lake Okeechobee, bands of Semi-
' noles and Mikasukis clashed with troops commanded by Colonel Zachary
Taylor. The Americans had 1,067 men—the number of Indians is not
known. The Battle of Okeechobee, as it was called, lasted for hours.
Twenty-six white soldiers were killed and 112 wounded. The Indians
left ten dead on the battlefield. The Americans finally succeeded in

driving the Indians into the swamps and fastnesses of the Everglades.

All through 1838 the pursuit of the Indians continued. Almost
all of those who remained in the northern half of the peninsula sur-
rendered or were captured. More than two thousand were deported.
Not many more than a thousand men, women and children still were
at large and they were hiding in the swamps and forests of the Kissimmee
Valley, the Everglades and the Big Cypress Swamp.

An attemnpt to end the conflict without further fighting was made
in May, 1839, by Major General Alexander Macomb, commander-in-
chief of the United States Army, who made a special trip from Washing-
ton for the purpose. In a meeting held at Fort King on May 17, the
general told the Indians that if they would stop fighting they would be
permitted to live in a large reservation south of Charlotte Harbor.
Taking the general at his word, the Indians agreed to the proposal and
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once more the war seemed ended. The Indians ceased fighting and
began moving into the reservation.

Two months later, however, the Indians learned that General
Macomb had not meant what he had said—that instead of the reservation
being permanent, it was to be only temporary; that after the Indians
had assembled there, they were to be rounded up and deported.

- The Indians were furious. They got revenge on July 21st by swoop-
ing down on a trading post which had been established on the Caloosa-
hatchee River. Attacking after midnight, they massacred Trader James
B. Dallam, two of his clerks, a civilian pilot, and eighteen U. S. Dragoons
of a force of twenty-six which had been assigned to protect the post.
Lieut. Col. William Selby Harney, commander of the force, and eight
of his men escaped by swimming in the river. The Indians seized all
of Dallam’s goods, valued at £3,000, and $1,000 in cash. They also got
a large quantity of guns and ammunition and several barrels of whiskey.

After the massacre, the Indians fled again into their hiding places
and the war of pursuit was renewed. A chain of forts was established
on the Caloosahatchee, at the edge of the Big Cypress and around Lake
Okeechobee. The whites closed in from every side, penetrating track-
less swamps and marshes to find the Indians’ hammock homes and
gardens. Harried and hounded, many Indians gave up the struggle
and surrendered.

On June 15, 1841, while new peace negotiations were being dis-
cussed, Coacoochee was seized at Fort Pierce, on the St. Lucie River,
with fifteen other warriors and immediately sent West. Col. William
J. Worth, then in command of the troops with headquarters at Fort
Brooke, heard of the deportation and sent a messenger to New Orleans
to intercept the prisoners and bring them back to Tampa.

The ship carrying Coacoochee and his men arrived in Tampa Bay
on July 3 and on the day following, Freedom Day, Colonel Worth went
on board. The Indian chief was in chains and so were his men. The
colonel told the chief that the war must end, and that Coacoochee must
end it. He warned that if the chief did not send out messengers to his
people to tell them to come in, and that if all of them did not arrive
within forty days, the chief and his comrades would be hanged from
the yardarms of the vessel.

Confronted by this ultimatum, Coacoochee selected five messengers
and sent them away. Ten days later six warriors and a number of women
and children arrived. Day after day other small parties appeared. At
the end of forty days, 80 warriors, 72 women and 59 children had come
in. They were camped at the head of Old Tampa Bay at what was later
known as Worth Harbor. The irons were then taken off Coacoochee
for the first time and he was permitted to go ashore and meet his people.



THE SEmMiNnoLES FicHT—AND Lose 85

On the following day, the Indians were marched on board two
vessels and sent to the West. It is reported that while the ships sailed
down Tampa Bay and out into the Gulf, Coacoochee stood on the deck
looking shoreward, his usually impassive face drawn with sorrow. And
as the land dropped below the horizon, the chief turned and said: “Never
again will | see the pine trees of my native land.”

With the departure of Coacoochee went the last hopes of the Indians
of making effective warfare against the white man. By early summer
of 1842 only scattered bands remained in Florida. The one important
chief still uncaptured was Hollater-Micco, better known as Billy Bow-
legs, a young and intelligent Indian who had become prominent during
the latter part of the war.

Late in July, 1842, Colonel Worth sent word to Billy Bowlegs to
come to Fort Brooke and discuss peace. Billy arrived on August 5th.
Haughty and defiant, he refused to listen to any talk about deportation
of the remaining Indians. Finally, after long arguments, arrangements
were made for the Indians to occupy, at least temporarily, almost the
identical territory General Macomb had said two years before that they
could have: southwest Florida from Charlotte Harbor and Peace River
on the north, the center of Lake Okeechobee and Shark River on the
east, and the Gulf on the West.

On August 14, 1842, General Worth declared the war officially
ended. He reported to the War Department that only 301 Indians still
remained in Florida. His estimate undoubtedly was too low. Even so,
there was no doubt but that the once powerful Seminoles and their
allies were practically decimated. While the war lasted, 3,930 were
deported to the West and hundreds more were killed in battle or died
from wounds, starvation and disease.

The seven year war cost the lives of 1,466 members of the Federal
army, including 215 officers. It also cost the lives of several hundred
Florida volunteers. And, in money, it cost the Federal government
approximately $40,000,000.

There is little doubt but that the war was prolonged longer than
was necessary, at least two years after the Indians had ceased to be a
menace. The fighting was continued simply because thousands of per-
sons had no desire to see hostilities cease. They had a financial interest
in the contlict,

Wealthy plantation owners were receiving large sums each year
from the Federal government for labor their slaves performed for the
army. Hundreds of families of lesser means received army rations.
Volunteers who went with the Federal troops were paid in good cold
cash. High wages were paid to civilian employes of all kinds. Grafters
and politicians made hay while the bullets whined. As Historian Sprague
reported: “Some of every class, every profession, the opulent as well
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as the humble . . . had a pecuniary interest in the prolongation of the
war. Money flowed in abundance.”

Not wanting this golden flow to ebb, greedy Floridians joined with
greedy individuals from other states in demanding that the war continue
until the very last “bloodthirsty redskin” be exterminated or deported
to the West.

Needlessly long though it might have been, the Seminole War
helped Tampa become established.

Tampa Has a Brief War Boom

When Major Dade and his men were massacred and the Seminole
War began, Tampa was nothing but a tiny Indian trading post huddled
alongside of Fort Brooke. It had a post office and was the county seat
of Hillsborough County but since the county was practically unin-
habited, that did not mean much.

Fort Brooke itself was a quite unimportant place, merely a small
military outpost where two hundred men or so were stationed. But six
months later it had become the main center of operations against the
Indians. Troops from every part of the country poured in, remained a
few days or weeks, and then went inland to campaign against the
savages. With the troops came endless quantities of supplies. More
barracks had to be built, more warehouses, more officers’ quarters. The
fort mushroomed in size.

Early in 1837, General Thomas H. Jesup made Fort Brooke the
headquarters of the Army of the South. Members of the Engineers
Corps and the Quartermasters Department had to be accommodated
as well as the fighting men. The fort mushroomed some more.

To provide amusements for the soldiers, Odet Phillippi opened
two billiard rooms and a ten-pin alley. Captain Rufus D. Kilgore
erected and opened the first hotel on the West Coast south of St, Marks,
a twelve-room frame building on the riverfront just north of the garrison.
He called it the Tampa Hotel. Rooms in it were rarely empty,

The general store owned by William G. Saunders was purchased
by two newcomers from Philadelphia, Joseph Burr, Jr., and James
Lynch. They built a large two-story frame building and stocked it with
thousands of dollars worth of goods brought in by schooners from New
Orleans and Savannah. They also built a wharf at the foot of the present
Whiting Street.

For a time Lynch was an important figure in Tampa. He was
popular with the soldiers at the fort and on March 18, 1837, they helped
elect him clerk of the county court, the first man known to have had
that office. He started the first county record book known to exist. This
book, which contains a wealth of information about early Tampa, was

found a century later on a burning trash heap in Tampa and now is
owned by D. B. McKay.
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For reasons unknown, Lynch departed hastily from Tampa early
in 1839 despite the fact that he then had two shiploads of merchandise
coming in and due to arrive at any time. He went to New Orleans
where he sold all the merchandise in his store and on board the ships
to the owners of another general store which had opened in Tampa
the year before, William B. Lovelace and Henry Lindsey.

Lynch had to wait five years belore he found a purchaser for his
store building and land in Tampa. Finally, on May 30, 1844, while in
Philadelphia, he sold the property to Bennet Ball, of New Haven, Conn,,
for $1,800. In the deed, Lynch made the unusual statement that the
property cost him $5,000 and “but for the interference of the military
would have been worth to me more than $10,000.”

Lynch gave no hint of what the "military interference” was. It is
quite possible that the commander of Fort Brooke forced him to leave
—he may have been caught selling liquor illegally to the Indians or the
soldiers. It is a matter of record that he owned an astounding quantity
of rum and whiskey when he sold out—more than a hundred barrels
and nearly the same number of casks and kegs, plus twenty-four demi-

This was the first "modern™ hotel built in Tampa. It was located on the east side of Ashley strect
just north of Lafayette and was opened on December 14, 1884, by the owner, Jerry T. Anderson.
It boasted of having a stove for heating the guest rooms on the second floor.
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johns. Surely Lynch must have developed quite a liquor trade, legally
or illegally.

Because of the war, Tampa experienced its first real estate boom.
Fort Brooke was filled to overflowing with excellent real estate prospects
—soldiers brought in to fight the Indians. Many had never before been
in the semi-tropics and were enthused by the land “where all the time
is summer and flowers never die.”” They caught the Florida spirit and
yearned to become land owners.

Judge Augustus Steele saw to it that the would-be land owners
were not disappointed. He gave them an opportunity to buy “city lots.”
Through his efforts, two “‘towns” were platted and lots in them put on
the market, the Town of Tampa on the east bank of the Hillsborough,
just north of the garrison, and Tampa City on the west bank of the river.

The land for both the town and cily was purchased from Richard
S. Hackley, of New York. Hackley, it will be remembered, was the man
who purchased the Alagon grant and claimed all the land in the Tampa
Bay area. His son Robert was the man who had started a plantation
at the mouth of the Hillshorough and was dispossessed by Colonel
Brooke when the fort was established.

Tampa City was the result of a sale made early in 1837 by Hackley
to Merchant William G. Saunders. Hackley sold him Rabbit Island,
now part of Davis Islands, and a mainland tract on the west side of the
river consisting of “fifty-eight acres, one rood and thirty-eight perches.”
Soon after he acquired this land, Saunders employed Judge Steele to
act as his attorney and land agent. And on December 4, 1337, Judge
Steele sold this property for $1,300 cash, thereby becoming the first real
estate broker in the infant county of Hillsborough.

The purchasers of the 58-acre mainland tract plus Rabbit Island
were two members of the army stationed at Fort Brooke, Major Donald
Fraser and Private John Munroe, and Merchant Henry Lindsey. Desir-
ing to make a quick turnover and a profit, these investors engaged
Judge Steele to subdivide the land and sell it. So the judge straightway
platted Tampa City and proceeded to sell “city lots,” thereby becoming
the West Coast's first subdivider and town planner.

The first purchase in the dream city was made March 27, 1838, by
Bartholomew Tole, a sergeant in the army and a native of New York.
For two lots fronting on the river, Sergeant Tole paid $60 cash. Truly,
Tole's name must be recorded in history: Sergeant Tole, of New York,
the first man in the world to buy a town lot in peninsular Florida, the
first of countless thousands who were to buy in the years to come!

Other sales in Tampa City followed in quick succession. Private
Thomas F. Hagin paid 560 cash for an extra-choice river front lot, No.
4]1. Antonio Canllo paid $120 for four lots not so choice. Patrick
Galbraith paid $40 for two inside lots. And Julia Ann Randolph, wite
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of an officer, paid $33 for lots Nos. 5 and 6. Julia Ann Randolph, first
woman purchaser of a wee bit of South Florida heaven!

Judge Steele’s plot of the “Town of Tampa™ was filed in 1838, but
is no longer in existence. Water Street was made forty feet wide and
Tampa Street sixty feet wide. The first sale in this embryo town was
made to Captain Rufus D. Kilgore who purchased lots Nos. 54 and 55
and built the Tampa Hotel. Odet Phillippi also was one of the early
buvers, paying $100 for three lots on Tampa Street.

Hackley’s sales of land which led to the platting of Tampa City
and the Town of Tampa were minor transactions for him. At that time
the New York attorney had much bigger deals in the making. With
the intention of selling the vast tracts he thought he owned, he joined
with three other New York attorneys and organized the Florida
Peninsular Land Company on September 14, 1837, capitalized for
$200,000. Extremely lengthy indentures in the Hillsborough County
record book indicate that the company planned to push land sales after
the Seminole War ended. But the plans collapsed when United States
courts ruled that Hackley's claims were invalid and that he owned no
Florida land at all. And so ended Hackley's dreams of making rich
profits from the grant he had purchased from the Duke of Alagon.

The decision of the courts which upset Hackley's claims auto-
matically cancelled all sales at Tampa which had been based on his
alleged ownership of the land. The biggest loser was Judge Steele who
thought he had become the legal owner of twenty-five acres in what 1s
now the heart of Tampa. Now he learned he had no right to it—that
it was a part of the Fort Brooke military reservation and hence was
owned by Uncle S5am.

Judge Steele’s loss was softened somewhat by the fact that by the
time the decision was made, the land had become of little value. The
real estate boom had collapsed. One of the main causes of the crash
was yellow fever,

The dread disease was brought to Fort Brooke and Tampa by
the steamer Falcon which arrived late in July, 1838, with a cargo of
military stores from New Orleans. Two men on board were deathly
sick. They were taken to the fort hospital where they soon died. A
short time later, others were stricken. And before the epidemic ended,
nineteen died—fifteen soldiers, the hospital matron and three children.
Many others became seriously ill but recovered.

Partly because of the yellow fever and partly because of a greater
need for men elsewhere, soldiers were transferred in large numbers
from Fort Brooke to other forts in the late fall of 1838. And by 1839
the worst of the Seminole War was over and many troops were with-
drawn from Florida. Fort Brooke had passed its zenith. And as Fort
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Brooke declined, so did Tampa. Because of a lack of business, the
Tampa Hotel closed its doors in April, 1840.

The slim population of Tampa and all Hillsborough County in
1840 was shown by the Federal census of that year. It gave the popula-
tion of the entire county as 452, including two free colored and thirteen
slaves. The total included 356 persons in the garrison under the com-
mand of Major Hoffman—304 male adults, 38 females and 14 male
children under 15. This meant that the entire civilian population of
the county was only 96 persons—81 whites and 15 colored.

Included in the list of families were: Augustus Steele, four males
and four slaves; Odet Phillippi, five males, five females and three slaves;
Henry Warren, four males, three females and one slave, and Levi Coller,
four males and three females. Other heads of families were: Cason
Cooper, William Prime, John Showard, Robert Hall, John Ballen, D.
Spalding, William B. Lovelace, Robert Murray, Donald Fraser, Pedro
Haley, Juan Monte, Cregoris Monte, and Robert Jackson.

All trace of most of these families has been completely lost with
the passing years. The Robert Jackson family was an outstanding ex-
ception. It became one of the leading families of Tampa and took an
active part in community affairs for many decades.

Mrs. Jackson was Nancy Coller, oldest daughter of Mr. and Mrs.
Levi Coller, the first permanent settlers at Tampa Bay. Her marriage
to Robert Jackson culminated a war time romance and was the first
on the entire West Coast of which there is any record.

Born in Philadelphia, Jackson came to Fort Brooke in 1834 to
serve as a steward in the fort hospital. He soon became acquainted with
Miss Coller, who lived nearby at Six Mile Creek. And when the Collers
came to live at the fort at the outbreak of the Seminole War, their
acquaintanceship ripened into love. They were married on September
14, 1836, by Judge Steele. Almost everyone at the fort joined in giving
the newlyweds a merry wedding party.

After the war, Jackson retired from the army and homesteaded on
the west side of the Hillsborough River in the section now known as
Hyde Park. He later served as probate judge of the county. Mr. and
Mrs. Jackson had eight children: Mary Josephine, Levi Oscar, Maria
Theresa, John Brown, William Parker, Robert Andrew, Parker and
Cordelia. Jackson died in 1865 but his widow lived until 1907,

Mrs. Jackson's father, Levi Coller, was probably the first Tampa
Bay pioneer who received a government job. A lighthouse was erected
on Egmont Key during the war after several ships bringing in supplies
missed the channel at night and were stranded on sand bars, and Coller
was appointed lighthouse keeper. He held the post many years.

The Egmont Kéy lighthouse was not the only navigation aid which
scamen got during the war. In the fall of 1838 a chart of the coast from
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Fort Brooke to the Suwannee River was made by Captain Rufus D.
Kilgore. Ship captains, officers of the United States Navy, and leading
citizens of the Tampa Bay region were so well pleased with Captain
Kilgore's work that they signed a testimonial stating that the chart
“surpasses anything we have ever seen both for correctness and con-
veniences to all navigation.”

The testimonial, which was copied in the county record book,
shows that steamers as well as sailing vessels were then coming regularly
into Tampa Bay. Robert May was pilot of the steamer Chamois and
Charles M. Gallagher master of the U. 5. steamer Golumbus. Most of
the incoming ships, however, were schooners and brigs. Captains of
those sailing vessels of bygone years were: I. N. Sawyer, Monigomery;
B. W. Tucker, Col. De Runy; William Rysdyke, Marion; Joseph D.
Mitchell, Constitution; B. T. Wilrie, Chilie; John B. Miner, Rob Roy,
and Asa Sawyer, Sarah. |

Accounts of the damage done to the brigantine Homer during a
vicious storm which started Sunday, September 9, 1838, filled eleven
pages of the county record book. The ship, commanded by Captain
John Nabb, was blown from its anchorage off Gadsden Point to a
sandbar off Egmont Key where it was stranded. The brig was finally
pulled off the bar by Capt. Franklin D. Philips, of Groton, Mass., who
towed her into T'ampa and claimed salvage fees.

Phate Caurtesy of Surgert Broe.

Before the coming of the railvoad schooners and shallow draft steamers provided Tampa's only

connection with the outside world. This picture shows a Morgan Line steamer docked at the fonr
of Jackson street in 1582 when Tampa had a population of less than GOM).
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Ships which came into Tampa Bay during the 1830s occasionally
brought in Negro slaves as well as military supplies. The first slave
sale recorded in Hillsborough County was made July 28, 1838, when
Major Donald Fraser sold a Negro woman “recently introduced into
this territory” to Coran E. Cooper for $300 cash. The major purchased
the woman in New Orleans where he obtained a certificate from the
recorder of mortgages showing there were no encumbrances against her.

Negro slaves were freed as well as sold at Tampa Bay during the
Indian war days. The county record book contains numerous entries
signed by General Zachary Taylor and other high ranking army officers
showing that many Negroes who had been fighting with the Indians
were granted their freedom when they surrendered at the fort. What
happened to those freed Negroes is not known. The Federal census of
1840 showed that only two were then living in Hillsborough County.

Two slave transactions of long ago which have more than a little
human interest are recorded in the county record book. They indicate
the love that a Negro slave owned by Chief Micanopy, Charles Payne,
had for his wife and daughter who had been taken from him by slave
hunters and sold. J. H. Mclntosh, of Alachua County, purchased the
wife, Jean, and Gad Humphreys, Indian agent, purchased the daughter,
Betsy. To make them free again, Payne paid McIntosh $350 and
Humphreys §400. It would be most interesting to know how Payne
got enough money to buy his loved ones out of slavery.

One slave mentioned often in the record book made history. He
was the Negro Louis who had been brought to Tampa Bay by an army
major and sold in 1832 to Antonio Pacheco, a Spaniard then living near
the Manatee River. A most unusual Negro, Louis had been well edu-
cated and could read, write and speak Spanish, French and English
and also knew the various Indian languages.

Because of Louis’ linguistic abilities, he was hired from Mrs.
Pacheco on December 23, 1855, by Capt. John C. Casey to serve as
interpreter and guide for Major Dade on his ill-fated journey toward
Fort King. For the services of the Negro, Mrs. Pacheco was paid $25
a month. During the Dade massacre, Louis was captured by Chief
Jumper and held as his slave. When Jumper surrendered in May, 1837,
Louis was deported to Louisiana, Many years later he returned to
Florida and lived in Jacksonville until he died in January, 1895,

Louis has been accused by many historians of having conspired
with the Indians by giving them information which enabled them to
slaughter Dade’s men. Louis, however, vigorously denied time and
again that he had ever betrayed the troops.

When the Seminole War ended, Judge Steele’s plat of the “Town
of Tampa" was retained but Tampa City disappeared forever. So did
most of the men who had been active during the war period. A few
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remained but the great majority drifted away and nothing is left to
show they once were here except their names in a musty record book.

One of the men whose name appeared often in the records remained
in Florida for eternity. He was James Baxter Dallam.

Born in Hartford County, Maryland, in 1806, Dallam enlisted in
the army when a youth and was stationed in many parts of the country.
In May, 1838, he went into business with Philip G. Hambough and
became the sutler for the 1st Regiment, U. 5. Infantry, buying $20,000
worth of general merchandise from James Lynch, at Tampa. Dallam
and Hambough first opened a store at Fort Harllee on the Sante Fe
River just north of Waldo and then moved with the regiment to Fort
Clinch, on the Withlacoochee River eighteen miles from the Gulf.

Dallam was a strong Florida booster and in a letter to his brother
written November 50, 1838, he said: "1 have no doubt but that Florida
property will be in great demand after the war and sell much higher
than Western lands. I shall speculate a little myself.”

In June, 1838, Dallam was granted the right to establish an ex-
clusive Indian trading post on the Caloosahatchee River in the heart
of the newly established Indian reservation. He expected to make big
profits, as shown by his letters home. He said that the Indians undoubt-
edly had great quantities of hides and skins and also considerable money
and since they were wretchedly off for clothing and supplies, he had
“no doubt of doing something handsome this summer.”

After buying a large stock of goods from the firm of Lovelace &
Lindsey, in Tampa, Dallam left Tampa Bay with high hopes in July,
1859. Lieut. Col. William Selby Harney accompanied him with twenty-
six dragoons to give him protection. But on the night of July 21 a large
band of infuriated Indians swooped down upon the post, then being
established, and massacred almost everyone in 1t, as previously related.

Trader Dallam was one of those who were killed. His body was
found a few days later and buried on the bank of the Caloosahatchee
close to the spot where he had fallen.

Dallam never had the chance to learn whether the Florida which
he loved would forge ahead when the war clouds passed. But forge
ahead it did. A new era was dawning.

£



CHAPTER IV

A CITY BUILDS ON TAMPA BAY

LLURING NEWS about Florida for the land hungry people of the

A nation was featured in newspapers throughout the country dur-

ing the late summer of 1842. The stories told about the success-

ful termination of the Seminole War and then went on to tell in fascinat-

ing detail all about the wondrous attractions of the vast domain in the
Florida peninsula now opened for settlement.

In this fair land of the semi-tropics, the writers said, huge fortunes
soon would be made in citrus fruits and coconuts, sugar cane and cotton,
figs and dates, spices and tea, and countless other things which could
not be grown in the northern states. The soil was so rich that crops grew
as though by magic and almost no effort was required to make a living.

Largely because of the favorable publicity, daring men and women
in all parts of the North soon began heading for the land of year-round
sunshine. And they also came from Georgia, Alabama, the Carolinas
and Virginia, And from Germany, Ireland, France and Holland.

The southward migration was Il'lﬂ.tﬁ’fla.".‘j? accelerated when Con-
gress on August 4, 1842, passed an act “to provide for the armed occupa-
tion and settlemnent of the unsettled part of the peninsula of East
Florida.”

The act, commonly called the Armed Occupation Act, provided
that any person “being the head of a family or a single man over 18
years of age and able to bear arms” who settled anywhere south of
Gainesville, erected a house “fit for the habitation of man,” cleared
and cultivated at least five acres and lived there four years would be
entitled to a quarter section of land, 160 acres.

The purpose of the act was obvious. The possibility of another
war with the Seminoles seemed remote indeed, now that most of the
savages had gone to the reservation in southwest Florida, but members
of Congress wanted to eliminate all chance of a renewal of the conflict.
This could be done, they argued, if hardy, Indian-hating frontiersmen
thickly settled central Florida. And such settlement could best be pro-
moted, they claimed, by giving part of the public domain to persons
willing to undertake their own defense and make payment in that
manner for the land they occupied.

There was strong opposition to the act. Many members of both
the House and Senate from southern states were strenuously opposed
to any form of a homestead act, even when homesteaders were required
to bear arms to protect their homes and families. They had no desire
to see the rich lands of Florida pockmarked by the farms of non-slave
owning settlers.
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The opposition gave way finally only because of the undisputed
fact that another Indian war must be prevented, now that war with
Mexico was imminent, and the act was passed. But during the debate
it was materially weakened. Only 200,000 acres were allocated for settle-
ment and the offer of free land was limited to one year.

To carry out the provisions of the act the General Land Office
opened two offices in Florida, one in St. Augustine and the other in
Newnansville, a once-thriving but now-vanished community about ten
miles northwest of Gainesville. The St. Augustine office issued the
first permits on October 11, 1842, and the Newnansville office Decem-
ber 15, 1842,

The promised free homesteads proved to be an irresistable magnet.
And a large percentage of the land seekers headed toward the Tampa
Bay region because of the publicity it had received during the war.

Some of the pioneers came in sloops and schooners. Others traveled
overland, all their earthly possessions piled into huge covered wagons
drawn by mules or oxen. Sometimes they followed the military roads
constructed by the army during the Indian war; often, however, they
cut through the wilderness, making their own trails as they went. The
journey from Gainesville to Tampa Bay rarely was made in less than
two weeks by the ox or mule teams. Often a month or more was required
to make the trip, the pioneers camping along the way occasionally to
give their animals a rest. Many brought with them small herds of cattle.

Records of the Land Office reveal that at least 119 persons secured
permits to settle in what was then Hillsborough County. Included in
that total were a number who had been living here before and took
advantage of the act to secure homesteads for nothing.

Odet Phillippi, for instance, who owned two billiard rooms, a ten-
pin alley and an oyster house in Tampa, secured a permit for a 160-acre
tract at Worth’s Harbor where he had previously started his St. Helena
plantation and become this section’s pioneer developer of citrus fruits.

A real old timer of Tampa, Levi Coller, also seized the opportunity
to get land. On March 18, 1848, he wrote to Newnansville applying
for a 160-acre tract on Rocky Creek and a week later the permit was
granted. It was delivered by Land Office officials to John Waterson
who had been persuaded by Coller and eighteen other applicants to
make the arduous journey to Newnansville and secure the necessary
papers. Waterson went on horseback and completed the roundway trip
in a week.

Coller's son-in-law, Robert Jackson, who had become the first
bridegroom of Tampa by marrying Nancy Coller, got a permit for 160
acres on the Alafia River. Henry Lindsey, part owner of 2 Tampa gen-
eral store, applied for 160 acres on the Manatee River. Louis Covace-
vich, Tampa Bay pilot, secured 160 acres at Rocky Creek. And Judge
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Augustus Steele, Hillsborough County’s first judge, tried to get 160
acres on Depot Key, now part of Davis Islands. But his permit was an-
nulled because the government decided the key had to be reserved for
military purposes. This was the second time Judge Steele was denied
Tampa Bay land—just a short time before the federal courts had upset
his claim to a 25-acre tract he had acquired from Richard Hackley.
Badly disappointed, the judge soon deserted Tampa and went to Cedar
Keys to live.

Soldiers stationed at Fort Brooke whose terms of enlistment were
nearing an end applied for permits and so did Spanish and Cuban
fishermen who had been living in small, palmetto-thatched huts on
bay shores and islands close to their favorite fishing grounds.

Included among this latter group were Maximo Hernandez who
settled at the tip of “Fishermen’s Point,"” on Pinellas Peninsula, at the
place which still bears the name Maximo Point. Hernandez did not

live long enough to receive a government patent to his land. He died
before it was issued, on October 15, 1852, but his widow, Domingo
Hernandez, became the owner.

Joseph Silva and John Levich, two other fishermen, settled on
Boca Ceiga Bay. Joseph Elzuardi and Emanuel Olivella secured permits
for land on the shores of Sarasota Bay. Elzuardi's land later was acquired
by William Whitaker, pioneer of Sarasota, and part of it was given by
him to his daughter, Nancy, when she was married to John Helveston,
of Manatee. Their home was known thereafter as Alzarti Acres.

A large majority of the persons who sought land under the pro-
visions of the Armed Occupation Act were newcomers to the Tampa
Bay region, men and women who were determined to make their homes
in this semi-tropical country regardless of the dangers and hardships
which might be encountered. Many received patents for the land they
occupied and became the progenitors of some of Florida's present-day
leading famailies.

Names of the settlers who were granted permits for acreage under
the Armed Occupation Act are listed in House Document No. 70, 28th
Congress, printed in 1844, which gives a report dated January 24, 1844,
from Thomas H. Blake, commissioner ot the General Land Office, to
Speaker John W. Jones of the House of Representatives. A tattered,
yellowed copy of this rare old document is owned by Walter H. Fuller,
of 5t. Petersburg.

The document plainly shows that the Manatee River section, then
a part of Hillsborough County, was most favored by the homesteaders,
a total of forty-five securing permits to settle on the fertile banks of the
river, in the rich back country and on the islands near the mouth of
the river. The Manatee land was so much in demand that the Land
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Office ordered that it should be surveyed by government surveyors
ahead of any other section of Hillsborough County.

The first surveys in Hillsborough were made early in 1843 by Col.
Henry Washington, who ran the base lines. Washington was followed
by Samuel Reid and A. M. Randolph, who made the interior surveys.
Field notes of these men show they worked under most trying conditions,
defying alligators and snakes to run their section lines through the
dense underbrush and almost impenetrable swamps.

The first settler in the Land of the Manatee was Josiah Gates, a
South Carolinian who had leased the Kilgore Hotel in Tampa in 1841.
During the summer of 1842 he learned that the Armed Occupation
Act was before Congress and would probably soon be passed. Deciding
to take advantage of it, he sailed down to the Manatee River and selected
a most desirable tract which had been the site of a small Indian village.
The ground was rich and the Indians had cleared several acres, thereby
providing Gates with an admirable home site.

Returning to Tampa, Gates loaded his belongings on the sloop
Margaret Ann, owned by Captain Frederick Tresca, and went back to
the Manatee, taking with him his wife and two children and eight
Negro slaves. A six-room log cabin, with a passage way and detached
kitchen were quickly built. In a few weeks the ““Gates House,” a hotel
in the wilderness, was ready for business. And none too soon. Other

Phare Conrfeiy of Burgert Oros.
This was the heart of Tampa in 1880. The photograph was taken from the top of the courthouse
looking south on Florida avenue.
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homesteaders began pouring in. Within a short time the Gates House
had to be enlarged and was always filled with guests.

Many of the newcomers were “common folk” who had never owned
land before and wanted to get homesteads of their own while they had
the chance. A few were descendants of wealthy, socially prominent
southern families, originally from Virginia, who had been hard hit by
the collapse of the banks at Tallahassee and Pensacola during the de-
pression of 1837 and now were seeking to recoup their losses.

Included among these aristocrats were the Braden brothers, Hector
W. and Dr. Joseph Addison; the Gamble brothers, Robert and William,
and the Craig brothers, Pinckney and John William.

During the latter part of the Seminole War these men employed
soil experts to cruise through the peninsula and select the best section
for growing sugar cane. The experts favored the Manatee River region.
Taking the experts' advice, the three sets of brothers purchased huge
tracts along the river as soon as the section was opened for settlement.
The Bradens bought 1,100 acres on the south side of the river, the
Gambles 3,450 acres on the north side, and the Craigs several thousand
more acres adjoining the Gamble holdings on the west. All paid the
government §1.25 an acre.

To develop their holdings, the men brought in their crews of
slaves and white overseers., County records of 1847 show that the Bradens
then had 121 slaves, the Craigs 74 and the Gambles 70. Hundreds of
acres were cleared and thousands of feet of drainage ditches were dug.
Months were required for this back breaking job. More than §100,000
was spent on buildings and equipment and general supplies. Two
modern sugar refineries were built, one on each side of the river. When
the plantations finally got into operation, they were rated as among
the finest in the entire South.

Imposing homes of the colonial type, with stately pillars, were
built by Dr. Braden and Robert Gamble. For the walls, shell bricks
were used. They were made by the slaves of shell, sand, water and
lime, the lime being obtained by burning oyster shells. Bricks molded
from this mixture and then dried became almost as durable as stone.
When completed, the Braden Castle and the Gamble Mansion towered
high above the surrounding country and their masters were truly mon-
archs of all they surveyed.

Supplies for the river plantations were brought in and cargoes of
sugar were taken out by Captain Tresca and Captain Archibald McNeill,
two hardy sea dogs who had sailed the seven seas and finally selected
Tampa Bay as the place they liked best.

Tresca was a native of Dunkirk, France. When twelve years old
he was apprenticed to the master of the Bellerophon and was serving
as a cabin boy when the ship conveyed Napoleon to Torbay on his way
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to St. Helena. Later he became a master mariner and learned five
languages. On March 4, 1838, he took out citizenship papers at Key
West. In his sloop Margaret Ann he carried merchandise from Cedar
Keys to Key West, stopping at Fort Brooke and Indian trading posts
along the way. In 1840 he made his home at Tampa and three years
later homesteaded “near Tampa Bay.” But he continued to follow the
sea and for three decades was one of the best known mariners of the
Florida West Coast,

McNeill was another “foreigner” who selected Tampa for his home.
Born September 15, 1815, on the island of Gigha off the coast of Scot.
land, he ran away from home when thirteen years old and shipped
before the mast. Coming to the Florida West Coast late in the 1830s, he
made his home in Tampa in 1841. On January 28, 1843, he bought
the old Kilgore Hotel at public auction for $235—it had been closed
since it was abandoned by Josiah Gates when he went to the Manatee
River. Three years later, on May 27, 1845, he sold the hotel to Mrs.
May F. Palmer for $1,000.

None of the pioneers who came to the Tampa Bay region in the
early 1840s settled in the immediate neighborhood of Fort Brooke or
Tampa. That was because the Fort Brooke military reservation took
in 256 square miles, the fort being in the center of a 16-mile square.
Many permits for homesteads were granted, however, for land just
beyond the reservation boundary line. Six were granted for land “'near
Tampa,” two for land at Rocky Creek, and three on the Hillsborough
River.

Fourteen permits were granted for land on the Alafia River, eight
“near Tampa Bay,” ten on Old Tampa Bay, seven at Clear Water
Harbor, two at Worth’s Harbor, two on Boca Ceiga Bay, forty-five in
the Manatee River section, and three on Sarasota Bay.

Not all the pioneers wanted land on the water. Four got permits
for homesteads at Simmons’ Hammock, two at Hickapusassa, one at
Thonotosassa Lake and five at Fort Sullivan, close to the present city
of Lakeland. Most of these inland settlers located along the Fort Mellon
or Fort King military roads.

The Armed Occupation Act was in effect less than nine months,
no permits being issued after August 4, 1845, During the nine-month
period, 1,312 permits were issued, 942 at Newnansville and 370 at St.
Augustine. Of this total, 128 were annulled because they had been
issued for lands covered by private claims or for keys and islands which
were reserved for military purposes. That left a total of 1,184 permits
to which no objection was made, for a total of 189,440 acres.

There is little doubt but that south Florida would have developed
even more rapidly than it did after 1843 if the Armed Occupation Act
would have been extended beyond that year. But efforts to prolong its
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life were killed by political friends of slave-owning southerners. After
18435, settlers were unable to acquire free homesteads until the Home-
stead Act of 1862 went into effect.

The death of the Armed Occupation Act slowed down but did

not stop the southward migration. All through the 1840s and well into
the 1850s, home seekers continued to enter the Tampa Bay region.
Some bought tracts from the Federal government, paying $1.25 an acre.,
Many others selected places they liked and then just squatted. In some
sections the number of squatters exceeded the number of land owners.
All contributed their share to the development of the region.

The Wilderness Is Tamed—a Little

Into the untracked forests those early pioneers made their way and
established homes in places where white man had never lived before.
Simeon L. Sparkman, the first of many Sparkmans who came to Hills-
borough, settled just east of an Indian village near Lake Thonotosassa,
the chief of which was Billy Bowlegs. Most of the other Indians had
gone farther south into the Indian reservation but not Billy and his
people. They liked the place where they were living and intended to
remain there as long as they could.

Few of the other pioneers had any neighbors, Indian or white,
Each family had its own spot in the wilderness, and there it became
established, sufficient unto itself.

The homes were simple, built of logs and thatched with fronds
of palmettoes. Only a favored few had glass in the windows; practically
all had wooden shutters to keep out the cold and rain—wooden shutters
hung on hand-made wooden hinges which creaked and groaned when
strong winds blew. During the winter months the shutters were kept
closed but in warm weather they were thrown back and the houses
often swarmed with flies and mosquitoes.

The mosquitoes were the bane of the pioneers’ existence. During
the rainy season, when the flat-wood lands stood covered with water
for weeks, the mosquitoes bred by the trillion and often made life
almost unbearable. In attempts to repel the pests, smudge fires were
burned in front of every home. Old timers assert they often succeeded
in driving away almost all the mosquitoes by feeding the fires with
cow chips. But they ruefully agree that the smoldering cow chips didn't
smell “none too good.” When they went to bed. the pioneers slept under
cotten-mesh netting to get a little rest.

Almost every old timer tells about having encountered giant wild
cats, or panthers, fully six feet long and frightfully vicious, but so far as
15 known, no pioneer was ever killed by one of the animals. However,
few of the early settlers were fortunate enough to escape from having
some of their cattle killed by the wolves which then roamed through the
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back country in savage packs. Many years passed before all the wolves
were exterminated.

The worse task every settler undertook was clearing the ground
for crops. Trees had to be cut down and tangled underbrush cleared
away. Then followed the endless, backbreaking task of grubbing out
the roots. Sometimes it took more than a month to clear one acre.

As soon as a small space was ready for cultivation, the first garden
was planted—sugar cane, sweet potatoes, peas, squash and corn. Then
came trouble from the animals and birds. The tender vines of the sweet

potatoes were most tempting for the deer which overran the region
and the pioneers often had to build barricades to prevent their crops
from being entirely devoured. Rabbits caused more grief. And the
wild turkeys were attracted to the gardens, causing no end of trouble,
They came in flocks and gobbled up the tiny green sprouts as they
burst through the soil. Scarecrows didn’t frighten them away. Hundreds
had to be shot before the others learned that the luscious peas and corn
had not been planted especially for them.

Despite the fact that birds and animals often devoured crops, none
of the pioneers ever suffered from lack of food. The woods and swamps
were alive with game—deer, grey and fox squirrels, coons, opossum,
turkeys, quail, blue wing teal, wood and brindle ducks, green-necked
Mallards, curlews, and gannetts, better known as “Methodist preachers."
There was never a time, winter or summer, when the pioneer could
not go out into the woods and “shoot a meal” for his family.

When the settlers tired of game, they always had sea food to fall
back upon. Tampa Bay and nearby waters then boasted of having some
of the finest oyster beds in the world—oysters widely famous for their
exquisite flavor. The bays also were noted for their delicious clams and
scallops, and stone crabs. Enough shell food for a dozen meals could
be gathered in less than an hour,

As for fish—well, the tales handed down by the pioneers are almost
unbelievable. One old timer who lived near the tip of Pinellas Peninsula
told of one school which entered Tampa Bay in the morning, kept
moving northward all day long, and was still passing when darkness
fell. Often when coming through the channel, schools of mullet would
be chased by sharks or porpoises. In frenzied efforts to escape, the
mullet would leap high into the air and make a weird, uncanny noise
which old-timers say sounded like the roar of heavy surf on a beach.

In the old days most of the pioneers liked mullet better than other
fish. But if they preferred pompano, or trout, or red fish, or any of a
hundred other species, all they had to do was go out in a boat for an
hour or so, cast a net or fish a while, and come back loaded down.
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Pioneers who lived inland often came to the bay in their covered
ox-wagons and camped while they caught, salted and sun-cured a supply
of fish, having a vacation while replenishing their food supply.

Few if any of the pioneers had iron cooking stoves. Almost all the
women cooked on so-called scaffold stoves in “detached kitchens” at
the rear of their homes. These stoves were crude affairs. One was con-
structed by building a frame of pine logs about three feet high and
four feet square., Inside this frame, and on top of it, sand was poured.
The logs were covered on the outside with clay or marl so they would
not burn. The cooking fire was built on top of the sand. Pine “light-
wood” splinters, rich in turpentine, were used in starting the fires.
Once started, the fire was fed with hard wood which burned long and
gave out intense heat,

Sometimes the scaffold stove was sheltered with a wood-covered
roof, high enough off the ground so there was little danger of its catching
fire from flying sparks. Such shelters, often further protected by wind-
breaks, were dignified by the name of “detached kitchens.”

A few of the pioneers boasted of having iron grills for their scaffold
stoves on which meat could be broiled or skillets placed. But most of
the women placed the skillets and their Dutch ovens in the hot ashes,
Both types of utensils had iron legs about four inches long. Around
and between these legs the women heaped glowing embers to provide
more heat. A primitive way of cooking, sure enough, but descendants
of the pioneers still enthuse over the delicious meals their grandmothers
prepared for them.

One thing the pioneers rarely had was good butter—that 1s, fresh
butter. Many had milch cows and churns and made butter occasionally.
But to keep butter fresh in this climate, without ice, was impossible.
However, the women did the best they could. After churning, they
put the butter in a wooden bucket and buried it in a shady spot in wet
sand, and kept moist cloths on top of it. But in no time the butter
would become rancid. This was no particular hardship to the pioneers;
in fact, many of them became so used to rancid butter that they insisted
fresh butter did not have any Havor. And they would not touch it until
it became “ripe.”

One of the most onerous tasks of the pioneers was making soap.
The necessary grease was obtained easily enough from the always-useful
razorback hogs which roamed through the woods. But then came the
job of making lye. For many years the pioneers had to make their
own by leaching the ashes of burned hickory logs and that took both
time and skill. With both grease and lye ready, the pioneer women
then proceeded to make their own soap and it was a long, tiresome,
noisome process. But the soap finally was made and while it did not
smell like perfume, it got nid of the dirt.
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Fortunately enough, the women had few “fancy clothes” to wash
and iron. "All that a man needed then,” said one old timer, “was a
hickory shirt, a pair of dungarees and brogans for his feet. For special
doings a man had a black suit which he expected to last ten or fifteen
years. The needs of the women were just as simple. A few calico dresses
and an alpaca dress for Sunday best were almost all they wanted. As
for the children—well, they wore almost anything and few of them had
any shoes until they reached their 'teens.”

Not many pioneers had money to buy lots of clothes, regardless of
the family's needs. In those days, silver dollars looked as big as cart-
wheels. Many settlers had no money at all. This was not because they
were shiftless or the land sterile. The trouble was that the pioneers
could not get good prices for their products. Often they could not sell
at any price. More often than not they had to barter their products
for the things they could not supply themselves—cloth, shoes, tobacco,
spices and coffee, guns and ammunition, farm implements, and all the
other “luxuries” and necessities every family needed.

For many years this hotel, the Palmetto, was the leading commercial hotel of Tampa and accom-
modated many winter guests as well. It was built on the northeast corner of Flnrilfl and Polk in
1884 by Judge K. G. Butf, of Terre Haute, Ind.
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By virtue of its geographical location and head start, Tampa became
the bartering and shopping center for a great part of the West Coast
and central Florida,

Tampa Sheds Its Swaddling Clothes

Infant Tampa began to suffer growing pains in the mid-1840s. But
in the beginning the pains were mild. That was because Tampa was
a very small place.

The Tampa of 1846 was well described by George Ballentine, an
English soldier who served in the United States Army, in a book
published in 1855, Ballentine came to Tampa Bay for the first time
on November 4, 1846, and the schooner which brought him had to
anchor eight miles from Fort Brooke “on account of the extreme shoal-
ness of the bay." He made the remainder of the trip on the government
sloop The Star which served as a lighter for larger vessels.

Wrote Ballentine: ““Tampa is a neat little village of wooden houses
situated at the mouth of the river Hillsborough and close to the garrison.
There is a small traffic carried on between it and the scattered settlers
of the community who bring in their surplus products and exchange it
here for goods and money. Its situation is reckoned to be one of the
most healthy and salubrious in Florida but as the land in the vicinity
i1s mostly of poor quality, and as the bay is difficult of approach for
shipping, it does not seem destined to rise very rapidly in importance.

“The barracks, which may almost be said to be part of the village,
are a long range of log buildings erected by the troops during the
Florida Indian War of 1837. They have a covered gallery all around
and are well adapted to the climate of Florida, being raised about three
feet from the ground, high in the roof and well ventilated. They are
built on the highest part of the garrison, about fifteen feet above the
level of the sea, an unusually great elevation on the coast of Florida.

“We were all delighted, on landing, with the appearance of the
garrison, its neat whitewashed buildings and its grassy parade grounds;
while round the neat cottages in which the officers and their families
lived, grew rows of orange and lime trees thickly covered with their
golden fruit, then nearly ripe. In front of the barracks stood a noble
grove of live oak trees which offered a delicious shade from the scorching
heat of the sun and gave an air of quiet and an expression of sylvan
heauqr to the scene.

“On arriving we fnund another company of our regiment stationed
there, two mmpamcs being considered requisite for the pmtectmn of
the inhabitants against any sudden outbreak of the Indians. . .. Parties
of twenty or thirty frequently came to the village. They were always
accompanied by a sub-chief, a sort of lieutenant, who had charge of the
party, and their object was to exchange deer skins for powder and other
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necessary articles. They frequently brought a few turkeys or a few
pieces of venison, part of the game they shot along the way. These they
sold cheap enough, a turkey fetching a quarter and a piece of venison
of fifteen or twenty pounds weight, half a dollar.

“The Indians always visited the barracks when they came to the
village, walking through the rooms and shaking hands with the soldiers
in a perfectly peaceful manner. ... On paying one of these visits it was
customary for them to have a bout of drinking and dancing, a sort of
Indian ball, which they held in a yard behind a house in the village
appropriated exclusively to their use. The entertainments of the eve-
ning usually consisted of smoking and drinking whiskey until pretty
late, a few of them dancing at intervals in the most ludricous attitudes
imaginable. They would end the evening usually with a war dance in
which all who were not too drunk joined.”

The Tampa which Ballentine wrote about was a small place indeed
and it is easy to understand why he believed it was not destined to be
a town of importance. But destiny had other plans for the infant town.

Ballentine probably did not know it but the main thing which
retarded Tampa’s growth in 1846 was a place in which to grow. It
was a community squatter on government land. Not an acre of land,
not even one lot, was privately owned. Uncle Sam owned everything.
That was due, of course, to the fact that Tampa was still part of the
military reservation. Newcomers could come in and erect buildings,
if they wanted to, but they had no assurance that the government would
not step in at any moment and take possession.

This was a hopeless situation and no one knew it better than the
county officials who took office in January, 1846—the first full slate of
officials Hillsborough ever had. They were elected in 1845, the year
Florida changed its status from a territory to a full-fledged state. The
county commissioners were Simon Turman, William Hancock, Micajah
C. Brown, Benjamin Moody and James A. Goff. Turman was president
of the board and also judge of the probate court. Simeon L. Sparkman
was the tax assessor and John Parker tax collector. Thomas P. Kennedy
was treasurer and E. A. Ware was county clerk.

All these men were relative newcomers to the Tampa Bay region.
Kennedy, a native of Philadelphia, 34 years old, had come to Tampa
in 1840 to establish an Indian trading post but left soon afterward and
did not return until 1845 when he opened a store at Tampa and Whiting
Streets, in the building built by Burr & Lynch.

None of the other officials had arrived before 1843, Turman, 47
years old, was a native of Ohio. When a youth he moved to Indiana.
In 1843 he caught the Florida “fever” and promoted the migration of
a group of Ohio and Indiana men including Ezekiel Glazier, Mortimer
Bright, William Lockwood, and Asa J. Goddard. At New Orleans the
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colonists met John Jackson, a native of Ireland, who was assistant city
engineer of New Orleans. They persuaded Jackson to join them and
chartered a sailing vessel to make the journey. Arriving at Manatee in
July, 1843, they immediately filed applications for homesteads along
the river and were granted permits in August. Turman built a house
on the river at what later became known as Turman’s Landing and was
living there when elected county commissioner in 1845. Soon after-
ward, he and Jackson moved to Tampa. Each built a Tampa home,
Turman at Lafayette and Ashley and Jackson on lower Tampa Street.

Micajah Brown, 32 years old, was a native of New Hampshire.
He came to Tampa in 1845 and opened a small clothing store. William
Hancock, a farmer of South Carolina, had bought land at Simmons'’
Hammock in 1844, as did John Parker, a North Carolinian. Benjamin
Moody, a 35-year-old Georgia farmer, came to Tampa in 1845 with his
wife and five children. James A. Goff, who called himself a politician
from Virginia, was living in Tampa in 1845 with his wife and seven
children. Edbridge A. Ware had settled at Manatee in 1843 with his
wife and child. Simeon L. Sparkman, 40 years old, was a native of
Gcnrgia who had homesteaded at Simmons’ Hammock in 1843 with
his wife and four children.

One of the first acts of the new county officials was to petition
the Federal government for a drastic reduction in the military reserva-
tion and the grant of a quarter section, 160 acres, which could be sold
by the county and money obtained for the construction of a court house.
The petition was approved by the War Department in July, 1846, and
Major L. Whiting was instructed to make a survey and establish the
reservation boundaries. The major completed his survey on September
14. The northern boundary was fixed at the picket fence, just south
of the Palmer House and Kennedy's store, which had been built in
1856 to ward off the Indians.

Confidently believing that the county was assured of getting the
160 acres requested, the commissioners on October 26th employed John
Jackson to make a survey and plat the town. He completed the survey
December 30 and the town plat was recorded January 9, 1847.

It is believed that when Jackson laid out the town he followed the
plat originally made by Judge Steele in 1838. He certainly did at least
as far as Tampa and Water Streets were concerned. These streets had
been in existence for nearly a decade and buildings had been erected
on them. The street bordering the military reservation of the north
was named Whiting, in honor of Major L. Whiting. Four of the other
strects were named by Jackson after presidents: Washington, Jackson,
Madison and Monroe. He also remembered Benjamin Franklin, Gen-
eral La Fayette, and the Revolutionary War heroes, Francis Marion
and Daniel Morgan. Ashley Street was named for William Ashley, 42-
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year-old Virginian who had lived in Tampa since 1837, clerking for
the army sutler. His home was located on the southeast corner of
Lafayette and Water Streets. The name of Monroe Street was soon
changed to Florida, so, to avoid confusion, the name Florida will be
used hereafter.

The blocks in the town east of Tampa Street were laid out in one-
acre squares. West of Tampa there were a few odd-shaped blocks with
varying sized lots. Most of the lots between Franklin Street and the
river, however, were 70 by 105, with six lots to a block. Those east
of Franklin were 105 feet square, with four lots to a block. The streets
were 80 feet wide.

Old timers say that when Jackson made the survey he used a link
chain which varied in length depending on the temperature, with the
result that some blocks in the original town are eight to ten inches
longer than others. But no one knew that then and even if they had
known, they probably would not have cared. Land was very cheap in
those days.

After the town was laid out, the county commissioners straightway
proceeded to let a contract for a courthouse. Negotiations had been
started earlier with Michael Ledwith, of Manatee, to handle the con-
tract but Ledwith left the county and the commissioners turned to
Captain James McKay, a newcomer in the town. The captain agreed
to erect the building, two stories high and 20 by 40 feet, for $1,358.
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Loocking south on Florida avenue from the Palmetto Hotel at Polk strect. Ruts made in the heavy

sand by ox carts and mule teams are plainly shown., The county court house can be seen a little
left of center., The photograph was taken in 1834,
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He started at once on the block bounded by Franklin, Madison, Florida
and Lafayette Streets.

To get money to pay for the courthouse the commissioners pre-
pared to sell lots in the newly platted town. They had received word
in February that an order had been signed by the Adjutant General
reducing the military reservation to four miles square and they assumed
that the last legal barrier to the lot sale had been removed. So they
advertised in the JacksonviLLE NEws and the TALLAHASSEE SOUTHERN
JournaL, announcing that the sale would be held Monday, April 5,
1847. The sale was held as scheduled and $2,900 worth of lots were
sold at prices ranging {rom 525 to $335 a lot.

The commissioners were jubilant—but not for long. A few months
later crushing news came from Washington. President Polk had failed
to sign the land grant and hence the sale had been illegal, and clear
titles could not be given to the lots which had been sold. Unless some-
thing was done to validate the grant, the county would have to return
$1,500 1t had received in down payments for the lots and would lose
$1,400 more it still had coming in deferred payments.

In this dire emergency, the commissioners turned to Micajah
Brown. He was well educated and talented and had a flair for writing:
Responding to the plea, Brown wrote a carefully prepared petition
which was presented to Congress on April 3, 1848, and referred to the
Committee on Public Lands. It urgently requested that Congress pass
an act granting the county the 160 acres desired. To make his petition
more effective, Brown went to Washington and appeared before the
committee on April 17,

The principal argument used by Brown was that Hillsborough
County had a rightful claim te the land because of the loss it had
sustained when its “courthouse and other buildings were destroyed by
the Indians at the commencement of the late Seminole War.” He
insisted that the burned buildings were worth far more than the $200
the 160 acres would bring at the preemption price of $1.25 an acre.
And he added: “The whole quarter section would not be worth $100
(had it not been selected for a county seat) because it is the very poorest
sandy land.”

In his petition, Brown stated that Tampa was then a village of
“upwards of one hundred inhabitants” and he pointed out that the
back country was becoming thickly settled and the need for a court-
house and a jail was becoming increasingly acute. He argued that the
necessary buildings could not be erected unless the land was granted
and the town lot sales legalized.

Responding to Brown’s plea, both houses of Congress passed the
land grant act and it was signed by President Polk on July 25, 1848,
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That date is really Tampa’s birthday because it was on that day that
the town of Tampa became a legal actuality.

Anticipating favorable action by Congress, the county commis-
sioners had tapped their treasury in January and paid Captain McKay
in full for building the courthouse. He received $1,568—$10 more than
the contract called for because he put in a few extras the commissioners
decided were required.

That courthouse builder, Captain James McKay, was a most un-
usual man, physically and mentally. Over six feet tall, he weighed a
hundred and ninety pounds and there was not an ounce of fat on his
body. He was broad-shouldered and had the muscles of a prize fighter.
He was a born leader and for three decades was one of the most out-
standing men in south Florida.

Born March 17, 1809, at Thurso, in County Caithness, in the north
of Scotland, he went to sea when a boy and became a master seaman
before he was twenty-five. While in Edinburgh one day in 1835, he
met a bonnie Scotch lass, Matilda Cail, with whom he fell in love. But
Matilda was then only sixteen years old, altogether too young to be
married, in the opinion of her mother, Madame Sarah Cail. To remove
her daughter “from temptation,” Madame Cail left Scotland and went
to America, taking Matilda with her. They settled in St. Louis.

Not to be outwitted so easily, Captain McKay followed, located
the Cails in St. Louis and immediately resumed his courtship. In 1837,
Madame Cail finally relented and gave permission to Matilda to be
married. The captain was then twenty-eight years old and his bride
seventeen. Soon after the wedding they moved to Mobile, Ala., where
the captain engaged in the mercantile business. Four children were
born there: George, Sarah, James and John.

In Mobile, Captain McKay met the Rev. Daniel Simmons, the
Baptist minister who had established a mission in Hillsborough County
in 1828 and had lived there until the Seminole War started, when he
went to Alabama. Reverend Simmons was an ardent Florida booster
and never ceased singing the praises of the Tampa Bay region. Captain
McKay did not need much selling on the future prospects of the bay
section. He knew that because of its geographical location, Tampa Bay
was destined to become one of the leading ports of the nation. So in
the early fall of 1846 he decided to go to Tampa.

Chartering a schooner, Captain McKay left Mobile with his family
in September. Reverend and Mrs, Simmeons went with him, and so
did Madame Cail and Mitchell McCarty and his wife, Elizabeth, daugh-
ter of the Simmons. The schooner never reached Tampa. It was
wrecked during a hurricane on shoals in Chassahowitzka Bay, in Her-
nando County. The cargo was lost but all on board escaped. The
Simmons and McCarty families went on to Brooksville but the McKays
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soon afterward made their way to Tampa, arriving in November,
Madame Cail came with them.

Both Captain McKay and Madame Cail were well off and soon
after arriving in Tampa they began investing heavily in real estate, buy-
ing some of the best blocks in town as soon as the property was put on
the market. They also purchased many large tracts throughout the
county, becoming two of Hillsborough's largest land owners,

One of the blocks purchased by Captain McKay was the one
bounded by Franklin, Jackson, Florida and Washington Streets. There
he built his home. On another of his blocks, the one adjoining on the
south, he built a store building and went into business. But he was
not long satisfied with store keeping. Late in 1848 he purchased the
schooner Sarah Matilda and started making runs to Mobile and New
Orleans. Two years later he bought another schooner Emma, for use
between Tampa and Fort Myers. During the 1850s he added to his fleet,
buying the 125-ton steamer Fenice, a smaller steamer called the Wood-
duck, and the brigantine Huntress, purchased at federal auction in Key
West after it had been condemned as a slaver. In 1859 he chartered the
steamer Magnolia from the Morgan Line and entered the cattle busi-
ness, buying herds and selling the animals in Cuba. He is credited with
being the first shipper of cattle from Florida to the Cuba market.

As the years went by, Captain McKay continued to make history.

Construction of the courthouse was not the only public improve-
ment considered by the commissioners in 1846 and 1847. They had
roads to think about, and give them headaches. From every section of
the far-flung county came bitter complaints about the condition of the
roads built by the army during the Seminole War. Bridges were collaps-
ing and the logs used in the corduroy roads through swamps had rotted
and disintegrated. Many roads had become impassable. And to make
the situation worse, most parts of the county had no roads at all.

In an effort to solve the highway problem, the commissioners
divided the county into road and bridge districts and named super-
visors to take charge of repairs and new construction. The county’s
treasury was empty and consequently it had no money to pay for road
projects of any kind, so the commissioners blithely told the supervisors
to dig up the money as best they could. The supervisors had little
success. Everyone wanted good roads but no one wanted to pay for
them. As a result, few road projects were undertaken. The principal
achievement was the clearing of the right-of-way of a new road from
Turman’s Landing on the Big Manatee River to Tampa by way of
Bell's Ford on the Alafia. Elsewhere a few bridges were rebuilt and
some corduroy repairs were made, but that was all. Hillsborough County
had to wait many, many vears before a good road system became an
actuality,
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Two steps were taken, however, to provide better means for cross-
ing the Hillsborough River. On April 7, 1846, E. T. Mobley was
authorized to construct a toll bridge at Fort Foster where the Fort King
military road crossed the river. And on May 23 Thomas Piper was
granted the right to establish a ferry at Lafayette Street. The ferry fees
were fixed at five cents per man and ranging from fifteen to twenty-five
cents for wagons. Piper built a large scow and delegated the task of
poling it back and forth across the river to two of his slaves. Traffic
was anything but heavy so the Negroes certainly were not worked
beyond their endurance.

Hillsborough County got one more badly needed “public improve-
ment” in the early summer of 1848—a county jail. It was built on the
courthouse square by Simon Sikes for §345. To give the county good
measure, Sikes at no extra cost built a fence around the courthouse to
keep out wandering cows and hogs.

The fence enclosed something besides the courthouse and jail—
something the children of Tampa had no particular liking for. It was
the first community school. No separate building was required for it;
classes were held in the court room. The teacher was W. P. Wilson, of
Boston, who had come to Florida for his health and had been persuaded
by town leaders to start a school. He was paid through tuition fees from

Photo Comrtesy af Fred Fledehar

Looking northeast Irom the county courthouse in 1884, showing the intersection of Florida Avenue
and Madison Street. The Academy of the Holy Name is the large building shown at top center.
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the parents; the “class room” was donated by the county commissioners.

Teacher Wilson had fourteen pupils in that first class of the Florida
West Coast. They were Louis and Eliza Jane Bell, Joseph and Mary
Ferris, William B. and John Alexander Henderson, Mary R. Jackson,
John Thomas Lesley, George and Sarah McKay, and Eliza Jane, William
James, John Howard and Caroline Elizabeth Spencer. They were
Tampa’s first school children and were taught their first lessons Mon-
day, September 11, 1848.

Classes were held in the new school just two weeks and then they
were interrupted, most violently, by Mother Nature. Tampa experi-
enced the worst storm in its history.

The Wind Blew with Savage Fury

_ The West Coast of Florida never has been lashed by a hurricane
as severe as many which have wrought devastating damage and caused
heavy loss of life on the lower East Coast and on the Florida keys. But
it experienced one blow which made history—the hurricane of 1848.

At the time the storm occurred Tampa was still a very small village,
with not more than a hundred inhabitants. It was still overshadowed
by the army garrison, Fort Brooke, which took in all the land south of
Whiting Street.

Within the reservation there were many buildings: large com-
missary warchouses, two hospital buildings, a bake shop, a carpenter’s
shop, the quartermaster's office and warehouses, a blacksmith shop,
ordnance warehouses, a clothing building, numerous horse sheds, and
large army barracks. The officers had individual homes on the bay
front at what would now be the foot of Nebraska Avenue. W. G. Ferris,
the army sutler, had his store in the reservation, on the river about 300
feet south of Whiting Street. James B. Allen had a boarding house
about 4 hundred yards east of the commissary. The fort also had a large
wharf near the present foot of Platt Street.

The stormy weather which preceded the hurricane started Satur-
day, September 23. During Sunday the wind increased in strength,
coming from the east and accompanied by heavy rain. W. G. Ferris'
schooner, the John T. Sprague, bringing a payroll for the soldiers, was
seen coming up the bay and a crew of soldiers went down in a sloop to
help bring her in, which they succeeded in doing after hours of effort.

Early Monday morning the wind shifted to the south and finally
to the southwest, blowing with dreadful fury. The rain fell in torrents.
Water from the Gulf was blown into the bay and the wind kept sweep-
ing it northward. Great waves began crashing in. The islands in the
bay were covered and so was almost all of Interbay Peninsula. The
garrison was almost entirely inundated, with mad waves pounding at
the buildings. Up the river only the tops of trees could be seen through
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the driving rain. The wind was so fierce that people could move
through it only by crawling along the ground.

Before the hurricane reached its peak Ferris carried the members
of his family to the Palmer House, then waded in water up to his arm-
pits back to his store. Then, looking southward, he saw the commissary
building rolling straight toward him. He got away just as it crashed
into his own warehouse. Both buildings were swept up the river.

The Palmer House seemed doomed. Tables began floating around
in the dining room. Josiah Ferris, son of the sutler, swam through the
front door with a young girl in his arms. The refugees retreated to the
Kennedy store and then to the home of Captain McKay.

The John T. Sprague, with the army payroll still on board, had
been anchored at the shipyard up the river. During the worst part of
the storm the hull of an old abandoned boat crashed against her and
broke her cables. She was blown into the pine woods close to Franklin
and Madison with the captain and crew still on board.

Late Monday afternoon the wind died down and the villagers
could see what damage had been done. The once proud fort was a
shambles. The officers’ homes on the bay front were gone and so were
the army barracks, the horse sheds, Allen’s boarding house and many
of the other buildings. The pine woods north of the reservation were
filled with debris. Many of the magnificent oak trees were down. The
damage was appalling.

The fort bore the brunt of the storm but Tampa suffered bad
enough. The river front was swept clean. The homes of John Jackson,
Judge Simon Turman and William Ashley, who lived along the river,
were washed away, and so was a blockhouse farther north which had been
built during the Seminole war. The Palmer House and the homes on
higher ground were still standing but all had been damaged to some
extent. No lives were lost,

On Tuesday morning the men from the Sprague came out of the
woods and brought cotfee and food. Learning that the supplies on the
schooner were still intact, the fort commander sent a detail of soldiers
to bring in all the food on board. It was divided among the villagers
and the troops. The government later paid for the confiscated goods.

The wreckage of Ferris’ store was found near the present Fortune
Street bridge. All its contents, valued at $15,000, had been destroyed
and no trace could be found of two strong boxes containing $3,500 in
cash belonging to John Jackson which Ferris had been keeping for him.
The money had come in just a few days before and was to be used by
Jackson to pay his crew of surveyors then making a government survey
of the county. Alarmed at his loss, Jackson employed two trustworthy
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Negroes to search for the strong boxes in the debris along the river-
banks. Both boxes were found, near the foot of Washington Street,
with the cash still in them.

The storm had a rather alcoholic aftermath. Several barrels of
whiskey from Ferris' store were washed ashore and before the sutler
could rescue them, they were tapped—and more than a little of the
contents consumed. Old timers said that a number of villagers were
quite dazed for several days thereafter.

Down on Egmont Key, the lighthouse built during the Seminole
War was badly damaged and so was the lighthouse keeper's home.
When the keeper, Marvel Edwards, saw that waves were going to wash
over the island he placed his family in a boat and waded with it to the
center of the island and tied it to cabbage palms. During the night the
boat was lashed by the raging wind and on Monday the high water lifted
it close to the tops of the trees. By the time the wind died down the
members of the family were almost exhausted. But they all survived
the ordeal. When the water subsided the family returned home to find
that all its possessions had been washed away or ruined by the water.
The lighthouse was later rebuilt at a cost of $16,000, this time strong
enough to withstand any storm. Much of the work on the structure
was done by Mitchell McCarty, a stone mason, who had come to Florida
two years before with Captain McKay.

The hurricane dealt the people of Manatee a tragic blow, During
the preceding summer Merchant Henry Clark had built a large schooner,
the Atlanta, and had placed her in service late in August. She was on
the way home from her maiden voyage to New York when she got in
the path of the hurricane. The schooner went to the bottom, with all
the crew, including many sailors from the Manatee section. One of the
victims of the disaster was William Gamble, who with his older brother,
Robert, owned the Gamble Plantation.

Another Manatee plantation owner, Hector W. Braden, was a
victim of a less severe hurricane which occurred October 14, 1846. He
was returning to the plantation on horseback from Tampa when the
storm reached its peak. While attempting to ford the Little Manatee
River his horse stepped into quicksand. Both the horse and Braden
drowned. An old account of the tragedy says that Braden's body "“was
found some days later still upright on his horse. The gruesomeness of
the picture was accentuated by the fact that his eyes were wide open
and in his hands were clenched the bridle reins and his riding whip.”
Truly, that was a most unique tragedy. But there is no doubt that
Braden lost his life.

During the 1848 hurricane the size and shape of many of the keys
along the coast underwent many changes. Some of the keys were almost
entirely washed away; others were built up by the-shifting sands. A
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number of new passes were opened; others were closed. Government
charts made before the hurricane proved to be almost valueless after
the storm because of the countless changes in channel depths.

Village Tampa Becomes a Town

The hurricane of 1848 wrought serious damage to Tampa but,
strangely enough, it contributed in a marked degree to the growth of
the infant town. In fact, the real growth of Tampa might be said to
date from that day in September when the high winds blew.

The nitial impetus to growth had been given, of course, when
Congress on July 25, 1848, provided the land on which a town could be
built. The hurricane speeded up the growth tremendously. This was
due to the damage done at Fort Brooke.

The garrison had been almost demolished by the high winds and
water. The War Department wanted 1t rebuilt, not on the scale 1t was
before, but large enough to take care of the army’s needs. A new
wharf had to be constructed, and new barracks, new officers’ quarters,
and new warchouses. Many buildings had to be repaired.

This work required carpenters, stone masons, painters and common
laborers. They came to Tampa in large crews, and many remained.
The influx meant better business for Tampa merchants, more patients
for doctors, more clients for attorneys, more activity in every field.
Tampa began to boom.
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Phota Courtery of Nurgert Bros.

'This was the first brick building erected in Tampa. It was the home of the Bank of Tampa,

predecessor of the First National Bank, and was built in 1886, All the leading men of the town
turned out to get into the picture, '
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The boom was accelerated by increasing prosperity in the back
country. Planters came in from the southern states with slaves and
established plantations, not as large as those on the Manatee but large
enough to add to the county's wealth. They planted cotton, sugar cane,
corn and other crops. Many also turned to cattle raising: William B.
Hooker, James A. Hendry, Riley R. and Ridding Blount, James Lanier,
William L. Mobly, William H. Meredith, Silas McClellan, John S.
Taylor, J. J. Wells, Frederick Varn, William J. Turner, Columbus
Stafford and Daniel Stanford. On Pinellas Peninsula, the seven
McMullen brothers became established.

Cattle owned by the pioneers roamed all over the open range,
through the lush plains of the Alafia and Little Manatee river sections,
down to the lower tip of Pinellas Peninsula, and deep into the back
country. Cattle raising became the leading industry of the entire area.

The more the back country developed, the more Tampa grew,
not phenomenally but steadily, year after year.

Signs of increasing prosperity were so apparent early in 1849 that
a group of fourteen men met at the courthouse January 18th to con-
sider the advisability of incorporating the village as a town. They
pointed out that Tampa then had 185 inhabitants, an increase of more
than a hundred per cent in less than two years, and that more people
were coming in daily. The motion to incorporate was passed
unanimously.

Exactly one week later, on January 25th, the first town election
on the West Coast was held in Tampa. Fourteen men cast their ballots
and of the fourteen, six became officials. M. G. Sikes was elected presi-
dent and four others were named to serve as trustees: Thomas P.
Kennedy, Jesse Carter, C. A. Ramsey and William Ross. James Gettis
was chosen to serve as the first town clerk,

Sikes was a popular young stonemason from Savannah, Ga.
Kennedy was one of the leading merchants and the county's first
treasurer. Jesse Carter was a 40-year-old native-born Floridian who had
the contract for bringing in the mail from Gainesville by stagecoach.
C. A. Ramsey was a 32-year-old farmer from Georgia. Ross was a 27-
year-old carpenter from Maryland. Gettis was an attorney and later
won a statewide reputation because of outstanding ability.

One of the first actions taken by the newly elected officials was
to order the construgtion of a sorely needed public market where Tampa
housewives could buy produce raised by back country farmers. It was
erected in the middle of Water Street just south of Lafayette.

Tampa’s first experiment in town government was not a shining
success. The officials soon found they had no legal power to levy taxes
to pay for public improvements and meetings of the trustees became
more and more infrequent. Finally, on October 10, 1852, the electors
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voted to abolish the government. The town then owed $42.50 and its
assets consisted of the market house and the furnishings of the town
hall, consisting of a small table, six chairs, an inkstand, two candlesticks,
three small record books and a sandbox in which the tobacco-chewing
trustees could spit. Judge Simon Turman was authorized to sell the
office equipment, collect back rent due on the market house and free
the town of debt. This he did and the debtors were paid in full. C. A,
Ramsey was paid $11, M. Cunningham $21, John T. Givens §7, and
Surveyor John Jackson $3.50. These debts had been contracted in
building the market house.

The action of abolishing the corporation soon was regretted by
the good people of Tampa. The town was continuing to grow and
becoming too important a place to be without a governing body so
on September 10, 1853, the electors voted 23 to 2 to reestablish the
government.

One of the most popular men in town, John Darling, a native of
Vermont, was elected president. Then forty-five years old, Darling
had come to Fort Brooke ten years before as an ordnance sergeant.
Honorably discharged from the army in 1847, he went into partner-
ship with Thomas Kennedy under the firm name of Kennedy & Darling.
Their general store became one of the West Coast’s leading
establishments,

The next step in Tampa’s governmental growth was taken Septem
ber 17, 1855, when the citizens overwhelmingly voted to adopt a city
charter, elect a mayor and council, and have the corporation validated
by the state legislature. This the legislature did on December 15. The
first election under the city charter was held February 16, 1856, Judge
Joseph B. Lancaster was elected mayor, Councilmen chosen were
Micajah C. Brown, C. Q. Crawford, B. J. Hagler and D. A. Branch.
William Ashley was elected clerk; E. N. Lockhart, treasurer, and A. C.
Pacetty, marshal.

Tampa’s first mayor, Judge Lancaster, was one of Florida's most
distinguished citizens, He had served successively as judge of Alachua
County, collector of customs at Jacksonville, a captain of volunteers
during the Seminole War, chief clerk of the territorial house of represen-
tatives, representative from Duval County for seven years, speaker of
the House three terms, and judge of the Southern Judicial Circuit from
1847 to 1853, when he came to Tampa.

Judge Lancaster served as mayor less than a year, dying on Novem-
ber 25, 1856. He was succeeded by Alfonso DelLaunay, a forty-six year
old Virginian who had served Tampa as postmaster and was then
operating the Palmer House,

The first city officials who were elected February 16, 1856, took
office immediately and Tampa began to function as a full-fledged,
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incorporated city. The once embryo village on the Hillsborough, the
child of Fort Brooke, had truly thrown off its swaddling clothes.

Let us turn back the clock nearly a hundred years ago and see
what Tampa looked like when it became a city.

The sandy road which extended eastward to the pine woods and
then meandered onward to connect with the old military road to Fort
Mellon was dignified by hﬂng named for the first president of the
United States. But aside from its name, Washington Street had l1ttle
to give it distinction.

Ox and mule teams, hauling the huge covered wagons of the
pioneers, had chewed up the street so badly that in dry seasons it was
almost impassable. But that did not keep the back country settlers
away. All through the week they drifted in and out, and on Saturdays
the town was crowded. “Going to town" was a big occasion and whole
families came, father and mother and all the children. While the men
folks shopped and perhaps had a drink or two, the women gossiped and
the children played.

The *“business district” began—or ended—at Washington and
Marion where Edward A. Clarke, energetic Yankee from Cornwall-on-
the-Hudson, New York State, had established his famous “Blue Store”
where everything was handled from candy and pickles to accordions
and plows, all for sale “for cash or country produce only as ‘credit is
dead and bad debts killed him’.”

From the Blue Store, the business district extended down Wash-
ington to Tampa and then south to Whiting where the city’s one and
only hotel was located, the Palmer House. Next door to the hotel was
the general store of Kennedy & Darling which advertised that it received
goods from New Orleans by every steamer and was prepared to “pur-
chase, advance upon, or ship, cotton, hides, deerskins, etc., upon most
liberal terms.”

On Whiting, a little east of Tampa Street, Tampa's oldest merchant,
W. G. Ferris, now had his general store. He sold clothes for men and
women, specialized in goods needed on plantations, did a ship chandlery
business and kept “for medicinal purposes only” a stock of “brandy
vintage of 1805 and 1846, Scheidam Schnapps, Green Head Whiskey,
porter, ale, Scotch whiskey, Brown stout, Maderia, sherry, port and
champagne.” Ferris also sold the popular brands of cigars including
Know Nothing, Anti-Know Nothing, Wide Awake and Opera.

Close by on Whiting was the first public building erected in town,
the Masonic Hall, built in 1852 by Hillsborough Lodge No. 25,
F. & A. M. The lodge rooms also were used by the Odd Fellows and
as a place where political rallies and socials could be held.

The business “center” of town was at Washington and Tampa
where there was a group of establishments—the general stores of John
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Jackson, Christopher L. Friebele and Robert F. Nunez, which carried
all human needs from the cradle to the grave, and the Florida Bakery,
owned by John F. Fletcher, beloved by all the youngsters of Tampa
because he liberally handed out toothsome cookies and pastry tidbits
as a lagniappe.

Another busy corner was Washington and Franklin where Captain
McKay had his general store, across from his home, and Micajah C.
Brown and his brother, J. W. Brown, had a clothing store.

Scattered through the business section were all sorts of business
places: grog shops operated by D. W, Ried, W. D. Firman, E. 1. Heins
and Jack Smith; a barber shop owned by Richard I. Hicks; blacksmith
shops owned by Dennis Enight, Richard Alt, W. F. McGuire and
Andrew H. Pallessere; butcher shops owned by John Schrould, Benjamin
Cowart, and Edward T. Kendrick; a book and stationery store owned
by Dr. 8. B. Todd; a gunsmith shop owned by H. (. Bellows; an oyster
shop and fish market run by William Nelson; a cobbler’s shop owned
by John Crosson; a silversmith’s shop owned by James Smith, and a
small printing plant owned by Charles Whiting, the town’s first printer.

The town boasted of having six attorneys and four physicians. The
attorneys were James Gettis, C. A, Mitchell, Joseph M. Taylor, O. B.
Hart and Richard Tatum. The doctors were Franklin Branch, S. B.
Todd, John P. Crichton and L. A. Lively. A little later Dr. S. Stringer
arrived. He had just been graduated from medical school and was
convinced that Tampa physicians were not receiving enough for their
services. 50 he led a movement to standardize fees, as follows: Ordinary
prescriptions, $1; extra-ordinary prescriptions, $2; for visits in town to
9 p.m., §$1.50; for visits in town after 9 p.mn., §5; for visits in country
during daylight, $1 per mile, at night, $1.50 per mile, if raining, $2
per mile, and if the call came after the doctor had retired, $2.50 per
mile; for giving opinion on a Negro offered for sale, §10; removing
cataracts, $5 to $50; tonsilectomies, $5 to $10; amputating leg, $60;
amputating hip joint, $100; simple obstetric cases, white or slave, $20;
for treatment of yellow fever, charges doubled.

By the mid-1850s, Tampa was becoming a town of pretty homes.
None was as imposing as the Gamble and Braden mansions down at
Manatee but many were more cozy and homelike. The Federal census
of 1850 showed there were then 79 dwellings in Tampa and that the
town’s population was 441. Six years later the number of homes had
more than doubled and the population was at least 800.

The town then had two churches, the Methodist and the Baptist,
and the Presbyterians had organized a congregation.

The Methodists won the distinction of being the first religious
group to establish a church. They were organized July 26, 1846, by
the Rev. John C. Ley, of the Georgia-Florida Methodist Conference,
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at a meeting of seventeen persons in one of the buildings at the garrison.
Dr. ]J. Roberts was the first class leader. The first services were held
in a small edifice built of salvaged lumber on the bay front. This build-
ing was washed away in the hurricane of 1848. Four years later a frame
church, the first real church in town, was built on the northeast corner
of Lafayette and Morgan by Capt. L. G. Lesley and John T. Lesley,
two of the trustees. Soon afterward the Baptists erected a church on
the southeast corner of Twiggs and Tampa, Madame Sarah Cail paying
for the labor.,

The Presbyterians were organized in 1854 by the Rev. Edmond
Lee who owned a small general store and apothecary’s shop at Manatee.
To preach in Tampa he journeyed up by rowboat, following the shallow
water near the shore and poling all the way. His first preaching appoint-
ment in Tampa was announced in rhyme: “Brother Edmond Lee of
Manatee will preach tonight by candle light.”

Mrs. Lillie B. McDuffee, in her most interesting book, “The Lures
of the Manatee,” said that the Reverend Lee was a quite thrifty New
Englander who could see no reason for squandering money or for pass-
ing up a good chance to make a few extra dollars to help eke out his
meagre income. She wrote: “He felt the urge to preach to the negroes
and frequently crossed the river in his rowboat and held religious serv-
ices for the Gamble slaves, who, in appreciation would fill his bucket—
brought for the purpose—with molasses. It was told on the old man
that he soon began taking along two buckets. Molasses at that time
sold for thirty-five cents per gallon.”

Despite the fact that Edmond Lee was born and raised a Yankee
he was loyal to his adopted Florida and at the beginning of the War
between the States he offered his services and served three years as a
chaplain in the Confederate Army.

The most interesting spot in town in the Fifties was the wharf at
the foot of Whiting Street where shallow-draft schooners and steamers
docked, as well as smaller sailing craft owned by settlers all along the
coast. Larger vessels had to anchor off Ballast Point because of the
shallow channel. Lighters and sloops were used to take cargoes and
passengers to shore. Mail was brought in once a week from Key West
and Pensacola by the Gulf Mail steamers Jaspero and Pampero which
plied up and down the coast.

In 1853, Tampans were able for the first time to travel north by
stagecoach, a line being established then by Jesse Carter who got the
contract for bringing in the mail from the northern part of the state.
Carter’s line ended at Gainesville where connections were made with
other lines running to St. Augustine, Jacksonville and Tallahassee.
The coach was a lumbering, sturdily built four-horse vehicle constructed
in Cincinnati especially for the rough corduroy roads which extended
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through the swamps. The journey, which required two full days, was
made over the old Fort King military road which had just been rebuilt
by the army.

Among many “firsts” which Tampa got during the 1850s was its
first cemetery, Oak Lawn, established in 1850 at Harrison and Morgan,
then far out in the region known as the "scrub,” so called because of
its disreputable Negro shacks. Prior to the establishment of Oak Lawn,
burials were usually made by the pioneer families on their own prop-
erties. One old burial spot was located on the west side of the river at
the place known as Spanish Town because [ive or six Spanish fishermen
and their families had settled there in the late Forties.

Along with its first regular cemetery, Tampa got its first under-
taker, John T. Givens, a South Carolinian who came to Tampa on
Christmas day, 1848. A carpenter by trade, Givens started in the under-
taking business by building coffins for bereaved families; later he pro-
vided everything needed for funerals. In 1853 he erected his home on
the southeast corner of Morgan and Lafayette, across the street from
the Methodist Church.

A “high class” private school was started in the fall of 1853 by a
young Methodist minister, Jasper K. Glover, shortly after he married
Lavonia Branch, daughter of Dr. and Mrs. Franklin Branch. He got
forty-five pupils the first year and prospered. But the following year
he had stiff competition. Mrs. Emelia Porter, of Charleston, 8. C., came
in and established an exclusive private school for girls—and Glover

Phoie Courieiy af Bergers Brod,

This string of brick buildings constituted the heart of Tampa’s business section in 1889, Scparaie

buildings in the block were crected between 1886 and 1889, They [aced on Franklin from the

southwest corner of Lafayette. For many ycars this corner was known as “Tibbett’s Corner”
because a confectionery store was operated there lor many years by the Tibbetts brothers.
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was left with only the boys. Unable to make enough money to live,
he soon left town.

Mrs. Porter continued with her private school for several years
but she too soon had competition—most serious competition. The first
public schools were opened in Hillsborough County in the late fall of
1854. But the school term lasted just a few weeks, only $307.04 being
available to pay all expenses of operating schools in ten districts. The
first teachers were James Petty, Esther Hawks, F. G. M. Boggess, Mrs.
Otwayanna Roberts, H. L. Mitchell, W. P. Wilson, William N.
Campbell, Jeremiah Newman and Thomas McCormick. Their pay
ranged from $22 vo $40 for the term.

Perhaps one of the reasons why Hillsborough did not have more
money for schools was that it had outgrown the first courthouse, built
in 1848, and had to have a new one. A contract for a two-story building
with offices on the first floor and court and jury rooms on the second
was awarded in May, 1853, to the Rev. J. A. Breaker. The building
was constructed on the site of the first courthouse and was completed
June 5, 1855, at a cost of $5,000. Entrances were on Madison and
Lafayette Street and the building was decorated with four large columns
at each end.

Probably the most important “first” which Tampa got during the
18505 was its first newspaper, the TamMpa HErarp. The paper was first
planned in 1853 by M. Whit Smith and C. 5. Reynolds, of Columbia
County, Florida, but publication was delayed by difficulty in finding
office space in fast-growing Tampa. Late in December, however, a small
flat-bed press and several fonts of type were brought in and on January
10, 1854, the first issue appeared. In November of the same year Editor
Smith sold his interest to Dr. J. 8. Jones, also of Columbia County, who
four months later changed the name of the paper to the Froripa
PeENINSULAR. In August, 1855, Jones sold the PENINsuLAR to Simon
Turman, Jr., saying in the editorial column that he was forced to sell
because “it did not pay sufficient to support my family.” Three years
later William J]. Spencer bought an interest in the paper.

Very little local news was carried in those newspapers of the 1850s.
Most of the news was “boilerplate” supplied by a news association in
Savannah, Ga. But any news was better than no news at all and the
paper was read avidly by everyone in town. From late 1855 to mid-
1858, the paper contained much Seminole War news—the conflict with
the Indians had been renewed.

The Seminoles Are Pursued Again

White man’s insatiable greed for land was the basic cause for the
so-called Third Seminole War which began at the end of 18565 and
lasted until late spring in 1858.
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The reservation in southwest Florida assigned to the Indians at
the close of the war of 18355-42 contained millions of acres of Everglades
land, said to be more fertile than the Valley of the Nile. Plantation
owners coveted that land—they wanted it for sugar cane and rice plan-
tations on which Negro slave labor would be used. The reservation
also contained millions of acres of rich pasture land—and those pasture
lands were coveted by Florida's cattlemen,

The plantation owners and cattlemen had great influence in Talla-
hassee; hence, it is easy to understand why Tallahassee politicians con-
stantly bombarded Washington with demands for the deportation or
killing of every Indian in the state,

Unquestionably the Indians had countless faults and many vices
and during the war of 1835-42 had been vicious and cruel. But, on the
other hand, it is also true that after the war ended most of their mis-
demeanors and crimes were greatly exaggerated for propaganda purposes.

Thus it was that on July 17, 1849, a great outcry arose when a
trader named Whiddon was killed by five Indians at his trading post
on the Peace River. No one inquired what motive the Indians had for
committing the murder. No one asked whether Whiddon had cheated
them beyond endurance or sold them so much rotten whiskey that they
went amuck, The motive did not matter. Neither did the fact that
Chief Billy Bowlegs left his camp near Lake Thonotosassa, went out
and captured the guilty men, and brought them in for punishment.
The hue and cry went on.

A few more widely separated crimes were reported throughout
the state and always the Indians were held responsible. The cries for
vengeance became so strident that they could no longer be ignored in
Washington. Major General David E. Twiggs, then in command at
Fort Brooke, was ordered to take action. He immediately began estab-
lishing a chain of forts around the Indian territory.

The anti-Indian agitators soon had an excuse for putting on more
heat. In August, 1850, a youth named Daniel Hubbard was murdered
in the northern part of Hillsborough County. No one knew for sure
who committed the crime but Indians were blamed. Three young
Seminoles were caught and taken to Fort Brooke. Before they could
be tried their dead bodies were found hanging from limbs of trees.
Army officers said they committed suicide,

Billy Bowlegs disagreed. He said emphatically that the men had
been lynched—and he was furious. Soon afterward he left his village,
where he had made many [riends among the white settlers, and went
to the Big Cypress. All his tribe went with him. Never again was an
Indian village established in Hillsborough County.

During the next five years repeated efforts were made to induce
the Seminoles to leave Florida. But the Indians, led by Billy Bowlegs,
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refused to go. The War Department finally adopted drastic measures.
Trading posts were closed and the Seminoles no longer were able to
buy supplies. Moreover, to inform the Indians that “civilization was
advancing,” surveyors were sent into the reservation, despite solemn
promises made earlier that the Indians would be let alone.

One of the surveying parties left Fort Myers December 7, 1855,
with Lieut. George L. Hartsuff in command. Twelve days later they
ran across the home that Billy Bowlegs had made in the Big Gypress.

“Let’s tear the hell out of his garden and see what he does,” one
of the men yelled. The others thought that was a fine idea. So they
trampled down the banana stalks, smashed the pumpkins and uprooted
the potatoes. Soon afterward, Billy returned. He was enraged. But
when he demanded compensation, Hartsutf’s men roared with laughter.
They tripped the chief and sent him sprawling. When Billy arose, his
face was covered with dirt. Then the whole camp roared some more.
Seething with anger, Billy left.

But in the early hours of Thursday, December 20, Billy returned.
With him was a small band of Indians. They attacked Hartsutf's camp,
just as dawn was breaking. Caught by surprise, two surveyors were
killed. Hartsuff and three of his men were wounded. The survivors
finally beat off the attack and made their way to Fort Myers.

There is no doubt but that the Indians would have gone on the
warpath again even if the wanton destruction of Billy's garden had not
occurred. They had been goaded into desperation by a caretully devised
plan to cause them to retaliate, and furnish the army with an excuse
for waging war against them, and they undoubtedly would have struck
back sooner or later even if the garden had been unmolested.

Once aroused, the Indians lost all reason. Small bands struck out
into the white man's territory, pillaging, shooting, burning as they went.
One band struck northward, beyond Fort Meade. Others attacked
settlements along the East Coast. One reached the Manatee River and
attacked Braden’s Castle, the home of Dr. Joseph Braden. They were
beaten off there but struck again at the home of William Whitaker at
Sarasota Bay and burned it to the ground.

None of the roving bands struck close to Tampa and the residents
of the county seat were never badly frightened. The closest the Indians
came was at the Alafia River where they ambushed and killed John
Carney, operator of a ferry, almost within sight of his home. But they
did not approach Carney’'s house and members of his family escaped.

At Manatee, the settlers were panic stricken following the attack
on Braden’s Castle. From miles around they came into the small village
and took refuge within a stockade erected around the home of Dr.
Franklin Branch. There the women and children remained for ten
months while most of the men joined volunteer forces to fight the
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marauders. At least three children were born within the fort: Furman
Chaires Whitaker, first son of Mr. and Mrs. William Whitaker; William
Blakely Tresca, son of Capt. and Mrs. Frederick Tresca, and Alice
Mary Wyatt, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. G. Hance Wyatt. These three
babies were cousins as Mrs. Whitaker, Mrs. Tresca and Mr. Wyatt were
the children of Col. William Wyatt who settled in Manatee in 1848.

The depredations would certainly have been far worse than they
were had it not been for the fact that the Florida Indians were almost
a vanished race. In the entire state there were less than six hundred.
And that included women and children, cripples and men too old to
fight. The number of warriors did not exceed one hundred and fifty.

The conflict which followed, therefore, cannot be dignified by
calling it a war. One of the bloodiest engagements was fought June
14, 1856, when the Seminoles struck at the home of Willoughby Tillis,
about two miles south of Fort Mead. Five pioneers were killed in the
battle at Tillis’ place and in the pursuit of the Indians after they were
driven off. Five other pioneers were seriously wounded. The Indians
suffered about the same number of casualties.

A few other minor engagements were fought but, generally speak-
ing, the “war”’ was one of pursuit—of hunting the Indians in the swamps
and marshes deep in the Glades and the almost impenetrable fastnesses
of the Big Cypress. But that was grueling, dangerous work. The Indians
were desperate, and tricky, and venemously angry. They shot from
ambush to kill—and their aim was accurate.

Fort Brooke played a relatively unimportant part in this conflict
with the Seminoles. Even before the first blood was shed the army
decided to make Fort Myers the center of operations and many of the
men and officers at Fort Brooke were transferred there. Proof of this
is furnished by a letter written December 1, 1854, by Lieut. Col. John
T. Greble. “They are breaking up Tampa as a military station,” he
wrote. “The headquarters are to be at Fort Myers, where I am going.”

Greble’s letter is interesting because it shows that keno, or bingo,
was being played at Tampa nearly a hundred years ago.

“On our return from the garrison,” the colonel wrote, “‘we missed
our way and went into a place that had a light in it and there saw a long
table with a miscellaneous crowd—soldiers, negroes, etc.—seated around
it playing keno. A man at the table turned around a calabash filled
with numbered blocks and at each revolution drew out one of these
blocks and called out the number. The players were furnished with
cards bearing different combinations of numbers and as any block was
called that was on their card, they would mark it with a grain of corn
and the one who had his card filled first would call out ‘keno’ and take
the money staked, each player having put up ten cents each. The
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banker paid himself by a percentage of the amount staked on each
game. L5y

Federal soldiers, trained for orthodox warfare, were of little good
in the last war with the Seminoles. Most of the Indian hunting was
done by Florida volunteers. As an inducement to volunteering, the
government agreed to pay $500 cash for each warrior captured and
$200 for each squaw or boy. One volunteer company was formed in
Tampa with Richard Turner as captain, Abel Miranda, first lieutenant,
and Eli J. Hart as second lieutenant.

Many other companies were organized elsewhere in the state. The
most effective work was done by boat companies which went through
the Glades country in long, flat-bottomed steel boats, each large enough
to hold sixteen men with all their supplies.

One of the most successful Indian hunters was a picturesque, swag-
gering fronteirsman, named Jacob E. Michler, fearless and a dead shot.
He organized a company of volunteers but often worked alone. On
August 2, 1857, he marched into Fort Myers with fifteen squaws and
children and was paid §1,500. He would have gotten more but seven
of his captives were papooses.

Other boat companies did not have Michler’s success in capturing
Indians. During all of 1857 not more than thirty brownskins were
rounded up. Billy Bowlegs and his warriors were too elusive. On
November 28, 1857, he was almost trapped by a scouting party led by
Captain John Parkhill, well known in Tampa. But he got away and
Parkhill lost his life and five of his men were wounded.

The secretary of war was forced to admit late in 1857 that the
Seminoles ““had baffled the energetic efforts of our army to effect their
subjugation and removal.” James Buchanan, the new president, decided
to change the government policy. He could see no sense in continuing
the bloody, expensive hostilities and issued orders for making new
efforts to remove the Indians by peaceful means.

As a result of the president’s order, attractive offers were made
to the Seminoles. They were promised that if they would move to the
Arkansas reservation they would be well taken care of for life. Terms
satisfactory to Billy Bowlegs were worked out at a conference held in
Fort Myers March 4, 1858, and by May lst a total of 124 Indians had
assembled there ready to be moved west. They left Fort Myers May
4th on the steamer Grey Cloud. En route to the West, the steamer
stopped at Egmont Key where forty-one more Indians were taken on
board. These were the Indians which had been captured by the Federal
troops and the volunteers. On May 7th the Grey Cloud departed from
Egmont Key on its westward journey and on the following day announce-
ment was made at Fort Brooke that the war was ended.
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The group of Indians which had sailed from Egmont Key was the
last to be deported from the state. The others were allowed to remain.
They numbered probably about three hundred—no one knows exactly
how many. Those who stayed behind were the undefeated. But now
they did not have an acre they could call their own. They had no rights
as citizens; legally they were trespassers on others’ lands. Not until
1917, when the United States was fighting to make the world safe for
democracy, did the State of Florida set aside 100,000 acres for them
as a reservation—100,000 acres of swamp, and sawgrass, and wilderness.

Since Billy Bowlegs and his people left Egmont Key nine decades
have passed into history. But never again did any of the Indians venture
forth to battle their white conquerors, largely because they were left
alone. During World War 11 a number of Seminole men were employed
in Tampa shipyards and were said to be good workers. Today, many
Seminole families can be seen by tourists who zip along the Tamiami
Trail through the Glades, but scores still mistrust the white man and
remain hidden in their camps, far from the beaten roads.

Frwe Years of Ups and Downs

The people of the Land of the Manatee struck Hillsborough County
a harder blow than any of the Indians struck during the last half of
the 1850s.

Owners of the large plantations along the river, Robert Gamble,
Dr. Joseph A. Braden and the Craigs, had much legal business to trans-
act and they had no liking for the long trip to the county seat at Tampa.
So in 1855 they led a movement to carve up Hillsborough, create a new
county and make Manatee its county seat.

The plantation owners and other influential settlers of the Manatee
region had many friends both in Tampa and at Tallahassee and the
separation drive was quickly completed. More than half of Hills-
borough County was split from the mother county and the new county
of Manatee was created. It became a legal actuality in October, 1856.

The extent of the loss to Hillsborough can be measured by the
fact that the newly created Manatee County took in a vast area of rich
territory extending from Piney Point on the north to Charlotte Harbor
on the south, and from the Gulf of Mexico half way across the state. It
took in all the land now included in Hardee, Sarasota, DeSoto and
Charlotte as well as the present county of Manatee. The loss of this
tremendous area, with all its taxable property, was a heavy loss to
Hillsborough.

Two years later Hillsborough and Tampa were hit again—this time
by another yellow fever epidemic. Two hundred and seventy-five cases
were reported in Tampa alone and thirty died. Everyone who could
leave, left hurriedly. The FLormbA PENINSULA reported: “Our city is
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almost depopulated and presents more the appearance of a church yard
than a thriving business place.”

During the same year, 1858, Tampa suffered still another blow.
Four years before, high hopes had been aroused when announcement
was made that Senator David Levy Yulee and his associates had received
a charter from the state to build a railroad diagonally down the peninsula
from Fernandina to Tampa Bay. Inasmuch as the state guaranteed
interest payments on all bonds issued by Yulee's road, and huge grants
of land were promised as a reward for its construction, no one had any
doubt but that Tampa soon would get rail connections with the north.

Construction work on the road, called the Florida Railroad, was
started in the summer of 1855 at Fernandina and by April, 1858, seventy
miles had been completed and thirty additional miles to Gainesville
had been graded. Everyone expected that from Gainesville the road
would head south to Tampa. But in November, 1858, reports were
received that Yulee had no intention of building to Tampa Bay—he
was going to extend the road to Cedar Keys, carrying it through a
section where he had vast real estate holdings.

Verification of the reports soon were received and Tampa was
stunned. The people were so angry that an effigy of Yulee was hastily
made and hung from an oak tree in the courthouse grounds. And then
it was set afire.

But the burning of the effigy did not bring the railroad—and as a
result of the change in Yulee's plan, Tampa was destined to suffer for
many years, its growth being greatly retarded.

But in November, 1858, the people of Tampa had other things to
worry them than railroads. War clouds were gathering. Every month
there were new signs that a conflict between the Northern and Southern
States was inevitable. Strangely enough, the prospect was not too badly
dreaded. More than a few wanted war to come—and the sooner the
better for the South.

These Were the Newcomers

Lists of names make deadly reading except to those whose names
are listed, and their friends, and their descendants. But for the sake of
the record we must give here the names of the settlers who got land
in Hillsborough County through the Armed Occupation Act and also
some of the pioneers who came to Tampa during that formative period
from 1842 to 1860.

Those who were granted land permus under the provisions of the
Armed Dccupatmn Act were:

For tracts “Near Tampa”: Levi Pearce, Benjamin Moody, Benja-
min Warren, William Parker, George Ellis, and Almira Dixon. At
Rocky Creek: Levi Coller and Louis Covacevich. On the Hillsborough
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River: Alexander Gage, Richard Dickson and James H. Johnson. On
the Alafia River: Louis Bell, John J. Knight, Robert Jackson,” Lot
Gage, William Delaney, Eber Beal, Henry §. Clark, James C. Pearce,
James Whetton, Antonio Gastigo, George Clarison, John Talmadge,
John Dixon and Uriah John Collier.

Near Tampa Bay: William Mitchell, Frederick Tresca, John Craig,
Thomas Peterson, George Miichell, Henry Peterson and Moses Ellis.
On Old Tampa Bay: George Forsyth, John Grillon, Samuel Bishop,
Thomas Stanfield, George Sullivan, Charles Hoffinghotf, Jordon Smith,
John Conrad Dalwig, William Nelson and Joseph Jones. At Clear
Water Harbor: James Stephens, Benjamin Bird, Rebecca Jenkins,
Thomas Piper, Charles McKay, Alexander McKay and George McKay.
At Worth's Harbor: Odet Phillippi and Samuel H. Starr. At the end
of Pinellas Peninsula: Maximo Hernandez. On Boca Ceiga Bay: Joseph
Silva and John Levich.

At Hickapusassa: Simeon L. Sparkman and James Pace. At Thono-

tosassa: John Brooke. Fort Sullivan, near present day Lakeland: Stephen
Hollingworth, Wytche Fulford, Guiton Fulford, John H. Hollingworth
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Flhote Courtesy of Burgert Sros,

All Tampa thrilled when the magnificent Tampa Bav Howel was erected by H, B, Plant in 1883-9].

I'he hotel was the finest in the entire south at that rime and attracted eelebrities to Tampa from
all parts of the nation and abroad. It was opened with a grand ball February 5, 1891,
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and Samuel Rodgers. At Simmons Hammock: Seth Howard, James
Glascow, John C. White and Thomas Weeks.

In Manatee River section: Miles Price, David Whimster, Henry
Lindsey, Herbert H. Booley, William H. Shaw, Joab Griffin, John
Davidson, William Eyles, James Cunlffe, Josiah Gates, Joseph A.
Braden, James D. Green, John Follansbee, Samuel Reid, Lawrence Ross,
]!;hn M. Irwin, Micajah L. Durham, Edward Rodgers, Edward Sneed,

aniel McMillan, Matthew Naylor, Michael Ledwith, Phillip S. Leaver,
Isaac B. Holman, Green H. Warthen, Eustatia Thompson, Ezekiel
Glazier, James B. Tucker, Michael Sheridan, John Parker, William
Wryatt, William H. Wyatt, John B. Hicks, Joseph Moore, John Weeks,
John Weeks, Jr., William Hanby, Isaac Bruney, John Jackson, Charles
C. Macy, William Lockwood, Simon Turman, Mortimer Bright, and
Asa J. Goddard. On Sarasota Bay: Joseph Elzuardi, Emanuel Olivella
and Benjamin P. Fuller.

Included among the other families who had located in the Tampa
Bay area by 1860, and whose names have not been already mentioned,
were: Constantine Bourgardez, B. G. Hagler, N. B. Hudson, H. C.
Bellows, Nathaniel A. Jameson, William Lofton, James Stevens, Martin
Cunningham, Joseph Atzeroth, Georgia Bravo, John H. Daegenhart,
V. C. Leonardi, Benjamin F. Drew, Richard Alt, H. Edwards, Archi-
bald Campbell, William H. McDonald, William Cooley, William §.
Brown, George Perkins, William Davis, Richard 1. Hicks, James T.
Magbee, Mike L. Shannahan, Abel Miranda, Samson Forrester (a freed
Negro), Thomas Majors, James Wilkinson, Jesse Crawford, Daniel P,
Myers, John H. Myers, Thomas Ellis, William Hern, Hugh T. Fisher,
Stephen Hollingsworth, William Brown, James Oliver, William Whit-
ton, James Green, William H. Shepard, Richard Gainy, Moses Turner,
Samuel B. Todd, John Futch, William Hancock, William I. Russian,
Henry H. Frier, Richard A. Vickers, Frederic Barn, Peter Platt and
John Skipper.



CHAPTER V
WHEN THE NATION WAS DIVIDED

ESPITE SETBACKS suffered during the preceding decade, Tampa and
Hillsborough County were thriving at the beginning of the fateful
1860s. The once microscopic settlement alongside Fort Brooke

had grown to become a town of 441 persons in 1850 and a full-fledged
city of 885 inhabitants in 1860. The county's population had ]umped
from 432 in 1840 to 2,377 in 1850 and 2,981 a decade later. The gain
from 1850 to 1860 was actually much greater than it appeared because
the 1850 total included some 300 soldiers at Fort Brooke who had
departed by 1860 and also more than 800 persons living in the vast area
taken from Hillsborough in 1856 to create Manatee County.

The back country, which had been nothing but an untracked
wilderness less than twenty vears before, was now dotted with the homes
of pioneers. In the fertile Simmons Hammeock section, between the
present-day Seffner and Lake Thonotosassa, nearly fifty settlers had
located with their families. Others had gone across Old Tampa Bay and
had started farms on the upper part of Pinellas Peninsula, then a part of
Hillsborough County. In less fertile regions, cattlemen grazed their
animals on the open range and their herds became constantly larger.

Most of the settlers had small farms, ranging in size from forty to
several hundred acres. A few had plantations of five hundred acres or
more. The largest plantation was owned by William J. Turner, of
Georgia, who had purchased a large tract near Indian Rocks, on Pinellas
Peninsula, and was rapidly developing his estate with the help of nine-
teen slaves. Another large plantation was being developed north of
Dunedin by William L. Mobly, owner of thirteen slaves.

Other settlers who had five slaves or more included: Riley R,
Blount, 5; Redding Blount, 19; Rigdon Brown, 7; William T. Brown, 7;
Dr. J. CG. Burwell, 6; Adam Clay, 9; William Cooley, 9. William M.
Fanning, 6; James Hamilton, 7; O. B. Hart, 5; John Hawkins, 5; James
A. Hendry, 8; John J. Hooker, 7; Jesse Knight, 7; James Lanier, 5; Silas
McClellan, 6; William H. Meredith, 16; John C. Oats, 9; Odet Phillipi,
6; Peter Platt, 9; Daniel Stanford, 9; Columbus Stafford, 10; John S.
Taylor, 6; Frederick Varn, 11; Basheba Wilder, 10, and J. J. Wt]ls, 11.

The largest plantatmns on the West Coast were still located in the
Manatee River section which in 1856 was separated from Hillsborough
County and became a part of the new Manatee County. But Robert
Gamble no longer was the owner of the famous Gamble Plantation. A
plunger, he had gone deeper and deeper into debt during the 1850s and
had mortgaged everything he possessed. The financial crisis which
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followed Buchanan’s inauguration in 1857 dealt him a fatal blow. He
could not sell his crop of sugar and molasses, could not make payments
on his debts, and his creditors closed in. Finally, on December 18, 1858,
he was forced to turn over everything he owned along the Manatee to
John Calvin Cofield and Robert McGeorge Davis, of Louisiana. The
property was then valued at $190,000. The plantation consisted of
5,450 acres with 1,500 acres under cultivation, and 142 slaves. After
the property transfer, Gamble returned to his former home in Leon
County and soon married Martha Chaires, a young heiress to a large
estate on Lake Lafayette,

Dr. Joseph A. Braden, owner of the second most famous plantation
in the Manatee section, also had been swamped by debts. On October
27, 1845, he and his brother Hector gave a mortgage on their property
to the Novelty Iron Works, of New York, after purchasing sugar refinery
equipment from that firm costing $43,941. The refinery was erected
on a creek known thereafter as Sugar House Greek. Doctor Braden also
borrowed heavily year after year on his crops of sugar cane, tobacco,
rice and corn. In 1850 he borrowed more money to build a fine home
which became known as Braden Castle. For a time he managed to stave
off his creditors but in 1858 the Novelty Iron Works foreclosed on its
mortgage and stripped the refinery of all the machinery. Doctor Braden
left Manatee soon afterward and the once fine plantation quickly grew
up in weeds.

Dr. Franklin Branch, who in 1850 had owned a plantation on the
Manatee valued at more than $20,000, sold his property in 1856 and
moved to Tampa where he established a drug store on the south side of
Washington near Florida. He was an ordained minister and often
preached in the Methodist churches in Tampa and Manatee., He also
was a physician and served the town as health officer.

Sixty miles north of Tampa, at Homosassa, a plantation was
being developed in 1860 which rivalled the best along the Manatee. It
was owned by Senator David Levy Yulee, get-rich-quick promoter of the
Florida Railroad who had aroused the wrath of Tampa people by
constructing his railroad to Cedar Keys instead of to Tampa Bay. His
Homosassa plantation consisted of 30,000 acres and he owned 81 slaves
valued on the tax duplicate of Hernando County at $40,500. The only
trace of his plantation still remaining is the ruin of his sugar mill.

Levy and the owners of the Manatee River plantations specialized
in growing sugar cane but in Hillsborough Gounty little cane was grown
except to provide sugar and molasses for home use. The principal crop
was cotton, with tobacco a close second. Every settler also raised corn
to provide feed for his horses and cattle, and grits, corn meal and
hominy for his family.
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The first grist mill in Hillsborough County was located at a falls
in the Hillsborough River close to the present Nebraska Avenue. The
mill, operated by water power, was owned for many years by Bell &
(Graves who bought a small niver steamer, Woodduck, to provide trans-
portation back and forth from town. In 1854, Bell built a new mill in
town which was operated by a steam engine. Captain McKay soon after-
ward purchased the Woodduck for $3,000 and used 1t for runs on
Tampa Bay.

To supply the needs of settlers in a great surrounding area, Tampa
then boasted of having nine large general stores: W. G. Ferris & Son,
Capt. James McKay, Christopher L. Friebele, E. A. Clarke & Co., Ken-
nedy & Darling, Michael Wall, L. G. Covacevich, Robert F. Nunez and
Jose Vigil. All these establishments advertised that they were whole-
sale and retail dealers in fancy and staple dry goods, hats and caps, boots
and shoes, ready made clothing for men and women, hardware and
crockery, plantation tools, Yankee notions, woodware and hollowware,
ship chandlery and paints, wines and liquors, and a complete line of
provisions and fine groceries. They all emphasized that in lieu of cash
they would gladly accept cotton, hides, tobacco, Spanish moss and pota-
toes. Jose Vigil went a step further and said he would also accept furs,

Phate Caurtesy af Fred Fleteher

This splendid old time photograph shows how downtown Tampa at Franklin and Lafayetie looked

from the top of the county court house in 1895. "The large building in the left foreground is the

jfamous Branch's Opera House where hundreds of old timers saw theatrical aturactions of that day

The building with the tower at the left was the Enight and Wall building just completed. The
Tampa Bay Hotel is shown in the background.
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eggs, beeswax, skins, chickens and rallow for which he would pay “the
highest market prices.”

In 1860 Tampa had three places where travelers could stay. In
addition to the old Palmer House, then operated by R. Duke, the town
also had the Washington House, operated by Mrs. Ann M. Roberts and
the Florida House, run by Mr. and Mrs. R. B. Thomas, where board
and lodging “of the finest” could be had for $1.50 a day, $8 a week or
$£30 a month. The Florida House, built and owned by Capt. James
McKay, was located at Morgan and Lafayette where the Masonic
Temple now stands. It later burned and on the site Capt. James
McKay, Jr., built his home,

During 1860 Tampa also got its [irst mansion-like residence. It
was constructed by William B. Hooker, a wealthy cattleman who sold
his stock that year and moved into town. Hooker built his home at the
corner of East and Madison and in the spacious grounds he planted
many orange trees. After the Civil War, when the home was converted
into a hotel, it was called the Orange Grove Hotel. Still later it was
used as an office building by the Tampa Northern Railroad. [t was
razed in 1945 and its heart pine lumber was still sound.

The ever popular ballad, “When You and I Were Young, Maggie,
was composed in the Hooker home by a guest, J. A. Butterfield, an
accomplished English musician who came to Tampa in 1858 and opened
an academy of music. Butterfield dedicated the song to Jane Kennedy,
daughter of Thomas Pugh and Adelaide (Christy) Kennedy, then a
leader in the musical life of Tampa.

The Englishman did more than compose a famous song while living
in Tampa. He also organized Tampa's first band at a meeting held in
his academy on March 31, 1860. Members of the band, ::allﬂ:l the
Tampa Brass Cornet Band, included John Darling, Henry L. Crane,
R. B. Thomas, T. W. Givens, James McKay, Jr., John A. McKay, L. A.
Masters, V. C. Leonardi, ]J. D. Haygood, Josiah Ferris, William Ferris,
Robert F. Nunez, J. ]J. Givens, W. C. Brown, J. H. Krause, John Crich-
ton, F. F. Andrew, Jr., and C. E. Spencer.

Musical instruments for members of the band were purchased
through the firm of W. G. Ferris and Co. at a cost of $170.11. From the
same firm, material for uniforms was obtained—thirty yards of scarlet
flannel and eight yards of gold lace. When the cloth and lace arrived,
the wives and sweethearts of the musicians were persuaded to make the
uniforms. White plumes to set off the hats were donated by one of
the members.

During May and June the band practiced long hours in a deserted
building in the garrison and the FLoripa PEnINsULAR plaintively re-
purted that “the weird noises which are wafting in on the cool evening
air perhaps may some day turn out to be excellent band music—but that
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15 hard to believe.” Under the skilled leadership of Bandmaster Butter-
lield, however, the band improved rapidly and by mid-July the
PENINSULAR declared that “Tampa can now boast of having the finest
band in all of Florida.”

Attired in their gaudy scarlet and gold uniforms, the band members
made their first public appearance on July 17 when they played at a
party given by Mrs. Porter at her School for Young Ladies. During the
remainder of the summer the band played at all sorts of gatherings and
for excursions of the Scoftish Chief on Tampa Bay. On August 14
it journeyed down to Manatee and gave the Manatee River people their
first band concert.

Late in the fall of 1860, Butterfield resigned from the band. By
then it was evident that a war between the North and the South was
certain and the Englishman, who had little sympathy with the insti-
tution of slavery, decided to go to a northern state before the conflict
started. But the band remained active for a year longer under the
leadership of young Henry L. Crane.

One of the biggest gatherings for which the band furnished music
occurred on July 18, 1860, when the town celebrated the arrival of the
sleek screw steamer Salvor, a former Great Lakes vessel, purchased in
New York by Capt. James McKay. A 450-ton, 161-foot long ship, the
Salvor was one of the finest vessels which ever plied West Coast waters
and Tampa was mighty proud of her. The steamer was soon placed in
service on the Key West-Havana run, leaving Tampa each Wednesday
and arriving in Havana two days later,

Captain McKay at that time practically monopolized water trans-
portation in the Tampa Bay area. His trim steamer, the Scottish Chief,
provided regular weekly service to Cedar Keys and also made excursions
on the bay. The captain also was the agent for the New Orleans and
Key West Steamship Line whose 1,000-ton steamers, Galveston and
Matagora, arrived from New Orleans on the 4th and 19th of each
month and from Havana and Key West on the 15th and 27th, leaving
the same days as they arrived. Because of shallow water close to town,
these steamers had to anchor off Ballast Point.

Captain McKay's activities in 1860 were not confined to looking
after his shipping interests and cattle trade. He served as mayor in
1859 and when he was succeeded in that office early in 1860 by Doctor
John P. Crichton he continued serving the city. Late that year he
endeavored to acquire, for Tampa, the property which had been
occupied since 1824 by the army—Fort Brooke.

Shortly after the end of the Third Seminole War in 1858, the last
troops had been withdrawn from the fort and on July 25, 1860, the Sec-
retary of War notified the Secretary of the Interior that the army was
ready to turn the property over to the Department of the Interior.
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Acting for the city, Captain McKay immediately tried to buy the land
and buildings but was advised that the government was not yet ready to
relinquish ownership. Determined to get some kind of a hold on the
property, McKay on November 27 asked the Secretary of the Interior if
he could rent it until the time came when the government would be
willing to sell. Six days later his request was approved. McKay im-
mediately posted a $1.000 bond as guarantee that the buildings would
be kept in good condition and on January 1, 1861, he took possession.

No mention of Captain McKay's rental of the garrison was made by
Editor Alfonso DeLaunay in the FLoripa PENiNsuLArR. That may have
been because too many columns of his paper were filled with advertising
to devote much space to news.

Most of the advertisements told of the quick and easy wealth which
could be had by buying lottery tickets. Seductive half-page ads were
paid for by the Georgia State Lottery of Savannah, Ga., conducted “in
the interests of Monticello Academy;” the Consolidated Lotteries, of
Macon, Ga., and the Single Number Lotteries, of Augusta, Ga., con-
ducted for the Sparta Academy. The Georgia State offered 25,828
prizes amounting to $366,040 weekly, with a capital prize of $60,000.
Tickets cost only $10 each. The Consolidated of Macon offered three
plans of investment: the Gity, the Havana, and the Combination. The
City Plan hung up a capital prize of $50,000 with tickets at a dollar each;
the Havana tempted with a capital prize of $70,000; and the Combi-
nation held out a $100,000 plum. A Combination ticket cost $16.
Sprinkled throughout other pages of the PEniNsuLAR were Help Wanted
ads asking for agents to sell the lottery tickets with big commissions
hinted. 'With all this advertising, it is easy to understand why Editor
DelLaunay preached no sermons in his paper about the evils of gambling.

A news story of early 1860 for which Editor DeLaunay managed
to devote two entire paragraphs told of the first hanging in the county of
which there is any record, on January 16, on the courthouse lawn. The
paper reported that George M. Buckley was hanged by the sheriff for
having killed his father-in-law a year before. And then as sort of an
afterthought, the PENinsuLar stated that after the legal execution a
young Negro, “owned by one Green,” who had been held as an accessory
to the crime, was taken out of the jail by a mob and hanged from the
same scaffold, even though the State Supreme Court had issued a writ
of error which would have necessitated a new trial. That was all Editor
DeLaunay had to say about the entire affair.

The story about the hanging did not even mention the name of
the sheriff, William 8. Spencer. Perhaps that may have been one of the
reasons why the owner of the paper, the sheniffl’s son, William J. Spencer,
soon afterward got another editor, Simon Turman, Jr., who had been
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part owner of the paper a short time before. Turman took charge on
March 24, 1860.

After leaving the PEnInsuLar, DeLaunay immediately started to
get backing for a new paper. O. C. Drew and S5t. John DeLaunay,
brother of Alfonso, advanced money and became publishers. The first
issue of the paper, called the Sunny SouTH, appeared January 29, 1861.

Thereafter Editors Turman and DeLaunay vied with each other
in denouncing the Republican party and President-elect Lincoln. Young
Turman was a native of Ohio but he was just as fiery a rebel as De-
Launay, a native Virginian, and was just as insistent that the South
should not permit itself to be “tramped under the feet of the insane
abolitionists of the North.” In a December, 1860, issue he told of
Tampa women appearing at a state’s rights meeting with blue cockades
in their hats, “a token,"” he said, “of resistance to abolition rule—an
appropriate, graceful little emblem that evinces the true spirit of the
wearers.”’

Editor Turman was not the only ex-Northerner who was in sym-
pathy with the Southern cause. Many others who had come to Hills-
borough County from northern states and from European countries
had become convinced that the economy of the South was completely
dependent upon the institution of slavery and that the cost of abolition
would be disaster. Consequently, they became staunch advocates of
secession when Lincoln was elected.

The Federal census of 1860 showed there were then 564 slaves in
the county and 2,415 white people. The Negroes comprised only 18
per cent of the population, a smaller percentage than in any other
county of Florida. But small though the percentage was, the slaves
represented a large part of the county’s wealth. On the county tax rolls
they had an assessed value of $200,035. They were actually valued at
more than §400,000, slaves then being worth an average of more than
$750 each. In other words, one able-bodied slave cost more than 600
acres of land, then valued at the preemption price of $1.25 an acre.

Slaves performed much of the heavy work done in the county. On
the plantations, they cleared the fields, dug ditches, and planted the
crops. In Tampa, they handled most of the arduous chores the whites
did not care to handle themselves. And almost every family of means
had at least one male slave to take care of the stables and work around
the grounds and at least one Negro woman to take care of the house.

Considering the value and usefulness of slaves, it is not surprising
that most of the white people of the county, even many of the native
Northerners, had little liking for abolitionists and no love whatever for
Abraham Lincoln.

On Sunday, January 13, 1861, the driver of the Gainesville stage-
coach brought in the momentous message that Florida had seceded from
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the Union three days before. Like wildfire the news spread through
the town. A crowd quickly gathered on the courthouse grounds.
Despite the fact that the day was Sunday, young men rushed to the fort
and fired the cannon again and again. Members of the Tampa Brass
Band hurriedly donned their uniforms and paraded up and down the
streets. And that evening, ministers prayed that Florida's leaders be
given divine guidance in this hour of peril.

A formal celebration was held at the courthouse on the following
Thursday night. Speech after speech was made by the town leaders,
music was furnished by the band, and a big fireworks display was held.

Immediately following Lincoln’s inaugural address, Colonel W, L.
Turner, commander of the 20th Regiment, Florida Militia, moved into
Fort Brooke with his staff officers and a company of men and took
possession. He announced that the militia from the counties of Hills-
borough, Polk and Manatee would comprise a battalion under the
command of Lieut. Col. John Parker and members of the battalion were
ordered to report at the fort on Saturday, April 21.

On March 9, 1861, a company of cavalry was organized at Alafia
with William B. Henderson as captain, Michael Alderman, first lieu-
tenant; William E. Seward, second lieutenant; and John Mobly, third
lieutenant.

“War is inevitable,” declared Editor Turman on March 16. “Mr.
Lincoln’s inaugural address cannot be regarded but as a declaration of
war. It is so received and welcomed by all portions of the South.
Southern patriots should not rejoice at the prospect—nor should they
shrink from the maintenance of their rights in consequence of its awful
prospect. If we are not prepared now to establish and maintain our
freedom, time will not gain us strength; and if through a lack of
patriotism we miss the goal of Southern independence, the sooner we
submit to the condition of serfdom the less galling will be our chains.
[f war must follow secession, the sooner it is inaugurated the better for
the South. When the first blow is struck, the border States will take
position with their Sisters who have abandoned the Old Union and
then will the Confederate States of America be impregnable. Lincoln
may back down from his position but we have no idea such will be the
case until he has smelled Southern powder.”

Less than a month later, on Apmnl 12, the “damned Yankees"”
smelled their first powder when the Confederates fired on Fort Sumter.
The War Between the States had started. News of the capture of the fort
was recelved 1n Tampa five days later and caused another celebration.
Bells were rung, the cannon at Fort Brooke were fired, the band played
in the courthouse square, and, by order of Mayor Hamlin V. Snell, all
homes were ordered “illuminated” for an hour in the evening.
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The Sunny South Guards, a local company organized by Capt.
John T. Lesley, was mustered into service in September. The soldiers
trained all during the autumn and winter at the garrison and often
paraded at night by torch light through Tampa streets. The Guards
left in April and were distributed in various units in Virginia and
Tennessee, many going to Company K, 4th Flonda Infantry. During
the following year, many more Hillsborough County youths answered
the call to arms. The ranks of the Tampa Brass Band became so de-
pleted that it disbanded, late in November, never to be reorganized.

The first blow sutfered by any Tampa citizen as a result of the war
was dealt to Captain James McKay on October 31, 1861, when his
steamer Salvor was captured by the U. S. S. Keystone State, commanded
by G. H. Scott, off the southwest coast of Florida. On board the ship
McKay had 2,000 sacks of coffee, 400,000 cigars, 400 revolvers, a large
number of rifles, 500,000 percussion caps, and many boxes of clothing.
McKay vigorously protested the capture, declaring that the ship had
been sold at Havana to British interests and was being taken to Nassau
for delivery. And he pointed to the fact that the Salvor was flying the
Brituish flag from its masthead. He said the only reason he had come
close to the Florida coast was that he wanted to put his Negro slaves
ashore—had he taken them to Nassau, he declared, they would have
become free.

Phate Cowrtery &) Fred Fletehear
This is the famous street railway which provided transportation between downtown Tampa and
Yhor City in 1886, The engine was an lmported wood burner; coaches were made in Lampa,
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Commander Scott of the Federal ship inspected McKay's cargo and,
after noting the nature of the contents, chose to disbelieve the captain's
story. The Salvor was sent to New York where it was condemned by an
admiralty court and sold. The Negro slaves who had served as members
of the crew were set free. Captain McKay and his son Donald, who also
was aboard the ship, were imprisoned. But McKay's defense was strong
enough to cause his case to be reviewed by Lincoln and both the father
and son were set free after five months. The captain’s loss of ship,
cargo and slaves was estimated at $70,000.

While Captain McKay was in prison, blockade running was con-
tinued by other Tampa Bay seamen including Capt. Frederick Tresca
and Capt. John W. Curry. It was a fine business—when the ships were
not captured. Huge profits could be made at both ends of the hazardous
journey through the Union blockade.

Because of the blockade, large stocks of cotton, naval stores and
other products not needed by the Confederate armies, soon piled up in
Florida. Normally, they would have been sold to the North or to foreign
countries. With the blockade established, they became a drug on the
market. But, delivered in Havana or Nassau by blockade runners, they
could be sold readily at constantly zooming prices. Many thousands of
dollars profit could be made from the cargo of even a small sloop,

On the return trip, the runner made another handsome profit by
bringing in a cargo of clothing, medicines, white flour, powder, cigars,
coffee, and countless other items not produced in Florida. Inasmuch as
the stock in all the stores was sold out soon after the war started, every-
thing which was brought in could be sold quickly at sky-high prices.

Naval records show that Tampa Bay was first blockaded in
November, 1861, by a small squadron of barks and schooners com-
manded by Lieut. Com. William B. Eaton. On January 18, 1862, he
reported the capture of the Olive Branch with a cargo of 160 barrels of
turpentine valued at $11,000. Soon afterward Eaton also captured the
15-ton sloop Mary Nevis owned by Capt. Archibald McNeill which had
been carrying the mail between Tampa and Manatee. The captain
jumped overboard, swam ashore and escaped. Soon afterward he took
a hand in blockade runming.

A land base for the blockading squadron was established on Egmont
Key and several buildings were erected close to the lighthouse. The base
also served as a refugee camp. Many northern sympathizers who sought
to escape from the land of the “rebels” fled to the key and lived there
until ships were available to take them to Key West and the North.
Egmont also was a haven for Negro slaves who escaped from plan-
tations. Old records indicate that as many as two hundred Negroes
were on the key at one time during 1863.

Early in February, 1862, members of the blockading squadron
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landed at Big Bayou, on Pinellas Peninsula, and destroyed the home of
Abel Miranda, one of the first settlers in that locality.

Strangely enough, Miranda's home was the only one destroyed by
the Union men in the Tampa Bay area, so far as can be learned. Several
reasons have been advanced for the Federals' action. One explanation
was that Miranda had been an active blockade runner and that the
Union men burned his home to put him out of business. Another ex-
planation, given by Miranda’s Negro servant many years later, was that
Miranda and several other red-hot rebels had dressed as Negro women
and enticed some Federal soldiers ashore and killed them. To get
revenge, some of the soldiers’ friends came ashore to capture Miranda
and string him up, and when they could not find him, they burned his
home to the ground.

During the winter of 1861-62 the officers and men in the blockad-
ing squadron had little to keep themselves busy and became restless.
They wanted action — and urged Commander Eaton to capture Fort
Brooke and Tampa. Neither place was of strategic importance but, to
satisfy his men, Eaton proceeded up the bay in the U. S. Schooner
Beuregard and anchored behind Big Island, out of range of the obsolete
“Indian warfare cannon” in the fort. Then, on Aprl 13, Eaton sent
the following message to Major R. B. Thomas, Confederate commander
at Fort Brooke:

“Sirs: I demand in the name of the United States the uncon-
ditional surrender of the town of Tampa, Florida, together with all the
munitions of war and ordnance stores contained therein. If these terms
are not complied with 1 will give you twenty-four hours to remove all
the women and children to a proper distance and then bombard the
town. [ have the honor to be your obedient servant, William B. Eaton,
Lieut. Com."”

Major Thomas immediately replied, stating that he could not
accept the proposition of surrendering but agreeing “for the sake of
humanity” to remove the women and children.

After waiting a few days to give Thomas a chance to change his
mind, Eaton “bombarded” the town as he had threatened. A cannon
ball hit the gable end of the courthouse and went through the building.
Another hit the home of R. M. Duke at Jackson and Franklin, went
through the front window, smashed a mirror and dropped on the
kitchen floor. A few more balls landed in the garrison and in town but
did little damage.

Despite the mildness of the bombardment, Major Thomas was
infuriated. He sent a savage message to Eaton bitterly denouncing him
for so brutally attacking a completely defenseless town, endangering
the lives of scores of non-combatants.
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Upon receiving the message, Eaton was stricken with remorse and
he apologetically replied: “Sirs: I regret that my design of com-
mencing an attack on Tampa did not meet with your approval, but I
would say in justification of my course that the threat to bombard the
town was an inadvertence and should have read “fort’ or ‘battery’ which
however laid directly in front of and afforded protection to the town.
I have the best information from parties who had but a short time
before been there and made their escape that the women and children
had all been removed from the town and that most if not all of the
property holders were strong secessionists. You will, I have no doubt,
overlook the error in judgment which [ made on taking into considera-
tion the fact that I have been here with my vessel nearly six months and
after a short period of inaction I was naturally anxious to give my officers
and men an opportunity to show their mettle and afford them the
chance which they so desired of doing something, if ever so little, toward
crippling the enemy. Very respectfully, W. B. Eaton, Lieut. Com.”

To show that he was truly sorry for having caused Tampa alarm,
Commander Eaton departed with his Beuregard and more than a year
elapsed before Tampa was shelled again.

At the time of the bombardment, Tampa was under military
control, Major Thomas having taken complete charge of the city in the
name of the Provincial Army of the Confederacy. An election had
been held on February 3 in which John Jackson had been re-elected
mayor, but when Thomas arrived on February 22, Mayor Jackson and
the council members resigned, perhaps at the major’s request, and
municipal government was suspended.

The need for city officials no longer was great. Tampa had become
almost a ghost town. Nearly everyone who was financially able had
moved to the interior, fearing the city soon would be captured by the
Federals. Many settled in the rural communities of Alafia, Keystone
and Cork, To the latter place, located about four miles north of the
present Plant City, all the county records were taken for safekeeping.

Business activities in Tampa had practically ceased. Merchandise
in most of the stores had either been sold or confiscated by the Conted-
erate Army.

Two of the town’s leading merchants turned to blockade running
after their stocks of merchandise had been exhausted. They were Chris-
topher L. Friebele and E. A. Clarke, brothers-in-law. Friebele, a native
of Germany, had come to Tampa in 1848 and opened a general store.
On January 8, 1852, he was married to Julia A. Wall, daughter of Perry
G. and Nancy (Hunter) Wall, then living near Brooksville, Clarke, a
native of Cornwall-on-the-Hudson, New York, came to Tampa in the
early 1850s and also opened a general store, the “Blue Store.” A few
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vears later he met and fell in love with a sister of Mrs. Friebele, Sarah
L. Wall. They were married on May 31, 1860.

Late in 1862 Friebele and Clarke formed a partnership with three
other men to finance blockade running expeditions. The ather partners
were Major Aaron T. Frierson, S. G. Frierson and Samuel A. Swann.
Major Frierson was related to both Friebele and Clarke by marriage,
having married another Wall girl, Mary M.

Records left by Swann, who later became one of the leading land
operators in Florida, show that the combine started its blockade run-
ning activities in January, 1863. The partners purchased the sloop
Elias Bechwith for $400, outfitted it at a cost of $706.10 and secured a
cargo of cotton for $7,000. The ship reached Havana where the cotton
was sold at a “handsome profit,” just how much was not stated. On the
return trip the ship brought in a varied cargo consisting of muslin,
linens, shaving cream, hairpins, starch, quinine, shirt buttons, combs
Morocco gaiters, “"and a $12.50 toupee for Dr. W. H. Stringfellow.”

Swann's records show that in March, 1863, the partners purchased
another vessel, the Maria, and that both ships were then used to run the
blockade. The documents left by Swann indicate that he sold his in-
terest in the combine some time in the summer of 1863 and there is no
way of knowing how long the others continued in operation. There
1s reason to believe, however, that the blockade running was most profita-
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Phote Courtesy of Burgerr Hros,
Franklin street looking north from Washington in 1893, The threestory brick building, the first
erected in Tampa, was the Almeria Hotel, built by Dr, Howell T. Lykes. On the opposite side of
the strcet was the first home of the Tamea TrisUNE. The electric light and telephone poles and
the street cars, which had just started running, gave Tampa a big city appearance.
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ble for all concerned nasmuch as Clarke and Friebele were two of the
wealthiest men in Tampa when the war ended. And so was Judge Perry
G. Wall, the father of their wives, Possibly he was a silent partner in the
blockade running activities. Late in the war, Clarke and Fricbele were
captured at Anclote Key and held prisoners until hostilities ceased.

Another less fortunate but more famous blockade runner was
Captain James McKay. When he regained his freedom five months
after his Salvor was captured, McKay put his Scottish Chief in operation.
Moving only on the darkest nights and not permitting his crew even to
light their pipes, the captain slipped six times past the watchful eyes of
the blockaders. Sometimes he carried cattle which he sold in Havana;
more often he carried cotton, which was easier to handle and more
profitable. On his return trips, he brought all the commodities which
the hard-pressed civilians so badly needed.

In the fall of 1863, Captain McKay took the Scottish Chief up the
Hillsborough River to be cleaned of barnacles and to take on another
load of cotton. Northern sympathizers informed naval officials at Key
West of the location of the famous ship and on October 12, the U. S.
Gunboat Tahoma, commanded by Lieut. Com. Semmes, was sent out to
find the ship and destroy her. The acting master’s mate on the Tahoma
was a man well known in Tampa, former Colonel Henry A. Crane, a
veteran of the Seminole War who had worked for a number of years on
the FLoripa PENINsULAR. A native of New Jersey, he had no sympathy
for the rebel cause and when the war started he left Tampa, went across
the state, joined the United States Navy and aided in the blockade of the
Indian River. His oldest son. Henry L. Crane, had also worked in the
PeninsuLAR's printing plant. He enlisted in the Confederate Army
and in 1863 was stationed in Tampa as a quartermaster clerk.

At Egmont Key, Commander Semmes contacted the U. §. §. Adela
and the next morning, October 14, the two ships proceeded up the
bay. On the 17th, they bombarded Tampa. According to an official
report, ‘‘the Tahoma fired 1ts pivot and twenty pound parrots and the
Adela, of lighter draft, ran up near the works and threw shell after shell
into the battery, barracks and adjoining buildings. The shells from
both vessels made direct hits and splinters flew, driving the soldiers from
the works and the civilians from the town.”

After dark a force of 85 men from both ships went down the bay
and landed at 10 p. m. at Gadsden Point. They then marched northward
and just at daybreak arrived at a cove in the Hillshorough River, six
miles above Tampa, where they found the Scottish Chief and the sloop
Kate Dale. The steamer had 156 bales of cotton on board and the
sloop 11 bales. The crews surrendered without a fight and the vessels
were destroyed by fire.
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After accomplishing their object, the Federals headed back to
Gadsden Point. By this time some of the soldiers were so exhausted
that they had to be carried. When within a mile of the beach small
squads of rebel troops began appearing, dodging about in the scrub. At
first they were driven off but when the Union men began wading out
to their boats, the concealed enemy started firing from ambush and a
squad of cavalrymen came charging up the beach. The attack was
beaten off, however, when Captain Stodder of the Adela opened fire
with his cannon. Shell burst among the horsemen and they were com-
pelled to retreat.

In this skirmish, the only one fought in the Tampa area during the
entire war, three Federals were killed, twelve wounded and three taken
prisoners. Six Confederates were killed, an unknown number wounded
and seven captured.

Later it was learned by the Federals that most of the rebels who
had engaged in the [lighting were members of a Confederate cavalry
unit which had been roaming about the country to round up cattle for
Bragg's army. By chance they arrived at Tampa on the day of the
bombardment and the next day eagerly took a hand in the engagement.
The light field piece they used had been made in Tampa by boring out
an engine shaft. They also made their own shells, In place of balls
they used large buckshot or slugs, wrapped in cloth. Some of the Fed-
erals were wounded with these makeshift bullets. Doctor Cale of the
Adela took from one of the injured men a homemade lead ball weigh-
ing four ounces.

At the time of the attack, the fort was commanded by Capt. James
Westcott, formerly of the United States army and a representative in
Congress from Florida. He told the Federal officers that “'since your
men who died on shore fought so bravely, we intend to give them the
best funeral that we can.” The men on the Adela raised a purse of $108
to send to one of their men, Donoly, who had been captured by the
Confederates, “to pay his way in Dixie.” '

Old timers later said that before the bombardment started on the
17th, Acting Master's Mate Crane sent word ashore and demanded the
surrender of his son “so that the damned rebel could be hanged from
the smokestack of the Tahoma." Young Crane is said to'have answered
back that if he ever laid hands on his father he would see to it that-he
would be hung from the highest oak in the courthouse square. '

Before the Federals left Tampa Bay Commodore Semmes sent a
crew of men to Frazier's Beach at thehead of Old Tampa Bay to.destroy
a large salt works owned by Captain McKay. The works had béen in
operation since shortly after the war started. Salt was obtained . by
‘boiling sea water and the “plant” was equipped with large boilers, giant
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kettles, vats and barrels. Destruction of the works was a heavy blow
to Tampa.

A few months later another force of Federals landed at Frazier's
Beach to see whether the salt works had been put back into operation.
Joseph Robles is reported to have seen the Federals approaching while
on patrol duty. He hid in one of the ruined boilers and when the
soldiers approached, let fire with his heavy fowling piece. Several of the
men were injured. The others, not knowing how many rebels were
hidden in the ruins, threw up their arms and surrendered. Robles then
marched eight of them back into Tampa as his prisoners.

After the destruction of the Scottish Chief and Kate Dale, Captain
McKay did no more blockade running. From that time until the end
of the war he spent his entire time obtaining vitally needed supplies for
the Confederate armies, being made head of the Fifth Commissary Dis-
trict. His main job was supplying cattle, required not only for the
meat but for tallow and hides as well.

During the first two years of the war cattle had been supplied to
the armies at the rate of about 600 head a week by Jacob Summerlin,
one of the largest cattle owners of the state, who was paid $8 each. The
animals were rounded up all through the northern half of the pen-
insula and driven overland to Baldwin, near the Georgia border. By
the fall of 1863, more cattle were needed than Summerlin could supply
and his contract was cancelled. McKay then took over the assignment.

The captain’s task was not easy. Some of the largest herds were
owned by Federal sympathizers who had no desire to sell to the Confed-
eracy. Other herds were owned by lukewarm rebels who had sold
willingly when Confederate money had real value but who lost some of
their patriotism when the money began depreciating. Not desiring to
be caught at the end of the war with a lot of useless paper, they drove
their cattle far down the Myakka valley, into the plains southeast of
Charlotte Harbor, and far down the Kissimmee River, into regions
where they could be rounded up only with the utmost difficulcy.

The Federals added to McKay's worries by reoccupying Fort
Myers, abandoned shortly after the close of the Third Seminole War
in 1858. From Fort Myers, expeditions were sent by the Federals on
cattle raids as far north as the Fort Meade region. Animals rounded
up were driven to Fort Myers and Punta Rassa and from those points
shipped to Key West. Many Union sympathizers and lukewarm rebels
really sold their cattle to the “raiders” and then, after they had been
driven away, reported to the Confederates that the animals had been
“stolen.” Fort Myers became a painful thorn in the captain’s side.

. ... In an effort to remove. the thorn, McKay played a leading part in
the organization late in 1864 of the Cattle Guard Eattalmn, often
facetiously called the Cow Guard Battalion: A-force of 275 men from
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this battalion commanded by Major William Footman approached Fort
Myers on February 21, 1865, and demanded its surrender. His demand
ignored, the major opened fire with his one piece of field artillery.
All day long the “attack” continued. By nightfall the major concluded
that the fort could not be captured as easily as expected and withdrew.
He succeeded only in capturing a couple of pickets and a few horses.
The attack served one good purpose, however. It showed the Federals
that they now were opposed by a large, well organized force and there-
after few raids were made in the cattle country.

Despite all the obstacles which confronted Captain McKay, he and
his men managed to keep a steady stream of cattle moving northward to
the Confederate armies until almost the end of the war and was re-
peatedly praised for his efforts by army leaders. :

Fort Brooke suffered a death blow so far as effectiveness was con-
cerned on Friday, May 6, 1864. Two days before, the troops in the
garrison left on a cattle drive near Fort Meade and word of their de-
parture was hurriedly taken by a Union sympathizer to Egmont Key.
Brig. Gen. Woodbury immediately came up the bay in the Adela and
captured the unprotected fort. The larger cannon were spiked and the
small ones taken away. Machine shops were destroyed. Fifty bales of
cotton in Kennedy & Darling’s warchouse were seized and so was a quan-
tity of mail. Old records indicate that a number of citizens were
arrested, but their names are not recorded.

Alter the Federals occupied the fort they marched through the
streets, whistling and singing Union war songs to tantalize the rebels.
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Looking east on Lafayette from just south of Franklin in 1896, shorily after the completion of the
Hendry & Knight building shown in the center. Tibbett's Corner is shown at the cxtreme right.
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When Darwin B. Givens saw them coming toward him he ran home
and screamed to his parents that “the devils are coming.” But about
the only devilish thing done by the Yankees was to steal the parapher-
nalia and insignia of the Masons and Odd Fellows from the Masonic
Hall. When they left Tampa the next day they took the booty with
them. Union Army officers who were Masons discovered the loot in
Key West a year later and returned it to Tampa. In the meantime the
Masons could not conduct their meetings without their “working
tools.” So John T. Givens, a skilled carpenter, turned out a homemade
set, including compasses and trowel.

When Capt. James Westcott returned with his Confederate soldiers
and saw the damage done to the fort, he decided it would be folly to try
to man it any longer. Four days later, on May 12, he departed with
his troops and on May 15th the Federals again came in, the force being
commanded by Capt. D. B. Westbury. They remained a month and
then left, the officers deciding that the town had no military importance,

The Federals dealt the Manatee River section a stunning blow on
August 3, 1864. Capt. Theodore P. Green, then commanding the
blockading squadron in Tampa Bay, was informed that a large sugar
mill owned by President Jeff Davis of the Confederacy was located on
the river and that it was turning out 1500 hogshead of sugar a year for
the Confederate army. Not bothering to check the report, he took a
force of men and went up the river to the Gamble plantation, one of
the new owners of which was Robert M. Davis of Louisiana, no relation
of Jeff Davis. Loaded shells were placed in the boilers and engines of
the refinery and scattered throughout the building. The huge structure
was then set alire. The shells exploded and the refinery was com-
pletely destroyed. No harm was done, however, to the Gamble Mansion,
then occupied by Capt. Archibald McNeill and his family. Before the
Yankees departed they also destroyed a large grist mill on the south
side of the river owned by Josiah Gates, John Curry and Ezekiel Glazier,
This was a greater blow to the community than the destruction of the
refinery as all the families in Manatee were dependent upon it for their
grits and corn meal.

A noted Confederate came to the Tampa Bay region late in May,
1865, shortly after the war ended. His name was Judah P. Benjamin.
He was fleeing for his life. A $40,000 price was on his head, dead or
alive, He was known as “the brains of the Confederacy” and had served
in President Davis’ cabinet, first as attorney general, then as secretary
of war.and later as secretary of state.

- Benjamin had parted from President Davis in Georgia on May 2,
1865 .and headed for Florida. Disguised as a farmer and helped by
loyal Confederates, he reached Brooksville late in the month and was
hiddén-for several days in the homes of Yankee-haters. He was then



Waen THE NAaTion Was Divinen 149

taken by Capt. James McKay and Capt. L. G, Lesley to the Gamble
Mansion on the Manatee where Captain McNeill assigned him a large
second-story room overlooking the river. There Benjamin hid. He was
almost caught one day by a squad of Union men but managed to flee to
the woods and escape detection.

The Yankees had confiscated practically all the rebel owned boats
on the West Coast and weeks passed before Capt. Frederick Tresca,
acting for Benjamin, succeeded in buying a 16-foot yawl in Clearwater.
The boat was taken to Sarasota Bay, near the home of William Whitaker,
and from that point Benjamin fled from America on June 23. Tresca
took him to Nassau, being paid fifteen hundred dollars in gold. How
much gold Benjamin took into exile has never been revealed. From
Nassau, he sailed to London where he soon became a member of the
Queen's counsel.

On his return to Manatee, Tresca said that Benjamin had had a
narrow escape near Charlotte Harbor. A Federal gunboat stopped the
yawl, he said, and Yankee sailors came aboard. They found Benjamin
in cook’s cap and apron stirring the charcoal embers in the sandbox.
His face was streaked with grease and dirt. The sailors failed to recog-
nize him but one remarked: “I'll be damned if I ever saw a Jew cook
working on a fishing boat till now."”

In Nassau, Tresca purchased a boatload of merchandise with part of
the gold Benjamin had paid him. His heaviest purchases were English
calicoes, bolt after bolt, and most of it purple, his favorite color. Old
timers related that for many years thereafter, almost every woman and
child in the Manatee section had at least one purple calico dress.

Captain Tresca was one of the very few persons in the Tampa Bay
region who had any “hard money” during the gloomy days after the
war ended. Many who had been well off before the conflict started
now were desperately poor, their slaves being now freed and their Con-
federate money being worthless. County officials found it impossible
to take care of all the tamilies of soldiers who had been killed or
wounded or had not yet returned from service. During 1864, when
Confederate currency still had some value, the county had spent
$10,355.66 for reliel; in 1865 the county had no money for anything
and many families suffered acutely.

The future looked dismal and dark for Tampa and Hillsborough
County. Better days were ahead — but they were a long time coming.

g



CHAPTER VI
WHEN TAMPA SLIPPED BACKWARD

AMPA WAS PARALYZED at the close of the War Between the States. It
’_[r was almost a ghost town. More than half the inhabitants had gone

into the country to live with relatives or friends to escape the
“damned Yankees” and to get enough to eat. They did not hasten to
return because the food problem remained acute for months after
hostilities ceased.

Many former citizens never came back — Union sympathizers who
had gone North by way of the refugee camps on Egmont Key and Key
West and the loyal Southerners who had joined the Confederate army
and made the supreme sacrifice for the South. Members of the former
group were not missed; the others were deeply mourned. Soldiers who
had escaped death on the battlefield or from disease returned home a
few at a time, bedraggled and discouraged, many sick and feeble, with-
out money to make a new start in life.

Only one business establishment remained open throughout the
war. That was the apothecary’s shop of Dr. Franklin Branch. His
stock of priceless drugs and herbs was valueless to those who did not
know how to fill prescriptions and consequently it had not been looted
by the Yankees. Besides, even the Federals found it convenient to have
a drugstore 1n operation.

All the general stores were closed and boarded up when General
Lee surrendered. The firm of Kennedy & Darling had continued in
operation during the first three years of the war but the Yankees cleaned
the shelves of everything worth taking when they invaded the town on
May 6, 1864, and the store owners sadly closed up shop for the duration.
All the other stores had been forced to close months earlier because they
had nothing left to sell.

Arrival of Federal occupation troops on July 15, 1865, brought
fresh disaster to Capt. James McKay. During the war he had lost
heavily when his blockade-running ships were captured or destroyed.
When the war ended he used much of his remaining money to buy
cotton, planning to ship it out as soon as trade conditions became
normal. He stored it in a large government warehouse just south of
the present Platt Street bridge. By the time the soldiers of occupation
arrived, the warehouse was filled to the rafters —and the Yankees
“liberated’” every bale for their own profit. Captain McKay was never
reimbursed.

Not everyone suffered, however, through the arrival of the soldiers.
The Yankee greenbacks they brought in helped more than a little to
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restore life to the community. Some of the first to profit were gambling
hall proprietors and the owners of the Dew Drop Exchange at Wash-
ington and Tampa who had quickly stocked their establishment with a
tempting array of choice wines and liquors brought in from Cuba.
Others who prospered were young Negro women of easy morals who
“went into business” and opened bawdy houses close by the garrison.
In a short time they began parading through the streets dressed in fine
clothes, much to the disgust of the good people of the town.

Much of the Yankee money, of course, went into legitimate chan-
nels of trade, paying for meat and fresh produce and other supplies, and
helped to revive business activities.

The first store established after the war was opened by Samuel
Mitchell, son of Thomas and Elizabeth (Starns) Mitchell, who had come
to Hillsborough County in 1846. He had become a cattleman and
during the war had managed to ship enough steers through the blockade
to amass a nice hoard of Spanish doubloons. When the Federals re-
occupied Fort Brooke, he used some of his Spanish gold to go into
business, laying in “‘a fine lot of corn, flour, bacon, pickle-pork, whiskey,
oats, bran, etc., also a fine lot of shoes and dry goods.” He sold beef
wholesale to the garrison and also feed for the army mules.

Another cattleman who seized the opportunity and opened a store
to sell to the army, as well as the public, was William B. Henderson,
the oldest son of Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Henderson who came to Tampa
in 1846 from north Georgia. In 1851, when he was twelve years old,
his father died and he took a job in Kennedy & Darling’s store to help
support his mother and four younger brothers. On February 6, 1860,
he was married to Miss Caroline Elizabeth Spencer. Soon afterward he
bought a small farm on the Alafia River. When the war started he
enlisted in the Confederate army and served until he became ill with
tuberculosis and was given a medical discharge. Returning home, he
engaged in the cattle business and prospered. After he opened his
Tampa store, he was even more successful. He became one of the
wealthiest men 1in Tampa, as well as one of the most respected.

Before-the-war merchants did not succeed in getting back into
business until more than a year after the war ended. Philip White
reopened in May, 1866, in his old stand at Washington and Marion.
In September, stocks of goods were received by Kennedy & Darling and
J. S. Redbrook, enabling them to start up again. On November 10,
stores were re-established by Christopher L. Friebele and Edward A.
Clarke, two pioneer merchants who had turned their hands at blockade
running and were reported to have prospered. Two weeks later, stores
were reopened by two more old timers, John Jackson and Louis
Covacevich, who had come to Tampa back in the 1840s.
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‘The reopening of these stores did not mean, however, that Tampa's
pre-war prosperity had returned. It definitely had not. Relatively
few people had “hard money’” or Yankee greenbacks and the stores had
to operate on a barter basis, exchanging their goods for cotton, hides,
beeswax, honey, tallow or anything else the farmers could supply and
they could export. Most of the stores operated on a hand-to-mouth
basis, carrying small stocks. In March, 1867, the supply of provisions
in all the stores became exhausted. Consequently, the PENINSULAR
declared that a ““great calamity” had befallen the town when on April 2,
the schooner fames E. Price loaded with provisions for all the stores, was
wrecked on Mullet Key and the cargo lost. “Many families are out of
food,” the paper said. “We hope our merchants remedy the situation
by chartering a schooner and dispatching her as soon as possible or else
much suffering will inevitably result.”

Tampa undoubtedly would have recovered much more quickly
from the war than it did if it had had a railroad. But it did not. The
nearest railroad was at Cedar Key, twenty hours up the coast by steamer,
where the Florida Railroad began its meandering way northeastward
to Fernandina. This was the road Senator David Levy Yulee was
supposed to have built to Tampa Bay but shunted to Cedar Key instead
because he owned vast tracts of land 1n that area.

The Florida Railroad was completed to Cedar Key in April, 1861,
just when the war started. Federal raiders soon landed and put it out
of business. After the war ended, the line was quickly repaired and
trains started running again. Cedar Key became the transportation
and distribution center for the entire West Coast. It prospered while
Tampa stagnated. Proof of this stagnation is furnished by Federal
census records. In 1860, the white people living in Tampa totalled
885, as shown by counting names on the record sheets. In 1870, the
census bureau reported that Tampa's population had slumped to 796,
white and colored. During the following decade, the drop continued,
the 1880 census showing a population of only 720.

Tampa’s loss of population was caused not only by lack of a rail-
road but by disease as well. The town was plagued by malaria and
dengue or “breakbone fever” and occasionally was scourged by epi-
demics of the dreaded yellow fever. During such epidemics, every
one who could do so fled from the city and went to neighboring com-
munities or camped in the woods,

The Tampa Bay region sullered a severe yellow fever epidemic
during the late summer of 1867. State records say it was brought in
by Captain McKay's steamer Southern Star, then commanded by Capt.
Archibald McNeill. While the steamer was returning from Key West
where it had taken a load of cattle, the engineer, Fred Green, was
stricken. To get help, Captain McNeill pulled in at Manatee. Dr.
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J. C. Pelot had the sick man taken to his office. Two hours later, Green
died. Captain McNeill proceeded to Tampa with his ship. On July
31, Donald McKay was stricken. But Dr. Franklin Branch insisted he
did not have yellow fever; the physician said his patient just had
“malignant fever.” His diagnosis scemed to be confirmed when Mec-
Kay recovered, five days later. But in less than two weeks, more than a
score of others became seriously ill. By that time there was no doubt
about the nature of the disease — it was yellow fever unquestionably,
Records show that 65 cases were reported before the epidemic ended
and that 15 died. An epidemic also occurred at Manatee but the
number of cases there is not recorded.

Another epidemic occurred during the summer of 1871. This time
the disease was brought in by the steamer H. M. Cool from Cedar Keys.
The cabin boy, mortally ill, was taken ashore and treated by Doctor
John P. Wall who even then was recognized as one of the foremost
physicians in Florida. A few days later the doctor was stricken. He
was nursed to recovery by his wife, Pressie. He had just gotten well
when she became ill. Everything possible was done for her but she
died, on September 6, 1871.

Grief stricken, Dr. Wall thereafter devoted much of his time to a
study of yellow fever, trying to learn how it was communicated from
one person to another. He hnally became convinced that the disease
was carried by mosquitoes. But his theory was ridiculed by the public
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Many old timers remember this magnificent double-deck street car run by the Tampa Suburban
to Ballast Point back in the Gay Nineties. At that time, and for many years thercafter. Ballast
Point was Tampa's favorite amusement place.
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and even by fellow members of his profession. Unfortunately, Dr.
Wall did not live long enough to see his theory proved correct. He
died in Gainesville April 18, 1895, while addressing members of the
Florida Medical Association,

Dr. Wall was the second son of Perry G. and Nancy (Hunter)
Wall. He was born in Jasper, Fla., September 17, 1836. He received
his degree as a physician shortly before the Civil War and during the
conflict served in a military hospital in Richmond, Va. After the war,
he came to Tampa to practice and became one of the city's most re-
spected and beloved citizens. He held many public offices and served
for several years as editor of the SunvLanD TriBUNE. His home, located
on Florida between Lafayette and Madison, was the scene of many social
gatherings.

If Dr. Wall’s mosquito theory would have been accepted, and steps
taken to eradicate the pests, Tampa undoubtedly would have pro-
gressed much more rapidly than it did. During the rainy season, the
town literally swarmed with mosquitoes and the community continued
to be plagued by malaria and dengue fever. However, Dr. Wall did
manage to keep the city free from yellow fever for nearly two decades.
Appointed health officer, he put rigid quarantine regulations into effect
and no person was allowed to come into the city if he was suspected of
having the dreaded disease. As a result, no epidemics occurred.

Tampa was afflicted with something less deadly than yellow fever
but almost as obnoxious after the end of the war — wandering, ram-
paging Negroes. Freed from slavery, they came in from the plantations
and paraded their “equality’” by swaggering through the streets, often
pushing white men and women from the sidewalks. They refused to
work but they needed money for whiskey. They got it by breaking
into stores and homes, often in broad daylight. Said the PEnINsULAR
on June 23, 1866: “Our families cannot even go to church without
leaving someone at home lest on our return we find our places robbed.”

The trouble-making, thieving Negroes could not be curbed by the
sheriff because there was no court in which they could be prosecuted —
the offices of judge of the criminal court and prosecuting attorney had
been abolished to save expense,

To correct the situation, the people decided that the city govern-
ment would have to be revived. This was done in October, 1866,
E. A. Clarke was elected mayor and Dr. L. A, Lively, R. F. Nunez,
Josiah Ferris and B. C. I.eonardi, councilmen. One of the first actions
taken by the city officials was to appoint John G. Robles marshal with
instructions to “get tough.” Robles did, and the trouble caused by
Negroes soon abated. To get money to pay the marshal and meet other
city expenses, occupational taxes were levied.
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The levying of these taxes did not meet with public approval, due
to the hard times. Many objections were raised. And the storm of
protest increased in intensity two years later when real estate taxes were
considered. The people of Tampa then decided they could no longer
afford the luxury of a city government. Consequently, a “no cor-
poration” slate of officials, pledged to discontinue the government until
better times returned, was elected in March, 1869, by a large majority.
John T. Lesley was elected mayor and John F. Fletcher, Lawrence A.
Masters, John A. McKay, James Williams and Cyrus Charles, council-
men. True to their word, they did not hold meetings and the City of
Tampa ceased to be. On Dctﬂber 4, 1869, the county commissioners
decreed that ““as the City of Tampa has forfeited its charter, all property
of the city shall be taken over by the county clerk.”

The county alse had trouble about taxes. Money came in so
slowly that more than a year passed before enough was taken in to
make urgent repairs to the county courthouse —rebuild the gable
which had been shattered by a Yankee cannon ball and replace shattered
windows and a badly leaking roof.

Largely because its white inhabitants outnumbered the newly-
enfranchised Negroes better than five to one, Hillsborough County did
not suffer from Negro supremacy or carpetbag rule during recon-
struction days. Two companies of Negro soldiers were stationed for a
short time at Fort Brooke but when they became overbearing and white
citizens complained, they were quickly withdrawn and replaced by
white troops. In 1867 a Freedmen’s Bureau Court was established in
Tampa to hear complaints of Union sympathizers who had fled during
war years and whose property had been taken by loyal Confederates
but, so far as can be learned, none of the complainants recovered
damages. On August 16, 1869, the period of military rule ended, the
last Federal troops being withdrawn from Fort Brooke. Thereafter,
Tampa and Hillsborough County were left free to work out their
problems by themselves.

The only misery suffered by Tampa during the reconstruction
period came from putting up with a native-born Southerner who turned
“black Republican” after the war ended. He was James T. Magbee.

Born in Georgia in 1820, Magbee became a lawyer and came to
Tampa in the late 1840s. Well to do, he took a prominent place in the
community and was well liked. During the war, he served in the Con-
federate army. When the war ended he returned to Tampa to resume
his law practice. For reasons unknown, he became a Republican—an
ardent Republican. He won such favor at Tallahassee that on August
19, 1868, Governor Harrison Reed appointed him judge of the sixth
circuit. Thereafter he often aroused the public wrath by compelling
white men to serve on juries with Negroes. He was repeatedly charged
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with showing rank favoritism while hearing cases. When his enemies
objected too strenuously, he had them brought before him on contempt
charges and fined them heavily.

Quite naturally, Magbee had few friends among the Democrats,
And when he fell dead drunk in the sandy street at Franklin and
Washington on November 16, 1871, a group of townsmen poured
molasses and corn over him. The delectable mixture was soon dis-
covered by roaming hogs. They rooted him around until they ripped
off nearly all his clothes. Hours later, the judge sobered enough to
get up and stagger home. He suspected James E. Lipscomb of having
planned the outrage and charged him with contempt. On the hearing
day, Lipscomb went into court armed with a shotgun. He pointed it at
the judge and pulled the trigger. DBut just then E. A. Clarke struck the
barrel and the load of buckshot went into the ceiling. Although he
escaped, Magbee was so frightened that he dismissed the case.

Two years later, after Lipscomb had been elected mayor, Magbee
was overcome again by the urge to become intoxicated. Mavor Lips-
comb had him arrested on charges of disorderly conduct. Recovering
from his alcoholic stupor, Magbee called his wife to the jail, had her
bring the neccssary papers, and then issued a writ of habeas corpus
directing the marshal to produce the body of James T. Magbee before
James T. Magbee, judge of the circuit court. The marshal could do
nothing but obey and of course the judge released himself as soon as
he was taken to the courthouse. He thought so well of his strategy that
he later wrote up the case for law journals.

Judge Magbee's conduct on the bench finally was considered so
reprehensible by Democrats that impeachment proceedings were
brought against him in the state legislature. While the case was still
pending he resigned his office, in 1874, after serving six years.

Perhaps to get revenge on his political enemies, Maghee soon
afterward began publishing a newspaper, the TaMmra Guarpian. His
wife was assistant editor. On the masthead of the paper, Maghee pro-
claimed that it would be “Independent in Everything, Neutral in
Nothing.” But despite the announced “independence,” the GUARDIAN
was ultra-Republican in policy. Probably for that reason, the paper
carried few local advertisements. Its pages were well filled, however,
with advertisements of concerns owned by Republicans in other parts
of the state. And it was well edited and most readable. Magbee con-
tinued publishing it until he died on December 12, 1885. The GUuARDIAN
was then taken over by H. J. Cooper and C. H. Baxter and published
until December 8, 1886, when Editor Cooper sadly announced that
Magbee in his will had made no provision for keeping the paper alive
and that publication would have to cease.
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Republicans vied with Democrats for control of Tampa news-
papers for many years after the end of the Civil War.

Because of the war, the FLoripA PENINSULAR was forced to suspend
publication on May 25, 1861. Publisher Spencer enlisted in the Con-
federate army and became a private in Company F, Ist Florida Cavalry.
While serving in Kentucky he was stricken with typhoid fever. He
died in Frankfort on October 27, 1862, at the age of twenty-three.

During the war the press and type of the newspaper were taken
into the country so the Yankees could not find them. When the war
ended, the equipment was brought back to Tampa and publication was
resumed on April 28, 1866, by William's two brothers, John Edward
and Thomas K. The Spencers appointed Samuel C. Craft editor. He
announced that the paper would be Democratic.

Less than two months later, John Spencer became ill. During
the war, while serving in the 4th Regiment, Florida Volunteers, he
contracted dysentery and when he returned home, he was still suffering
from the disease. His condition became gradually worse and on June
30, 1866, he died. Publication of the PExinsuLAR was thereafter con-
tinued by Thomas Spencer.

The Democratic PENINSULAR got a Republican competitor, THE
TrUE SOUTHERNER, during the summer of 1868. It boasted on its mast-
head that it was the “official” paper of the Sixth Judicial Circuit and
proclaimed that “We hold these truths to be self-evident, that all men
are created equal.” Edwarde O. Plumbe was the editor and Charles L.
Newhall, the publishér. THe TrRUE SouTHERNER was published in the
courthouse, probably by permission of Circuit Judge Magbee. The
paper had little support and no advertising and after the November
elections, it died a sudden death.

Determined to have a newspaper mouthpiece in Tampa for the
next national election, in 1872, the Republicans bought a controlling
interest in the PENIiNsULAR and on February 17, the Democratic editor
retired. He was succeeded by G. R. Mobley who announced that the
paper would thereafter be Republican. This action proved fatal for
the paper. Its advertising dwindled and shortly afl:f:r the election the
paper printed its last 1ssue.

For the next two years the Democrats did not have a paper in
which to express their views. But early in 1876 they rallied their
forces, knowing that the coming election would be one of the most
bitterly fought in the nation's history, and promised Thomas K. Spencer
enough backing to enable him to start a new weekly called the SunvLanD
Tripune. The first issue appeared March -2, 1876, with -Dr. John P,
Wall as editor. During the months which followed, Editor Wall filled
the columns of the TrisunE with praise of Samuel J. Tilden and un-
ceasingly declared that the nation would be ruined if Rutherford B.
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Hayes came out ahead. Just the opposite view was taken, of course,
by Editor Magbee'in his Guarpran. When Hayes was finally trium-
phant, Magbee gloated and Dr. Wall mﬂaned that Florida had been
betrayed.

While the newspaper editors were fighting their political battles,
Hillsborough County was emerging rapidly from the slough of de-
spondency into which it had fallen at the close of the war. It began to
surge ahead even while Tampa was slipping backward, losing in
population. The county’s recovery was due in part to the golden
harvest then being reaped by cattlemen through supplying the Guban
market.

The first cattle were shipped to Cuba from Central Florida late in
the 1850s by Capt. James McKay who developed quite a knack for
dealing with grafting Havana officials. One way he did this was to
limit his palm greasing to the right people. On one occasion, just after
he had dined with the captain general of Havana, he was met on board
his ship by a group of perty officials who demanded their share of the
pay-off. Having had a wee bit of champagne at the dinner, Captain
McKay was feeling in fine fettle, but in no mood to argue. He told his
mate to cast off. And then, just as his Magnolia got under way, the
six-foot, husky captain proceeded to tie into the graft seckers and toss
them overboard into the shark-filled waters of the harbor. After that
he was not bothered with small time chiselers.

Captain McKay was unable to get another ship to replace those
lost during the war until the summer of 1866 when he chartered the
Gov. Marvin from the Morgan line. The ship arrived July 27. Less
than three months later, on October 22, he purchased the Southern Star,
a much larger, faster steamer.

Strangely enough, Captain McKay had trouble getting enough
steers to load a ship and resume the Guban trade. Herds owned by the
cattlemen had increased greatly in numbers during the war years and
when the war ended, there was only a limited market for the animals.
Nevertheless, the cattlemen held out for prices higher than Captain
McKay could pay and still make a profit, and this despite the fact-that
south Florida was desperately in need of “hard money.”

Learning that Captain McKay was stymied, Editor Craft biasted
the cattlemen in the PENINSULAR. - “If the cattle owners assume that
Captain McKay must lose all while they make all, we may expect- an
abandonment of the enterprise and a sealing up of the doom of south
Florida for years to come,” the editor declared. . *“This is no time 'fﬂ!‘
the cattlemen to be obsessed with greed.” -

Captain McKay finally made the cattlemen listen to reason and on
Dcmbr—:r 29, 1866, he loaded the Gov. Marvin with cattle at Manatee
and left for Havana. He must have made a-profit because thereafter
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he made shipments regularly. And by late fall, Capt. F. A. Hendry and
Jacob Summerlin had entered the business. On December 15 they
shipped 300 head from Manatee on the steamer Emily which they had
just purchased. Later they made shipments from Punta Rassa where
Summerlin developed the largest cattle shipping port in Florida.

The Cuban cattle business began really to boom in 1868 when in-
surrectionists on the island started a ten-year conflict with their Spanish
rulers. The rebels controlled many of the areas where cattle were
raised and the Spaniards began paying top prices for the steers needed
to feed the soldiers they rushed to the island. Spanish buyers flocked
to Florida and gladly paid a gold doubloon, worth §15.60 in American
money, for every steer driven to a shipping point. For cattle shipped
into Havana, half again as much was paid, also in Spanish gold.

In the Tampa Bay area, the shipment of cattle was almost
completely monopolized by Captain McKay. To handle the business,
he built up the largest tleet of schooners and steamers then owned by
any individual in the state. His principal ships were the Southern Star,
Valley City, Lindsey, T. J. Cochran and Ella Knight. Following the
captain’s death, on November 11, 1876, the business was carried on by
his son, Capt. James McKay, Jr.

The Cuban demand for cattle continued strong all during the
1870s. During that decade, 165,669 head were shipped to Cuban ports

......
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and for them the Florida cattlemen and shippers received $2,441,846.
The golden flood came at a time when it was needed most. Pumped
into the channels of trade, it helped immeasurably in bringing back
prosperity to many parts of the state.

Hillsborough County was helped most, however, by a great influx
of new settlers which began soon after the war ended and increased
steadily year after year.

Many of the new arrivals were northerners whe had heard about
the beautiful West Coast from Yankee sailors and soldiers, sent here on
raiding expeditions during the war. After the war ended and the
Yanks returned to the cold and dreary winters of the North, they
remembered the balmy climate of the Tampa Bay region and sang its
praises. They advertised the section throughout the nation —and the
advertising brought results.

With the northerners came many families from north Florida and
southern states which had been overrun by the despised carpetbaggers
and dominated by Negroes. To escape the intolerable conditions con-
comitant with “Negro rule” they migrated to a region where the
carpetbaggers and their colored allies were not supreme.

It would seem as though the mingling of the “victorious” north-
erners and the southerners for whom the war brought nothing but
tragedy would have resulted inevitably in conflict and dissension. But
bitterness and strifec — there were none. The two groups got along
splendidly together. They intermarried. They joined in building
south Florida — the south Florida of today.

The influx of new settlers was due in large measure to the Home-
stead Act passed by Congress in 1862. The Federal government held
title to huge tracts of land in central and south Florida and, with the
war ended, these tracts became available for occupation. Each settler
was entitled to 160 acres provided he built a home and tilled the soil
for five years.

To get this free land, the hardy and the adventurous moved
southward. They came in huge covered wagons, drawn by mules or
oxen, traveling a few miles a day over the sandy trails, just as pioneers
had come back in the 1840s to get land under the short-lived Armed
Occupation Act. Others came in sloops and schooners, stopping at
white-beached islands along the way. A few came in style, traveling
by steamer and rail to Cedar Keys and then down to Tampa on the
U. 5. Mail Line, operated first by Captain McKay and later by the
Tampa Steamship Company.

As a result of the southward migration, Hillsborough County
gained in population while Tampa was shrinking, increasing from
2,981 in 1860 to 3,216 in 1870. The increase was really much greater
than the figures indicate inasmuch as Polk County had been carved
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out of Hillsborough in 1861 and if Polk’s population of 3,169 in 1870
had been added to that of Hillsborough, as it had been in 1860, the
total would have been 6,585, truly an amazing gain. Hillsborough
continued to grow rapidly during the 1870s, the population soaring
from 3,216 to 5,814,

Few of the newcomers raised cotton, sugar cane or rice for money
crops as the plantation owners had done in ante bellum days. Those
were vanishing crops, as far as Hillsborough County was concerned.
They were profitable in the days of slave labor but not after the
Negroes had been freed and demanded wages for their work — higher
wages than were paid in almost any other section of the South. The
principal crops grown by the newcomers were corn, sweet potatoes and
truck produce. Almost all of them planted citrus groves.

Most of the newcomers, especially those from the North, had
money when they arrived. Some were quite wealthy and spent large
sums to buy choice tracts and in developing their properties. General
W. P. Hazen, for instance, who came to Hillsborough County from
Ohio, spent a small fortune building a magnificent home at Lake
Thonotosassa and planting the largest orange grove in south Florida.

Money spent by the newcomers began to trickle into Tampa in
the late 1860s and while it did not arrest the drop in the town’s popu-
lation it did serve to help dispel the black pessimism which prevailed
immediately after the war ended. Merchants reported better trade
and everyone began to have greater confidence in the future.

The slowly returning optimism had one etfect Tampa youngsters
did not like — reopening of the public schools.

Private schools had been opened within a year after the war ended
—Mrs. Hawkins' Private School for Girls and Samuel C. Craft’s Private
School for Boys. Both Craft and Mrs. Hawkins charged tuition fees of
#8 per term, when paid in advance, and $12 when paid in installments.
Craft laid down strict rules regarding the conduct of the boys sent to
him for instruction. He warned that all those who “make a practice of
visiting any drinking or gambling place or other resorts of vice” would
be promptly expelled. Perhaps for this reason, his school was not a
financial success; he closed it after one term. Besides being proprietor
of the schaol, Craft also was pastor of the Baptist Church and editor
of the PENINsULAR. Despite this multiplicity of jobs, he had a hard time
making ends meet. On July 21, 1867, he reported that his income from
all sources for the first six months of the year had been just $149.
“That’s not enough to live on,” he moaned, “particularly now that we
have to pay 10 cents a pound for beef.”

After Craft closed his school, another one was opened by Mrs.
Robert F. Nunez. Her husband, who had owned a general store before
the war, enlisted in the Confederate Army shortly after their marriage
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in 1862 and served as captain in Co. B, 7th Florida Regiment. Unac-
customed to the colder climate of Tennessee and Kentucky, where he
served, he contracted pneumonia and never fully recovered. He died
in 1868, leaving his widow and two children.

In the fall of 1870, members of a newly-elected County Board of
Public Instruction finally managed to obtain enough money to employ
a principal and a small staff of teachers and open a public school in
the abandoned city hall. Members of the board then were John T.
Givens, Thomas K. Spencer and Dr, Franklin Branch. A. Watrous was
the superintendent. Because of the money shortage, the school term
was limited to six weeks. In 1872 a tax of five mills was levied for edu-
cational purposes, help was obtained from the Peabody fund, and a
start was made toward establishing a real county school system. The
first public school building in Tampa, located on a half-block lot on
Franklin between Madison and Twiggs, was built in 1876 for the
school board by John T. Givens and his son, Darwin at a cost of $2,550.

By mid-summer of 1873 economic conditions had improved to
such an extent that the citizens decided that a municipal government
should be re-established. So a meeting was held August 11 and the 48
electors who attended voted to incorporate, this time as a town instead
of as a city. James E. Lipscomb was elected mayor, Charles Hanford,
clerk, and John G. Robles, marshal. Councilmen elected were W. T.
Haskins, E. A. Clarke, John T. Lesley, Josiah Ferris and Henry L.
Crane. Soon afterward, the first town seal was designed and adopted.
It showed a palm-surrounded waterfront with a few sail and steamboats
in the foreground.

A revived community spirit was shown in 1873 by the organization
of a Town Improvement Society by the women of Tampa. One of the
first tasks the women undertook was the beautification of Oak Lawn
Cemetery which had become overgrown with weeds and palmettoes
during the war years. By holding lawn fetes and raffles, the society
raised enough money to employ a caretaker and have the undergrowth
removed.

One of the oldest citizens of Tampa was buried in the cemetery
that year—William Ashley, for whom Ashley Street was named. Shortly
afterward a Negro woman died who had long been Ashley’s servant.
The relationship which had existed between Ashley and Nancy was
much closer than that which normally existed between master and
servant but, strange to say, it was not frowned upon by the community.
After Nancy's death she was buried in the same grave with her master
and a tombstone was erected by John Jackson, executor of Ashley's
estate, “'to commemorate the fidelity which each bore to the other.”
The inscription on the tombstone read: “Here Lie William Ashley
and Nancy Ashley, Master and Servant; faithful to each other in that
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relation in life, in death they are not separated. Strangers, consider and
be wise — in the grave all human distinctions of race or color mingle
together in one common dust.” The tombstone is still standing.

A famous visitor came to Tampa in 1876. The celebrity was Sidney
Lanier, noted poet of the South, who arrived with Mrs. Lanier on
December 21. At first he was not much impressed with Tampa and in
a letter home described it as “the most forlorn collection of one-story
houses imaginable.” Mr. and Mrs. Lanier stopped at the Orange Grove
Hotel, the former home of William B. Hooker which had been con-
verted into a hotel and was being operated by Hooker's son-in-law and
daughter, Mr. and Mrs. Henry L. Crane. Lanier described the hotel
as “a large three-story house with many odd nooks and corners, alto-
gether clean and comfortable in appearance, and surrounded by orange
trees in full fruit.”

Lanier came to Tampa primarily to obtain data for a Florida guide
book he was then writing and expected to remain only a short time.
But he learned to like the town so much that he stayed three months.
In a letter to a northern friend he rhapsodized: “What would I not give
to transport you from your northern sorrows instantly into the midst
of the green leaves, the gold oranges, the glitter of great and tranquil
waters, the liberal friendship of the sun, the heavenly conversation of
the robins, and mockingbirds, and larks, which fill my days with

Pkote Cowrtgry Unipersily of Tampa

During the Gay Nineties, the Tampa Bay Casino served Tampa as a theatre, swimming pool and

as a center for social events. The Casino, built by H., B. Plant on the Tam Bnly Hotel grounds
wis opened December 3, 1896, It was destroyed by fire July 20, 1941,
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delight.” While in Tampa, Lanier wrote eleven poems including
Tampa Robins, The Mocking Bird, The Masters, and A Ballad of the
Trees.

Despite his love for Tampa, Lanier never returned. His failing
health prevented him from again undertaking the long, hard journey,
the trip from Philadelphia having required eleven days. He had spent
four days on trains, four days on steamers, and three days in lay-overs
at Danville, Va., Brunswick, Ga., Fernandina and Cedar Keys. He had
traveled from Cedar Keys to Tampa on the steamer Valley City, of which
Capt. James McKay, Jr., was master.

The poet could have saved himself the last boat trip if he had
wanted to get off the railroad at Gainesville and make the remainder of
the journey by stagecoach, the line having started running again in
1866. But Lanier would not have saved any time by going overland,
two days and a night having been required to make the 184-mile trip.
By the time the travelers reached Tampa they usually were stiff and
sore from the side-swaying and jolting of the stagecoach over the rough
roads. But the driver, an agile fellow, enlivened the trip by “gopher
grabbing”—he would leap from his seat, pick up a gopher from the road
and toss it onto the baggage rack overhead without stopping his team.
For each gopher captured, the driver made 25 cents, the animals then
being highly prized by Negroes.

Slow though the Gainesville stagecoach was, it was lightning fast
compared to the “freight express” which operated between Tampa and
Bartow. Vehicles used by the “express” were lumbering, broad-
wheeled, tarpaulin-covered wagons and the motive power was furnished
by three and four yoke of oxen, driven by brawny Civil War veterans
who wielded their long, blacksnake whips with deadly accuracy. Two
full days were required to make the 42-mile journey. During the dry
season, the wheels sank in clutching sand and during the rainy season
in even more clutching mud, and the oxen were able to proceed only at
a snall’s pace.

The Bartow freight line was established soon after the war by
Thomas B. Mims, of Bartow, who later sold it to Isaac Brandon. The
last owner was Capt. Dave Hughes. The line provided the first delivery
service for Tampa stores which sold to merchants in Bartow, Fort Meade
and other inland towns. It continued in operation until the coming
of the railroad in 1884.

One of the drivers for the line, a Captain Mayo, was remembered
vividly by Charles McKay who often went with him to Bartow just for
the ride. Other youngsters also accompanied Mayo occasionally. One
day the captain went completely insane and beat out the brains of the
boy who was riding with him. McKay never ceased feeling thankful
that he had not been in a traveling mood that tragic day.
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Because of the slow transportation facilities then available, Tampa
people felt as though they were living at the end of nowhere. This feel-
ing of isolation was lessened somewhat when a telegraph office was
established at Fort Meade by the International Ocean Cable Company
which in 1867 finished stringing a telegraph line down the state to
Punta Rassa where it connected with a newly-laid cable to Key West
and Havana. Thereafter, Tampa people who wanted to send messages
could take them to Fort Meade and have them telegraphed.

Tampa business men repeatedly asked the telegraph company to
provide a branch line to their town but the officials always refused,
saying they could not hope to get enough business in Tampa to justify
the expense. They suggested that Tampa citizens organize a company
and string the line themselves. Finally, in 1873, a meeting of leading
citizens was called to sell stock for such a company. Two of the most
prominent citizens refused to subscribe, saying they would not be
benefitted — they got news quickly enough without a telegraph. Their
refusal aroused the ire of outspoken Capt. John Miller. He angrily
retorted that he was not surprised at their attitude. Everyone knew, he
said, that the reason they did not need a telegraph was because their
wives beat any telegraph ever invented in spreading the news. All the
men laughed, even the two objectors. But Captain Miller learned the
next morning that he had spoken too hastily, The men had told their
wives what he had said — they met him on the street on his way to work
and gave him a tongue lashing he never forgot.

Despite this disquieting episode, enough stock was sold to get the
company established. It was called the Tampa and Fort Meade Tele-
graph Company. A small office was opened in Miller & Henderson's
store and a young fellow from Jacksonville named Walter Coachman
arrived to become the town's first telegrapher.

The firm of Miller & Henderson was established in 1873 by
William B. Henderson and Capt. John Miller. The latter was born in
Norway on August 4, 1834, When eleven years old he sailed to
Quebec as a cabin boy. Later he served as a sailor on ships pl}ring
between New York and Liverpool. By the time the Civil War starte
he had saved enough money to buy a brig which was used by the Fed-
erals during the war years. When the war ended he purchased a
schooner and came to the West Coast to engage in coastwise shipping.
In 1869 he opened a general store in Tampa, When Capt. Miller and
Henderson joined forces in 1878, they proceeded to establish Tampa's
largest general store and also built up the largest fleet of ships on the
West Coast. They later organized the Tampa Steamship Company.
Some of their best known ships were the Lizzie Henderson, Capt. Miller,
Alabama, T. ]J. Cochran, Hostetter, Eliza Hancox and Lucy B. Miller.
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Despite the fact that Tampa lost steadily in population during
the 1870s, the town expanded in size. This anomaly was due to an
influx of northerners who had money and wanted plots of land near
town large enough to have small orange groves. Many located north of
town and soon began demanding the opening of streets. Neither the
town nor the county had money for road construction and the demands
might have been ignored had it not been for Joseph Robles. His
homestead was located north of what is now Columbus Drive and be-
tween Florida and Nebraska Avenues. Deciding he would like to get
some of the northerners’ money by selling them some of his land, he
called for volunteers to help open Florida Avenue. Twenty-six public
spirited citizens led by Sheriff D. Isaac Craft responded and work was
started June 18, 1876. Teams of oxen and log carts were provided by
Capt. John Robles and before the day ended, the avenue was opened
nearly a mile beyond the town limits.

The northern expansion continued steadily and by December 3,
1879, Publisher Spencer proudly reported in his SunLanDp TrRIBUNE that
Florida Avenue had been opened for about two miles, Nebraska Ave-
nue three miles, and Michigan Avenue for about two miles east of the
river. The newspaper editor listed the names of the owners of more
than fifty “orange grove estates” which had been established along the
new thoroughfares. “A comparative wilderness lying at our very
doors,” he declared, "is being made to blossom as a rose.”

Spencer rather sadly admitted that a majority of the newcomers
who owned the orange grove estates probably were Republicans but he
added that “being intelligent men and having become bona-fide citizens,
they are not the kind of men to be 1mposed upon and therefore, as a
rule, may always be counted on as favoring honest government and in
state elections will vote accordingly.”

The “blossoming” of the suburbs referred to by Publisher Spencer
did not cause a concurrent blossoming of “downtown” Tampa. The
business section in 1880 was much the same as it had been in Civil War
days. All the business establishments were housed in one or two-story
frame buildings, usually unpainted and more than a little dilapidated.
Sand was ankle deep in all the streets and in many places scrub pal-
mettoes and weeds grew right down to the ruts made by the ox carts of
visiting farmers. Tampa was still just a sleepy little “cracker” village.

But Tampa was a friendly town and, moreover, few persons
believed in letting work interfere too much with pleasure. People
often took time off from their daily chores to enjoy themselves. During
the long summer months, picnics on the beaches and excursions on the
bay were common events. Every week or so some group held a lawn
fete, entertainment or dance. Many of the young men belonged to the
Tampa Rifles and spent much time drilling or parading through the
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streets. During the winter, plays were given by members of the Tampa
Amateur Dramatic Society. And each year at Christmas time the
Knights of Hillsborough held their Ring Tournament,

This annual event was something like the knightly tournaments
held in Merrie England back in medieval times. But instead of jousting
each other off their horses, the gaily costumed knights tilted their lances
at three rings suspended ten feet off the ground from horizontal bars.
Each rider had three tries and if he was a fine horseman and had nerves
of steel he could get nine rings. The winners had the honor of choos-
ing the Queen of Love and Beauty and her two maids of honor. The
queen always was crowned at a ball held two days after the tournament.
It was the big social event of the season and everyone socially prominent
attended.

The first tourney of which there is any record was held January
2, 1877. Seventeen young gallants were the contestants. W. B. Hender-
son and W. W. Wall were the judges and James E. Lipscomb, the
marshal. Thomas E. Jackson, the Knight of Reform, had high score
and named Miss Etta Warner the queen. Dr. Thomas S. Daniel, who
was “‘Oswald,” took second place and named Miss Ada McCarty the
queen’s maid of honor. Wesley P. Henderson, the Knight of Florida,
took third place, and named Miss Mamie Parish second maid of honor.
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The SunLanp TriBuUNE described the ball as "“a brilliant and splendid
affair which passed off to the satisfaction and enjoyment of the large
number who participated.” H. H. Hale was the floor manager and was
highly praised for his efforts.

The Ring Tournament was held each year on the parade ground
in the garrison. At other times the parade ground was the favored
grazing land of a small herd of cows owned by Mrs. Benjamin Cowart,
known to everyone as “Granny” Cowart. Each evening the cows were
driven from the garrison through the streets to Granny’s cow pen on the
northeast corner of Tampa and Lafayette, now in the heart of the
business district. They were scrawny creatures and gave only a quart
or two of milk each but Granny had the only “dairy” in town and people
gladly bought all the milk her cows could supply. Mrs. Cowart was
an expert in castrating colts and young bulls and old timers say she
never lost a case. She also was a skilled midwife and assisted at many
of the births in town, always referring to the children therealter as
“my children.”

Early in 1883, Granny Cowart had to take her cows out of the
garrison, the Tampa Rifles had to go somewhere else to drill, and the
Knights of Hillsborough had to begin looking for another place to hold
their tournaments. Because in that year Fort Brooke passed out of the
possession of the Federal government.

Yankee troops had been withdrawn from the fort on August 16,
1869, and for more than a decade the buildings were unoccupied. But
in May, 1880, two companies were transferred there from Key West,
then suffering from one of its many yellow tever epidemics. The soldiers
remained at Fort Brooke until late in 1882 when they were transferred
to Mt. Vernon, Ala., and St. Augustine. The last contingent departed
on December 21.

On January 22, 1877, during the period when the fort was deserted,
the military reservation was reduced to about 148 acres, the section east
of the present East Street and south of Sixth Avenue being reverted to
the public domain. All the land held by the government beyond the
new reservation boundaries was then sold, large tracts being purchased
by John T. Lesley, Andrew J. Knight, Stephen M. Sparkman, and others,
for $1.25 an acre. The section north of the present First Avenue later
comprised the Town of Fort Brooke, notorious for many years for its
gambling joints and houses of ill fame. This so-called town was not
taken into Tampa until 1906.

When the troops departed for the last time in 1882, attempts were
made by public spirited citizens, led by 5. A. Jones, to acquire the
garrison, with its graceful palms and towering, moss-hung oaks, for a
town park. They sought the assistance of a United States senator who
was supposed to be most friendly to Tampa, Wilkinson Call, a breast-
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beating spellbinder who had enthralled voters many times by his de-
nunciations of Republican carpetbaggers. Senator Call promised his
support. On January 4, 1883, the War Department turned the prop-
erty over to the Department of the Interior and Tampa people con-
fidently believed the Land Office would soon transfer title to the town.

But on Friday, March 23, 1883, bad news was received from Talla-
hassee. On the day before, a diagram of the reservation had been
received at the Federal Land Office and immediately on its arrival, an
application for a homestead there had been filed by a physician who
lived in Arredondo, near Gainesville, Dr. Edmund 8. Carew. The appli-
cation was for the finest part of the garrison, a tract on which the
officers’ quarters stood. The town was stunned.

The announcement that the reservation had been opened for home-
steading resulted in a rush of citizens to Tallahassee, all eager to get
a portion of this valuable property. During the following week, home-
stead applications were filed by Clifford Herrick, Louis Bell, Daniel
Mather, Andrew Stillings, Joel B. Myers, Richard Nash, G. W. Kirby,
Frank C. Thomas, John H. Havans, Julius Caesar, Frank Jones, W. B.
Henderson, E. B. Chamberlain, Wirt §. Myers, Marion M. Nelson, and
Henry W. Beach, the father of the boy who years later became a famous
author, Rex Beach.

Dr. Carew arrived in Tampa on April 18 with his family and soon
took possession of the officers’ quarters. By that time most of the
other applicants also had moved onto the land they claimed. And many
others had entered the reservation to “squat,” living in tents and hastily
erected shacks.

Years later evidence was introduced during a legal battle between
various claimants for the property which showed that Dr. Carew had
received a telegram from Senator Call telling when the land diagram
had been sent from Washington. And there was also evidence indi-
cating that the doctor had received money from Call to pay for the
homestead application. Many persons contended that Call directed
Carew’s actions with the expectation of getting at least part of the land
for himself. In all events, Tampa had been doublecrossed by the
senator, beyond all doubt. As a result, the town lost forever its oppor-
tunity to get a fine park at its front door. And the once beautiful
garrison finally became a commercial and industrial section.

But in 1883, Tampa was in no mood to grieve long about the
loss of the garrison. The town was growing as it had never grown
before. It was just about to get something for which it had a vital need,
something on which its entire future depended. A railroad was coming.



CHAPTER VIi

A RAILROAD BRINGS A GOLDEN ERA

HE CRAMPED FORECASTLE of the sidewheel steamer New York, plying
Thﬁt'wﬁtn New York and New Haven, Conn., was almost unbearably

hot one blistering day in August, 1838, Perspiration covered the
bodies of the deckhands sleeping there. And to the patrician nose of
the captain’s boy, the odors in the stuffy quarters were most unpleasant.
He vowed that if he ever could work his way out of that forecastle, he'd
never slip back in again.

The captain’s boy was a nineteen-year-old youth named Henry Brad-
ley Plant, of Branford, Conn. He was not particularly strong physically
and had only a smattering of education. But he had a burning deter-
mination to succeed—and succeed he did, most fortunately for Tampa.
In the years to come, Henry Bradley Plant played a leading role in the
metamorphosis of Tampa from a sleepy “cracker” village into the thriv-
ing city it is today,

Shipments of Beecher’s New York & New Haven Express, one of
the first express lines of the country, were carried in the hold of the
steamer New York. The master of the ship, Capt. S. Bartlett Stone,
decided one day that goods could be handled better if stored in a large
double room forward of the wheel. Having taken a liking to young
Plant, he gave him the job of looking after the room and had a berth
placed in it 50 he could sleep there. Plant later told Tampa friends that
the day he left the forecastle and moved to the express room was the
happiest day in his life.

In 1842, while still with the steamship line, Plant was married.
Desiring to spend more time at home, he got a shore job with the express
company in New Haven. Shortly afterward he was promoted and trans-
ferred to New York. In 1847, Beecher’s line was absorbed by the Adams
Express Company. Plant went with the Adams company, then expand-
ing rapidly, and soon became one of its officials. In the fall of 1855 the
company placed him in charge of its business in the southern states and
he proceeded to establish new express lines all through the South.

When the Civil War started, the Adams Express Company sold its
holdings below the Mason-Dixon line to Plant to prevent them from
falling into the hands of the Confederates and he organized the Southern
Express Company with offices in Augusta, Ga.

During the war, many Georgia and Florida railroads became in-
solvent. Aided financially by wealthy business associates of the North,
Plant bought controlling interest in a number of the roads and by 1882
had built up a network extending from Charleston, S. C., to Jacksonville
and across lower Georgia and north Florida. To handle the properties
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and buy more roads, he organized the Plant Investment Company. In-
cluded among his associates in the company were Henry M. Flagler and
Morris K. Jessup, of New York; W, T. Walters and B. F. Newcomer, of
Baltimore; E. B. Haskell, of Boston, and Lorenzo Blackstone, Henry
Sanford, Lynde Harrison, H. P. Hoadley and G. H. Tilley, of
Connecticut.

Plant foresaw the day when the United States would do an immense
amount of business with Cuba and Central and South America and he
decided to extend his railroad empire to a point on the Florida West
Coast. At that time Cedar Key was the only town on the coast which
boasted of a railroad. the Florida Transit & Peninsular, successor to the
old Florida Railroad fathered by David Levy Yulee. Large blocks of
FT&P stock were owned by Yulee and his relatives and they also con-
trolled practically all the land in Cedar Keys. Old timers say that Plant
wanted to extend his railroad to the keys but when he tried to buy the
necessary land, the Yulee crowd refused to sell. This made Plant so
irate, the old timers say, that he angrily declared: “I'll wipe Cedar Key
off the map! Owls will hoot in your attics and hogs will wallow in your
deserted streets!”

According to another ofttold story, Plant next tried to get land for
his railhead on Snead’s Island, in Manatee County. He wanted to buy
the entire island but the negotiations collapsed, so the story goes, when

Phota Courdery af Burgers Bros.

Tampa was war minded in the turbulent days preceding the Spanish-American War, This picture
lecking north on Franklin from the court house grounds shows a parade of home town soldiers in
1897. 'The marble-faced First National Bank Building, just completed, is shown in the center.
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Warburton Warner, one of the owners, refused to sell his 200-acre tract,
expecting to profit handsomely after the port development started on
the rest of the island.

These stories may be true, even though there are many reasons why
they can be doubted. But the fact remains that Plant finally concluded
that Tampa Bay offered the best possibilities for port development and
that the town of Tampa was the logical point for a railroad to terminate.

Plant’s decision unquestionably was logical. Despite the fact that
Tampa's population had dropped during the preceding two decades,
it nevertheless was an established community and the only shipping
center for a large, rapidly developing back country. A railroad into
Tampa would be assured of a large amount of business—at once. No
other place offered such opportunities—so Tampa won Plant’s choice.

As the first step in carrying out his plans, Plant early in 1883
acquired controlling interest in the South Florida Railroad. This road
held a charter from the state, granted in 1879, to build from St. Johns
River to the Gulf. Construction work had started January 11, 1880,
when General U. 8. Grant, then visiting in Florida, dug the first cere-
monial spadeful of earth at Sanford. The railroad was completed from
Sanford to Orlando by October 1, 1880, and was extended to Kissimmee
March 2, 1882, There the company’s money ran out and work stopped.

After buying the South Florida, Plant could have used its charter
to build into Tampa but he had a most practical reason for not wanting
to do so. The South Florida's charter offered a niggardly reward for
railroad construction, only 3,840 acres of state-held land for each mile of
road completed. Plant wanted something much better to guarantee a
profit for his company on the money it invested. Shrewd Connecticut
Yankee that he was, he coveted the charter of another railroad which
had been authorized to build to Tampa Bay, the Jacksonville, Tampa
% Key West, which had been promised 10,000 acres per mile for each
mile completed plus alternate sections within six miles on each side of
the track, a total of 13,840 acres per mile.

The JT&KW already had started building a railroad. Officials of
the company had arrived in Tampa in 1881 and on July 29 had secured
from the town council an exclusive franchise to lay tracks on Spring,
Water, Polk and Whiting streets. The franchise had been awarded for
a consideration of only $5, the town fathers having wanted a railroad
desperately. Col. E. B. Carter, chief engineer of the road, had arrived
in town on December 29, 1881, and soon afterward had started grading
at the foot of Polk Street. Fifteen miles of grade were completed the
following year. But then the work stopped—this company too had run
out of money.

At that juncture, Plant appeared in the picture. On May 4, 1883,
he came to terms with the JT&KW officials. He agreed to advance the
JT&KW enough money to start construction at Jacksonville and work
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southward toward Palatka. And, in return, the JT&KW gave the Plant
Investment Company a quit claim deed to all its rights in the railroad
“built and to be built” out of Tampa. The arrangements also provided
that the South Florida could build its road into Tampa on the JTE&KW
charter and thereby get the 15,840 acres per mile its charter provided.
The exact details of the deal have never been revealed. Perhaps Plant
got a controlling interest in the JT&KW along with other “valuable
considerations.” That's more than possible. As stated, Plant was a
shrewd Connecticut Yankee.

Be that as it may, events moved rapidly after the deal was com-
pleted. On June 6, 1883, the Tampa town council revoked the charter
given to the JT&KW and gave a similar one to the Plant Investment
Company. On June 16, a crew of 168 track laborers came into town
and began grading operations. More men quickly followed. Other
crews started grading westward from Kissimmee. Orders were given for
hundreds of thousands of cross-ties; workers in logging camps worked
from dawn to dusk, and new mills were brought in to cut the timber.
Construction men bought or leased every mule and ox within a hundred
miles, and every vehicle in which earth could be moved. Farmers quick-
ly sold every bit of produce they could grow; cattlemen reaped a harvest
selling beef to the construction crews. Hillsborough County seethed
with activity, and so did Tampa. Overnight it became a boom town.

On July 5, 1883, the town council leased the lower ends of Polk,
Zack and Twiggs streets with all riparian rights to the railroad for $30
a year for five years and gave it an option to renew the lease indefinitely
at the same terms. The company purchased land needed for passenger
and freight depots, paying “handsome prices,” as the Tampa TRIBUNE
reported. A wharf was constructed at the foot of Polk Street. On
August 1, two three-masted schooners and a brig brought in huge
quantities of supplies and work of laying steel was started immediately.
The long-dreamed-of railroad at last was becoming an actuality. Tampa
gloated—and boomed some more.

During the early summer it appeared as though Tampa would soon
get two railroads instead of merely one. A sabre-scarred Confederate
general, John B. Gordon, came into town and said he had all the capital
needed to finance a road from Jacksonville to Tampa and enough
additional capital “in sight” to extend the road on to Key West. He
called his road the International. In July he built a wharf at the foot
of Whiting Street and thereafter for several months repeatedly an-
nounced that grading operations were to start soon. But after mad-
summer nothing more was heard from the general—it was rumored that
Plant had bought him off to eliminate competition,

Tampa's first railroad accident occurred August 21, 1883, when
Lee Ferris, son of Josiah Ferris, fell off a “paddy car” on which he had
thumbed a ride and was painfully bruised.



174 TAMPA

The first two locomotives for the South Florida arrived on a
schooner September 1. Five days later, after being assembled, their
boilers were fired. Early the next morning the town was awakened by
repeated blasts of the engine whistles. Reported the Trisune: “The
echoes had hardly died away when from every street and alley, every
doorway and window, and from the four winds came a mass of humanity
to gaze at the monsters of the rails. It was an impromptu celebration
such as Tampa had never seen before. Now everyone knew for sure that
the city really had a railroad.”

Plant came to Tampa for the first time on December 1, arriving
at 8 p.m. Accompanied by James E. Ingraham, president of the South
Florida, and Col. H. 5. Haines, general construction superintendent, he
had left Kissimmee at five o'clock that morning. Eighteen miles of the
journey over the uncompleted portion of the line between Plant City
and Auburndale had been made by horse and buggy. The party was
royally entertained at the Orange Grove Hotel and on the following
day was taken on a Tampa Bay excursion on the Capt. Miller, a new
steamer of the Tampa Steamship Line.

Trains began pulling in and out of Tampa on Monday, December
10, 1883, when service was started to Plant City. The first train left
Plant City at 8:30 a.m. and arrived in Tampa at 10 a.m.; left Tampa
at 2 p.m. and arrived in Plant City at 3:30. Thereafter the train ran
daily except on Sundays. H. H. “Hal"” Scarlett was the conductor and
M. W. Carruth baggage-master.

Plant City was founded in 1883 by J. T. Evers, owner of a general
store, cedar mill and cotton gin at Shiloh, one mile north. The railroad
passed Shiloh by so Evers purchased a large tract adjoining the tracks,
had it platted and named the embryo city in honor of the railroad
magnate. Evers moved his store to Plant City; other merchants soon
followed and the town became an actuality.

The last rail on the tracks between Tampa and Kissimmee was laid
Tuesday, January 22, 1884, at a point six miles east of Lakeland. The
event was celebrated in a big way that night in the Orange Grove Hotel.
Plant was not present but many other topflight railroad officials were,
as well as almost every prominent man in Tampa. Many speeches were
made and the festivities continued until almost daybreak. Committee
members who had charge of the banquet included Judge James T.
Magbee, Dr. Duff Post, Rev. T. A. Carruth, Henry L. Crane, John B.
Spencer, Judge H. L. Mitchell, J. B. Wall, R. B. Thomas, John T.
Lesley, Capt. John Miller, G. B. Sparkman, 5. A. Jones, Harry L. Branch
and John N. C. Stockton.

Completion of the South Florida's 72-mile line to Kissimmee, where
it joined the old line running north, gave Tampa direct rail connections
with Sanford. At Sanford, connections were made with the Peoples
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Line of steamers, owned by the Plant System, which ran north to
Palatka and Jacksonville.

The first through train from Tampa to Sanford left Tampa at
10 a.m. Thursday, January 24, but regular service between the two
cities was not started until Wednesday, February 13. In the beginning,
the 115-mile trip took six and one-half hours; later, the running time
was reduced to four and one-half hours. No public celebration was
held in Tampa when regular service started. There were no speeches,
no band playing. The city accepted the event quite calmly. By that
time it had become used to trains; they were no longer a novelty.

Completion of the road brought another telegraph line to Tampa,
the South Florida Telegraph Company, and also gave the city its first
express service, the Southern Express opening an office on February 6
in preparation for the inauguration of train service a week later.

A badly needed link in the transportation chain between Tampa
and Jacksonville was completed March 4, 1884, when the JT&KW
completed a road between Jacksonville and Palatka. That left only the
section between Sanford and Palatka which had to be made by steamer.
And this last steamer-link was eliminated February 26, 1886, when the
JT&KW completed a road between those two cities on the right-of-way
of its subsidiary, the Palatka & Indian River Railway.

Six months before this, however, Tampa got its first direct rail
connections with the North. On August 20, 1885, the South Florida
completed a track northward from Lakeland to Pemberton Ferry on
the Withlacoochee where it tied in with the Florida Southern, thereby
providing a direct rail route to Jacksonville via Ocala, Gainesville and
Palatka. Regular passenger service between Tampa and Jacksonville
was started September 13 and a fast mail train was put on ten days later,
the run to Jacksonville being made in 12 hours and 25 minutes.

Gloated the Ocara Banner: “How this railroad service kills time
and space! Only a little while ago it took two days to go from Ocala to
Tampa and four days to reach Jacksonville. Now we can speed over
the route in a few hours in comfort. Because of the railroads, this entire
country is being magically transformed.”

The engineer on the first train to Pemberton Ferry was H. Curran.
Ed Anderson was conductor and Fred DeVandt was baggage master.
C. F. Tubbs was engineer and W. H. Weatherly conductor of the first
freight train. At that time, conductors on the Sanford run were Geor
Coleman and C. L. Mosby, the engineers were W. P. Clarke and Dan
Bell, and the baggage masters were J. B. Early and P. M. Elder.

Wednesday, September 22, 1886, was a red-letter day in the history
of Florida railroads. On that day the tracks of the line from Tampa to
Sanford, as well as many other lines throughout the state, were changed
from the 3-foot narrow gauge to the four-foot eight and one-half inches
standard gauge, like those of the trunk lines going North. Work of
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switching the rails was started at 3 a.m. and was rushed all day. The
first standard gauge train arrived in Tampa from Sanford at 5:30 a.m.
Thursday. At that time the Plant System extended to Charleston, §, C,,
where connections were made with the Atlantic Coast Line for northern
points. Passengers were required to change trains at Charleston until
z::nuarjr 10, 1888, when through service was started, the running time
tween Jersey City and Jacksonville being cut to 29 hours and 30
minutes. Modern railroad service for Florida dates from that day.

Years passed before the Plant System made large profits. But the
officials were not perturbed. They did not expect that the revenue
from the road would greatly exceed expenses. Their ace in the hole was
the award of state-owned lands which the railroads in the Plant System
received for completion of the lines. State records show that the Plant
Investment Company on February 19, 1884, was deeded 95,329 acres.
But that grant by no means was the full reward for the completion of
the railroad from Jacksonville to Tampa. State records also show that
the South Florida was granted 72,428 acres and the Jacksonville, Tampa
& Key West 1,474,129, Plant and his associates controlled both these
roads; hence, it is logical to assume that they ultimately got most of the
lands. And that wasn't all the Plant group got. There are good reasons
for believing that the Plant syndicate controlled the Florida Southern
Railroad as early as 1884, and the Florida Southern received land grants
totalling 2,655,482 acres.

Lands received by the railroads were sold throughout the nation,
some to prospective Florida settlers but most to big speculators and
large lumber companies. Many years of research would be required to
learn how much money the railroads ultimately received from the land
sales. Certainly, however, the returns were not picayunish.

The immense land grants in the early 1880s were made possible
by the extrication of the state from a financial quagmire into which it
had fallen. Back in 1850, that peerless schemer David Levy Yulee was
a United States senator from Florida. He was a zealous advocate of the
Swamp Land Act which gave to Florida all the swamp and overflowed
lands within its borders. Title to the lands was turned over by the
Federal government to the Florida Internal Improvement Fund.

With the help of friends, Yulee succeeded in persuading the Florida
state legislature to pass an act guaranteeing aid from the IIF in con-
structing railroads he was promoting. One of these roads was to come
to Tampa Bay. The state aid guaranteed was munificent. Not only
did the state agree to give 3,840 acres of land for every mile of railroad
built but it also guaranteed to pay interest payments on bonds issued
by the railroads up to $10,000 per mile, In other words, if the railroads
went bankrupt, the State of Florida would be left holding the bag.

As soon as the governor signed the act, Yulee and his associates
formed the Florida Railroad Company to build the line from Fernandina
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to Tampa Bay. But the road never reached Tampa Bay. Yulee switched
it t0 Gedar Keys where he had tremendous land holdings. Through his
manipulation of railroad stocks, Yulee became wealthy but the railroads
financed through his scheming never met operating expenses. By 1880,
the IIF was hopelessly in debt. Outstanding bonds it was obligated to
pay totalled $699,600—and the IIF had no money. Moreover, all its lands
were tied up in litigation. The courts finally decided that a million
dollars would be needed to retire the bonds and pay accumulated inter-
est. T'o get this money, the trustees of the IIF on February 28, 1881,
agreed to sell Hamilton Disston, wealthy saw manufacturer of Phila-
delphia, four million acres of land at 25 cents an acre.

The Disston deal has been condemnned and lauded ever since it was
made. It undoubtedly had its bad effects. But it probably caused more
good than harm. The million dollars cleaned up the 11F’s indebtedness,
tfreed the state-owned lands which had been tied up by the courts, and
permitted the ITF to make land grants which led to the construction of
hundreds of miles of vitally needed railroads. For instance, it made
possible the promised land grants which spurred Henry Bradley Plant
and his associates to build a railroad to Tampa. And certainly that rail-
road was worth everything it cost,

When completion of the road from Jacksonville to Tampa was
assured, Plant proceeded to go a step farther in his ambitious plans for
building a railroad-steamship empire. On January 7, 1886, he brought
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Tampa was quite proud of this City Hall built in 1890 at a cost of $10,000. It was located on the

site of the present City Hall. It provided headquarters for the police and fire departments as
well as city offices.
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in the new 200-foot steamer Mascotte to establish a line between Tampa
and Key West and Havana. The TriBuNE described the Mascotte as
“one of the most handsome and complete steamships of the sea, its ap-
pointments being in every respect really luxurious while in point of
seaworthiness it 15 everything that the most expert mechanism could
make it. Its staterooms are as dainty as boudoirs while its saloon is as
exquisitely fitted up as any drawing room."”

A tremendous ovation was given Plant when he arrived in Tampa
Wednesday, March 31, 1886, with a party of Plant System officials.
Crowds greeted him at the depot, the newly-organized Tampa Silver
Cornet Band played lustily, and that night a big banquet was held at
the opera house. Eulogizing speeches were made by Dr. John P. Wall,
S. M. Sparkman, Rev. Thomas A. Carruth, and many others. It was a
very wet affair. Reported the Trisune: “Festivities continued until
very late amid the popping of corks, the flowing of champagne, the
recital of many excellent speeches and the rendition of excellent music.
The whole affair was a grand tribute to the enterprise and farsighted-
ness of Tampa's greatest benefactor.”

Plant had indeed been a great benefactor to Tampa. Because of
the railroad he brought in, Tampa had grown more during the pre-
ceding three years than it had during the entire sixty years following
the establishment of Fort Brooke.

Tampa had become one of the nation's outstanding boom towns
and into it poured men from every walk of life. The population had
climbed from 722 in 1880 to 2,376 on December 1, 1885, and was still
increasing every week. Hundreds of new homes and scores of new busi-
ness buildings had been built. The increase in real estate values had
been tremendous. Tracts close to the city which had gone begging at
$10 an acre, now sold for $250 and more. Lots inside the corporation
limits had soared to undreamed of peaks. Fortunes were made by big
land owners.

Because of the boom, Tampa got its first bank, an affiliate of
Ambler, Marvin & Stockton, of Jacksonville, the oldest bank in East
Florida, organized in 1870. John L. Marvin, a member of the banking
firm, arrived in Tampa Tuesday, September 18, 1883. He conferred
with the town leaders and they told him a bank was sorely needed. They
assured him that if a bank were opened, they would give it their hearty
support. Impressed with the town's possibilities, Marvin leased a small
building on the north side of Washington between Franklin and Tampa
and then left.

On October 81, Marvin returned and with him was a young fellow
whom he introduced as the bank's first cashier. He was T. C, Taﬁaferru,
Work was started fixing up the bank's quarters. A week later a 7,000-
pound safe was brought in on the Lizzie (}'lﬂﬂdf?'.mﬂ; It was hauled from
the wharf on a log cart pulled by eight mules. The load was so heavy



A RamLroap Brincgs A GoLpen Era 179

that a wheel collapsed and the mules gave out. But the safe was finally
delivered and a few days later the bank was opened. It was called the
Bank of Tampa. The first day’s deposits totalled $5,636.

The infant institution prospered and two years later built a hand-
some new home on the southwest corner of Franklin and Washington—
the first brick building in Tampa. It was completed February 13, 1886.
On May 6, 1886, the bank received a national charter, one of the first in
Florida, and the name was changed to the First National Bank of
Tampa. John N. C. Stockton became president and T. C. Taliaferro
cashier. Others on the board of directors were D. G. Ambler, John T.
Lesley and James P. Taliaferro, brother of T. C.

During the winter of 1883-84, newcomers flocked into the town
in such numbers that every hotel and rooming house was packed. To
provide badly needed accommodations, three new hotels were con-
structed during the following summer—the H. B. Plant, the St. James
and the Palmetto. All were built of wood and each contained about
forty rooms. The H. B. Plant was located on the east side of Ashley
between Lafayette and Madison. It was owned by Jerry T. Anderson,
who opened it December 14, 1884. The St. James, located on the north-
east corner of Franklin and Harrison, was built by Dr. H. M. Bruce. It
boasted of having a billiard room and 405 feet of verandas. The
Palmetto, which advertised that it was one of the largest and most com-
modious hotels in south Florida, was three stories high and had a five-
story observatory. It was built by Judge N. G, Buff, of Terre Haute, Ind.

Tampa got its first opera house during the winter of 1883-84.
Located next to the northwest corner of Franklin and Lafayette, it was
two stories high, with stores on the ground floor and the opera house
on the second. The owner was Harry L. Branch, son of Dr. Franklin
Branch. The opera house was formally opened Friday, March 7, 1884,
when Lambert & Richardson’s Dramatic Troupe presented the up-
roarious comedy “Fate.” “Our Boys” was given at the Saturday matinee
and “Bachelors” Saturday night. Lambert & Richardson were followed
by the Golden Dramatic Company. For years thereafter, Branch's Opera
House was the only theatre in Tampa. It also served as a banquet hall
and was used for dances and many other affairs.

Music for many of the events in the opera house was furnished by
the Tampa Silver Cornet Band organized in April, 1885, by A. A.
Kelso, a skilled musician. C. E, Parcell was president of the band, D. B.
Givens, secretary; C. W. Ayres, treasurer, and Kelso leader and business
manager, Other members were Fred Held, Charles Bailey, Adolph Stoy,
Homer Hayden, Will Cline, Charles Scrutton, P. R. Held and Henry
Kraus.

Another amusement place was opened in January, 1885. It was
aroller skating rink, owned by the Parcell brothers, located on the south-
east corner of Jackson and Morgan. The formal opening, held January
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28, was attended by leading citizens of the town, “many of whom,” said
the Guarpian, “put on exhibitions to the delight of all those present.”

The first industry established in Tampa because of the railroad was
the fishing industry. Before the railroad came, Cedar Keys had a mon-
opoly on the business. But as soon as the South Florida started oper-
ations, wholesale fish houses were opened in Tampa by John Savarese,
O. J. Safford & Son and ]. R. Elkington & Co. Each firm had a fleet of
boats which went to all parts of the Tampa Bay region and brought in
fish caught by commercial fishermen. At Tampa, they were iced and
shipped away. By the end of the first year the companies were shipping
50,000 pounds of fish daily.

Ice for the fish companies was supplied first by companies in
Orlando and Mayo, a small town north of Orlando. The first local icé
factory was opened July 12, 1884, at the Government Spring near what
is now Thirteenth Street and Second Avenue. The owner was H. A.
Snodgrass who had formerly owned a store on Washington Street. Snod-
grass had ordered a 10-ton ice machine in October, 1883, from McGuire
& Cosgrove, of Pensacola, and expected to have his plant operating by
the first of the year. But months passed before the machinery was
shipped. As a result, the outside firms came in ahead of him and when
he started operations, an ice war developed, the price being cut to less
than a half-cent a pound. Unable to make money, Snodgrass soon moved
his plant to Cedar Keys.

By the summer of 1885, the demand for ice was much greater than
the out-of-town companies could supply and the newly-organized Board
of Trade decided on July 15 to spend $38 to advertise for a new plant
in New York, Boston and Chicago papers. In the same ad the board
also stated that a sardine canning factory was needed. The bid for a
sardine plant brought no answers but the plea for an ice plant produced
results. The ad was read by J. M. Long, of Newburgh, N. Y. He came
to Tampa and said he would build a plant if the Board of Trade would
guarantee the sale of five tons a day. The guarantee was made and Long
returned early in 1886 and built a plant on the east side of the river
near the present Cass Street bridge. Water was obtained from an 800-
foot artesian well. The plant started operations May 7, 1886, and the
ice was sold as fast as it could be manufactured. The Board, therefore,
never had to bother about its guarantee.

The Board of Trade was organized Thursday night, May 7, 1885,
at a meeting of the town’s boosters in Branch’s Opera House. Dr. John
P. Wall was elected president; John T. Lesley, vice-president, and
Thomas A. Carruth, secretary. Its first members included practically
all the progressive citizens of Tampa. They were: E. P. Seclor, H. Her-
man, E. A. Clarke, C. L. Friebele, W. G. Ferris, George H. Packwood,
W. A. Morrison, H. E. Cleaveland, D. S§. Macfarlane, A. B. McKenzie,
Lawson Chase, George T. Chamberlain, Dr. ]J. A. Giddens, Perry G.
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Wall, Jr., H. L. Knight, S. A. Jones, A. J. Knight, I. §. Giddens, W. C.
Brown, T. C. Taliaferro, J. H. Fessenden, F. A. Salomonson, Thomas
A. Carruth, W. N. Conoley, C. L. Ayres, ]J. A. Campbell, S. B. Leonardi,
J. D. Clarke, H. C. Macfarlane, A. S. Lenfestey, A. C. Wuerpel, H. W,
Fuller, 8. P. Hinckley, Thomas E. Jackson, T K. Spencer, James McKay,
Jr., J. W. Brannan, Fred Ferman, D. F. Hammond, H. ]J. Cooper, Dr.
George B. Weedon, John T. Givens, Dr. H. R. Benjamin, John F. Brown-
ing, N. Dixon, W. ]. Allen, J. H. Dorsey, Paul Jones, W. S. Hancock,
John B. Spencer, J. T. Anderson, 5. M. Sparkman, W. B. Henderson,
W. A. Givens, William Hayes, Jr., F. J. LaPenotiere, J. M. Johnson,
O. J. Andreu, M. Lovengreen, Dr. Duff Post, E. L. Lesley, §. L. Biglow,
G. B, Sparkman, James T, Magbee and J. E. Mitchell.

Unquestionably the most important achievement of the Board of
T'rade was the part it played in bringing the cigar industry to Tampa.

Cigar Makers Come into Tampa

Guavas, labor troubles, seasickness, the South Florida Railroad
and the Board of Trade all had something to do with making Tampa
the leading cigar manufacturing city of the world.

Gavino Gutierrez, an importer of New York City, had dealings
with a concern which made guava paste and jelly. The owner of this
concern told Gutierrez he had been informed that guava trees grew wild
in great numbers in the Tampa Bay region and he expressed the belief
that it might be a fine place to locate a guava plant. He asked Gutierrez

to stop at Tampa the next time he went to Key West—which he often
did—and investigate.

Bhode Courtesy of Burgere Sros,

Many romances of bygone year had their beginning at this pavilion at Ballast Point where young
: n%upl:l danced—and looked at the moonlight on the bay.
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Complying with his friend’s request, Gutierrez came to Tampa
early in June, 1885. He was unable to find the countless guava trees
reported but he did find a town which he liked immensely. He decided
that Tampa was a wonderful place in which to live, work and enjoy life.

Proceeding to Key West, Gutierrez lauded Tampa to a number of
cigar manufacturers he knew, iucluding Vicente Martinez Ybor, who
was from his own native province in Spain; Ybor's partner, Edward
Manrara, and Serafin Sanchez, of the firm of Sanchez & Haya, of New
York City. When he learned that the officials of both firms were con-
sidering moving their plants to new locations, he lauded Tampa even
more, declaring that its climate was ideal for cigar manufacturing, equal
in every way to that of Key West and Havana.

The cigar men listened attentively. Ybor had been planning to
leave Key West because of constantly recurring labor strife in that city.
Manrara wanted to leave because he got seasick going back and forth to
New York on business trips. Sanchez had been considering moving his
plant from New York because he had found climatic conditions there
unsatisfactory for making good Havana cigars. All the men had received

offers from Galveston, Mobile and Pensacola but they told
Gutierrez they would move to Tampa if they found it to be as he repre-
sented. They promised they would go to Tampa and look it over.

The men were true to their word, Sanchez came to Tampa on
July 14 and met with members of the Board of Trade. They promised
their cooperation. Reported the Tripung: “The benefits that would
inure to Tampa from the establishment of such an industry cannot be
too deeply impressed upon our citizens. The firm of Sanchez & Haya
employs 125 cigar makers and can give employment to any number of
little boys and girls as strippers.” '

Sanchez then went on to New York. Arriving there, he wrote to
his friend Ybor, telling him that Tampa seemed to be ideally located for
cigar manufacturing. He suggested that Ybor go to Tampa and see
what arrangements could be made about getting land.

Ybor arrived in Tampa in late September, was favorably impressed
with the city, and began looking around for the land required for
factory sites and homes for workers. He finally located a tract he liked,
forty acres northeast of town owned by John T. Lesley. The sale price
was $9,000. That was $4,000 more than he was willing to pay. On
October 5 he met with members of the Board of Trade and told them
that if the organization would pledge payment of the $4,000, he would
bring his plant to Tampa and the firm of Sanchez & Haya would come
too. Otherwise, he said, the plants would have to go elsewhere. Deter-
mined to get the cigar industry for Tampa, the board members then
voted to guarantee Ybor the §4,000 he needed and W. C. Brown, A. |.
Knight and W. B. Henderson were appointed to serve on a committee
to raise the money. More than a year passed before all the money was
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obtained. A final settlement was made with Ybor just before Christ-
mas, 1886,

Without waiting to get the $4,000, Ybor purchased the 40-acre
tract from Lesley and 50 acres adjoining from S. P. Haddon. A town
named Ybor City was platted and work of opening the streets was started,
the first tree being felled October 8, 1885. A contract for erecting a two-
story factory and fifty workmen's homes was awarded by Ybor October
31 to C. E. Parcell. Enough land for a factory site was given by Ybor
to Sanchez & Haya and Ignacio Haya came to Tampa to supervise opera-
tions. The Ybor plant was built on Seventh Avenue between 12th and
13th streets and Sanchez & Haya's on Seventh at 15th.

Both cigar plants were completed early in 1886. Cigar makers
were brought in from Key West, Havana and New York. The owners
planned to open at the same time but labor trouble prevented. All the
cigar makers were Cuban except one Spaniard Ybor brought in from
New York. The Cubans refused to work with him and the opening of
the Ybor plant was delayed. So Sanchez & Haya opened first and %l
the honor of becoming Factory No. 1. The first clear Havana cigars
were made Monday, April 26, 1886. Ybor opened soon afterward, the
Spaniard being dismissed and the Cubans satisfied.

During 1886, a 40-room hotel was built in Ybor City and many
stores, restaurants and other commercial establishments were opened, all
by Latin Americans. More than 200 homes were constructed. Shade
trees were planted on both sides of the main streets and wooden side-
walks were laid. Most of the dwellings were enclosed by picket fences.
The Ybor company bought more than a thousand acres to the east of its
plant and enlarged the town limits. The original two-story frame build-
ing used by Ybor was soon replaced by a brick building three stories
high in which six hundred persons were employed. Ybor City grew
and prospered.

The first strike in a Tampa cigar factory occurred January 17,
1887, when the Knights of Labor called out their members in the Ybor
plant during a dispute over wage rates. T'wo days later five men were
shot, one fatally, in a fight between loyal workers and strikers in an
Ybor City billiard room. The man who died was Manuel F. Martinez.
The strike ended February 12 when Foreman Santos Benitez and 75
strikers left town—at the request of Tampa authorities.

The third cigar plant to locate in Ybor City was that of Lozano,
Pendas & Co., of New York, which built a factory in November, 1886.
It was followed on July 22, 1887, by Emilio Pons & Co., founded locally.
By that time the industry was well established in Tampa's Ybor City
and the future of the entire community looked bright indeed.

Tampa now had a “skyscraper” to brag about. It was a fine, three-
story hotel on the northeast corner of Franklin and Washington, It
was the first three-story brick building in town. The owner was Dr.
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Howell T. Lykes, a wealthy physician and cattleman of Brooksville.
The hotel, completed October 29, 1886, was given his wife's name,
Almeria. For years, the Almeria was one of Tampa's leading hotels.

Tampa's prospects looked so promising early in 1887 that the
people decided to have the town incorporated as a city so that vitally
needed public improvements could be obtained. An enabling act was
passed by the State Legislature in April and the first city election was
held July 15. In a hotly contested race, G. B. Sparkman was elected
mayor, defeating H. C. Ferris 2835 to 269. Others elected were: J. Lamont
Bailey, clerk and treasurer; W. T'. Haskins, Jr., marshal; J. C. Robbins,
assessor, and A. M. Fleming, collector. Councilmen elected were: W. A.
Honaker, I. 8. Giddens, W. B. Henderson, J. A. Walker, §. L. Biglow,
C. E. Harrison, C. A. M. Ybor, C. N. Brigham, J. E. Mitchell, H. L.
Knight and F. W. Myers. The first city officials took office July 17. A
new city seal, picturing the steamer Mascotfe, was adopted soon
afterward.

One of the first acts of the new city government was the passage
of an ordinance on September 6 dividing the city into four wards. The
old town of Tampa became the First Ward, North Tampa the Second
Ward, West Tampa the Third Ward, and Ybor City Fourth Ward. Ybor
City agreed to enter the city on the strength of promises that Tampa
soon would get a water system, an organized fire department, electric
lights and paved streets.

But action on these improvements was delayed by one of the worst
calamities which ever befell the city.

Yellow Fever Strikes Agatn

Tampa lived in dread of yellow fever during the years following
the epidemic of 1871 but the disease did not recur for fifteen years,
largely because of Dr. John P. Wall’s rigid quarantine regulations.

No one knew, of course, how the disease was communicated from
one person to another. One theory was that the germs passed through
the ground, traveling two miles a day. Another theory, the most com-
mon, was that the disease was spread by deadly miasmic vapors from
swamps and marshes. These vapors were most prevalent at night; hence,
it was considered most dangerous for any one to remain outdoors after
darkness fell.

Lack of knowledge regarding the disease caused it to be all the
more feared. Consequently, the town was greatly alarmed September
22, 1887, when the news spread that an importer of Cuban fruits,
Charles Turk, had just died of yellow fever. The alarm increased five
days later when Mrs, Sarah C. Linto died. On October § the disease
claimed another victim, George Osman, and the alarm turned to terror,
Two days later, A, B. McKenzie and P. E. Sprinkle died, and the disease
was declared to be epidemic by Dr, L. W, Weedon, then health officer.
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The city was panic stricken. Hundreds fled to the country, many
in such haste that they left lights burning in their homes, meals on the
tables, and their doors unlocked. Among those who fled was Editor
G. M. Mathes of the TaAMpA TRIBUNE. A young printer-reporter was
left in charge of the paper—he continued to publish it daily, aided only
by two Negroes who furnished the motive power for the press. Several
days later he wrote: “Our city is desolate and distressfully quiet. Nearly
all the business houses are closed and only a handful of our business men
remain.” Tar barrels were placed at each street corner and lighted in
the hope that the penetrating smoke would kill the deadly germs. But
it did not. The disease continued to spread. Hundreds were stricken.

A Citizens Relief Committee was appointed October 11 to aid the
sick and destitute. T. W. Givens was named chairman; Lamont Bailey,
secretary; Perry G. Wall, treasurer, and A. J. Harris, commissary chiel.
Givens' son was siricken a few days later and the chairmanship was
assumed by Hugh C. Macfarlane. Perry G. Wall, II, and A. ]J. Harris
were placed in charge of the First Ward; William Cline and Rev. Sidney
Crawford, Second Ward; Capt. D. S. McKay and J. C. Papy, Third
Ward, and Odet Grillion and M. Rodrigo, Fourth Ward. The need for
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Phata Courlery of Burgert Bros.
The Tampa Bay Hotel as seen from under the over hanging branches of the beautiful De Soto Oak
where according to legend—but only legend—Hernando De Soto made a treaty with the Indians.
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doctors and nurses was so great that a call for help was sent out. Scores
responded.

Not until cold weather came, weeks later, did the epidemic abate.
The TrieunNe reported 74 deaths up to December 1. At least five
occurred thereafter, making the total death toll at least 79. No one
knows how many became ill from the disease. The papers estimated
about 750. The last death occurred January 11, 1888, when L. A.
Mackey died.

The epidemic dealt Tampa a crushing blow. Work had stopped
completely in the cigar factories and was not resumed on a full schedule
for weeks. Mercantile houses had suffered heavily through loss of busi-
ness. The hotels stood empty—winter visitors had no desire to come
to such a “plague-ridden place.”

But at the very time when Tampa was most disheartened, two
announcements were made by Henry Bradley Plant which helped im-
measurably to restore confidence. He said he expected to spend “a
million dollars or more” in developing Port Tampa, on Old Tampa Bay,
nine miles away. He also announced that he intended to finance the
construction of a splendid hotel at Tampa.

Tampa people would have much preferred, of course, to have had
Plant’s port development close at hand, in the Hillsborough River.
Almost everyone realized, however, that a Hillsborough project was then
impractical. U. 8. Army engineers had reported two years before that
the cost of dredging a big-ship channel in Hillsborough Bay to the
mouth of the river would be “excessively high in view of the amount of
water-borne commerce forseeable.” The engineers recommended that
most of the harbor appropriation money should be spent at Old Tampa
Bay where there was a natural deep water channel close to shore.

Plant had purchased a right-of-way to Port Tampa soon after the
engineers made their report, a railroad bridge had been built across the
Hillsborough at Cass Street by Capt. John A. McKay, and track laying
had been started in the fall of 1887. The Port Tampa extension was
completed February 5, 1888, and Plant at once launched the “million
dollar” project he had promised. An immense wharf, nearly a mile long,
was started and warehouses were constructed. Port Tampa Inn, a novel
hotel extending over the water, was built. An amusement resort, called
Picnic Island, was developed just south of the docks. It was opened
with a barbecue and yacht races July 4, 1888, with Col. 5. G. Harvey in
charge. Picnic Island served as Tampa’s favorite amusement park for
years, excursions being run there on the railroad.

The Plant Steamship Company's steamers Mascotie and Olivette
began docking at Port Tampa in June, 1888. Prior to that time they
had to anchor in Hillsborough Bay, cargoes and passengers being carried
to and from the ships on smaller steamers. The Olivette was a 250-foot
ship built under the supervision of Capt. James McKay, Jr., in Phila-
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delphia and launched February 16, 1887. Captain McKay brought the
vessel in April 29, 1887, and thereafter served as her master. Incidentally,
the Olivette and the Mascotte were reportedly named by Plant after
operas he liked.

Plant’s promise to build a fine hotel was made subject to two con-
ditions: extension of Lafayette Street a half mile west of the river and
construction of a bridge over the river at that point. The city acquired
the necessary land for the street early in 1888 and dedicated it as a
thoroughfare. A contract for the bridge, which had been sought for
many years, was awarded by the city May 24, 1888, to the King Bridge
Company at a contract price of $13,800. On June 7 the county com-
missioners agreed to pay one third of the cost. To hasten construction
work, the Plant Investment Company guaranteed payments, The bridge
was completed November 28. At long last, the people of Tampa could
cross the river without taking a ferry.

The west side boomed after the opening of the bridge. The boom
had been a long time coming. Settlers had located west of the river as
early as 1838 when tracts were pre-empted there by two sons-in-law of
Levi Collar: W. T. Haskins, who married Jeanette Collar, and Robert
Jackson, who married Nancy Collar. The Haskins family did not like
being inconvenienced by having to cross the river and went back to the
cast side. The Jackson family remained.

Another very old west sider was Joseph Moore who came to Tampa
in 1842 and located near the Jacksons. The first known settler in what
is now the Palma Ceia area was William Samuel Spencer who located
there in 1846. The first settler on the west side north of the present
Lafayette Street was Jesse J. Hayden, of North Carolina, who moved
there in 1866. Hayden's son, Peter, owned a store and livery stable on
the east side and the father established a ferry so his son could commute
back and forth. The ferry was also used by the general public.

Hyde Park had its inception early in 1886. On February 13 of
that year O. H. Platt, of Hyde Park, Ill., purchased twenty acres of the
original Jackson estate and subdivided it, naming it after his home
town. The lots were a quarter acre in size and the first street opened,
Hyde Park Avenue, was 80 feet wide. The subdivision was opened
March 3 and the first day's sales totalled $2,225. One of the first lot
purchasers was Judge Joseph B. Wall who said a few days later that he
had had a chance to resell his lot and make a $300 profit. The sale of
lots was handled by the real estate firm of Salomonson & Fassenden.

Despite the auspicious beginning of Hyde Park, the section lan-
guished until after Plant definitely promised to build his hotel. The
site he chose was a 60-acre tract he had purchased in 1886 from Hayden
and Mrs. Donald 5. McKay, Hayden's daughter, for $40,000.

The cornerstone of Plant’s hotel, called the Tampa Bay Hotel, was
laid with great pomp and ceremony Thursday, July 26, 1888, by Mayor



188 TAMPA

Herman Glogowski. A public holiday was declared and all the stores
closed. Almost everyone in town crossed the river to witness the big
event, 8. M. Sparkman was master of ceremonies. Speeches were made
by Hugh C. Macfarlane, Joseph B. Wall, and Dr. H. R. Benjamin.
Music was furnished by the Tampa Silver Cornet Band,

There is little doubt but that when Plant planned the Tampa Bay
Hotel he hoped to out-do his business associate Henry Flagler, Standard
il baron, who had started building a railroad empire of his own on
the East Coast and had just finished the $2,000,000 Ponce de Leon Hotel
at St. Augustine. The two men were close friends and there were per-
sistent rumors that they had made a deal to split Florida between them,
Flagler to take the East Coast and Plant the West, and that neither would
build railroads in the other's territory, Be that as it may, they still were
rivals and each tried to outshine the other. Plant instructed his archi-
tect, J. A. Wood, of New York, to make the Tampa Bay truly mag-
nificent, and Wood followed orders.

The hotel Wood created was indeed unique—a dark, red castle
of Moorish architecture with all the size and splendor of the Alhambra
in Granada; a tremendous building, five stories high, containing nearly
500 rooms, and covering six acres, Its porches were almost as wide and
as long as city streets. Mosque-like curves topped its countless windows,
and Moorish arches supported the balconies.” Over it towered silvery
domes and minarets and atop each minaret, thirteen in number, shone
a crescent moon, one crescent for each month in the Moslem year.

To erect the building, hundreds of skilled crattsmen were brought
into Tampa—bricklayers, carpenters, painters, plasterers, electricians
and plumbers. Weekly payrolls ran into the thousands. Practically all
the money was spent in Tampa for the essentials of life—and more than
a few luxuries. Merchants prospered, and so did the entire community.
The great construction project was a Godsend during the bleak summer
of 1888 when nearly all Florida was prostrated by the terrible yellow
fever epidemic in Jacksonwille, far worse than Tampa had suffered the
year before. Not one case was reported in Tampa, probably because of
rigidly enforced quarantine regulations. The authorities went so far
as to fumigate every carload of building materials which came into town.

As the months passed, and the building grew and grew, Tampa
people watched from across the river almost with awe. This was some-
thing more majestic than they had ever dreamed of having; it seemed
to be a constantly growing symbol of glorious days to come.

Following positive orders from Plant, Architect Wood went to
great lengths to make the building strong and fireproof. All the floors
and ceilings were made of concrete reinforced with countless tons of
steel rails salvaged when the South Florida changed its tracks to standard
gauge, and also with huge quantities of marine cable brought from Key
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West. Except for the porches and furnishings, there was hardly a thing
in the building which would burn.

The building proper was completed early in 1890 but the opening
was long delayed while Mrs. Plant combed the art centers of Europe
and the Orient for rich furniture of ebony and gold, velvets, tapestries,
carpets, gorgeous vases of porcelain, massive statues of bronze and stone,
oil paintings done by masters, one-time prized possessions of the crowned
heads of nations. More than a million dollars was spent for furnishings.
The treasures came into Tampa by the shipload.

Believing that golf might some day become a popular pastime,
Plant induced the leading citizen of Sarasota, John Hamilton Gillespie,
golf addict from Scotland, to come up and lay out a course for him, west
of the hotel grounds. Plant also built a race track, the first in town.

Finally, in January, 1891, invitations were sent out by Plant to
friends throughout the world to attend an opening ball at the Tampa
Bay Hotel on February 5. One invitation was sent to Flagler. He wired
back: “Where i1s Tampa Bay?” Plant tersely replied: “Follow the
crowd.” And the crowd came—celebrities from everywhere. Velvet-
cushioned trains brought them to the very doors of the hotel, a spur
track having been laid from the main line. The hotel was aglow with
lights and the minarets beamed like beacons. In the dining room, the
choicest foods were served and a New York orchestra played sweet music.
Champagne flowed like water. All night long the guests made merry
in the ballroom. The affair was infinitely more spectacular than any
Tampa had ever seen before and in all probability would ever see again.

World famous men and women continued coming to the Tampa
Bay all through the season—4,367 guests were entertained before the
hotel closed in April. The visitors carried the name of Tampa through-
out the land. The Indian trading p{rst of other days was becoming
famous.

Henry Bradley Plant, the one-time captain’s boy with a sensitive
nose, had put Tampa on the map.

g



CHAPTER VilI
MODERN TAMPA IS BORN

ENRY BRADLEY PLANT certainly was not a magician. But even if

H he had been, and had possessed a magic wand, he could hardly

have wrought a greater transformation in Hillsborough County

and Tampa than was wrought because of him in the years following
1883.

Before the Connecticut Yankee came to central Florida, the Tampa
Bay region was hopelessly handicapped by the lack of adequate trans-
portation facilities. Fifteen to twenty days, for instance, were required
to send shipments of oranges to northern markets, and by the time the
oranges got there, half were rotted. Moreover, transportation charges
were so high they often exceeded the selling price and growers netted
nothing. As a result, half the annual orange crop usually was left un-
harvested. And the growing of fresh vegetables for northern markets
was of course impractical.

Completion of the South Florida Railroad gave new life and hope
to the entire region. The citrus industry boomed and so did truck farm.-
ing. New settlers located in every part of the county and its population
soared from 5,814 in 1880 to 14,941 in 1890. Hillsborough became one
of the most prosperous counties in the state.

The effect of the railroad upon Tampa was metamorphic. The
sleepy little village of 1880 was transformed into a bustling boom town.
During the decade from 1880 to 1890 it grew faster than any other city
in Florida ever grew before or has ever grown since. Its population
leaped from 720 to 5,532, an increase of 668.3 per cent.

During the fabulous eighties, Tampa got its first street railway,
its first water works, its first organized fire department, its first paved
streets, its first sewers and 1ts first electric lights.

The street railway was the brainchild of J. E. Mitchell, a dynamic
promoter who came to Tampa in 1883. He conceived the idea of estab-
lishing a line which would meander through the northern part of town
and terminate at Murphey's Pond where he was promoting a subdivision.
His plan was approved by some of the leading citizens and the Tampa
Street Railway Company was incorporated February 12, 1885, by W. B.
Henderson, Joseph B. Wall, Edward A. Clarke, John T. Lesley, §. M.
Sparkman, W. C. Brown and S. A. Jones.

A bright and shiny, woodburning, narrow-gauge locomotive and
many tons of rails were brought in but then the project halted. Backers
of the company became hesitant and delayed in advancing more money.
The street railway might have died a'borning had it not been for Vicente
Martinez Ybor and Edward Manrara, developers of Ybor City. They
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needed a rallway to connect their infant town with Tampa proper so
on November 14, 1885, they bought controlling interest in the company
and made Mitchell president. A contract for laying tracks was awarded
to C. E. Parcell.

The street railway line was completed early in April, 1886. Start-
ing at Hillsborough Street and Franklin Avenue, it ran east to Florida,
north on Florida to Constance, east on Constance to Central, north on
Central to Sixth Avenue, and east on Sixth to Ybor City. The first trip
over the line was made April 8 and the journey took eight minutes.
The engineer of the locomotive, named Jennie, was Fred Burton who
had formerly been with the Union Pacific. The first passenger cars
were made in Tampa by J. H. Krause.

After the railway started operations the Tamra Tripune gloated:
“Tampa can now take its place among the most progressive cities of
America. Only one other city in Florida, Jacksonville, can boast of a
street railway and ours is undoubtedly superior to theirs.”

During the following winter, the railway was extended down
Franklin to Washington, and east on Washington to Monroe, thereby
serving the main business section.

Of even more importance than the street railway, Tampa got its
first waterworks before the 1880s ended. For more than sixty years,

Phata by Furgert Brag,
Scores of miles of the finest bathing beaches in the world, on the beautiful Gulf of Mexico, are
within an hour's drive of the heart of Tampa. This photograph was taken at Clearwater Beach.
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the people had depended upon rain barrels, cisterns and shallow wells.
Troops at Fort Brooke had gotten their drinking water at Government
Spring, near what is now Thirteenth Street and Second Avenue. Inci-
dentally, the first road in south Florida was constructed from the fort
to the spring so water could be taken to the garrison in barrels on mule-
drawn wagons.

During the winter of 1884-85, a series of disastrous fires convinced
everyone that a dependable water supply was essential and on July 28,
1885, the council awarded a franchise to the Holly Manufacturing Com-
pany, of Lockport, N. Y. The company agreed to provide enough water
for a town of 10,000 and install fifty fire hydrants without charge.
Water rates were fixed at $8 a year for homes and from $15 to $50 a
year for business places.

After getting the contract, the Holly officials lost their enthusiasm.
Making a house-to-house check to learn how many families would take
the “city water,” they learned they could not expect to get a gross
revenue of more than $4,000 a year. That was not enough to pay oper-
ating expenses, to say nothing of giving a return on the initial invest-
ment, so the concern understandably proceeded to forget the franchise.

Repeated attempts were made to interest other companies but all
failed because Tampa, then incorporated as a town, could not obligate
itself to pay for water hydrants. That obstacle was removed July 15,
1887, when Tampa was incorporated as a city. On September 13 the
new city council awarded a franchise to the Jeter-Boardman Water-
works Company and agreed to pay $4,5600 a year for 110 hydrants,

Preparations for drilling artesian wells were starting late in the
summer when Tampa was stricken by the yellow fever epidemic. All
work was stopped and it was not resumed until early summer of 1888.
Then Jacksonville was hit by yellow fever and northern capitalists
began to shun Florida investments, The Jeter-Boardman company had
trouble getting money and months passed before it could proceed.
Finally, however, two 1300-foot artesian wells were drilled at Sixth Street
and _]effersun Avenue, a 110,000-gallon stand pipe was constructed,
and a pumping station was completed. Water was turned on April 20,
1889. Now, for the first time, Tampa people got water merely by turn-
ing on a faucet.

Completion of the water system made 1::{1551]::1& an effective fire
fighting organization. Prior to that time Tampa’s firemen had been
seriously handicapped by lack of an adequal:e water supply.

The first fire f1ght1ng group formed in the town was the Tampa
Hook % Ladder Company No. 1, organized June 2, 1884, with W. B.
Henderson as foreman. Fred Herman, assistant foreman, and C. P.
Wandell, treasurer. Other members were P. F. Smith, Dr. Duff Post,
Ed Morris, J. C. Cole, E. L. Lesley, Phil Collins, S. P. Hayden, Frank
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Ghira, H. L. Knight, A. J. Knight, C. L.. Ayres, S. B. Crosby and A. P.
Brockway.

The only equipment these firemen had consisted of twenty buckets,
two scaling ladders and some axes. Needless to say, more than a little
difficulty was encountered in battling serious conflagrations. This was
clearly shown May 8, 1886, when all the buildings except the First
National Bank were wiped out in the block bounded by Franklin,
Whiting, Tampa and Washington. Included among the structures
destroyed were two buildings owned by W. P. Henderson, a new store
of Friebele & Boaz, the Baldwin House, the furniture store of A. Glass
& Bros., and the warehouse of Miller & Henderson. The loss was esti-
mated at $30,000.

Immediately after this fire the town council decided it might be
wise to invest in a fire engine so a $600 “hand pumper” was ordered.
It came July 30 along with 350 feet of two-inch hose and a hose reel.
Almost everyone in town turned out the next day to see the engine
tested. The hose was run down to the river and six of the strongest
firemen began laboring on the pumps. The results were splendid—a
stream of water was thrown clear over the top of John T. Lesley’s two-
story building at Franklin and Washington,

To make effective use of the new equipment, the Tampa Fire
Company was organized August 30, 1886, with A. C. Wuerpel as presi-
dent, Robert Mugge as secretary, and Herman Glogowski as treasurer.
Other members were G. B. Sparkman, Odet Grillon, H. Heargeist, C.
Pinkert, John R. Jones, Leon Dartize, Charles G. Lundgren, ]J. O.
Nelson, Vinsente deLeo, and Ernest Geistenberger. These men, and
the members of the Hook & Ladder Company, served without pay.

During the next two years the firemen did the best they could with
the hand pump engine. It served fairly well when the fire was near
the river but was useless, of course, if no adequate water supply was close
at hand. Many buildings burned to the ground which could have been
saved if water had been available. Everyone rejoiced, therefore, when
the waterworks company announced that water soon would be turned
into the mains.

Funds were raised to bu‘f B.UDU feet of hose and seven hand hose
carts which were stationed in various parts of town and manned by
newly-organized volunteer companies, the Alert, Resolute, Vigilant,
Relief, Humanity, Myrtle and Phoenix. On May 18, 1889, A. J. Harris
was appmnted chief and competitive fire drills were held regularly. An
electrical fire alarm system was 1natall=-:1 December 9, fifteen street boxes
and four bells being placed in various parts of town. Now Tampa felt
quite safe.

With a street railway, a waterworks and a revitalized fire organiza-
tion, Tampa began taking on city airs in 1889. But it still had its sandy,
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weed-grown streets and Tampa people finally decided something must
be done about them. The town also had its outdoor privies and they
too were frowned upon. So when the electors were called upon Tues-
day, April 25, 1889, to pass on the city’s first bond issue they enthusiastic-
ally approved it 489 to 13. It provided $65,000 for sewers and $35,000
for streets.

Soon after the bonds were sold sewers were laid in the business
section and in a few residential streets. The trunk lines emptied into
the river. No one worried much about the water becoming contaminated.

A long argument followed regarding the type of “paving” to be
used on the streets. Many contended that shell would be good enough
—shell taken from the ancient Indian mounds which still dotted the
countryside. Others insisted that Tampa deserved something better
than shell, that crushed stone should be used. Still others wanted cypress
blocks—and cypress blocks won out. A contract for paving Franklin
from Whiting to Twiggs was awarded May 22, 1890, to Matthew Hays
and his son, George A. Hays, who agreed to put down the blocks for
$1.10 a square yard. They put up a small mill on Whiting Street but
had to wait until fall to start cutting blocks, the rainy season having
started, causing the cypress logs to become too filled with sap.

Work of paving Franklin was finally started in January and the
pavement was finished the following April. It seemed to be ideal—and
the city rejoiced. But when the rainy season came again, the rejoicing
turned to sorrow. The cypress blocks swelled and started popping up.
Repairs had to be made constantly. As a result, crushed stone and stone
blocks were used on Lafayette and shell on the other streets in the
business district. .

While work of paving was going on, the city went a step farther
and ordered wooden sidewalks laid in all parts of “old Tampa,” the
city to pay one-third of the cost and the property owners two-thirds.
Declared the TriBunE: “Soon no one will have cause, as heretofore, to
curse Tampa sand. Council should have taken this action long ago but
‘it is better late than never'.”

The honor of bringing the first electric lights to Tampa went to
the Tampa Electric Company, organized January 29, 1887, by John T,
Lesley, W. N. Conoley, R. A. Jackson, William Sutliff and L. S. Dawes.
A small Westinghouse generator was brought in and two arc lights
were put up, one at Washington and Franklin and the other in front
of the “Dry Goods Palace,” opened the year before by Abe Maas. The
current was turned on the first time Monday night, April 25, 1887.
People came from all parts of town to see the sight. Commented the
Tampa JournaL: ““The amazed throng could hardly believe that the
Stygian darkness could be dispelled so miraculously by current coming
through a wire."”
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Unfortunately, the arc lights were not an unqualified success. The
light they provided was dazzlingly brilliant but they sputtered, and
crackled and hissed, and went out with discouraging frequency. Despite
all this, the city was so impressed that on September 13, 1887, the city
council awarded the company a ten-year contract for street lights, the
company to provide twelve arcs at 60 cents a night each. To obtain
money needed to buy more powerful generators, the company was
reorganized and its name changed to the Tampa Electric Light & Power
Company. Sclon B. Turman became president, Douglas F. Conoley
vice-president, and W. N. Conoley secretary and treasurer,

But then came the yellow fever epidemic and the electric light
system was not installed until May, 1888. A power plant was then built
at the corner of Tampa and Cass, poles were erected and arc lights were
put up at the principal street intersections in Tampa and Ybor City.
Jack and Ed Ahern were in charge of operations.
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The infant corporation had plenty of troubles—financial and me-
chanical. Few persons wanted to have their homes or offices wired for
electric lights—they were too dangerous and too uncertain. Good old
oil lights were safer and more dependable. The company’s revenues
were far below expectations and, to make matters worse, the generator
was constantly breaking down. The local backers of the company finally
gave up the fight in March, 1890, and sold out to a syndicate of Easterners
headed by J. R. Ritter, of Philadelphia, who formed the Florida Electric
Company, incorporated at $50,000. The attorneys for the new company
were Hugh C. Macfarlane and N. B. K. Pettingill.

Despite the fact that the old company had lost money, the city in-
sisted that the 60-cent-a-night rate for arc lights was too high and a long
rate fight ensued. Finally, on December 8, 1890, the company signed a
three-year contract to provide twelve arcs of 2,000 candlepower at $11
a month each and 193 32-candlepower incandescents at $2 a month.

In January, 1891, Tampa finally got its long-hoped-for telephone
system. For six years the Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Com-
pany had tried to get enough subscribers in Tampa to open an exchange.
It did not succeed until the early winter of 1890. An exchange was
established in the Jackson Building with J. 8. Rowe and I. 8. Usty in
charge. Phones were installed in November and December, and the
exchange was formally opened January 15, 1891, But the phones hissed
and hummed so badly that conversation over them was nearly impossible
and the subscribers complained bitterly. Many years passed before
Tampa got good telephone service.

Another Railroad Comes to Tampa

Thirty years behind schedule, the Florida Railroad came to Tampa
in 1890. Or, to be more exact, the Florida Railroad’s great-great-great
grandchild came to Tampa, the Florida Central & Peninsular.

A plaything of David Levy Yulee and other railroad stock manipu.-
lators, the Florida Railroad had been reorganized time and again and
had successively borne the names of Atlantic, Gulf & West Indies Transit
Co., the Florida Transit Railroad, the Florida Transit & Peninsular,
the Florida Railway & Navigation Co., and finally, on May 1, 1889,
after it had been sold under foreclosure, the Florida Central & Pen-
insular. H. R. Duval, of Jacksonville, who had been receiver for the
road, became the FCEP president.

At that time, the railroad undoubtedly was one of the most dilapi-
dated in the country. It owned 509 miles of track but they were-gener-
ally referred to as “great streaks of rust.” Its locomotives were so
decrepit that they seldom succeeded in bringing the wobbling trains to
their destination without breaking down somewhere along the road.
Hence, the popular nickname of the road, “Friends, Come and Push.”
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The Florida Railroad's charter provided, as has been stated before,
that it should be built from Fernandina to Tampa Bay. But its chief
promoter, David Levy Yulee, owned tremendous tracts of land in the
present Levy County so he extended the road to Cedar Key, forgetting
Tampa Bay existed. The line was completed in April, 1861. For build-
ing it, the railroad received 650,000 acres of land from the state and
federal government.

Delving into the archives of the old Florida Railroad, the FC&P
officials learned that their road would be entitled to 461,655 more acres
from the federal government and 1,450,000 more from the state if their
tracks would be extended to Tampa Bay. One of their lines then ran
as far south as Wildwood; consequently, only 90 miles of additional
track had to be laid to secure these juicy land plums. Quite naturally,
therefore, the FC&P officials proceeded to make the extension forth-
with. Inasmuch as the Plant System already had opened the central
peninsular with its roads, land values had soared and 606,655 acres were
worth going after. Besides, Tampa was now an important city, com-
pletely eclipsing the railroad’s terminal at Cedar Key.

Not wasting any time, the FC&P proceeded at once to lay tracks
south from Wildwood. Plant City was reached late in 1889. From there,
the tracks were extended westward toward Tampa by way of Turkey
Creek, Sydney, Valrico, Limona and Yeomans. Most of the land needed
for the right-of-way was donated,

Construction of the road to the edge of Tampa was easy but getting
it into the city presented a problem. The Tampa city council passed an
ordinance by a bare majority to give the road the right to use the city
streets—but the ordinance was promptly vetoed by Mayor Herman
Glogowski. He insisted that Tampa streets were “cluttered up” enough
the way it was. He also argued that Tampa was so indebted to Plant
that the city should not allow another railroad to come in and give him
competition.

The mayor's action blocked the FC&P officials only temporarily.
Consulting their attorneys, they decided they had the right, allegedly
given by an Act of Congress of 1856, to enter south of the city limits
through the military reservation, then occupied by homesteaders who
had settled there in 1883. They told the homesteaders that a settle-
ment for the land needed for the right-of-way would be made when the
courts finally passed on a long-drawn-out legal battle then being ‘waged
by various claimants of the reservation. Crews were brﬂught in and
grading started. Homesteaders who objected to the “trespassing” were

disregarded. The grade was quickly completed and tracks were laid to
Water Street by May 1, 1890.
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The first train into Tampa over the new line arrived Monday night,
May 5. It brought in 150 Negro excursionists from Fernandina, mem-
bers of the Knights of Labor, and 25 other passengers. A crowd of
several hundred persons had gathered to greet the first passengers but
a heavy rain halted the celebration. Regular service was started the
following day, two passenger trains and one freight train entering and
leaving Tampa daily.

Completion of the tracks to Water Street did not satisfy the FC&P
officials. They wanted to extend the line to the river. The South
Florida officials objected—strenuously, and threatened to seek a court
injunction. Determined to go ahead, the FC&P swung into action at
midnight, Saturday, August 2. By the light of bonfires and flares, a
large crew of FG&P men tore up the SF rails at Water Street, made a
crossing, and extended their tracks along the river to the Ross Biglow
% Co. wharf, giving a 500-foot waterfrontage. A crowd gathered to
witness an expected pick-and-shovel battle. But there was no bloodshed.

There is little doubt but that the completion of the FC%P line aided
in the development of Tampa. Its route northward was 31 miles shorcer
than the shortest route of the Plant System and Tampa benefitted
through the competitive freight and passenger rates afforded. More-
over, the FC&P soon began running fast express trains to Jacksonville
and, to compete, the South Florida had to put on faster trains. By August
the running time between the two towns was cut to eight hours and
forty minutes. Tampa was getting ever closer to the North.

The FC&P brought one immediate benefit to the city. Hugh quan-
tities of earth obtained in cutting the railroad grade through the reserva-
tion were dumped, with the hearty approval of the city, in the Jackson
Street gully and one of Tampa’s most conspicuous eyesores was elimi-
nated. The gully had been made by a small creek which drained the
flat lands to the east; heavy rains had caused such serious erosion that
a small canyon had been created, dividing the business district into two
sections, Before the gully was filled with the FC&P fll-dirt, a large
storm sewer was put down by the city to carry off the water. After the
fill was made, Jackson Street was opened for development.

A Lush Period for Tampa

The people of Tampa were extremely optimistic in 1890. The
city was forging ahead faster than it ever had before. Everyone was
prosperous. In addition to the gorgeous Tampa Bay Hotel, then near-
ing completion, fifty-one buildings were being built in various parts
of town.

One of the structures was a new city hall, a two-story brick building
erected on the southwest corner of Lafayette and Florida at a cost of
$10,000. C. E. Parcell was the architect and James Bullivant and J. G.
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McNeil the contractors. Completed in August, 1890, the city hall pro-
vided headquarters for the fire department as well as city offices.

The entire county felt so up and coming in 1890 that there was
little opposition on December 16 to a proposed $80,000 bond issue to
provide funds for building a new county courthouse, needed to replace
the frame structure erected in 1855. After the bonds were sold a con-
tract was awarded on June 2, 1891, to W. H. Kendrick and work on
the building was started immediately. The architect was ]J. A. Wood,
who had designed the Tampa Bay Hotel. The old courthouse was
moved up on Florida Avenue and used several years by Dr. F. H. Cald-
well as a hospital. The new building was completed August 1, 1892,
With additions, it has served the county ever since.

Tampa’s prospects looked so bright in the spring of 1892 that
capitalists began fighting among themselves to gain the right to provide
electric lights and power for the town and also electric street railways.

The battle began in April when the Tampa Suburban Company
was organized by W. H. Kendrick, E. 8. Douglas and Peter O. Knight
with the financial backing of Mr. and Mrs. C. W. Chapin, wealthy
winter residents from New York. The company stated it intended to
build an electric street railway from Ybor City through Tampa and
down the west side of the Hillsborough River to Ballast Point.

This announcement aroused the fighting spirit of the owners of
the Tampa Street Railway Company which operated the steam loco-
motive line to Ybor City. The officials insisted their franchise covered
all parts of the city and that the Tampa Suburban had no right to build.
Going to the courts, they succeeded in getting an injunction which
restrained the Tampa Suburban from proceeding.

Tao get around this injunction, the backers of the Tampa Suburban
organized a new company called the Consumers Electric Light & Power
Company. It secured a franchise to sell electric service as well as trans-
portation. Stock was sold to local people and a generator was installed
in a small sawmill near Morgan and Cass. Trolley lines were built to
Ballast Point and West Tampa late in 1892 and also to Ybor City.

The Ybor City line closely paralleled the line of the older company
which electrified its road and put trolley cars in operation on May 186,
1893. A transportation war followed, the fare between Tampa and
Ybor City being finally reduced to two cents. Lacking the strong
financial backing of the new company, the Tampa Street Railway Com-
pany went into bankruptey and the Consumers purchased its prop-
erties at a receiver’s sale on June 18, 1894,

While the street railway battle was being fought, two new news-
papers were started, the TaMpa DaiLy TiMEes and the TAmpa TRIBUNE.

The TiMEs came into existence because of the city's need for a
newspaper better than either of the two tri-weeklies the city then had,
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the old Tampa TriBUNE, founded in 1876, and the Tamra JourmAL,
founded in 1886. Both papers were underfinanced and understatfed
and were limping along in a half-hearted fashion. To remedy the situa-
tion, the Tampa Publishing Company was founded February 1, 1893,
with the financial backing of many leading citizens. S. A. Jones became
president; W. B. Henderson, vice-president; A. J. Knight, secretary,
and T. C. Taliaferro, treasurer. The company was capitalized for
$25,000.

Immediately after the incorporation, the new company purchased
the Tanmra JournaL for $3,500 and the Tamra Trisune for $3,450.
H. J. Cooper was appointed general manager at §75 a month. The
mechanical plants of the two papers were consolidated in the JournaL's
plant on the southeast corner of Franklin and Washington. The first
issue of the TiMEs appeared Tuesday, February 7, 1893.

Cooper continued to manage the paper until 1898 when 1t got into
financial difficulties. With the help of H. L. Mitchell and Capt. H. H.
Scarlett, D. B. McKay then paid some of the most pressing debts and
took charge. He purchased a controlling interest in the paper soon
afterward and in time became sole owner.

Shortly after the two old papers were purchased by the TinMEs, word
of the merger reached a young, aggressive editor of a small weekly pub-
lished at Bartow, the PoLk CounTy NEws. He was Wallace Fisher
Stovall, then 24 years old. Reasoning that the consolidation of the two
old papers into one might provide an opening for an “opposition” paper,
Stovall came to Tampa to learn if his hunch was correct. He found one
man who had the same idea, Dr. John P. Wall. With Dr. Wall’s endorse-
ment on a note, Stovall borrowed $450 to move his plant to Tampa and
start pubhshlﬂg The first 1ssue of his paper appeared March 23, 1893.
He called it the TamMpa TRIBUNE, appmprmtmg the name of one of the
papers which had perished.

In the beginning, Stovall found the going hard. But he turned out
a splendid, progressive paper and soon the TRIBUNE was carrying as
many ads and had as many readers as the strongly-backed TimMEs.
Stovall continued publishing the TrisunNg for thirty-two years and
made it one of the leading papers of the entire South.

Despite Disasters Tampa Grows

Compared with most sections of the country, Tampa escaped lightly
from the panic of 1893. But the city did have a bank failure. The Gulf
National Bank, organized a short time before, closed its doors May 29
after $80,000 had been withdrawn by depositors, leaving less than
$40,000 in the safe. Officers of the bank were C. B. Lloyd, president;
A. J. Knight, vice-president, and John O. Ball, cashier.

Publisher Stovall was hard hit by the bank’s closing. Every cent
of his paper’s money was in the bank and when it suspended, Stovall had
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nothing left 1o pay operating expenses. He was forced to give up his
daily editions and publish only once a week. The daily was resumed
January 1, 1895, soon after the Tampa Tribune Publishing Company
was mcorporated. Stovall was president and treasurer; V. M. Ybor, vice-
president, and J. 5. McFall, secretary. Directors were Peter O. Knight,
C. E. Harrison, W. E. Bledsoe, Seidenberg & Co., Sanchez & Haya and
C. C. Whitaker.

J. B. Anderson, of Alabama, a Methodist minister, was named
recciver of the Gulf National. The institution was inherently solvent
and the creditors were [inally paid in full, with interest on their claims.
In addition, assets exceeding $530,000 were turned over to the stock-
holders.

While the Gulf National was in liquidation, a new bank was
founded, the Exchange National, "capitalized at $100,000. One of its
principal backers was a newcomer to Tampa, John Trice, president
of the Okolona Banking Company, of Okolona, Miss. Another founder
was ]. N. C. Stockton, president of the State Bank of Florida, at Jackson-

Fhais by Burgert Bros.

Hillshorough County citrus groves produce hundréds of thousands of bushels of golden fruit each
vear for the markets of the nation.
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ville. Stockton was a former member of the Jacksonville banking firm
of Ambler, Marvin & Stockton and had served as the first president of
the First National Bank of Tampa. By 1894 he had become a bitter
banking and political rival of James P. Taliaferro, one of the principal
stockholders of the First National, and he had no intention of permitting
the First National to remain the only bank in Tampa. So he bought
a large block of the Exchange National stock for himself and his Jackson-
ville friends and aided the new institution in getting started. The largest
Tampa stockholders of the bank were Edward Manrara, Anderson and
Peter O. Knight. The new bank was opened April 16, 1894, in the old
quarters of the Gulf National at Franklin and Twiggs. Price was presi-
dent, Stockton, vice-president. and Anderson, cashier.

Trice remained with the Exchange National less than a year—he
could not get along with Cashier Anderson. Manrara then became
president and Ziba King, a wealthy cattleman of Arcadia, became vice-
president. Anderson continued as cashier.

Shortly after leaving the Exchange, Trice proceeded to organize
a third bank, the Citizens Bank & Trust Company, capitalized at $£100,-
000. It was opened October 7, 1895, in a new three-story brick and
stone building at Franklin and Zack. Trice was president; W. . Davis,
vice-president, and C. E. Allen, cashier. Directors were Trice, Davis,
J. M. Long, John Savarese, J. 5. McFall and W. B. Gray.

Tampa suffered a series of disastrous fires during 1894, In addition
to seven homes and three small business places, the Tampa Lumber
Company's plant was completely destroyed, on July 27, causing a loss
of $40,000.

The fires emphasized the fact that Tampa's volunteer fire depart-
ment and obsolete fire fighting equipment were entirely inadequate
to provide proper protection. The council was pressed to take action
and on December 31 ordered two modern La France fire engines and
all other equipment needed to establish a first-class fire department.
The engines arrived in March and were named ‘“Manrara” and
“Salomonson,” in honor of the two men who contributed money to buy
horses to pull them. On March 22 A. J. Harris was appointed fire chief
and twenty-two full time firemen were employed. They were assigned
to six fire stations in various parts of town. _

A calamity of the 1890s which had a profound aftermath was the
abnormally cold weather during the winter of 1894-95—the coldest since
1835. The first blow was struck early Sunday, December 29, 1894, when
the temperature in Tampa dropped to 18 degrees. Temperatures as
low as 10 degrees were reported in the great citrus belt in north central
counties. The loss to citrus growers was appalling.

The extreme cold weather was followed by six weeks of unusually
warm weather, Many trees up state on which only the fruit and twigs
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had been frozen began to show new signs of life. On February 7, the
temperature rose to 77 degrees. But that night there occurred the worst
drop in temperature in the history of Tampa, the mercury falling to 22
degrees. The maximum that day was only 36 and on the following
morning, February 9, the minimum was 23. Two successive nights of
such cold weather, coming when the citrus trees were growing and full
of sap, froze many of them to the ground, splitting the bark and killing
them. Farther north, in the great citrus belt, practically all of the trees
were killed. Florida suffered a crippling blow. Estimates of the loss
ranged as high as $80,000,000,

During the February cold spell, snow fell in Tampa for the first
time in the memory of old timers. In a few places, snow covered the
ground and youngsters were able to scoop up enough to make snowballs.
This was on the morning of February 8. The wintry appearance of the
city was heightened by icicles which hung from almost every roof. Much
damage was done by the bursting of water pipes.

In the long run, Hillsborough County gained more from the Big
Freeze than it lost. Citrus growers who had been wiped out in the
northern part of the peninsula moved southward to sections where the
cold had not been so severe or so prolonged. Hillsborough County
became the heart of the new citrus belt and, as a result, Tampa profited
greatly.

The ultimate benefits of the Big Freeze of course were not fore-
seen in 1895 and the faith of many persons in the future of the state was
badly shaken. That was definitely not the case with Henry Bradley
?lant. Instead of retrenching, he proceeded to make many new
investments.

Early in April, Plant announced that he intended to build a fine
casino at the Tampa Bay Hotel. Work on the large two-story structure
was started soon afterward. T-shaped, the casino had a 122 by 58 foot
clubhouse in front and a combined auditorium and swimming pool, 157
by 88 feet, extending to the rear. The swimming pool was under the
removable floor of the auditorium. The casino was opened Tuesday
night, December 3, 1896, with the play ““The Right to Happiness,”
starring the famous actress Minnie Maddern Fiske. Many other first-
class attractions appeared later in the casino.

Plant's faith in Florida also was shown by his purchase on April 1,
1895, of the Sanford & St. Petersburg Railroad, originally known as the
Orange Belt, built in 1887-88 by Peter A. Demens, co-founder of St.
Petersburg. Immediately after the Plant System took over the road, it
was changed from narrow to standard gauge. On January 1, 1896, the
Plant System also absorbed the famous Florida Southern Railroad. In
addition to his railroad acquisitions, Plant erected the million dollar
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Belleview Hotel at Belleair, a few miles south of Clearwater. The hotel
was opened February 14, 1896.

The Gigar Industry Expands

‘Tampa escaped lightly from the calamities of the 1890s largely
because of its rapidly growing, prosperous cigar industry.

The industry was retarded temporarily by the yellow fever epi-
demic of 1887 but made a quick comeback early in 1888. [ts value to
Tampa had become so evident that members of the Board of Trade in
February, 1888, subscribed $15,000 to bring the factory of R. Monne
% Co. from New York. The plant went into operation on August 30
and employed three hundred cigar makers.

The Monne Company was the last one brought to Tampa through
public subscriptions. From then on, plants were established largely
through the efforts of two development companies, the Ybor City Land
& Improvement Company and the Macfarlane Investment Company.

The Ybor City Land & Improvement Company was organized
October 15, 1886, by Vicente Martinez Ybor, Edward Manrara and
E. R. M. Ybor. During the following decade, the company donated
$126,000 in land and buildings as inducements to other factories to
locate in Ybor City. Goncerns brought in included Seidenberg & Co.,
Trujillo & Benemelia; Gonzalez, Mora & Co.; Amo, Ortez & Co.;
Arquellas, Lopez & Bros.; Jose M. Diaz & Bro., and Creagh, Cudnecht
& Co.

More than a half million dollars was spent by the Ybor City Land
& Improvement Company in developing Ybor City, making it a city
within a city, a city as truly Latin-American in appearance and in the
customs of its inhabitants as though it had been in the heart of Cuba.

In 1892, the development of another Latin-American community
was started by the Macfarlane Investment Company, headed h}f Hugh
C. Macfarlane, a native of Scotland who had come to Tampa in 1885
to practice law. Early in 1892 Macfarlane platted a 200-acre tract he
owned west of the Hillsborough River and began offering factory sites
and threestory brick buildings to manufacturers who would locate
there. The first factory was taken in June, 1892, by O’'Hara & Co., of
Key West. Another was taken in December by Julius Ellinger & Co.,
also of Key West. In March, 1893, a third factory was occupied by C. E.
Arnsworth & Co. Other companies came later, including Cuesta, Rey
& Co.; A. Santella & Co.; Pendas & Alvarez, the Morgan Cigar Com-
pany and many others.

To enable residents of the new community to go quickly back and
forth to Tampa, Macfarlane and his associates late in 1892 erected an
iron drawbridge over the Hillshorough River at Fortune Street at a
cost of $30,000 and a few months later aided in the financing of a street
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car line built by the Consumers Electric Light & Power Company. By
1895, more than 2,000 persons were living in the new community and
it was incorporated as the town of West Tampa on May 18. By that
time it had its own churches, parks, clubs and business places and was
truly a town in its own right.

Many of the cigar factories which came to Tampa in the early
1890s came because of labor troubles in both New York and Key West.
The great fire of March 30, 1886 in Key West also was a factor in the
exodus of manufacturers from that city, not because they had been
burned out but because they feared another devastating conflagration.
In the decade after the fire, eleven Key West factories came to Tampa.
During that same period, thirteen came from New York, five from
Chicago and two from Havana. Tampa by that time had become one
of the leading cigar manufacturing cities of the world. On July 1, 1894,
the industry was employing 2,915 persons and had an annual payroll
of $1,909,730. During the preceding year, 88,190,000 cigars had been
made which sold for $5,535,000.

Besides developing their own plants, the cigar manufacturers in-
vested heavily in Tampa real estate, banks and business establishments.
Cigar money financed the first brewery built in Florida, erected in
Tampa in 1897 by the Florida Brewing Company, organized by Edward
Manrara, E. W. Codington and Hugo Schwab. Patterned after the
famous Castle Brewery of Johannesburg, South Africa, the towering

o kbt O
T Mt st

b

i ',- |r.|_i ..ﬂ :Mhl- iy

e Tl
B

WURE L 4

Phote Courtesy Untversliy of Fampa
Port Tampa was one of the busiest spots in the nation in 1898 when U. 5. troops left there in
transports to free Cuba from Spain. This picture shows soldiers boarding one of the transports.

Tt also shows the famous Port Tampa Inn where guests could fish from their windows. The Inn
is the building in the center.
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structure was erected at the Government Spring near Thirteenth Street
and Second Avenue at a cost of $200,000. The brewery soon began
shipping out beer by the trainload to all parts of Florida and exporting
great quantities to Cuba.

During the mid-1890s, Tampa people paid little attention to
ordinary events. What really captured their attention was the gallant
fight being waged by Cuban insurgents to win their freedom from
their Spanish rulers.

Tampa Fights the Guban War

Tampa's deep concern over the fate of Cuba during the 1890s was
maost understandable. Hundreds of Tampa citizens, born in Cuba, had
fled from the island because of the tyranny of the Spanish authorities.
Letters received from friends and relatives they left behind told of the
suffering of their countrymen and feeling ran high in Ybor City and
West Tampa.

Jose Marti, hero of the Ten Year War, was given a thunderous
welcome when he came to Tampa and pleaded for funds to carry on
the fight for freedom. Almost every cigar maker pledged a day's pay
each week to show his sympathy for the Cuban cause. Liberal contri-
butions were made by Latin-American business and professional men.
The Cuban war was Tampa’s war, at least for a large segment of Tampa’s
population. And all Tampa grieved when Marti was killed in Cuba
in one of the early battles.

Tampa became one of the principal ports through which arms
and ammunition were sent to the insurgents. Filibusterers’ ships often
slipped silently up the river in the dead of night and tied up at the
wharves. Shadowy figures quickly appeared from nowhere and quietly
loaded them. And then, in an hour or so, the ships would weigh anchor
and disappear in the darkness.

In an attempt to stop the flow of money and munitions from
Tampa, the Spanish General “Butcher” Weyler early in 1896 declared
an embargo on tobacco exports from Cuba to the United States, hoping
to force the cigar factories to shut down. In this emergency, Vicente
Martinez Ybor and other leading manufacturers persuaded H. B. Plant
to send the QOlivette and Mascotte to Havana before the embargo dead-
line and bring back enough tobacco to keep their factories running.
The ships brought in tremendous cargoes, even their staterooms being
piled high with Havana leaf. The cigar industry was saved.

Bitterness against Spain mounted steadily in the Latin-American
sections all through 1897. The fiery speeches of revolutionists who
came from Cuba were enthusiastically applauded. Ybor City became
accustomed to seeing little groups of whispering men clustered under
the balconies, planning strategy. And whenever rumors spread that
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Spanish spies had come in to get information regarding munitions ship-
ments, persons who had ties with Spain were closely watched.

Then, on the night of February 15, 1898, the battleship Maine was
blown up in Havana harbor. Tampa buzzed with excitement. But the
newspapers urged coolness and patience. And Tampa marked time.

Weeks before the official declaration of war, Tampa was furnished
evidence that war was coming. Government agents swarmed all through
the region, sounded the harbor, looked into transportation facilities,
and started making arrangements with business firms for supplies. A
Tampa schooner was chartered to take two 50-ton cannons to Key West
to protect that port from the dreaded Spanish battleships.

Survivors of the Maine were brought back home on the Olivette
on March 28. A great crowd went to Port Tampa to greet them. The
heroes were given a rousihg ovation and taken to Tampa’s best homes.

Refugees kept pouring in from Cuba. On April 7th the Mascotte
brought more than 900. The stories they told of the suffering in the
Spanish concentration camps aroused bitter anger. Col. Fernando
Figueredo, a leader of the Cuban Junta, painted inflamatory pictures
of Spanish atrocities and brought thunderous cheers when he admon-
ished the crowds to “Remember the Maine! Remember the Maine!”’

Consul-General Fitzhugh Lee, ordered to leave Havana, arrived
on April 9. War was now a certainty. T'wo special trains with a thousand
passengers on board, as well as a band, made the nine-mile trip to Port
Tampa to welcome him. When the boat train arrived in Tampa,
thousands more crowded around it, waving Cuban and American flags
and shouting “Viva Lee!” The general yelled: “What are you shouting
for? Do you want to fight?” The crowd roared back: “Yes!” The
general smiled broadly. “That’s what 1 wanted to hear you say,” he
said. Later, however, the general told newspapermen that because of
his diplomatic status he could not talk for publication.

Even before Congress officially declared war, Tampa was selected
as a principal concentration and embarkation point for troops which
would invade the island. It was chosen primarily because it was the
city nearest to Cuba which had both rail and port facilities. The War
Department’s decision also was influenced by the fact that Tampa's
sub-tropical weather would be ideal for acclimating the soldiers. And
of course due consideration was given the fact that Tampa had the
magnificent Tampa Bay Hotel where sumptuous quarters would be
available for all the “brass” which would accompany the expedition.

News came on April 20th that President William McKinley had
demanded that Spain withdraw from Cuba., Cannons boomed and fiery
speeches were made from scores of platforms and balconies. The en-
thusiasm was heightened by the presence of five companies from Fort
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McPherson, Georgia. The southern boys came in wearing the Con-
federate gray. They were encamped at DeSoto Park and soon were
joined by the 69th of New York, attired in Yankee blue. But the juxta-
position of the blue and the gray caused no casualties.

Clara Barton soon made her appearance with her Red Cross staff.
After staying a few days at the Tampa Bay Hotel, she established an
office for her organization in J. Mack Towne's home on Plant Avenue.

With the formal declaration of war on April 24, troops began
pouring into Tampa at a dizzy pace, often as many as twenty to thirty
train loads a day. The soldiers were encamped all the way from Port
Tampa to beyond Ybor City with the main encampment at Tampa
Heights where 250 acres had been set aside for army use. By the middle
of May, more than 30,000 soldiers had streamed into Tampa, outnum-
bering the civilian population better than two to one.

With the troops, top flight military men arrived with their staff
members: General Nelson A. Miles, in command of the expedition;
General W. R. Shafter, in command of the Fifth Corps; General Fitz-
hugh Lee, in command of the Seventh Corps, and General Joseph
Wheeler, in charge of the volunteer cavalry. There also was the one
and only Colonel “Teddy” Roosevelt of the Rough Riders, Colonel
Leonard Wood, and many, many others.

Tampa Bay Hotel literally shined with army brass. As Karl Bickel
tells in his book, *“The Mangrove Coast,” the big lobby of the hotel
“exploded in a flash of golden braid, glittering sword hilts, boots bright
with polish. Wide-brimmed Stetsons and the dark blue uniforms of
the army men were the prevailing note, but here and there were mon-
ocled men in foreign uniforms, the military attaches of European
nations, standing by to see what they could of the show. Also, there
were officers’ wives and a throng of newspapermen from northern
cities.”

The army's first pay day came early in May and the TiMEs re-
ported that over §175,000 was paid out to the soldiers. Tampa mer-
chants reaped a big harvest and so did the gambling joints, which
operated openly, and the saloon keepers, and the feminine members
of the oldest profession in the world. Red light districts sprang up over-
night. Many of the soldiers became most hilarious. They com-
mandeered the street cars and went clanging through the city, firing
revolvers as they went. Others invaded the Florida Brewery and de-
manded free drinks for all.

Tampa people were not too deeply offended. After all, the boys
soon would be fighting and dying on Cuban battlefields so why not let
them have a little fun while they had the chance? Mayor M. E. Gillett
sent only a mild remonstrance to army headquarters. Had he been more
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severe he would have heard from Tampa merchants. They were mop-
ping up. Wrote the correspondent for the WasuingTon Post: “The
Tampa shopkeepers are making so much money that the city banks will
hardly hold it. Even a lemonade man, equipped with a bucket and two
tin cups, can make $25 a day.” And $25 a day in 1898 was big money.

Red and blue bandanas, worn around the neck, became the rage.
Two young Jewish boys, then just becoming merchandisers, plunged
all the money they had, $300, and brought in a huge stock. The ’ker-
chiefs sold like the proverbial hot cakes and the brothers made a killing.
They later owned one of Tampa’s leading stores.

Transports began docking at Port Tampa. Trains loaded with
supplies for the expedition began pouring in. The confusion became
indescribable. The Plant System was not geared to handling such a
flood of locomotives and cars. Regardless of how long the railroad men
worked, trains came in hours late and the railroad yards were swamped.
To help bring order out of chaos, Plant himself took charge of opera-
tions. He remained in charge until a brash young officer came into
his oftice one day and declared that unless the road operated more effi-
ciently, the War Department would seize the entire system. “Seize it
and be damned,” Plant stormed, and walked away. But the seizure did

Fhoto Courtesy of Burgert Bros,
More than 30,000 soldiers camped in and near Tampa before embarking for Cuba in the Spanish-
American War. They lived in tents in camps scattered all the way from Port Tampa to
De Soto Beach, This phiotograph was taken in Tampa Heights.
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not occur—the army had enough headaches as it was. The "brash”
officer was young "“Teddy” Roosevelt,

The railroad’s problems were not lightened by the fact that scores
of would-be adventurers came to Tampa to take part in the war, willy
nilly. Reported the Tampa Trisune: “William Astor Candler has ar-
rived with his private expedition. Mr. Candler is paying all the expenses
of a group of his New York friends and if they cannot connect with the
American army they will join the Cubans. . . . He will buy or charter
a boat and go and see the fun.”

All through the long, hot month of May the soldiers waited for
orders to leave. They liked Tampa and the nearby towns they visited
but were anxious to get going. Finally, on June 9, a dispatch from
General Garcia near Santiago reached General Miles stating that 9,000
well-equipped Cubans had taken fine positions and were ready for the
arrival of United States forces.

That was the word Miles was waiting for. He sent orders down the
line for the troops to be sent aboard the transports. All night Sunday,
June 12, and all day Monday troop trains speeded to Port Tampa where
the transports waited, guarded by gunboats. There were thirty-six
transports in all, the mightiest armada the nation had ever assembled.

Hour after hour the soldiers waited, sweating under the blazing
sun. Finally, in late afternoon, the signal for departure came and the
soldiers cheered. On shore, a band played “Till We Meet Again."”
Flags waved, wives fainted and sweethearts and mothers wept.

Slowly the flotilla got under way and the ships steamed down the
bay, long plumes of smoke casting shadows in the shimmering water,
now reddened by the rays of the sinking sun. The S. 8. Miami led the
way, paced by the busy little Hornet. Then came the transports, and
supply ships, and gunboats. Also the Plant System steamer Olivette,
now put to use as a hospital ship. Off to one side came two tugs, chart-
ered by the NEw York JournarL and New York Sun. This was big
news—and the papers intended to cover it, regardless of official
reprimands.

On board the ships in the armada were approximately 16,000
soldiers. Four thousand more followed a few days later. Thousands
of others remained behind, expecting to get orders to depart. But those
“left behinds” never got to Cuba. Admiral Cervera’s “invincible”
Spanish fleet was destroyed at Santiago on July 3 and two days later
the Spanish force surrendered. The fighting in Cuba had ended.

Despite that fact, the government went ahead and spent a million
dollars or more to fortify Egmont and Mullet keys, building Fort Dade
and Fort De Sotos. Troops were stationed there for more than a decade,
for what purpose is not known. Today hardly a trace remains of those
fortresses which once guarded the entrance to Tampa Bay.
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Several thousand soldiers, mostly volunteers, remained in Tampa
for weeks after the war ended. Heavy rains came and swamped the
camps. Scores became ill with “Cuban fever,” malaria and typhoid
fever. Many died. Finally, late in August, the last of the troops departed.

The exact number of Tampa Latin-Americans who fought with
the insurgents as volunteers during the revolution is not known. Many
left but no record was kept of their departure. One Anglo-American
of Tampa is known to have been active.